
 BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 1777 Broadway 

December 16, 2014 
5:30 PM 

 
 AGENDA 
 

1. 
 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

 A. Janet Driskell Turner Award 
 B. Latino History Project Declaration 

 
2. 

 
OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (Limited to 45 minutes.)  
Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public 
hearings have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address council.  
All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances)  Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time.  Roll call vote required. 
 

 A. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes from 
November 6, 2014. 
 

 B. Consideration of a motion to approve a 20 year right-of-way for multiple cornices on 
the property located at 901 Pearl Street. Case No. REV2014-00019.  
 
Applicant: 901 Eldridge, Inc, a Colorado Corporation 
 

 C. Fourth reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” Chapter 
7, “Code of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related details.    
 

 D. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt by title only Ordinance No. 
8021 amending the cable television franchise agreement between the City of Boulder 
and Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC, to extend the term of the agreement by 120 days. 
 

 E. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8018 
amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to create an additional method of 
property valuation for the determination of whether proposed work on a property 
triggers upgrades to lighting, landscaping, site access and non-conforming drive-
throughs under the Land Use Code. 
 

  

Packet Page  1



 F. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8016 
amending Chapter 4-11, “Mall Permits and Leases,” Sections 4-1-9 “Authority to 
Deny Issuance of Licenses,” 4-20-11 “Mall License and Permit Fees,” and 8-6-6 
“Requirements for Revocable Permits, Short-term Leases and Long-term Leases,” 
B.R.C 1981, to update the code to be consistent with current mall practices and 
needs, and setting forth related details. 
 

4. 
 

POTENTIAL CALL UP CHECK IN 
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed under 
agenda Item 8-A1. 
 

5. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

 A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8012 
authorizing and directing the acquisition of property located along the Wonderland 
Creek corridor between Winding Trail Drive and Foothills Parkway, by purchase or 
eminent domain proceedings, for the construction of the Wonderland Creek 
Greenways Improvement Project. 
 

 B. Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only two 
emergency ordinances numbered 8020 and 8027 both amending Chapter 6-16, 
B.R.C. 1981, amending Sections 6-16-2 “Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License 
Required” with Ordinance No. 8020 extending the time for medical marijuana 
businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses from December 31, 2014 
to March 31, 2015 and Ordinance No. 8027 amending those sections to eliminate 
the deadline for conversion of those businesses that existed on October 22, 2013.  
  

6. MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER 
 

 A. Motion to accept the City Manager’s recommendation to disburse 2015 Human 
Services Fund allocations to community human services agencies. 
 

 B. Consideration of a response to City and County of Denver’s Request for Support 
for its National Western Center Project 
 

7. MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY 
 

 None 
 

8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS 
 

 A.     POTENTIAL CALL-UPS: 
        (1) Landmark Alteration Certificate to alter window to create an entrance at the 
                 north (primary) elevation of 1029 Broadway St. (pending landmark). 
 

                             (2) Disapproval of historic landmark designation of 445 College Ave.  
  

Packet Page  2



  (3) Landmark Alteration Certificate to construct a 753 sq. ft. addition to a 
contributing house and to construct a 336 sq. ft. one-car garage at 735 
Mapleton Ave. 
 

  (4) Site and Use Review application no. LUR2008-00034, Flatirons Storage 
Facility located at 5675 Arapahoe Ave., a request to extend the original Site 
and Use Review approvals  for the property beyond the expiration period as 
permitted by the development code.  
 

  (5) Potential Call-up item for a site review for the proposed removal of existing 
structures and a two-phased redevelopment with three, four-story buildings of 
Class A office in a campus format with below grade parking for the property 
located at 2095, 2111 and 2121 30th Street along with 2920 and 2930 Pearl 
Street. A total of 330,000 gross square feet is proposed to be developed in 
two phases (220,000 square feet in initial phase) with maximum 55' building 
height and four-stories. Site Review case no. LUR2014-00035. The applicant 
intends to pursue Vested Rights per section 9-2-19, B.R.C. 1981. 
 

 B. Retreat Committee Update  
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.)  
Public comment on any motions made under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 

11. 
 

DEBRIEF (5 Min.) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was 
conducted. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov/citycouncil. 
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 
6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting. 
DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library. Anyone requiring special 
packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions may contact the City 
Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday. Forty-eight (48) 
hours notification prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED. 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please 
call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting. Si usted necesita 
interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor 
comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta. Electronic 
presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign up and will 
NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings. Electronic media must 
come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support is provided by 
staff. 

 

Packet Page  3



 
 

CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 
CITY OF BOULDER 

Thursday, November 6, 2014 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
Mayor Appelbaum called the October 21, 2014 City Council meeting to order at 6:06 PM in 
Council Chambers. 

 
Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum and Council Members Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, 
Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker and Weaver.  Council Member Young was absent. 
 
Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Weaver, to amend the agenda by 
adding items 8C and 8D requesting a nod of five for scheduling discussions on marijuana 
regulations and on disposal of Open Space property. The motion carried 8:0 with Council 
Member Young absent at 6:04 PM 
 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE 6:07 PM 

1) David McGuire – representing South Boulder Creek Action group, expressing interest in 
participating in the discussion about options relating to the detention pond east of Hwy. 36 
and concerns relating to high hazard flood zone and the potential life threatening impacts of a 
100 year flood. 

2) Kathie Joyner- as a member of the South Boulder Creek Action Group also spoke of the 
impacts to residents in the high hazard flood zone and potential life threatening risks of an 
eventual 100 year flood event. She expressed that the proposed flood mitigation diversion for 
Hwy 36 was particularly troubling. Solutions need to be developed now, not in years to 
come. 

3) Jose Beteta – Spoke of the hardship he and his wife had endured in looking for rental 
housing in Boulder as all landlords with whom they had interacted with required a social 
security number for all residents. His wife is a U.S citizen but since he is not they have not 
been able to find housing within the city limits. 

4) William Mentzer – spoke of the need to provide equality and equity for all people in Boulder. 
5) Elmar Dornberger – As a Fraser Meadow resident described his neighborhood as still 

traumatized by the flood of 2013. He commented that people did not feel safe and many of 
those who had lost everything, were not recovering from the impacts.  

6) Stephen Haydel – noted that Goss Grove neighborhood felt the impact of flooding from the 
Farmers ditch in 2013. He then spoke to the James Travel Development expressing that he 
and others who would be negatively impacted had not been informed of the proposal until 
reading about its approval in The Camera. He expressed opposition to the development. 

7) Carl Norby – Also spoke about the impacts of the rising water table in Fraser Meadows after 
post flood measures taken by the City Utility Department. He expressed that the strained 
physical, financial and emotional well being that was shared by other speakers was wide 
spread. He expressed that the resident’s concerns were not being considered or addressed by 
the city. 

 
The Open Comment portion of the meeting was closed.

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page  4



 
 

Staff response: 
Executive Director of Public Works and Acting City Manager Maureen Rait responded to the South 
Boulder Creek Action group thanking them for attending. She noted that as a result of the September 
30 Flood Study Session staff was reviewing additional options related to flood mitigation diversion. 
Staff would also be following up with C.U. This issue will be going back to the Water Resources 
Advisory Board in the first quarter of 2015 and, once a schedule was determined, the South Boulder 
Creek Action Group would be advised.  
 
City Attorney Tom Carr responded to the concerns voiced by Mr. Beteta, noting that there was no 
requirement in Boulder’s Code requiring citizenship as a criteria for residency but in fact there was a 
law prohibiting discrimination if, in this case, that was happening. He indicated that he would look 
into the matter further. 
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 

motion at this time. (Roll-Call vote required) 
 

A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
FROM OCTOBER 7, 2014 
 

B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE STUDY SESSION SUMMARY ON THE 
FACILITIES AND ASSET MANAGEMENT MASTER PLAN UPDATE FROM SEPTEMBER 23, 
2014 
 

C. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CITY’S 2015 STATE AND FEDERAL 
LEGISLATIVE AGENDA 
 

D. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT A RESOLUTION TO ALLOW THE CHIEF OF 
POLICE TO DISPOSE OF PROPERTY UNDER B.R.C. 2-4-6 BY MEANS OTHER THAN 
AUCTION; SPECIFICALLY BY DONATION, RECYCLING OR DESTRUCTION 
 

E. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT A RESOLUTION TO PROVIDE FIRE PROTECTION 
SERVICES TO CERTAIN ANNEXED PROPERTIES PREVIOUSLY SERVED BY THE BOULDER 
RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT. 

 
F. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 8008 

VACATING AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A DEED OF VACATION 
FOR FOUR SIDEWALK EASEMENTS AND ONE PUBLIC ROADWAY EASEMENT AT 28TH AND 
CANYON (LUR2014-00075) 
 

G. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2-2, B.R.C. 1981 BY 
THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION 2-2-19, “RECORDS RETENTION;” ADOPTING THE 
COLORADO STATE RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE AND REPEALING ORDINANCE NOS. 
5753, 5879 AND 5972 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page  5



 
 

H. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER 
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY, AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE 
ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY LOCATED ALONG THE WONDERLAND CREEK CORRIDOR 
BETWEEN WINDING TRAIL DRIVE AND FOOTHILLS PARKWAY, BY PURCHASE OR 
EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDINGS, FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE WONDERLAND 
CREEK GREENWAYS IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

 
Council Member Jones moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel to approve Consent 
Agenda items 3A through 3H. The motion carried 8:0 with Council Member Young absent, at 
6:39 PM 
 
4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN  - none 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  7:40 PM 
 

A. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO.  8009 
DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND PROPERTY AT 1919 14TH ST., TO BE KNOWN AS THE 
COLORADO BUILDING, AS AN INDIVIDUAL LANDMARK UNDER THE CITY’S HISTORIC 
PRESERVATION ORDINANCE 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: 1919 14TH STREET, LLC 

 
Historic Planner Marcy Cameron presented on this item. 
 
The public hearing was opened: 

1) Gena Simpson-Li – 43-year resident opposed to landmarking of the building noting that 
she did not think this building worthy of landmarking and should not represent historic 
Boulder. 

2) Mark Gerwing – Chair of the Landmarks Preservation Advisory Board  – spoke to the 
building’s historic relevance and importance in Boulder’s architectural history. 

3) Paul Price – 40-year resident opposed to the landmarking stating he thought it ridiculous 
to consider such a repulsive and ugly building. 

4) Jeff Wingert with WW Reynolds CO, owner of the property, spoke to the historic 
importance of this building to Boulder. He asked for council’s support on the matter. 
 

Council Member Weaver moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel, to adopt Ordinance No.  
8009 designating the building and property at 1919 14th St., to be known as the Colorado Building, 
as an individual landmark under the city’s Historic Preservation Ordinance. The motion carried: 8:0, 
with Council Member Young absent. Vote was taken at 7:07 PM. 

 
B. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 7992 

AMENDING SECTION 9-2-13, “CONCEPT PLAN REVIEW AND COMMENT,” B.R.C. 1981, 
TO ADD A PROCESS FOR REVIEW OF CONCEPT PLANS BY CITY COUNCIL – 7:08 PM 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page  6



 
 

 
Carl Guiler from Community Planning and Sustainability Department presented this item. 

 
The public hearing was opened. 

 
1) Mike Marsh – Spoke in support of council having the ability to review development 

proposals earlier in the process as it would benefit the developers and the community. He 
suggested having a lower threshold of votes by council to call-up the review of concept 
plans. 
 

There being no speakers, the public hearing was closed. 
 

Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Weaver to amend and adopt by 
emergency Ordinance No. 7992 amending Section 9-2-13, “Concept Plan Review and 
Comment,” B.R.C. 1981, to add a process for review of concept plans by City Council with 
Attachment B to the errata sheet. The motion carried 8:0 with Council Member Young absent. 
The vote was taken at 7:30 PM. 

 
C. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT THE FOLLOWING 

ORDINANCES:  - 7:32 PM 
 

1. ORDINANCE NO. 8005 AMENDING TITLE 9, “LAND USE CODE,” B.R.C. 1981, TO (1) 
SIMPLIFY VARIOUS VEHICULAR PARKING STANDARDS AND REDUCE QUANTITATIVE 
REQUIREMENTS FOR WAREHOUSES, STORAGE FACILITIES, AND AIRPORTS AND (2) 
CREATE NEW LAND USE – BASED BICYCLE PARKING STANDARDS; AND 
 

2. ORDINANCE NO. 8006 AMENDING THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 
(DCS) RELATED TO BICYCLE PARKING DESIGN STANDARDS 

 
Senior Planner Karl Guilder and Senior Transportation Planner Marni Ratzel presented this item. 

 
There being no speakers, the public hearing was closed. 
 
Council Member Morzel moved, seconded by Council Member Jones to adopt Ordinance No. 
8005 amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to (1) simplify various vehicular parking 
standards and reduce quantitative requirements for warehouses, storage facilities, and airports 
and (2) create new land use – based bicycle parking standards; and Ordinance No. 8006 
amending the Design and Construction Standards (DCS) related to bicycle parking design 
standards. The motion carried 8:0 with Council Member Young absent. The vote was taken at 
8:40 PM. 
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER   - None 
 
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY  - None 

 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page  7



 
 

8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
 
A. Potential Call-Ups - None 
 
B. Request from Library Commissioners to meet with the Board and Commission 

Subcommittee – 8:38 PM 
 

Mayor  Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member  Plass to extend the Board and 
Commission Sub-Committee for six months (May 4, 2015) and to authorize the Board and 
Commission Sub-committee to meet with member of the Art Commission and the Charter 
Committee. 

 
C. Request for a nod of five for discussion of Marijuana regulations – 8:53 PM 

 
After discussion the council directed the City Attorney to bring back an ordinance in December 
extending the deadline for conversions from Medical Marijuana businesses to Recreational 
Marijuana businesses.  In addition, the City Attorney was directed to bring back an agenda item 
in February of 2015 dealing with the sale of merchandise, such as T-shirts and hats, displaying 
store logos.  

 
D. Request for nod of five to have a general discussion regarding disposal of Open 

Space and Mountain Parks property 
 

Council agreed to wrap this discussion in with the 11 parcels of open space property disposal on 
December 2.  

 
E. Opportunity to express interest in the position of Mayor Pro Tem 

 
Council Members Jones and Plass expressed an interest in the Mayor Pro Tem position and 
spoke to what they would bring to that position. 
 
Other Items: 

 
Council Morzel noted that over the previous weekend she was contacted by two downtown 
business owners expressing concerns over lost revenues due to lack of parking on the west side 
of 10th Street between Pearl and Spruce. The space is currently occupied with pallets of materials 
and equipment to be utilized for construction projects.  
 
Council Member Morzel asked that the following questions provided in an email to the entire 
council be addressed by staff: 1)What is the policy of the city regarding use of public parking 
spaces (the ones in question are all metered so a loss of parking revenue is involved) for staging 
for construction projects?  2) Does the developer pay the city for the loss of revenue? 3) For what 
period of time will this area be used for staging? 4) Is there no other place that can be used to 
stage the materials so that parking can resume at this location?; and 5) How can the business 
owners be compensated...has this been done in the past? 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page  8



 
 

 
Executive Director of Public Works and Acting City Manager Maureen Rait responded that staff 
would be providing a comprehensive response to these questions via Hotline. She also noted that 
one of the staging issues referenced was being relocated and would be completed by the 
following Monday. 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  - None 
 
10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters. 
 
Vote was taken on the motion to extend the Board and Commission Sub-Committee for six 
months (May 4, 2015) and to authorize the Board and Commission Sub-committee to meet with 
members of the Art Commission and the Charter Committee. The motion carried 8:0 with 
Council Member Young absent. The vote was taken at 9:48 PM. 
 
11. DEBRIEF - none 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION 
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on November 6, 2014 at 9:48 
 PM. 
 
Approved this ___ day of ___________, 2014. 

 
       APPROVED BY: 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Matthew Appelbaum,  
       Mayor     

ATTEST:       
 
 
_____________________     
Alisa D. Lewis, 
City Clerk 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page  9



 

 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: 
Consideration of a motion to approve a 20 year lease right-of-way lease for multiple 
cornices on the building located at 901 Pearl Street. Case No. REV2014-00019. 
 
Applicant:  901 Eldridge, Inc, a Colorado Corporation 

 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Jonathan Woodward, Associate Planner 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Pursuant to Section 2-2-8, “Conveyance of City Real Property Interests”, B.R.C. 1981, 
City Council approval is required for lease terms which exceed three years.  As indicated 
in the “Analysis” section below, staff finds the request consistent with the code requests 
for a long term lease. 
 
The applicant requests City Council approval of a 20 year lease for cornices which 
encroach into the airspace at the new building at 901 Pearl Street.  The cornices are 
permanent features of the building and will not provide an adverse impact on pedestrians. 
This motion authorizes the City Manager to execute the necessary documents to 
accomplish this transaction.  The cornices are located on 12 columns and extend into the 
right-of-way no more than four inches. The proposed lease is attached (See Attachment 
A) and has been signed by 901 Eldridge, Inc, the owner and applicant.   

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page  10



 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to approve the 20 year right-of-way lease for multiple cornices on the building 
located at 901 Pearl Street. 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: The encroachments further economic sustainability by enhancing 
architectural integrity of the property.  

 Environmental: The cornices do not have an environmental effect.     
 Social: The cornices serve as architectural and design enhancements to the 

columns of the new building at 901 Pearl Street.   
 

OTHER IMPACTS  
 Fiscal: Cornices collect an annual fee of $1 per year which does not have a major 

fiscal impact.  The lease rate was determined based on the nature of the 
encroachments and the public purpose served. Lease rates are reviewed annually 
by the Downtown Management Commission and a recommendation made to City 
Council.  City Council approves the annual rate as part of the annual budget 
process.  

 Staff time: The applicant has paid the required application fee to cover the staff 
review time of the proposed lease.  

 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This item is being heard as part of the consent agenda and has been advertised in the 
Daily Camera.  
 
BACKGROUND 
City staff has identified the need for a 20 year lease for the cornices that encroach into the 
right-of-way at 901 Pearl Street per criteria of Section 8-6-6, B.R.C 1981.  The project 
was approved in 2013 through a Site Review process (case no. LUR2013-00039), and the 
building is currently under construction.  During the Technical Document Review 
(TEC2013-00074), Engineering commented that a revocable lease is needed for right-of-
way encroachments in a letter to the applicant dated Dec. 6, 2013. The building is a 
mixed-use, three-story building that has a ground-level restaurant and residential units on 
the second and third floor.  The cornices are permanent building features and encroach 
into the right-of-way no more than four inches.  See Exhibit B to the Right of Way Lease 
for the plans. 
 
City Council must approve any lease term greater than three years, because the City 
Manager is only authorized to permit encroachments within the public right-of-way for a 
period of three years or less. See Section 2-2-8, “Conveyance of City Real Property 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page  11



 

 

Interest,” B.R.C. 1981, and the City Charter Section 111, “Terms not longer than twenty 
years – compensation.”  The cornices at 901 Pearl Street are permanent in nature and part 
of the building’s architecture.  Staff has determined that there will be no public need for 
the leased area during the lease period.  A copy of the proposed Right-of-Way Lease is 
attached (see Attachment A).  
 
ANALYSIS 
Since the encroachments are permanent in nature, a long term lease may be approved, if 
the following criteria are met, pursuant to Section 8-6-6(f), B.R.C. 1981: The revocable 
lease meets the requirements found in Section 8-6-6(c), B.R.C. 1981 and are listed below:   
 

1. The encroachment does not constitute a traffic or other hazard. 
The cornices are located in the airspace and will not create a traffic 
hazard. 
 

2. The encroachment does not destroy or impair the public's use of the land for its 
intended purposes or serves a public purpose that cannot otherwise be 
accomplished without such minor impairment 

The encroachments do not destroy or impair the public use of the space on 
Pearl Street, as they are located in the air above the space generally used 
by the public. 
 

3. Encroachment on a sidewalk in commercial areas maintains a minimum clearance 
of eight feet vertically and horizontally of unobstructed pedestrian way. The 
requirements of this paragraph may be modified by the city manager if reasonable 
passage is provided on the sidewalk and the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists and 
motorists is not impaired. 

The cornices are located on columns and are located above eight feet in 
height.  They only project into the right-of-way a maximum of four inches.  
Therefore, these encroachments do not obstruct the minimum clearance 
area of eight feet vertically and horizontally for a pedestrian way. 

4. A longer termed use of the public property for the specific term approved will not 
be contrary to the public interest and ultimate use of the public right-of-way or 
public easement. 

A long term lease is being proposed for the encroachments as the 
encroachments are permanent in nature and of such location and size as 
to not be contrary to the public interest and ultimate use of the public 
right-of-way or public easement during this longer lease term. 

5. Adequate compensation is provided to the City throughout the lease term. 
The lease rate was determined based on the nature of the encroachments 
and the public purpose served.  

 
 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page  12



 

 

MATRIX OF OPTIONS 
City Council may: 

1. Approve the 20 year lease as proposed; 
2. Deny the 20 year lease, but direct the City Manager to approve a three year short 

term lease. The applicant renews the lease in three years as directed by the city; or 
3. Deny both the long and short term lease and require removal of the 

encroachments. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A. Right-of-Way Lease 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page  13



 

 
Agenda Item 3B     Page 5

Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease

Packet Page  14



 

 
Agenda Item 3B     Page 6Packet Page  15



 

 

  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 7Packet Page  16



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 8Packet Page  17



 

 

Exhibit A 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 9Packet Page  18



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 10Packet Page  19



 

 

Exhibit B 

  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 11Packet Page  20



 

 

Exhibit B 

  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 12Packet Page  21



 

 

Exhibit B 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 13Packet Page  22



 

 

 Exhibit B 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 14Packet Page  23



 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 15Packet Page  24



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 16Packet Page  25



 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Fourth reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government 
Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related 
details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On January 21, 2014, council considered and passed on first reading extensive proposed 
changes to the city’s code of conduct.  These changes were developed based on council 
direction given at study sessions on October 9 and October 23, 2012.  Council made no 
changes on first reading.  After first reading, Council Members Matthew Appelbaum and 
Macon Cowles posted questions on the council hotline.  The second reading 
memorandum addressed those questions.  On February 18, 2014, Council considered the 
proposed ordinance on second reading.  Staff requested Council direction on thirteen 
questions.  Council provided direction on each issue and directed staff to modify the 
ordinance and bring a proposed revised ordinance back for a continued second reading.   
The questions and council direction were recorded in the council minutes.  On November 
18, 2014, council considered and adopted the proposed ordinance on continued second 
reading.  While preparing the final ordinance, staff recognized a gap in the conflict of 
interest provision.  There is no exclusion for actions that affect an entire body.  Under the 
proposal passed on continued second reading, council would be prohibited from 
accepting any benefit conferred on the general public.  Staff prepared a proposed 
amendment that council adopted on third reading.  Council amended ordinance 7957 on 
third reading.  The amendment on third reading created the necessity of a fourth reading. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page  26

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124466/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124761/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125136/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/126950/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/126950/Electronic.aspx


 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests Council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to order published by title only and adopt on fourth reading Ordinance No. 7957 
amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 
1981. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  

None identified. 

 Environmental: 
None identified 

 Social: 
Boulder’s community values support an honest, ethical and transparent local 
government.  The intent of the proposed ordinance is to revise the city’s ethics code 
to be more accessible through clarity.  The proposed ordinance would strengthen the 
sanctions for dishonest behavior, while at the same time clarifying what is acceptable 
and appropriate behavior for city elected officials, employees and appointed 
volunteers. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
 Fiscal: 

None identified. 

 Staff Time: 
None identified. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In 2012, council directed staff to revise extensively both the financial disclosure 
provisions in Chapter 13-2, B.R.C. 1981 and the Code of Conduct in Chapter 2-7, B.R.C. 
1981.   Council’s intent was to make these rules more transparent, effective and easy to 
use.  The proposed ordinance is the last piece of this extensive project.  On June 3, 2014, 
council passed Ordinance Number 7968 finalizing the changes to the financial disclosure 
provisions.  The proposed ordinance would complete the final phase of this project. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 
Attachment B - Third Reading Agenda Memo for December 2, 2014 Meeting 
 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page  27



 

K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 7957 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 2, “GOVERNMENT 
ADMINISTRATION,” CHAPTER 7, “CODE OF CONDUCT,” 
B.R.C. 1981, INCLUDING EXPANDING THE LEGISLATIVE 
PURPOSE, CLARIFYING THE PROHIBITIONS ON ACCEPTING 
GIFTS, AMENDING THE RESTRICTIONS ON APPEARING 
BEFORE CITY BODIES, SETTING FORTH PROHIBITED ACTS, 
ESTABLISHING EXPECTATIONS FOR PUBLIC OFFICIALS 
AND PUBLIC OFFICERS, SETTING FORTH EXAMPLES OF 
VIOLATIONS AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO: 
 
 Section 1.  Title 2, Chapter 7 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 is amended as follows: 

2-7-1 Purpose, Legislative Intent and Findings. 

(a)  Purpose: The purpose of this chapter is to protect the integrity of city government by: 

(1)  Defining and forbidding certain activities including bribery and profiteering from 
public officeconflicts of interest that if left unchecked tend to compromise the 
ability of elected and appointed public officials and public employees to perform 
their duties without improper financial influence. 

 
(2)  Establishing high standards of conduct for elected officials, appointed board and 

commission members and city employees by setting forth certain expectations of 
behavior that all such individuals shall maintain while elected, appointed or 
employed by the City of Boulder.  Defining and discouraging certain actions that 
may create an appearance of impropriety that undermines public trust in the 
accountability and loyalty of elected and appointed public officials and 
employees. 

 
(3)  Protecting the integrity of city government by providing standards of conduct and 

guidelines for elected and appointed public officials and public employees to 
follow when their private interests as residents conflict with their public duties. 

 
(34)  Fostering public trust by defining standards of honest government and 

prohibiting the use of public office for private gain. 
 
(b)  Legislative Intent: It is the intent of the city council to: 
 

(1) Establish rules of conduct that meet or exceed the rules established by the 
Colorado State Constitution and the Colorado Revised Code.  Prohibit public 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page  28



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

officials and public employees from acting on any matter in which he or she may 
have a conflict of interest. 

 
(2)  Establish expectationsaspirational guidelines to encourage public officials and 

public employees to maintain the highest standard of conduct to justify the public 
trust that they enjoy.avoid any appearance of impropriety. 
 

(3)  Require adherence to any provision of state or federal law that imposes a higher 
standard of conduct than this chapter.  Exercise the City of Boulder’s right to 
develop laws related to ethics in local government and appropriate standards of 
local conduct as matters of local concern as established by the Colorado State 
Constitution  in Article XX recognized by Article XXIX, § 3(6).   

 
(c) Findings: The city council finds and determines that this chapter is necessary to protect 

the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of Boulder and is a matter of local 
concern. 

 
2-7-2 Conflicts of Interest Prohibited Acts. 
 
(a)  Personal BenefitConflicts Prohibited: No public official or public employee shall solicit, 

receive or accept anything of value in exchange for performing or refraining from 
performing any act associated with the official or employee’s position with the city.   
make or participate in the making of any official action in which he or she knows or 
should have known that he or she would have a conflict of interest.  

(Disclosure Required: Each public official or public employee shall disclose any conflict of 
interest and disqualify him or herself from participating in the relevant action as provided 
in section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
2-7-3 Use of Public Office or Confidential Information for Financial Gain. 
 
(ba)  Use of Position for Gain Prohibited: No public official or public employee city council 

member, employee, or appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body 
shall use his or her public office or position for financial gain. 

 
(cb)  Use of Confidential Information for Financial Gain Prohibited: No public official or 

public employee city council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, 
commission, task force or similar body shall use or disclose confidential information 
obtained as a result of holding his or her public office or position, to obtain financial gain, 
whether for personal gain; gain for his or her relative; gain of any property or entity in 
which the official or employee has a substantial interest; or gain for any person or for any 
entity with whom the official or employee is negotiating for or has any arrangement 
concerning prospective employment. 

 
2-7-34 Duty to Maintain the Confidentiality of Privileged Information. 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page  29



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(a)  Duty of a Public OfficialMember Of City Council, Board, Commission, Task Force Or 
Similar Body: No public official city council member or appointee to a city board, 
commission, task force or similar body shall disclose privileged or confidential 
information without a public majority vote granting the permission of the council or 
similar body that holds the privilege. The sanction for a member of the city council, 
board, commission, task force or similar body shall be censure of the body, reached by a 
majority vote of the body, not including the member charged with disclosing such 
confidential information. 

 
(b)  Duty of a PublicCity Employee: No citypublic employee shall disclose privileged or 

confidential information, obtained as a result of holding his or her public office or 
position, unless the employee has first received approval by the city manager acting upon 
the advice of the city attorney. 

 
2-7-45 Gifts to Public Officials and Public Employees. 
 
(a)  Gifts Prohibited: No city council member or appointee to a city board, commission, task 

force or similar body, or city employee,public official or public employee or relative of 
such employee or official shall accept anything of value including, without limitation, a 
gift, a favor, a discount or a promise of future employment if: 

 
(1)  The official or employee is in a position to take official action with regard to the 

donor; or 
 

(2)  The city has or is known to be likely to have a transactional, business, or 
regulatory relationship with the donor. 

 
(b)  Exceptions and Items not Considered Gifts: The following shall not be considered gifts 

for purposes of this section, and it shall not be a violation of this chapter for a person to 
accept the same: 

 
(1)  Campaign contributions as permitted by law; 

 
(2)  An unsolicited, occasional non-pecuniary gift of a maximum amount of $530.00 

or less in value. The maximum amount will be equal to the amount established by 
the state of Colorado pursuant to Colorado Constitution Article XXIX, Section 
6adjusted on January 1, 2006, and annually thereafter to reflect changes in the 
United States Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index for the Denver-
Boulder Consolidated Metropolitan Statistical Area for all Urban Consumers, All 
Goods, or its successor index; 

 
(3)  A gift from a relative; 

 
(4)  An award, publicly presented, in recognition of public service; 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page  30



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(5)  Reasonable expenses paid by other governments or governmentally related 
organizations for attendance at a convention, fact-finding mission or trip, or other 
meeting if the person is scheduled to deliver a speech, make a presentation, 
participate in a panel, or represent the city provided that if travel expenses are 
paid: 

 
(A)  The travel is for a legitimate city purpose;  

 
(B)  The travel arrangements are appropriate to that purpose;  

 
(C)  The expenses paid are for a time period that is no longer than reasonably 

necessary to accomplish the business that is its purpose; 
 

(D)  The public official or public employee who will be traveling is not 
currently, was not in the recent past, and will not in the reasonably 
foreseeable future, be in a position to take direct official action with 
respect to the donor;  

 
(E) Prior to travelling, the public official informs the city council or the 

employee informs the city manager of the name of the party paying for the 
travel expenses and the reason for the travel;  and  

 
(F)  After completing the travel, the public official reports compliance of the 

first four conditions to the city council and the public employee reports 
compliance with the first four conditions to the city manager. 

 
(6)  Items which are similarly available to all employees of the city or to the general 

public on the same terms and conditions; and 
 

(7)  A single unsolicited ticket given to a city council member and valued at not in 
excess of $150.00 to attend events open to the public on behalf of the city, such as 
awards dinners, nonprofit organization banquets and seminars, provided that: 

 
(A)  The ticket is offered only to the council member and has no resale value; 

and 
 

(B)  The ticket is not offered by a commercial vendor who sells or wishes to 
sell services or products to the city; and 

 
(C)  The ticket is not for a sporting event 
 

(8) A single unsolicited ticket given to a council member and valued at not in excess 
of $150.00 in each calendar year to attend a sporting event, concert or other event 
provided by a governmental entity or nonprofit organization, if the event is 
sponsored by the governmental entity or nonprofit organization, and the purpose 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page  31



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

of attending the event is to promote the relationship between the city and the other 
governmental entity or nonprofit organization. 

 
 
2-7-65 Prior Employment, Outside Employment, and Subsequent Employment. 
 
(a) Prior Employment: No person shall be disqualified from service with the city as an public 

official or public employee solely because of his or her prior employment. Public 
Oofficials and public employees shall not take officialany action with respect to their 
former employers for a period of six months from the date of termination of the prior 
employment if such action involves an exercise of discretion by the public official or 
public employee and provides direct benefit to the prior employer, including but not 
limited to a contract, lease, employment or regulatory approval . 

 
(b)  Disclosure of Employment and Other Business Activities: All officials and public 

employees, other than elected officials, shall report existing or proposed outside 
employment or other outside business interests that may affect their responsibilities to the 
city in writing to their appointing authorities prior to being appointed or hired. After 
being appointed or hired, all such people shall report any changes of employment or 
changes to outside business interests that may affect the person's responsibilities to the 
city, within thirty days after accepting the same. An employee that has received 
permission from the city manager may engage in outside employment or outside business 
interests. 

 
(c)  Disclosure by Public Officials City Council Members: Public Officials Members of the 

city council shall report any change in their employment status that could give rise to a 
conflict of interest under this chapter. 

 
(d)  Activities That Occur After Termination of Employment or Office: No former public 

official or public employee shall seek or obtain employment concerning matters upon 
which he or she took anyofficial action during his or her service with the city for six 
months following termination of office or employment if such action, occurred less than 
four years prior to seeking or obtaining employment, involved an exercise of discretion 
by the public official or public employee and provided direct  benefit to the employer, 
including but not limited to a contract, lease, employment or regulatory approval. This 
provision may be waived by the city council or the city manager. 

 
(e)  Participation of Former Officials or Employees: No former public official or public 

employee shall appear before, or participate in, a city board, commission, task force or 
similar body on which he or she was a member or served directly as an employee 
concerning any matter or on which he or she took official action during his or her service 
with the city for twelve months following termination of office or employment. This 
prohibition may be waived by the city council by appointment or vote. This prohibition 
shall not apply to persons who appear before the city in their capacity as an elected 
official following termination of their office or employment with the city. 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page  32



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(f)  Participation in Litigation After Termination: No former public official shall engage in 
any action or litigation in which the city is involved on behalf of any other person or 
entity, if the action or litigation involves a matter upon which the person took official 
action during his or her service with the city for twelve months following termination of 
service with the city. 

 
 
2-7-76 Employment of Relatives. 
 
(a)  No public official or public employee shall appoint, hire, or advocate the appointment or 

hiring by the city any person who is his or her relative. In the event that an employee is 
concerned that the employee's decision to appoint, hire or advocate the appointment or 
hiring by the city a person who is the employee's relative may cause an appearance of 
violating this section, the employee may request that the city manager make such 
decision on the employee's behalf. Council-appointed officers may request the city 
council to make such an appointment or hiring decision on their behalf. 

 
(b)  The city may enter into transactions with companies, corporations or other business 

organizations that employ a relative of a city public official or public employee, provided 
that: 

 
(1) The public official or public employee does not participate in the decision making 

that leads to hiring the company, corporation, or other business organization that 
employs his or her relative; or 

 
(2) The business organization is a publicly-traded corporation that provides its 

services or products to the city on nondiscriminatory terms justified by the market 
facts and circumstances of each transaction; or 

 
(3)  The company, corporation, or business organization has been doing business with 

the city for at least one year prior to the date the city official's or employee's 
relative became employed by the company, corporation or other business 
organization, and the city official's or employee's relative is not directly employed 
upon matters involving the city and does not have his or her compensation tied in 
any manner to the success of the company, corporation, or other business 
organization, or its ability to obtain business or earn compensation from the city. 

 
2-7-87 Representing Others Before the City Prohibited. 
 
(a)  City Council Members Barred From Representing Others: No city council member shall 

appear on behalf of himself or herself, or another person, before the city council or any 
city board, commission, task force or similar body. A city council member may be 
affiliated with a firm appearing on behalf of or employed by another person concerning 
any transaction with the city before such a body if the council member discloses the 
situation and recuses himself or herself pursuant to section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and 
Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981.  This prohibition shall not apply when a city council 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page  33



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

member is appointed by a majority vote of the council to represent the council before a 
board or commission. 

 
(b)  Board, Commission or Task Force Members Barred From Representing Others: An 

appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body may appear or be 
affiliated with a firm appearing concerning any transaction with the city under the 
following circumstances: 

 
(1)  An appointee may appear on his or her own behalf before the body of which he or 

she is a member to represent his or her personal interests, if the appointee 
discloses the situation and recuses himself or herself pursuant to section 2-7-10, 
"Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981, or before the city council; 

 
(2)  An appointee may appear on behalf of another person before any city body except 

the city council or the body of which the appointee is a member, except with 
respect to a matter that has or may come before the board or commission on 
which he or she serves; 

 
(3)  A firm with which an appointee is affiliated may not appear on behalf of or be 

employed by another person concerning any transaction before the body of which 
the appointee is a member unless the appointee discloses the situation and recuses 
himself or herself pursuant to Section 2-7-10, "Disclosure and Recusal 
Procedure," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(c)  City Public Employees Barred From Representing Others: No publiccity employee shall 

appear on behalf of or be employed by another person concerning any transaction with 
the city or before the city council or any city board, commission, task force or similar 
body. An public employee may appear before such a body on his or her own behalf or on 
behalf of such employee's spouse, parent, or child. Nothing in this chapter shall be 
deemed to prohibit the city manager from establishing additional policies and regulations 
to prevent conflicts of interest between city public employees and the city. 

 
(d)  City Council Members and Municipal Court: No city council member who is an attorney 

shall appear on behalf of or be employed by another person or be affiliated with a firm 
appearing on behalf of or employed by another person concerning any matter before the 
municipal court. 

 
(e) CityPublic Employees and Municipal Court: No citypublic employee who is an attorney 

shall appear on behalf of or be employed by another person or be affiliated with a firm 
that appears on behalf of or is employed by another person concerning any matter before 
the municipal court. A non-attorney employee may appear before the municipal court on 
his or her own behalf, and an employee other than a municipal court judge may appear on 
behalf of such employee's spouse, parent, or child to the extent otherwise allowed by law. 
This authority is intended to allow employees to assist family members in matters before 
the municipal court to the extent permitted by law but not to promote the unauthorized 
practice of law. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 9Packet Page  34



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(f)  Board, Commission, or Task Force Member and Municipal Court: An appointee to a city 

board, commission, task force or similar body may appear before the municipal court and 
may be affiliated with a firm appearing before the municipal court. 

 
(g)  Consent to Sue: No public officialcity council member or appointee to any city board, 

commission, task force or similar body shall be a party or by himself or herself or as an 
affiliate of a firm appear on behalf of a party in a civil law suit in which the city is an 
adverse party, unless the public officialmember or appointee first obtains the consent of 
the city council. 

 
2-7-98 Appearances of Impropriety DiscouragedExpectations. 
 
(a)  These expectationsguidelines are intended to establish ethical standardsgoals and 

principles to guidehelp public officials and public employeescity council members, 
employees, and appointees to a city board, commission, task force or similar body in the 
execution of their offices in a manner that will reflect well on the city and promote to 
determine if their actions may cause an appearance of impropriety that will undermine 
the public's trust in local government. 

 
(b)  Violations of this section shall not constitute a violation of this chapter. Compliance with 

this section will not constitute a defense for violation of another subsection or section of 
this chapter.  Violation of this section may be considered as the basis for censure of a 
public official, or in the most serious cases, removal of a board or commission member.  
Violation of this section may be the basis of disciplinary action, or in the most serious 
cases, termination of a public employee.   

 
(c) A public officialcity council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, 

commission, task force or similar body who determines that his or her actions may be 
considered to be in violation of this sectioncause an appearance of impropriety should 
consider disclosure and discussion of the potential violation in a public meeting before 
the council, board, commission, task force or similar body on which the person serves. 

 
(d)   A public official whose participation in a matter would violate this section shall , but is 

not required to, disclose and recuse herself or himself as prescribed by section 2-7-910, 
"Disclosure and Recusal Procedure," B.R.C. 1981., in the following circumstances: 

 
(1)  If the person is an employee of a state or federal government entity with a substantial 

interest in any transaction with the city; 
 
(2)  If the person has a close friend with a substantial interest in any transaction with the city, 

and the council member, appointee, or employee believes that the friendship would 
prevent such person from acting impartially with regard to the particular transaction; 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 10Packet Page  35



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(3)  If the person has an interest in any transaction with the city that is personal or private in 
nature that would cause a reasonable person in the community to question the objectivity 
of the city council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, or commission; 

 
(4)  If the person is called upon to act in a quasi-judicial capacity in a decision regarding any 

of the situations described in paragraphs (c)(1), (c)(2), and (c)(3) of this section; or 
 
(5) If the person owns or leases real property within six hundred feet from a parcel of property 

that is the subject of a transaction with the City upon which he or she must make a 
decision, and is not required to receive official notice of a quasi-judicial action of the 
City. 

 
(e)   A public official or public employee shall: 
 

(1)  Strive at all times to serve the best interests of the city regardless of his or her 
personal interest. 

 
(2)   Perform duties with honesty, care, diligence, professionalism, impartiality and 

integrity. 
 

(3)  Strive for the highest ethical standards to sustain the trust and confidence of the 
public they serve, not just the minimum required to meet legal or procedural 
requirements. 

 
(4)  Use sound judgment to make the best possible decisions for the city, taking into 

consideration all available information, circumstances and resources. 
 

(5)  Act within the boundaries of his or her authority as defined by the city charter and 
code. 

 
(6) Treat colleagues and members of the public professionally and with courtesy. 

 
(7) Disclose personal or professional relationships with any company or individual 

who has or is seeking to have a business relationship with the city, if the official 
or employee has any authority to exercise discretion over the business 
relationship. 

 
(8) Disclose any benefit he or she will receive from any matter requiring the exercise 

of discretion by the officer or employee. 
 

(9)   Use city resources, facilities and equipment only for city purposes, except for 
reasonable incidental personal use that does not interfere with city business. 

 
(10)  Disclose waste, fraud, abuse and corruption to appropriate authorities. 

 
(f)  A public official or public employee shall not: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 11Packet Page  36



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(1)  Advocate or support any action or activity that violates a law or regulatory 

requirement. 
 

(2)  Use his or her position or decision-making authority for his or her benefit. 
 

(3)  Expend city funds for his or her personal use or benefit. 
 

(4) Misrepresent known facts in any issue involving city business. 
 

(5)  Exercise authority or discretion in any matter in which he or she will benefit as a 
result of that exercise of authority or discretion. 

 
(6)  Use city resources, facilities or equipment for personal profit, for outside business 

interests or to access any inappropriate material, except if viewing such material 
is a necessary and proper part of their duties.   

 
(7) Participate in any decision to appoint, hire, promote, discipline or discharge a 

relative for any position with the city. 
 

(8)  Supervise a relative in the performance of the relative’s official powers or duties. 
 

(9)  Compel or induce a subordinate municipal officer or employee to make, or 
promise to make, any political contribution, whether by gift of money, service or 
other thing of value. 

 
(10)   Act or decline to act in relation to appointing, hiring or promoting, discharging, 

disciplining, or in any manner changing the official rank, status or compensation 
of any employee, or an applicant for a position, including appointment to a board 
or commission, on the basis of the giving or withholding or neglecting to make 
any contribution of money or service or any other valuable thing for any political 
purpose. 

 
(11)  Solicit or accept anything of value from anyone doing business with the city. 

 
(12)  Solicit or accept employment from anyone doing business with the city, unless the 

official or employee completely withdraws from city activity regarding the party 
offering employment and the withdrawal is approved by the city council for 
members of the council, boards or commissions and by the city manager for 
employees.  

 
(13)  Use his or her public position to obtain a benefit for the official or employee, a 

family member, or anyone with whom the official or employee has a business or 
employment relationship. 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 12Packet Page  37



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(14)  Vote, authorize, recommend, or in any other way use his or her position to secure 
approval of a contract (including employment or personal services) in which the 
official or employee, a family member, or anyone with whom the official or 
employee has a business or employment relationship, has an interest. 

 
(15)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in a manner that suggests impropriety, favoritism, or bias by the city or 
the official or employee. 

 
(16)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in a manner that suggests or implies that the city supports or opposes a 
candidate or ballot measure, except that public officials may identify themselves 
and their position as public officials supporting or opposing candidates or ballot 
measures.    

 
(17)  Use, or authorize the use of, his or her title, the name “City of Boulder,” or the 

city’s logo in for personal profit or advantage. 
 

(18)  Use city resources, facilities or equipment to support or oppose any political 
candidate or ballot measure.   

 
2-7-910 Disclosure and Recusal Procedure. 
 
(a) Disclosure and Recusal: No person with an conflict of interest prohibited pursuant to 

subsection 2-7-2(a), B.R.C. 1981, and no person described in subsection 2-7-78(a) or (b), 
B.R.C. 1981, shall fail to give written notice of the interest described in such section or 
subsection to the city council or the city board, commission, task force or similar body of 
which the person is a member and the city manager as soon as reasonably possible after 
the interest has arisen. However, no written notice is required if such person discloses the 
conflict of interest on the record of a public meeting of the city council or the city board, 
commission, task force or similar body of which the person is a member. The interested 
council member, employee, or appointee shall thereafter: 

… 
 
2-7-101 Enforcement. 
 
… 
 
2-7-112 Sanctions and Remedies for Violation. 
 
… 
 
(c)  Sanction Recommendations: If the party conducting an investigation pursuant to section 

2-7-101, "Enforcement," B.R.C. 1981, finds that a city council member or an appointee 
to a city board, commission, task force or similar body, or employee has violated any 
provision of this chapter, the investigator shall provide its findings and recommendations 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 13Packet Page  38



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

to the city manager or city council, as appropriate, who or which in turn may take any of 
the following actions: 

 
(1)  In the case of a city council member, a motion of censure; 

 
(2)  In the case of a city public employee, a motion for censure or a recommendation 

that the employee's appointing authority consider disciplining or discharging the 
employee; 

 
(3)  In the case of a member of a board or commission rRemoval as provided in 

subsection (b) of this section; or 
 
(4)  As an alternative or in addition to the sanctions imposed herein, the city council 

may resolve that any person or entity causing, inducing, or soliciting a public 
official or public employee to violate this chapter may not be involved in any 
transaction with the City, including but not limited to the award of any city 
contract, grant, loan or any other thing of value for a period of twelve months or 
that any such contract, grant, loan or thing of value be terminated, repaid or 
forfeited.  

 
(d)  Civil Remedies: Any person incurring actual monetary damage as a direct and proximate 

result of a violation of section 2-7-2, “Prohibited Acts,” B.R.C. 1981 or section 2-7-3, 
“Duty to Maintain the Confidentiality of Privileged Information,” B.R.C. 1981 affected 
by a city transaction may commence a civil action in the District Court in and for the 
County of Boulder for equitable relief to enforce the provisions of this chapter upon a 
showing of willful violation of any provision of this chapter. Before filing such an action, 
the person shall present the claim to the city attorney to investigate in accordance with 
subsection 2-7-11(c), B.R.C. 1981. The city attorney or appointed special council shall 
have sixty days to act thereon. No civil action in district court pursuant to this subsection 
may be commenced later than twelve months after a violation of this chapter is alleged to 
have occurred. 

 
(e)  Criminal Sanctions: The city attorney, or special counsel authorized to act on behalf of 

the city attorney, acting on behalf of the people of the City, may prosecute any violation 
of section 2-7-2, “Prohibited Acts,” B.R.C. 1981 or section 2-7-3, “Duty to Maintain the 
Confidentiality of Privileged Information,” B.R.C. 1981 this chapter in municipal court in 
the same manner that other municipal offenses are prosecuted. 

 
(f)  Defense: It shall be a defense to any charge of a violation of this chapter if the city 

council member, employee, or appointee to a city board, commission, task force or 
similar body obtained an advisory opinion pursuant to section 2-7-13, "Advisory 
Opinions and Outside Counsel Appointment," B.R.C. 1981, and was acting in accordance 
with the advice provided thereby. 

 
2-7-132 Advisory Opinions and Outside Counsel AppointmentRole of the City Attorney. 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 14Packet Page  39



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(a)  City Attorney to Provide Advisory Opinions: Any city council member, employee, or 
appointee to a city board, commission, task force or similar body may request an advisory 
opinion of the city attorney whenever a question arises as to the applicability of this 
chapter to a particular situation. The city attorney's advisory opinion may provide a 
specific defense from prosecution as set forth in section 2-7-12, "Sanctions And 
Remedies For Violation," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(b)  Appointment of Outside Counsel: If the city attorney has a conflict of interest or a matter 

arise in which the city attorney believes that a reasonable person would question his or 
her objectivitya significant controversy arises under this chapter, the city attorney 
shallmay appoint a neutral outside counsel to assist in resolvinginvestigate the issue and 
make a recommendation. 

 
2-7-143 Exemptions From Chapter. 
 
… 
 
2-7-14 Definitions 
 
“Benefit” shall mean anything of value accruing to an official or employee.  A benefit shall not 
include any situation in which the official, employee or family member has only a remote 
interest. A benefit does not include things that affect the entire membership of a significant class 
or a significant segment of the community in a similar manner as the affected public official or 
employee.  An official or employee is deemed to have received a benefit if any of the following 
receive a benefit: 
 

(1) A Family Member;  
 
(2) Any person or business entity with whom a contractual relationship exists with the 

official or employee;  
 
(3) Any business entity in which the official or employee is an officer or director; or 
 
(4) Any business entity in which the official or employee has a stock, legal ownership, or 

beneficial ownership of at least five (5) percent of the total stock or total legal and beneficial 
ownership, or which is controlled or owned directly or indirectly by the official or employee. 
 
“Family Member” shall mean a spouse, domesti c partner, partner in a civil union, child, and 
whether related through adoption or marriage, a parent, brother or sister. 
 
“Public Official” shall mean any elected or appointed city official, including city council 
members and members of boards and commissions. 
 
“Remote Interest” shall mean any interest which is incidental to the contract or 
transaction and shall include:  
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 15Packet Page  40



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(1) A position as a non-salaried director, officer or employee of a non-profit 
corporation or organization; 
 

(2) Less than five (5) percent of the total stock or total legal and beneficial ownership in a 
business entity; 

 
(3) A position of employment held by a family member which is not a director, officer, 

manager or supervisor in a business entity; 
 
(4) A position of employment held by a family member which does not directly exercise 

decision making authority affecting the contract or transaction; or 
 

(5) A position in a representative capacity such as a receiver, trustee or administrator. 
 
2-7-15 Definitions. Examples of Violations 
 
The examples in this paragraph are intended to provide guidance for the implementation of these 
rules.  These are examples only; behavior not listed here also can violate these rules.   
 
The following acts would constitute a violation of this chapter: 
 
(a)   A person lies to a constituent in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(4), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(b)   A person favors a personal friend when awarding a city contract in violation of paragraph 

2-7-8(f)(13), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(c) A person is rude to a constituent in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(c)   A person fails to disclose a professional relationship with a firm seeking to do business 

with the city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(7), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(d)   A person fails to disclose owning stock in a company involved in a matter that requires 

the exercise of discretion by the person in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(8), B.R.C. 
1981. 

 
(e)   A person uses a city computer to operate a personal business in violation of paragraph 2-

7-8(e)(11), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(f)   A person uses a city phone for a political campaign in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(f)(18), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(g)   A person fails to disclose fraud by a public employee in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(e)(10), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(h)  A person arranges a repaving project that benefits his or her neighborhood in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 16Packet Page  41



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
(i)   A council member participates in a decision that affects the value of his or her real 

property in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(j)   A person uses city photocopies machines to make 100 flyers to advertise a personal 

business paragraph 2-7-8(f)(3), B.R.C. 1981. 
(k) A person travelling on business uses city funds to purchase an expensive dinner in 

violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(3), B.R.C. 1981. 
(k)   A person makes verbal attacks against someone who contacted the city for information in 

violation of paragraph 2-7-8(e)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(l)    A person recommends that his or her department hire his or her niece in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(7), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(m)    A person supervises his or her spouse in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(8), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(n)    A council member seeks a campaign contribution from a public employee in violation of 

paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 1981 . 
 
(o)   A supervisor encourages employees to attend a campaign fundraiser for a council 

member in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(p)   A supervisor implicitly requires an employee to make a campaign contribution as a 

condition of receiving a positive evaluation in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(9), B.R.C. 
1981. 

 
(q)   A person accepts a lunch from a person seeking to do business with the city in violation 

of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(11), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(r)   A person seeks employment with a contractor whom the person previously hired to work 

for the city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(12), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(s)   A person obtains an internship for his or her son with a company doing business with the 

city in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(13), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(t)   A board member who is an architect participates in a decision in which his or her firm 

represents the applicant in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(5), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(u)   A board member who is an attorney participates in a decision in which his or her firm 

represents a party to the transaction being considered in violation of paragraph 2-7-
8(f)(5), B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(v)   A person endorses a business using his or her city title in violation of paragraph 2-7-

8(f)(15), B.R.C. 1981. 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 17Packet Page  42



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(w)   A board member allows his or her name and title to be used in campaign literature 
supporting a candidate in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(16), B.R.C. 1981. 

 
(w)   A person solicits work for his or her off-duty business, by advertising his or her work as a 

city of Boulder employee in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(20), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
(x)   A council member solicits business by relying upon his or her position as a city council 

member in violation of paragraph 2-7-8(f)(20), B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
2-7-15 Definitions. 
… 
 
"Conflict of interest" shall mean any situation in which a city council member, an appointee to a 
city board, commission, task force or similar body, or a city employee: 
 
(a) Has a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(b) Has a relative with a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(c) Has a substantial interest as an affiliate of a firm with a substantial interest in any transaction 
with the City; 
 
(d) Has a substantial interest as an affiliate of a firm appearing on behalf of or employed by a 
person with a substantial interest in any transaction with the City; 
 
(e) Is an officer of an organization that has taken an official position on any transaction with the 
City, unless service on the board of the organization is required by city code, rule or contract; 
 
(f) Is on the board of directors of an organization that is substantially affected by a transaction 
with the City, unless service on the board of the organization is required by city code, rule or 
contract; 
 
(g) Is affiliated with a law, accounting, planning, or other professional firm that has substantial 
interest in any transaction with the City; or 
 
(h) Is required to receive official notice of a quasi-judicial action from the City. 
 
… 
 
"Substantial interest" means a situation, including, without limitation, a financial stake in the 
outcome of a decision in which, considering all of the circumstances, would tend to influence the 
decision of a reasonable person faced with making the same decision. 
 
"Transaction" means a contract of any kind; any sale or lease of any interest in land, material, 
supplies, or services; or any granting of a development right, any planning, zoning or land use or 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 18Packet Page  43



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

review process that may precede granting of a development right, license, permit, or application. 
A transaction does not include any decision which is legislative in nature that affects the entire 
membership of a class or a significant segment of the community in the same manner as the 
affected official or employee. 
 
 Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 3.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 21st day of January, 2014. 

 
 
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

READ ON SECOND READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY 

this 18th day of November, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 19Packet Page  44



  

 
 
K:\CCCO\o-7957-4th-yco-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 READ ON THIRD READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 

2nd day of December, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON FOURTH READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 20Packet Page  45



 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 2, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government 
Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related 
details. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On January 21, 2014, council considered and passed on first reading extensive proposed 
changes to the city’s code of conduct.  These changes were developed based on council 
direction given at study sessions on October 9 and October 23, 2012.  Council made no 
changes on first reading.  After first reading, Council Members Matthew Appelbaum and 
Macon Cowles posted questions on the council hotline.  The second reading 
memorandum addressed those questions (Attachment B).  On February 18, 2014, Council 
considered the proposed ordinance on second reading.  Staff requested Council direction 
on thirteen questions.  Council provided direction on each issue and directed staff to 
modify the ordinance and bring a proposed revised ordinance back for a continued 
second reading.   The questions and council direction were recorded in the council 
minutes.  On November 18, 2014, council considered and adopted the proposed 
ordinance on continued second reading.  The November 18, 2014 agenda packet is 
attached as Attachment B.  While preparing the final ordinance, staff recognized a gap in 
the conflict of interest provision.  There is no exclusion for actions that affect an entire 
body.  Under the current proposal, council would be prohibited from accepting any 
benefit conferred on the general public.  Staff has included a proposed amendment that 
addresses this issue.  It is Attachment C.  Accordingly, the proposed motion includes 
alternatives to pass the ordinance as amended on second reading, or to pass the ordinance 
with the amendment in Attachment C.  If council chooses the latter, a fourth reading will 
be required. 
 
 

Attachment B - Third Reading Agenda Memo for 12/2/14 Meeting

Agenda Item 3C     Page 21Packet Page  46

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124466/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124761/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125136/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125136/Electronic.aspx


 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests Council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt on third reading Ordinance No. 7957 amending Title 2, “Government 
Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981. 
 
Or in the alternative: 
 
Motion to adopt on third reading Ordinance No. 7957, as amended as set forth in 
attachment C, amending Title 2, “Government Administration,” Chapter 7, “Code Of 
Conduct,” B.R.C. 1981. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  

None identified. 

 Environmental: 
None identified 

 Social: 
Boulder’s community values support an honest, ethical and transparent local 
government.  The intent of the proposed ordinance is to revise the city’s ethics code 
to be more accessible through clarity.  The proposed ordinance would strengthen the 
sanctions for dishonest behavior, while at the same time clarifying what is acceptable 
and appropriate behavior for city elected officials, employees and appointed 
volunteers. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
 Fiscal: 

None identified. 

 Staff Time: 
None identified. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In 2012, council directed staff to revise extensively both the financial disclosure 
provisions in Chapter 13-2, B.R.C. 1981 and the Code of Conduct in Chapter 2-7, B.R.C. 
1981.   Council’s intent was to make these rules more transparent, effective and easy to 
use.  The proposed ordinance is the last piece of this extensive project.  On June 3, 2014, 
council passed Ordinance Number 7968 finalizing the changes to the financial disclosure 
provisions.  The proposed ordinance would complete the final phase of this project. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 
Attachment B - Second Reading Agenda Memo for November 18, 2014 Meeting 
Attachment C – Potential Amendment to Section 2-7-14 

Attachment B - Third Reading Agenda Memo for 12/2/14 Meeting

Agenda Item 3C     Page 22Packet Page  47



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: December 16, 2014 
 

 
AGENDA TITLE 
 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt by title only Ordinance No. 8021 
amending the cable television franchise agreement between the City of Boulder and 
Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC, to extend the term of the agreement by 120 days. 
 
 
 

 
PRESENTERS  
 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Don Ingle, Director, Information Technologies  
Patrick von Keyserling, Communication Director 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
First reading on this item was held on Dec. 2, 2014.  Council had no questions or changes at that 
reading.  
 
The city is party to a non-exclusive franchise agreement with Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC 
(“Comcast”) which allows Comcast to use the city’s public rights of way to provide cable 
television services (the “Existing Franchise,” Attachment A). This agreement, originally set to 
expire on Dec. 31, 2011, has twice been extended: first until Dec. 31, 2013 (Ordinance 7785, the 
“First Franchise Extension,” Attachment B), and; then until Dec. 31, 2014 (Ordinance 7952, the 
“Second Franchise Extension,” Attachment C). The purpose of this agenda item is to approve a 
third extension for 120 days (Ordinance 8021, Attachment D). City staff and Comcast have 
been working closely to finalize an agreement and are confident that, with this additional time, 
they will be able to resolve the remaining differences, which relate to the following topics: 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page  1Packet Page  48



• Re-Opener; 
• Annual Summary of Complaints; 
• C-SPAN; 
• Audio Information Network of Colorado; 
• Cost of City’s HD Equipment; 
• FM Channels; 
• Biennial Ascertainment Survey; 
• PEG Channel Utilization; 
• Web-Based Video on Demand Grant; 
• Promotion of PEG Channels; 
• PEG Fees; 
• Customer Liability for Extension of Lines; and 
• 2HD Channels w/free HD Box: City accepts. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS 
 
The city currently collects an annual franchise fee equal to five percent of Comcast’s “gross 
revenue,” as that term is defined in Section 11-6-2 of the Boulder Revised Code. In 2013, this 
amounted to $1,237,435.91. This revenue is directed to the city’s general fund. 
 
The city also collects $.50 per subscriber in public, educational and government (“PEG”) access 
channel fees. Since the discontinuation of Public Channel 54 in 2008, the city has allocated the 
PEG fees for Educational Channel 22 and for Government Channel 8. In 2013, the PEG revenue 
generated from these fees amounted to a combined $149,288.56 for both stations. This revenue is 
limited by federal law to capital costs associated with these access channels. 
  
BACKGROUND 
 
The city last renewed its franchise agreement with Comcast in February 2004. This agreement 
was set to expire on Dec. 31, 2011. In the winter of 2009, the city requested that Comcast submit 
a renewal proposal for consideration. Late in the summer of 2010, Comcast instead proposed a 
two-year extension of the existing franchise agreement, consistent with a proposal it had made to 
members of Denver's Greater Metro Telecommunication Consortium (GMTC, since renamed the 
CCUA). The GMTC had asked Comcast to support a regional model agreement and, failing that, 
for extensions to expiring member franchise agreements until 2013. Such extensions would 

Suggested Motion Language: 
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8021 amending the cable television franchise agreement 
between the City of Boulder and Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC, to extend the term of the 
agreement by 120 days. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page  2Packet Page  49



allow GMTC members to benefit from the renewal of the City and County of Denver’s and 
Aurora’s franchise agreement which were scheduled for the end of 2012. Comcast refused to 
offer a model regional agreement but agreed to the two-year extension. The City of Boulder 
ultimately agreed that it shared similar interests with GMTC members and approved a two-year 
extension of the Existing Franchise (Attachment B). 
 
On behalf of Comcast, but with input from the city, Talmey-Drake Research & Strategy, Inc., a 
public opinion research firm in Boulder, conducted a resident survey in November 2009 and 
again in May 2013. Key findings from that most recent survey were: 
 

• Almost six of ten cable customers (57%) in the City of Boulder say they are either very 
(21%) or somewhat (36%) satisfied with the cable service they receive, a rating that’s 
down 11 points from 2009. They are most satisfied with the technical quality they receive 
(74%), followed by the quality of their channel line-up (68%). Like overall satisfaction 
with cable, the rating for satisfaction with customer service has also declined, going from 
70% in 2009 to 58% today. Additionally, rates have become an increasingly important 
issue with Boulder customers, as 49% now say the rate they pay for cable is “way too 
high,” compared to 38% back in 2009. 
 

• When asked to rate the importance of each of the three access channels available to cable 
customers in Boulder, only one, Channel 8, had a higher positive (59% for “very” or 
“somewhat”) than negative (40% for “not too” or “not at all”) importance rating. The 
other two access channels, 22 and 63, did not fare nearly so well. 

 
ANALYSIS 
 
Generally speaking, franchise operators are entitled to renewal unless they have not been 
meeting the terms of their existing franchise agreements or, for a variety of reasons, will not be 
able to provide adequate service to meet the cable-related needs of the community in the future.  
Federal law precludes franchising authorities from imposing requirements related to the 
provision or content of cable services except as specifically permitted by federal law.  
 
The issues that may be considered in deciding whether to renew the franchise agreement relate 
primarily to Comcast’s: 
 

• Substantial compliance with the terms of the Existing Franchise; 
• Customer service, including signal quality, response to consumer complaints and 

billing practices; 
• Technical ability to provide cable television service; 
• Financial ability to provide cable television service; and 
• Legal ability to provide cable television service. 

 
The primary foci of franchise negotiations have included: 
 

• The amount and calculation of franchise fees; 
• Customer service standards; and 

Agenda Item 3D     Page  3Packet Page  50



• The provision of Public, Education, and Government (PEG) access channels. 
 

Federal law specifically precludes the city from conditioning franchise renewal upon Comcast’s 
willingness to address other issues of interest to the community, such as cable service rates, 
channel programming and programming packages (including the ability to choose particular 
cable channels, also known as "a la carte service"), or telecommunication services (including 
Internet or voice over internet protocol (VOIP) services). 
 
Boulder’s Home Rule Charter, at Article VIII, § 108, requires a vote of the electorate to approve 
any franchises. However, this charter provision has been preempted by federal statutes. See 
Qwest v. Boulder, 151 F. Supp.2d 1236. This means that no election will be required for a 
renewal of the Comcast franchise agreement. 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 
With this extension approved, staff expects to bring first reading of a new franchise agreement to 
council for its consideration on March 3, 2015.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Attachment A: City of Boulder’s Current Franchise Agreement with Comcast 
Attachment B: Ordinance 7785, the Franchise Extension  
Attachment C: Ordinance 7952, the Second Franchise Extension 
Attachment D: Proposed Ordinance 8021 w/Form of Third Extension 

Agenda Item 3D     Page  4Packet Page  51



FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

City of Boulder Colorado

and

Comcast of Colorado IV LLC

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  5Packet Page  52



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Definitions

..............................................................................1.1 Applicable Law or Laws............................................................................1

1.2Cable Ordinance ........................................................................................11.3

CableSystem or System ............................................................................2 1.4Channel

.......................................................................................................21.5 ConstructionOperation
orRepair ..........................................................2 1.6 Franchise Agreement .................................................................................2

1.7Franchisee ...................................................................................................2 1.SInstitutional

Networkor I-net ...................................................................2
1.9Standard Drop ............................................................................................2 1.10 SubscriberNetwork...................................................................................2

2.Scope ofFranchiseLimits

andReservations ..................................................................22.1

Scope ............................................................................................................2 2.2 Affiliates Must Comply ..............................................................................4 2.3

Conflictswith theCable
Ordinance.........................................................4 2.4 Relation toOther
Provisionsof Law ........................................................4 2.5 Validity ........................................................................................................52.6

Effectof Franchise Acceptance .................................................................5 2.7 Franchisee BearsIts

OwnCosts ...............................................................52.8
NoWaiver ...................................................................................................5 2.9NoMonetaryRecourse

..............................................................................62.10 Severability .................................................................................................6 2.11 Effect ofChange

inLaw ............................................................................6 2.12Grant

ofOther Franchises ........................................................................6 3.Transfers

........................................................................................7 3.1No
TransferWithout City Approval ........................................................7 3.2 Applicationfar
Transferto beConsidered inAccordanceWith

Cable Ordinance ...............................................................................7

3.3Mandatory Conditions ..............................................................................7 3.4 ChangeinControl

ofFranchisee ..............................................................H 3.5 Intra-Corporate Transactions ..................................................................84.Franchise Fee

....................................................................................................................... 94.1Payment

toCity ..........................................................................................9 4.2Cable

ModemFees .....................................................................................9 4.3 Not inLieuof

AnyOther AssessmentsTaxorFee

..............................10 4.4 Payments ...................................................................................................10

4.5No Accord or Satisfaction ......................................................................10
4.6Payment Records .....................................................................................10 4.7Holdover
Term.........................................................................................10 5. Construction Provisions ................................................................................................... 10

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  6Packet Page  53



5.1Provision ofService Franchise Areaand Cl argesfor Plant Extensions

................................................................................................. 10

5.2Construction Standards .......................................................................... 12

5.3Continuity of Service ............................................................................... 13

5.4Rights Upon Franchise Terminationor Revocation ............................. 14

5.5Notice ofUse ............................................................................................. 15

5.6Contractors and Subcontractors ............................................................ 15

6. System Facilities Equipment and Services ...................................................................

156.1 System Capabilities ...............................................................................15
6.2Transmission Technologies ..................................................................176.3

EmergencyAlert System ......................................................................18 6.4Parental
Controls..................................................................................18 6.5SupportEquipment

andFacilities .......................................................18 6.6Technical Standards .............................................................................19
6.7Future Upgrades ...................................................................................196.8

TestingRequirements ...........................................................................19 6.9Inspection

...............................................................................................196.10 Interconnection .....................................................................................19611
FreeCable Serviceto
CertainFacilities .................................................206.12
Provision ofBroad Categories of Services .............................................216.13

Usesof System ..........................................................................................21 Channels and Facilities forPEG

Use.............................................................................. 217.1 PegUse
................................................................................................... 2t7.2 Return Lines for PEG

Use................................................................... 25 7.3 Support

forPEG Access ....................................................................... 26 7.4 Miscellaneous PEG

Requirements...................................................... 26 7.5 Costs Not Franchise

Fees...................................................................... ...278. Institutional Network........

.......................................................................27 8.1 Institutional Network ...............................................................................27 9.

Operation andReporting Provisions

..............................................................................27 9.1OpenBooks
and Records ........................................................................27 9.2Time for

Production................................................................................28 9.3 Reports Required .....................................................................................289.4
RecordsMaintained .................................................................................28 9.5 Relationto
PrivacyRights .......................................................................28 10.Customer
ServiceStandards .......................................................................................... 2810.1
Standards..................................................................................................28 10.2 Ascertainment ofProgrammingand

Customer Satisfaction ...............2811. Rate

Regulation............................................................................................................... 2912.
InsuranceSurety IndemniTication ..............................................................................2912.1 Insurance Required .................................................................................29

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  7Packet Page  54



12.2Indemnification ........................................................................................2912.3
NoLimit of Liability ................................................................................30 13.Performance

Guarantees andRemedies .............................. 30 13.1

Letterof Credit .........................................................................................30 13.2Material
Term..........................................................................................31 13.3Remedies ...................................................................................................31
13.4Liquidated Damages ................................................................................31
13.5Procedures PriortoRevoking
theFranchise .......................................32 13.6 Revocation orTerminationofFranchise

..............................................3313.7 Remedies Cumulative ..............................................................................33 13.8 Relationto

Insuranceand Indemnity Requirements...........................34
14.No Evasion ....................................................................................................................... 3415. RightsofIndividuals

Protected ..................................................................................... 34 16.

Miscellaneous Provisions ................................................................................................3416.1 Compliance

With Laws...........................................................................34 16.2

GoverningLaw .........................................................................................34 16.3 ForceMajeure
..........................................................................................3416.4 Notices .......................................................................................................3516.5
Calculationof Time ..................................................................................3516.6
Timeof EssenceMaintenance
ofRecords ofEssence ..........................3516.7
Captions....................................................................................................35 16.8 Entire Franchise Agreement ...................................................................35 16.9 Counterparts ............................................................................................36m

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  8Packet Page  55



FRANCffiSE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN THE CITY OF BOULDER COLORADO

AND COMCAST OF COLORADO IV LLC

WHEREAS the Boulder City Council accepted a draft ascertainment report dated June

19 2002 as a valid expression of customer concerns regarding currentcable service in the City of

Boulder "City" and as a valid expression of future cable-relatedcommunity needs and interests and
WHEREAS

theCity has determmed thatany franchise must besubject to the terms and conditions

set forth herem m order to serve the public mterest and WHEREAS

ComcastofColoradoIV LLC is willing to accept the terms and conditions of

this Franchise Agreement and WHEREAS

the City has determmed that subject to the terms and conditions set forth herem

and the provisionsofChapter 11-6 B.R.C1981 TheBoulderCable Code hereinafter referred toas the

"cable ordmance" and other applicable provisions of the Boulder Revised Code and theBoulder City

Charter granting Comcast of Colorado IVLLCa non-exclusive franchise pursuant to ihisFranchise Agreement

is consistent wrth the pubhc mterest andNOW THEREFORE in considerahon of

the Crty’s issuanceofa franchise Comcastof Colorado IV LLC’s promisetoprovide

cable service tores dents of the City under the termsand condrtions set forth herem the promises and

undertakmgs herem and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and the adequacy of

which is hereby acknowledged THE SIGNATORIES HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS.1.

Definitions Exceptasotherwise provided herem

the definitions

and word usagesetforth mSection 11-6-1B.R C 1981 The Boulder CableCode

shall governthis Franchise Agreement. References toany City official or City office also refer to

any official or office that succeeds to any or allofthe responsibihties of the named official or office whether by

delegation successionor otherwise. The followmg defimtions shall apply11Applacable Law or

LawsAllduly enacted

and apphcable federal state aud city constitutions charters laws ordmance codes rules regulations and orders
asthe same maybe adoptedoramended from time totme 1

2Cable Ordanance Chapter ll-6 B R.C1981

as amended from time to hme.

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  9Packet Page  56



1.3Cable SystemorSystem. De6ned as m the cable ordinanceas ofthe effective dateof this

Franchise Agreement except where the context mdtcates otherwisert specifically refersto Franchisee’s

cablesystem. 1.4 Channel

Aporiion of the electromagnehc frequency spectrumoradigrtally encoded streamof content

which isusedmacable system and capable of dehvermga television channel as television channel is

defined by the FCC by regulation. While achannel must beatleast capable of delivermga video

programming service achannel is not restricted to the transmission of video piogramming services1

5 Constructton

Operataon or Repaar Encompass among other thmgs mstallahon extension mamtenance replacement

of components relocahon undergroundmg gradmg site preparation ad ustmg

testmg make-readyexcavahon andtreetnmming. 1.6 Franchase Agreement This

FranchiseAgreement and any amendments or appendices hereto 17 Franchisee

Comcast of

Colorado IV LLCalimrted habihty company company andits lawful andpermitted successors

and assigns. 18 Instatutional Network or

I-net A commumcahon network whichisconstructed by Franchiseeandwhich isavailable only
toCrty authorized users19 Standard Drop Anaerial

connechon extend ngno more than 125feetfrom the potentral Subscriber’s demarcation point to the

pomt nearestthe property lme on the public right-of- wayorif closer tothe nearestpoint
on the Cable System from which Cable Service can beprovided to that Subscriber. 1.10 Subscraber Network. Fibers coaxial
cables and the

electronicdevices requiredto activate the same that are primarily usedm the

transmission of programmmg to residential subscribers. 2. Scope of Franchise Limits and Reservations 21

Scope.

2.1 1Acable system franchise is

hereby granted

toFranchisee This franchise grants thenght sub ect to conditions to construct operate

and repairacablesystem mover along and under Crty nghts of way wrthm the City of
Boulder for the purpose of providmg cable sernce and for providing an mstitutional network andother facilities ar

services for PEG useofthe cable 2

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  10Packet Page  57



system commencmg on the effective date of this Franchise Agreement January 1 2004 through and

mcluding December 31 2011 unless termmated prior to that date m accordance with this Franchise

Agreement or apphcable law The franchise is subect to and Franchisee must exercise all rights
granted to rt m accordance wrth this Franchise Agreement and apphcable law mcludmg the cable

ordmance. This Franchise Agreement and all rights and pnvileges granted under the franchise are

subect to the City’spohce and other powers However once the franchise grant is effective this Franchise

Agreementisa contract and except as to those changes which are the result ofthe City’s exerciseof
its police and other powers nerther parry may take any umlateral action which materially changes

the explicrt mutual promises m this contract. Sub ect tothe foregoing Franchisee does
notwaive its right to challenge the lawfulness ofanyparticular amendmentto the cable ordinance

oranyother provision ofthe City code on the ground thataparticular actionism excess of

theCity’s power underColorado or federal law or violates the Colorado or the Umted SYates ConsYltuY on

21.2This

franchise doesnot confer rights upon Franchisee other than as expressly provided herein. No

privilegeorpower of eminent domams bestowed bythis grant. Allrights and powers
of the City now existing or hereafrer obtained are reserved except as expressly provided to the

contrary in this Franchise Agreement. Nothmg passes by implication under this Franchise Agreement
5ub ect tothe foregomgFranchisee shall provide thecable services required hereunder throughout

the franchise term and any holdover term and shall make any cable services it

provides over its cable system available to all personsmits franchise area sub ect toSection

5.312.1.3 The franchiseshall be

interpretedtoconvey limited rights and interests only as tothoseCrty rightsofway
m which the City has an actual interest and only to the extent and for the purposes set out mthis

Franchise Agreement The grant of the franchise isnot a warranty oftitle or interest many right
of way and it does not provide Franchisee any interest m any particular location within the right of way

The issuance ofthe franchise does not deprive the Ctty of anypowers rights or privileges

it now has or may later acquire m the fixture to use perform work on or to regulate the

useof and to control the Ciry’s rights ofway covered bythe franchiseincluding without limitation the right to perform

work on its roadways rights of way and dramage facilihes by constructing altering renewing pavmg

widening grading blasting orexcavaring and the righttobuild and install

systems and facilities with or without a franchise. 2.1.4 The grant of the franchise shall not

becomeeffectiveunless and until Franchisee hasa filed an uncondrtional acceptance of the franchise

grant and b made all payments posted all securities and guarantees and supphed all mformation

thatit is required tosupply priar to or uponthe effechve date of Franchise.

If Franchisee fails to satisfy these obligations withm thirty days of the ordmance authorizmg the City

to enter inCO this Franchtse Agreement the franchise grant shall be deemed rescmded five days

after the City notifies 3

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  11Packet Page  58



Franchisee m writing the obligations have not been satisfied unless the obligations have been

satisfied before the five day period has expired.

2 2 Affiliates Must Comply. Any affiliate of or jomt venturer with or partner of

Franchisee mvolved in the management or operation of the cable system in the City that would

constitute a cable operator of the cable system is subect to the hmrtations of and shall comply
wrth the terms and conditions of this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall be fully hable for an

act or omission of an affiliate that controls Franchisee or is responsible in any manner for the

management ofthe cable system that results m a breach ofthis Franchise Agreement or a violahon

of the cable ordmance as if the act or omission was Franchisee’sactor om ssion.2.3

Conflactswith the Cable Ordinance. In the event ofaconflict between the cable ordinance as

it existed on the effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement and this Franchise Agreement as

of its effective date the Franch se Agreementshall control except where expressly provided otherwise
m this Franchise Agreement However although the exercise of rights hereunder is
sub ect tothe cable ordinance the cable ordinance isnot a contract Nothing m this Section 2

3prevents Franchisee from challengingaparucular amendmenttothe cable ordinance asanimpairment

of this Franchise Agreement 2.4 Relation

toOther Provasions of Law.241

The franchise issued and the franchise fee paid hereunder are notin lieu of any other required

authorization fee chargeortax unless expressly stated herein. Franchisee among other things

must obtain all applicable permtts and comply with the condrtions thereof comply with zoning

laws and comply with other City codes ordmances and regulations governing the construction
of the cable system 242

Franchisee is free tochallenge any unilaterally imposed requirementoftheCityas unlawful

and ar mexcessof the City’s police power butnot on the grounds that it imposes police power requirements

over and abovethis Franchise Agreement 2.4.3 This franchiseis

onlyforthe provisionofcable services. It shall not act asa bar or many respect

prevent imposition of addrtional or different condrtions mcludmg additional fees or authorizations related to
the provision oforthe use or occupancy of the rights of waytoprovide non-cable services.
Nothmg in this Sectionisintended to expand or contract the Ciry’s rights if any to regulate

non-cable services.2 4.4 The provisions of this FranchiseAgreement shall

be construedm accordance with Colorado and federallaw regarding cable franchises 4

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  12Packet Page  59



2 5 Ualadity Both parries waive as ofthe effective date of this Franchise Agreement

any claim or defense that any provision ofthts Franchise Agreement as rt existed on the effective

date of this Franchise Agreement is unenforceable or otherwise invalid or void Neither parry

waives the right to challenge the validrty of any applicable law.

2.6Effect of Franchase Acceptance. Byacceptmg the franchtse Franchisee 2.6

1Acknowledges and accepts the City’s legal rightto issue and enforce the franchise 2.6 2

Agrees

thatit will not oppose intervention by the Citymany proceeding afPectmg its cable system

subject to Section 12 2.226.3 Accepts andagrees

to complywith each and every provision of this Franchise Agreement 26 4. Agrees

thatit

will not claim that any difference between this Franchise Agreement and the franchtse granted by

the CiCy to Wide Open West effecYive October 17 2000 or between this Franchise Agreement

and the interim permit granted by the Crty toUS West effective January 4 2000 is

discriminatory anti-competitive orin any way violatesanyapplicable law provided however that Franchisee reserves

the right to challenge the USWest permit as discriminatory anti-comperitive or otherwise in

violation of apphcable lawifas ofDecember 312004 US West or its successor

isoperating under the mterim permit and therefore has no requirement to provide cable service

wtthm the entire boundaries of the City nor provide similar levelsofcapttal support as
Franchisee forPEG and any mstitutional network as defined mthe Cable Act providedby

U.S. West or rts successors 2.6.5 Agrees that thefranchisa was granted pursuant to

processesandprocedures consistent with applicable law and thatit will not raiseany
claim tothe contrary 27 Franchisee Bears Its Own Costs. Unless otherwise expressly provided

in this Franchise Agreement all acts that Franchisee isrequired to perform under

this Franchise Agreement or the cable ordinance must be performed at its own

expense provided that nothmg contained mthis Section 27 is intendedto restrict or
limit Franchisee’s rights under apphcable law to offset assess recover or pass throughcosts to subscribers2
8 No Waiver.28.1 The failure of the City or

Franchisee on one ar

more occasionsto exercise aright or to require compliance or performance under this Franchise Agreement the cable

ordinance or any other applicable law shall not be deemedto constitute a

waiver of such rights

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  13Packet Page  60



or a waiver of compliance ar performance unless such right has been specifically warved in

wrrtmg provided that nothing in this Section is meant to alter any renewal protections afforded

by 47 U.S.C.Section546dor the operation ofany applicable statute of limitations 2.82

Waiverof a breach of this Franchise Agreement isnotawaiver of any other breach whether similar

or different from that waived. Neither the granting ofthe franchise nor any provision herein

shall constrtute a waiver bar or expansion to the exercise of any governmental right or

powerof theCity mcludmg without limitationthe rightof eminent domam. 29No

Monetary Recourse. Without limitmg such immumties as the City or other persons may have

under apphcable law Franchisee will havenomonetary recourse whatsoever agamst theCrty

orrts officials boards commissions agents oremployees for any loss costs expense or damage

arismg outof Franchisee’s construction operationorrepairofits cable system or the activrties of
the Cityar any enhty authorized by the Crtytouse pubhc nghts-of-way or other public property.210 Severability In

the event

that a court or agency ofcompetent jurisdiction makes a final udgment thatanyspecific provision

ofthis Franchise Agreement isunenforceable according toits terms or otherwise void
said provision shall be considered a separate distinct and independent part of this Franchise Agreement

and such holdmg shall not affect the validity and enforceability ofall other provisions hereof.

2.11 Effect of Change an Law.

Subect to Section 2.10 inthe eventthat state or federallaws rules or regulations preemptaprovision or

hmit the enforceabilityofa provision of this Franchise Agreement then the provision shall beread

tobe preempted tothe extent and for the time but only to the extent and for

the time required by law. Inthe event such state orfederal law rule or regulation is subsequently repealed rescmded

amended or otherwise changed so that the provision hereof that hadbeen preempted

isno longer preempted such provision shall thereupon return to full force and effect and

shall thereafter be binding on the parties hereto without the requirement of further action on the
part ofthe City 2.12 Grant of Other Franchises In the event

thatthe Crty enters intoa franchise agreement permit license or other authonzation with any other

person or entity other than Franchisee to enter into the Crty’s rights ofway

for the purpose of construchng oroperatmg a cable system to provide cable servicetoany part of

the franchise area m which Franchisee is actually providing cable service under the terms and condrtions of

thisFranchise Agreement or towhichitisrequired to extend cable service under the

provisions of this Franchise Agreement the material provisions thereof shallbe reasonably comparable tothose contained

herem for comparable situations in order that one operator not be granted

an unfair competitive advantage over another and toprovide all parues equal protection under
the law. The City shall not granta franchise for less than the entire City unless legally compelled

todo so. 6

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  14Packet Page  61



3. Transfers

3.1No Transfer Without City Approval. Franchisee agrees that the rights granted to it by

the City are personal in nature and held m trust No transfer may occur without the prior consent
ofthe City. An application fora transFer containing all mformation andcomplying with the

requirements of applicable law and the applicarion fee of 5000 which amount shall be refunded

if not expendedin the review process must be filed beforea request fora transfer will be

considered by the City. 3.2

Applccationfor Transfertobe Considered tn Accordance With Cable Ordinance An application

fora transfer will beconsidered in accordance with the cable ordinance and the standards set

forth therein asof the effective dateofthis Franchise Agreement shall govern the City’s review

ofthe transfer apphcation sub ectto amendmentsthe City may adopt to comply with or reflect
changes in apphcable state and federallaw and the specific provisions m Sections3.3-3

5below. Requests for approval ofa transfer will not beunreasonably withheld 3.3 Mandatory Conditions

-Transfers Notransfer application shallbegranted unless the proposed transferee

331

Agrees in wrrting that rt will abide by and accept the terms of the cable ordmance this Franchise

Agreement and any addihonal terms and conditions that the City reasonably determmes are
neededtoensure compl ance by thetransferee with such Franchise Agreement 33.2

Agrees

m writmgto assume and be responsible forthe obligations and liabilities of Franchisee known

and unknown under this Franchise Agreement and applicable law333
Provides

reasonable performance guarantees tothe City that the City considers sufficient and adequate
toguarantee the full and faithful performance ofall franchise obligations by the proposed

transferee 3.3 4Agreesm

writingthat except as provided m Section 626 of the Cable Act concerning use of previous non-compliance

evidence in renewal proceedmgs followmga transfer approval bytheCity ofthe

transfer shall not constitute a waiver or release ofany rights of the City under this Franchise Agreement or

applicable law whether arising before or after the effective date of the transfer and

335 Posts all required

bonds securities m a manner to ensure that there isno gap mcoverage 7

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  15Packet Page  62



3.4Change an Control of Franchesee.No apphcation fora change m the control ofFranchtsee

or its parents willbe granted unless 3.4.1

Franchiseeunconditionallyreaffirms thatitwill abide by and accept the terms and condihons of

the cable ordmance this Franchise Agreement and anyadditional terms and condrtions that the

Cityreasonably determines azeneededtoensure compliance by Franchisee with such Franchise Agreement

34.2 Franchisee

reaffirms thatit remazns responsible far allofits obhgatrons and liabihties known and unknown

under the Franchise Agreement and applicable lawforall purposes mcludmg but not hmited

to renewal under Section 626 3.43 Franchisee and the

entitythat will own and control Franchisee provide reasonable performance guarantees tothe
CitythattheCity considers sufficient and adequate to guarantee the full and faithful

performance of ali franchise obligations 3.4.4 Franchisee and theentity

thatwillown and control Franchisee agree that the approval ofthechange ofcontrol by

the City shall not consYituteawaiver or release of any rights of theCrty under this Franchise Agreement or

apphcable law wheflier arising beforeorafter thechangeofcontrol 3.4 5Required bonds secunties
and the

hkemust be mamtamed so thatthere is nogap in coverage if there will be any

change m the sameasaresult ofthe change of control 3.5 Intra-Corporate Transact ons 3.5.1 The parties find

itappropriate toexempt certamintra-corporate

transactionsfromthe transfer approval requirement as permitted by thecableordmance.NoCrty

approval shallbe requiredm connection wrth any addrtion deletionor consoltdation ofwholly-owned subsidiaries m
the ownership cham above Franchisee so longasthe conditionsinSection3

5.2 are met. 3.52To quahfy for exemption from transfer approval the followmg conditionsmust be met

35 2.1 Franchisee and the party bemg added to the chainof

control uncondihonally reaffirm

that Franchisee willabide by and accept the terms and conditions of the cable ordmance

and this Franchise Agreement 3 5.2.2 Franchisee and the party being added tothe chain

ofcontrol reaffirm that Franchisee shall

be responsibleforall ofFranchisee’s obligations and liabiliries known and 8

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  16Packet Page  63



unlrnown under the Franchise Agreement and apphcable law for all purposes mcludmg but not

limrted to renewal under Sechon 626

3 5.23Required bonds secunties and the like must be mamtamed so that there

isno gap m coverageif there will be any change m the same as aresult ofthe transaction3

5.2.4 TheFranchiseeand party bemg added to the chain of control must agree mwnhng

that there shallbenowarver or release of any nght ofthe City whether such right arises befareor
after the transaction under this Franchtse Agreement or applicable law asaresult of the transaction and

352

5 The party bemg added tothecham of control must beawholly-owned subsidiary of ComcastCable
Holdmgs LLC and Comcast Cable Holdmgs LLC must agree to guarantee unconditionally the performance

ofthe Franchisee and party bemg added tothe cham of control 4.Franchise Fee

4.1

Payment toCaty.

Franchiseeshall pay the Cityafranchtse fee in an amount equal to five percentofgross revenues

as that term isdefinedm the cable ordinance asof the effective date of this Franchise Agreement sub ect

to amendments theCitymay adopttocomply with changes m applicable stateand federal law.

Fees or charges collected by Franchisee for PEG for sales taxes and for user fees assessed

by the FCC shall not be counted as part of gross revenues Gross revenues shall mclude revenue received

by any entity other than Franchisee where necessary toprevent evasionor avoidance of

the obhgation topayfranchise fees on all cable services. 42Cable Modem Fees

4 2.1 InaDeclaratory

Rulmg andNotice of Proposed Rulemakmg released March 152002theFCCstatedthat

cable modem service isnot acable service under the Commumcahons Act of1934as amendedand

imttated a rulemakmg to among other things examme States’ and local governments’ authority to regulate cable

modem service and the scope of the FCC’s urisdiction to regulate cable modem service.If

the FCC’s ruhng that cable modem service isnotacable service ismodified inafinal non-appealable

dec sion by the FCC or acourtof competenturisdiction to the extent Yhat cable modem serviceis

determmed to beacable service then the defimtion of gross revenues set forth mSection 11-6-2

BR.C 1981 shall mclude revenues Franchisee recaives fromprovidmgcable modem servicesm the franchise area m

accordance withthe FCC’s nxhngIfpayments are made pursuant to this Franchise Agreement

as providedform this Sechon thisFranchise Agreement wili bemterpretedto grant rights and authortzat ons

touse andoccupy the pubhc rights of way to provide thecable modem service on

which the feets paid.9

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  17Packet Page  64



4 2.2Nothmg m the Franchise Agreement shall be construed asa waiver of any right

the City mayhave to assessa fee on Franchisee’s provisionofcable modem service consistent withapphcable

law43

Not in Lieu of Any Other Assessments Taxor Fee The franchise feeism addrtion toall

other fees assessments taxesor payments that Franchisee maybereqwred to pay under applicable law

sub ect toany limitations set forth in 47U.S.C. 542. 4.4Payments.Franchise fees

shallbe paid inaccordance with the schedule set forth inthe cable ordmance and late

payments shall be subject tothe addttional charges set farth in the cable ordinance. 4.5 No Accord

or Satlsfactton

Noacceptance ofany payment by the Ciry shall be construed as a release or an

accord and satisfacrion of any claim the City may have for further or additional sums payable asa franchise

fee under the cable ordinanceorfor the performance ofanyother obligahon ofFranchisee. 46

Payment Records. Subect

to Section 9of thisFranchise Agreement the City shall have the right from time to

time and upon reasonable advance written notice to mspect audit copyand review all books and

records of Franchisee reasonably necessary to the determinauonofwhether gross revenues and franchise fees

have been accurately computed and paid 4.7 Holdover Term. Durmg any holdmg

overafter the scheduled date for expiration or other terminationofthe franchise without the

consentofthe City Franchisee shall continue topay the franchise feeas set forth

above in addrtion to honoring all other provisions of this Franchise Agreement. 5. Construction Provisions 5 1

Provisionof

Servace Franchise Area

and Charges for Plant Extens ons.511Franchise Area Franchisee’sfranchise

area shall be thecorporate limrtsofthe CityofBoulder as theymay be

altered durmg the franchise term. 5.1.2 Except where Franchisee is unable toobtain

requiredeasementsor permits and sub ecttoSection 5.14 Franchisee shall extend
cable serviceto any residence withmthe City asofthe effective dateof this Franchise Agreement upon the
request ofapotential subscriber atrts then-preva hng mstallation charge for such service. There shall be

no chargeforextendmg plant to a point where service can be provided witha standard

drop or if closer toapoint on the property line ofthe potenrial subscnber from which service can be provided

to the potential io

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  18Packet Page  65



subscriber. For areas where Franchisee has not extended its cable system as ofthe effectrve date

of this Franchise Agreement the foregoing will apply after January 1 2004.

5.1.3Fornon-residential locationsintheCity and for areas annexed to the City after the effective
date of thisFranchise Agreement except where Franchisee isunabletoobtam required easements or

permits and subject to Section 5.1.4 Franchisee shall provideserviceupon requestatits then-prevailing mstallation

charge but may chargeforanyrequired plant extension as provided m this paragraph. Franchisee

shall extend its plantatnocharge so thatit can provide service with astandard drop where
there is eithera mmimum density of twenty-five residennal units permile ar wherefifteen commercial

locations per mile agree tosubscribe toFranchisee’s cable service for one year at commercialrates.

Where these standards are not satisfied Franchisee may condrtion service extensions at the then-prevailing
charge upon the person or persons requestmg serviceagreemg to payapro rata

shareofthe cost of extending the plant toapoint where service canbe provided with a standard

drop Far purposes ofthis subsechon m areas where Franchisee has not constructed cable system lines as

ofthe effechve dateofthts Franchise Agreement each dwellmg unit withinamultiple dwellmg umt

"MDU" will countasa residential unitif and only if Franchisee can obtam access

to the MDU on reasonable terms and condrtions. Notwrthstandmg the foregomg Franchisee may charge any potential subscnber

locatedmamallor stnp mallforanylme extension greater than 100’

required tocross a parkmg lotto provide cable service. 51 4Franchisee is not requued to

provide

cable service to any51 4.1 occupant ofa mall orstrip mall

as setforth mSec6on 5.13 where such occupant is unwillmg topayits portion ofany apphcable line

extension costs 51 4.2 commercial occupant of commercial structures above the first floor

where msidewirmg necessaryto provide the cable service isnot already
present or where theowneroroccupant isunwilling to mstall orpay forYhe mside wirmg

necessaryto provide Yhe cable service 5.143 occupant of unlawful dwellmg unitsor 5.1.4 4potenhal subscriber

ma buildmg where Franchiseeisderued access 5.1

5Franchiseemust extend its plant so that service may beprovided tothe

subscriberat the lowest wst tothe subscriber that meets Franchisee’s techmcal standards unless a subscriber

directs otherwise If Franchisee contends that it cannot obtain the easementsnecessary toprovide service to

aparticular location Franchisee shallhave the burdenofprovmg thatitcannot

obtain those easements ii

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  19Packet Page  66



5 1.6Nothmg m this Section51 shall be construed toprohibit experimentalor"test

bed" services being extended toa segment of the community durmg the period of the experiment

5.1.7

Exceptaslawful rate orders may otherwise provide the "then-prevaihng installation charge"isthe
lowest lawful charga that would apply at any given time toa particular class of users For
example if free mstallationisthen bemg provided for installations mvolvmg aerial dropsof125
feet or less any person requestmg cable service that couldbe served by an aerial drop of 125

feet or less and anyone to whom Franchisee isrequired toextend services under Sections 5.l.l

and 5 1 2 could take advantage of that mstallation offer Similarly if Franchisee has established a lawful

fee far mstallations that recovers additional costsfor sidewalk and other pavement cutswhich is

charged to persons throughout the City that charge may be applied ona non-discrimmatory basis. If apphcable

lawpermits nothmg in this Franchise Agreement prohibits Franchisee from establishmg separate charges
forseparate classesofdrops such as for example underground and aerial drops so
longas drop costs are treated consistently. Notwithstanding the foregomg Franchisee maynotcharge

foradrop crossmga paved partion of the roadway notto exceed sixty feet toprovide

service except for good cause shown to the City 5.1.8 Where electric and telephone

serviceiscurrently above ground buta subscriber or potential subscriber requests to locate

its cable drop underground Franchisee shall locate the drop underground butmaddihon

tothe then-prevailing installation charge Franchisee may charge the subscriberforthe actual difference

in cost of installing the underground rather than an aerial drop including the costs if
any of any easement necessary for such underground cable drop 5.19Franchisee shall construct and
extend its

cablesystem to low mcome areas atleast as quickly as it is extended to higher

income areas. 5.2 Construction Standards Franchisee agrees that 5.2.1 The construction

operationand repairof the cable system

shallbegoverned by the cable ordinance and in all events shall be performed

m accordance with all applicable laws. In addition without limitittg the foregoing atammimum Franchisee

shall comply with its Manual of Construction Procedures in effect asofthe

date of the Franchise Agreement orsuch other manual as the City may accept m lieu

thereof IEEE standards the National Electric Code the National Electrical Safety Code and any other applicable

safety codes. The most strmgent applicable code or standard will applyinthe event

ofany conflict except insofar as that standard if followed would result m a system that
could not meet requirements of federal stateor local law 12

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  20Packet Page  67



5 2.2Subjact to this Section 5.2.2 wheneverfeasble Franchisee shallinstalltscable system underground

in orderto avoid damage from the unique wmd storms to which the City issubject

Franchisee shall at nocost to the City or adjacent subscribers underground its cablesystem when

poles to which Franchisee’s facilities are attachedareno longer muse far electrical or telephone plant

provided however that Franchisee waives no right toreimbursement from any fitnds raised

for undergroundmg pursr ant toC.R.S. 29-8-101et seq. Franchiseedoesnot waivetheright to claim the City

is obligated to raise funds pursuant toC R.S. 29-8-101 et seq forany particular undergrounding project.Franchisee shallexerciseits best

efforts to protect rtscablesystem from flood hazards by undergrounding creek crossmgs and

burying them deeply enough and with sufficient protectiontoavoid damage ma100-year
flood event But allof Franchisee’s cable system as of theeffective date of this Franchise Agreement

isacceptable until portions are replaced when the criteria ofthis Section shall applyto the

replaced portions. 5.23Franchisee shall mstall locate relocate and remove its cable system in

accordancewith the cable ordinance and all other applicable laws mcluding without limitation all

lawful street cut fees Franchisee shall not placeormaintain its cable system
including any poles or other structures m public rights of way or on private property except

m strict accordance with the requirements of the cable ordinance andall otherapplicable laws. 5.24

Franchisee shall restore and replace public and prrvate property thatisdisturbed

ordamaged during the construction operation mamtenance orrepair of the cable system wrthin

the times and in the manner provided in the cable ordinance Franchisee shall

compensate any entrty only to the extent of any in ury or damage caused by

Franchisee whose person or property is damaged by Franchisee orany contractor subcontractor or agentofFranchisee

in the course of the construction operation maintenance or repairofthe cable system

where the property is not fully restoredbyFranchisee This Secrion is not meant to
alter the tort liability ifanyof Franchiseetothird parties or ofany contractor or subcontractor to

third parries or to Franchisee 525 In an emergency or where the cable system

creates or is contribuhng

to an imminent danger to public health safety or property theCity may remove relayor relocate

anyarall partsofthe cable system without prior notrce however the City will make

reasonable efforts to provide prior notice The City isnot responsible for any loss or expense

associated with its removal relaying or relocation of Franchisee’s cable system under this Section norisit

responsible for restoring the property to itsprior condition after the emergency. 5 3 Conttnuary of

Service. 5.31Sub ect to the provisions ofSection 51

concerning lme extensions its

theright of eachsubscriber in the Cityto receive all available cable services from Franchisee as long

as the subscriber’s financial and other obligations to Franchisee are satsfied. Nothingmthis Sechon 13

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  21Packet Page  68



shall limrt the right of Franchisee to deny cable service for non-paymentof previously provided cable
services refusal topay any required deposrt theftof cable service damage to Franchisee’s equipmentor

abusive andorthreatenmgbehavior toward Franclusee’s employeesorrepresentatrvesAbusive behavior mcludes
but isnot limited to use offightmg words or behavior taken by the customer that creates

ariskor a reasonable expectation that Franchisee’s employee maybeharmed.Inthe eventa

customer complams totheCrtythat Franchisee has unreasonably demed cable serviceaFranchisee will inform

theCityofthe precise nature ofthe srtuationbthe Citywillprovide the customer anopportumty to
submrtaresponse to the allegations andc Franchisee wili allow foradetermmation by the Crty

asto whether ornot the customer shall contmue tobedemed service. The City’s consent to withhold

servicefrom anabusive customer will not be unreasonably withheld. 5.3.2 Franchisee shall ensure that

allsubscribersreceive continuous umnterrupted cable service At the City’s request Franchisee
shall operate its system fora temporary period the "transiuon period" following the terminationofits
franchise oranytransfer as necessary to mamtam service to subscribers and shall cooperate with

theCity to assure an orderly transition from it to another entity. The transition period

shall be no longer than the reasonable period requ red to select another enuty and to
buld a replacement system and shall not belonger than thirty-six months unless extended by the Crty for

goodcause. Durmg the transirion period Franchisee will continue to be obligated to comply with
theterms and conditions ofthis Franchise Agreement and applicable laws 5.3.3 TheCity shallbe

entitled toat its

optionoperatethe cable system or designate another entrty to operate the system or revoke the franchise

if.5.3.31 Franch see for any twenty-four hour period willfully and

withoutcauserefuses to providecable service in accordancewrth this Franchise Agreement over

asubstantial portion of theCity 5.3.3 2 Franchisee abandons rts system.53

4 Nothingm this Sectton 5

3shallbe read tolimit any rights

the City may have to purchase the cable system. 54R ghts Upon Franchase Termanauon or Revocataon. If
the City revokes the franchise or

the franchise otherwiseCerminates the City shall have the following rights in addition to

the rights specified mthis Franchise Agreement or under applicable law 5.4.1 The Crty

may requ re Franchisee to remove its facilities and equipment atFranchisee’s expense.

IfFranchiseefails to do so withinareasonable period of time the City may have

theremoval done at Franchisee’s expense subject to any right of abandonment that may be provided for

under applicable law. 14

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  22Packet Page  69



5.42 In the event ofa lawful non-renewalofthe franch seifthe Crty acquires ownership of

the cable system or effects a transfer of ownership ofthe cable system to another person any

such acquisihon or transfer shall baatfair market value withno value assigned tothe franchise itself

Inthe event ofalawful revocation if the City acquires ownershtp ofthe cable system ar

effects atransfer of ownership oftha system to another person anysuch acquisrtion or transfer shall

baatan equitable pnce. The terms "equrtable price" and"fair market value" shallbemterpreted in

accordance with 47US.C 547. 55 Notice

of Use. At least annually Franchisee will notify the City of any agreements for third parties
to useof its poles and conduits. Copies of agreements for useof Franchisee’s conduits or polesm

pubhc rights of way will be made available for review uponthe City’s request subect toany confidentiality
restrictionsm such agreements.56Contractors and Subcontractors

Franchisee shall beresponsible for the acts and omissions of all of its

contractors and subcontractors as ifthework were performed by Franchisee itself and shall ensure that

all work isperformed m compliance wrth and shall correct such actsor omissions thatviolate this Franchise

Agreement oranyordmance lawand regulation oftheCity and shall be jointly and
severably liable forall damages and correcting all damages by themasif Franchisee performed that work itself

Franchisee shall ensure that each contractor and subcontractor complies with the requirements

ofthis Franchise Agreement and any ordinance and regulation of the City in

the course of constructing operating mamtaimng and repairingthecable sysYem This Section isnot

meant toalter the tort liability if any of Franchisee to third parties orofany contractoror
subcontractor to third parties ortoFranchisee. Franchisee shall ensu re thatanycontractor orsubcontractor used

for workon construction operanon or repair ofthecable system is proparly hcensed under

laws of theStateofColorado and all applicable City ordinances. Each contractororsubcontractor shall

have the same obligations with respect to rtswork as Franchisee would have under this

Franchise Agreement and applicable law if the work were performed by Franchisee. Franchisee shall

mstitute procedures adequate toensure thatthework performed by rts contractors and

subcontractors complies with therequirementsofthis Franchise Agreement and any applicable laws.

6. System Facilities Equipment and

Services 6.1System Capab litces.6

11 Franchisee shallmamtain

an activated two-way capable cable system so thatallactive components onthe subscriber network

have aratmg of no less than 860 MHZ and all passive components have a rating of no

less than1 GHz. is

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  23Packet Page  70



6 1.2Franchisee will maintainafiber to the node architecture with an average node

size of no greater than1 500subscribers pernode Franchisee reserves the right to change node

size maccordance with industry standards. 6.1.3

Theentirecable system must be two-way achvated and mustinclude the facilities and equipment except

customer premises equipment requiredtoprovide broadband mteractive cable services. 6.1

4Franchisee shall

mamtama redundant fiber optic link or equivalent technology between the Denver headend

and the Boulder secondary hubsite m order toprevent catastrophic service outages to the

entire Boulder franchise area due tovandalism storm damage construction related breaks or other
mterruptions mone of the fiber trunk pathways. If equivalent technology isused the

lmk must have all the characteristics mcluding without limitation the reliability scalability upgradeability

ease of upgradeability andscalab lity capacityand sacurity thatwouldbe
afforded byadedicated fiber opuc link 6.15There must be

reliablecontinuous auto-start back-up power at theheadend. Back-uppowershallalsobe provided ateach

nodeas activated through the use of backup power supplies that are suitably sized and locatedsoas

to carry therindividual loads for a mmimum of three hours.Inaddirion tothe extent technically possible

cable system active components shall bedesignedto parallel the power companygrid such

thata loss of power ataparticular achve component would hkely be accompanied by a lossof

power to the majorityof homes served by that component of the cable system61.6 The

cable system must mclude the facilities

and equipmentrequired to provide full system status monitoring of power supplies at the

nodes as activated The status monitormg equipment must at a mmimum permit Franchisee to identify

whereandwhen power outages affechng the node have occurred and when and where

thecable system has swrtched to battery back-up power supplies. 6.1.7 Franchisee must mstall and maintain

facilities andequipment lncluding without

limttationmodulatorsantennae amplifiers and other electromcs that permit and are capable

ofpassing through the signals received atthe headend without substanrial alteration

or deterioration thus for example the system shall mclude components such thatasignal

received at the headend in color may bereceived bya subscriber incolor

and a stereo signal mstereo . Facilittes and equipment shall be installed and operated so that subscribers can

receive closed- captioning and secondary audio. Any program-related data encodedmvertical or horizontal

blankmg intervals secondary audio signals andclosed-capnoned signals must be available to all

customers who subscriba to the services associatedwithsuch signals. 16

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  24Packet Page  71



6.1.8Franchiseeshall comply with all applicable laws concerning system compatibility with
subscribers’ consumer electronics equipment. Franchisee shall provide the facilities and

equipment necessarytomake its services mcluding its customer services reasonably accessibleto
persons with disabilities. For example Franchisee should employ TTY or similar technologies to

permit commumcation betweenthehearmg-impaired commumtyandcablesystem representatives 6.1.9The
system

facilitiesandequipment must be capable of contmuous twenty- four hour daily operation wrthout
severe material degradationof signal except during extremely inclement weather orimmediately followmg
extraordmary storms which adversely affectutility services or which damage ma
orcable system components 6.1.10The cable system must

utilizefacihtiesand equipment generally used mhigh-quality reliable systems of similar design except

wheremconsistent wtth the specific requirements of this Franchise Agreement. The cable
system must have the level of reliability required tosupport a high-quality broadband information
service 6.1 11 Franchisee shallprovide as-built mapsof

thecable system without notarionof electroniccomponents inapublicly available electronic formaY compatible

with City geographic mformation systems and other City data systems The City
shallassert protection of confidential commercial data from disclosure under the Colorado Public Records

ActSection 24- 72-204CR.S. 62Transmission Technologies. Franchisee mayuse

anytransmission technology asthat

term is definedm federal law provided thatthe cable system
is constructed and mamtamed so thatrtwillhave charactenstics thatmall relevant respecYs meetor

exceed the characteristics ofthecable system describedmSection 6.1. Franchisee affirms thaYithas constructed

acable system that meetsarexceeds all the requirements of Section 6.1 IfCity determmes that

Franchisee has not constructed the cable system asrequiredby Section 6.1orhas failed to maintam

thecable systemas required by Section 6.1andthe City determmes that the cable system does notor

isnot likely tosatisfy Sechon 6.1 the Citymay declare a breach of the franchise and m addition to

exercismg anyotherremedy available to it order Franchisee toupgrade the cable system byatime specified by

the Cityand require such securihesasare necessaty toensure the work is timely performed unless the

Crty determmes that the cable system as actually constructed meets or exceeds the followmg chaiactensticsathe

cable system must be highly rehable compared to the most modern cable systems bemg
constructed b the cable system must have adequate mrtial activated capacity and be designed so

thatitcan deliver additional bandwidth toand from each subscnber wrthout substantial delay or

construction cthe cable system mustbeable to respond tochangmg subscnber needsand

interests withthemmimum delay or disruptiondthe cable system must be designedsothat power

outages affect tothe extent possible only those subscribers whoare notreceivmg power at their home

ande the cable system must be designedsothat the amountofrequired mamtenance and

17

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  25Packet Page  72



the mean lime to repair is mmimized.

6 3 Emergency Alert System. Withm six months of City’swritten request at City’s costFranchisee
must installand mamtain an emergency alert system that can override audio and video on

all channels to provide an emergency alert that reaches only the City of Boulder while continumg to

allow participation in regional and national emergency alert systems If such a system is

mstalled at Yhe iequest ofthe City tha CiYy agrees thatit shall assume ali risks associated with operatmg

its EAS and shall be solely responsible forall liabihty arising outof operatmg the Boulder-specific EAS

TheCitywill operate the Boulder specific EAS in accordance with all apphcable state and

federal law The system must be designed and maintained so that local officials designated by

the City can activate the system remotely without the assistance ofFranchisee using a

telephone and secure password or bysuch other techmcal means asthe City may approve. The

system must be designed and mamtained so that the designated officials fromatouch-tone telephone

can activateapre-recorded text message andatsuch officials’ option an accompanymg hveaudio voice message

forupto two mmutes. The Crty and Franchisee shall meet periodically to discuss operational

proceduresforuse oftheemergency alert system As partofthose discussions the parries
may agreeon alternarive capabilities and actrvation procedures forthe emergency alertsystem In

addirion Franchisee shall provide emergency capabilities requ red under other applicable laws6.4
Parental Controls. In addrt

onto satisfying any obligaCions thatit has under apphcable law to provide parental control

devices or otherwise block programming onthe cable system Franchisee shall ensure that any

system for ordering movies or other pay-per-view programmmg is designed through useofsystemssuch
asPIN number systems to prevent children from ordering programmmg without parental consent. Franchisee
shall avoid theuseofchannels3and4for analog preview channels

that advertise adult programming 65Support Equipment and Facalities. 6.51

Franchisee must have sufficient trucks tools

tesYmgequipment monrtormg devices and other equipment and facilities and the trained

and skilled personnel required so that Franchisee complies with each and every requirement of applicable

law including apphcable customer service requirements techrucal standards maintenance standards and requirements
for respondmgto system outages This indudes the facilities equtpment

and staff required to aproperly test the system and conduct an ongoing and

active program of preventive maintenance and quality control and bbeableto quickly

respond to customer complamts and resolve system problems 6.52Franchisee must install and mamtam equipment

necessary

tomeasure its performance with applicable customer services standards that the City may

adopt from timetotime except that Franchisee may obtam relief temporarily from this

requirement if it shows that 1s

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  26Packet Page  73



a tt has ahigh level of subscriber satisfaction b there are alternative adequate ways to review

rts performance or c for other good cause shown.

6.5.3Franchiseemust ensure thatits headend has adequate space and isotherwise properly designed

morder to accommodate the equipment and facilities necessary tomeet its obhgations under

this Franchise Agreement. 6.6 Technccal

Standards.The cable system must meetorexceed the technical standards set forth in

47 C.F.R. 76.601 and anyotherapphcable standardsas amended from trmetotime provided that nothmg inthis provision

ismtended to permit the Cityto exercise any authority that it is prohibited from exercismg under

apphcable federal law67Future UpgradesItis

Franchisee’s responsibility tomake such improvementstoitscable system asare necessary so

that the cable system performs as promised as subscribers to services are added.68 Testtng Requarements.

6.8.1 Franchisee shall

perform acceptance testson

eachupgradedand newly constructed area prior to subscriber connection. The tests must
demonstrate that the system components are operatmg as expected and that there is

no signal degradation on PEG channels from origination pomts to subscribers. Franchisee shall have the

obligation without further notice from Citytotake correcttve actionifanysegment

isnot operatmg as expected6.82 Franchisee conducts the semi-annual performance testmg

required by the FCCinJanuary FebruaryandJulyAugustofeach year.If

the Crtygives norice toFranchisee by December 15 prior to the wmter test period or by

June 15 prior to the summer test period the Crty may observe Franchisee’s Proof-of-Performance test required by the FCC. Franchisee

shall provide theproofofperformancetestresults promptly to the City uponrequest.69
Inspection The Ctty shall have the right to mspect the cable system

during and after its construction to ensure compliance with the cable ordinance this Franchise Agreement

and apphcable law and may require Franchisee to perform addrtional tests basedon
the City’s mvesugation of cable system performance or on subscriber complamts. 6 10 Interconnectaon. 610
1 Franchisee shali m accordance wrth this subsectron mterconnect

the access channels

of the cable system with any other contiguous cable system uponthe directrve

ofthe City. Interconnection of channels may bedone by diract cable connechon mtcrowaue hnk satelhte or
otherappropnate methods. The Crty shall not direct interconnectton exceptunder circumstances where rtcan

19

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  27Packet Page  74



be accomphshed without undue burden or excessive costs to the subscnbers. Franchisee shall not be

requirad to mterconnect with acable system unless the operator ofthat system iswillmg to do so and

pays for its own cost of constructmg and mamtammg the mterconnect up to the demarcahon pomt.
Franchisee shallcontmue the mterconnechons with systems servmg BoulderCounty as ofthe effective

date of this Franchise Agreement.

6.10.2Franchiseeshall onlybe required to mterconnect access channels withanother cableor

open video systemmtheCitym the event that theCrty determines nits sole discretion thatrtwould be

economically burdensometortssubscnbers to construct and mamtain return lmesdrectly fromthe

ongmahon pomtsofthe access channels versusmterconnectmg wrth Franchisae Inthe event Franchisee

receivesadirective from the City to mterconnect wthanothercable or open video system m

theCity Franchisee shall immediately mrtiate negotiations withtheother affected cable oropen video

system or systems and shall report tothe Crty the results ofsuch negotiahons nolater than sixty days

after such mrtiahon. The receivmg cable aropen video system shall be responsibie for Franclusee’s costs

mconstructmg and mamtammg the mterconnect.If the parties cannot reach agreement on the

terms of the mterconnect mcluding compensarion and timmg thedispute shall be submitted tothe

Crty for determmahon and resolution. Additionally Franchisee shall onlybe required to mterconnect with
areceivmg cable oropenvtdeo system if the receivmg cable or openvideo system isprovidmg similar

supportforaccessas requ red ofFranchisee pursuanttothisFranchise Agreement Thts obhgation shall

contmue unhl the Crty determines that itisno longer economically burdensame toits subscnbers for

other affected cable systemorsystems to construct and mamtam lmesdirectly from the ongmation hnk

oftheaccess channels 611 Free Cable

Servtce to Certatn Factlatees. Franchisee shallatnocost to the City cont nue to
provideone outlet of Basic Service and Expanded Basic Servicetoall Crty owned and occupied buildmgs and

pubhc hbraries where such service isprovided asof the effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement as

shownon Exhibrt AIn addition Franchisea shall provideatnocost to the Crty or other

entrty one oixtlet of Basic and Expanded Basic Servicetoownedor leased and occupied City buildings schools

and libranes not mcluded onExhibitA upon request if the drop hne from the feeder cable to

such buildmg does not exceed a standard drop orif the Crty or other entity agrees topay the mcremental

cost ofsuch drop hne m excess ofastandard drop For purposesof the previous sentence "school" means

all State-accredrted K-12 publtc andpnvate schoolsOutlets of Basic and Expanded Basic Service provided m

accordanca wrth this subsection maybeused to distnbute cable services throughout such buildmgs provided

such distribution canbe accomplished wrthout causing cable system disruphon and signal

leakage and general techmcal standards are mamtained. Such outlets may only be used

foilawful purposes. Except as shown onExhibrtAtlus obhgahon to provide free cable service shall not
extend topubhc areas ofCrty buildmgs where Franchisee would normally entermtoacommercial contract

toprovide such cable serviceeg golf courses airport restaurants and concoursesand recreahon center work-out

facilrties 20

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  28Packet Page  75



6 12 Provasaon of Broad Categoraes of Servces. This paragraph shall be mterpreted
consistenY with the limitations set forth m 47 U.SC544b2B.ui addition to such other service

requirements as may be contamed in this agreement Franchisec agrees to provide at least twelve

locally-availableFMradio stations or if lower the number oflocally available FMradio stations from

which Franchisee can obtam retransmission consent atno cost the term costs refers toa payment

made to an FM stahon for the nght to carry the station’s signaland does not mclude copyright payments

thatmaybe required.The availabilrtyofFMradio service onthe cable system shall
be pubhcized and the channel lme-up ofsuch FM stations shall be included m all channel lineup publicahons.

613

Uses of System. Upon request Franchtsee shall advise the Crty ofall acttve uses ofthe system

for both entertainment and other purposes suchas data transmission local area networks and

voice transmission. Nothmgin this Section 6 shall be construed to convey any regulatory power

to the City. If Franchisee believes thatCity is exceeding its franchise autharity with such
arequest Franchisee may seekappropriate redress.7.Channels

and Facilities for PEG Use 71

PEG Use 711

Franchisee shall activate and make available public educational and governmental "PEG"

channels to each subscnber onthe subscriber network asspecified in this Section 7.

The channeis provided under this Sechon are subecttoFranchisee’s rightstousethe channels for the

provision of services when theyarenot bemg used for their mtended purposes 712

The management of the PEG channels isthe responsibilrty of theCity. The City may designate

an enhtyorentities to manage all or anypart of the PEG channels The entrtyor entihes so

designated are referredtoas a"designated access provider".TheCitymay designate designated access providers
itmay designate channels provided underthisFranchise Agreement for pubhq educational government

or combmed PEG use. Nothmg herem shall preventadesignated access provider from
allowmg PEG capacity designated forapanc ular PEGusetobeused for other PEG uses. 7

1.3 PEG

channels shallbe provided onthe basic service tier except as theCity and Franchisee may otherwise
agree orif there is no basic service tier as partof the service provided to any subscriber.

Ifchannel choices are selected bya menu PEG channels must be displayed equally as prominently

as commercial channel choices offered byFranchtsee Itisthe responsibility of the designated

access providers to provide thenecessary channei mformation to Franchisee or its designated

menu programmer ma timely manner If it is techmcally feasible at City’s cost Franchisee will

alsoallow PEG program information to be displayed onanymenu 21

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  29Packet Page  76



hstings offered by Franchisee that include such detail of commercial channels provided that

Franchisee directly controls such menu hstmgs or can cause such hstmgs to be mcluded. In such

event rt wll be the responsibilrty of the designated access providers to provide the program

mformation to Franchisee or rts designated menu programmer m a hmely manner.

7 1 4 It is the responsibility of Franchisee to transmit PEG signals from points
designated by the City and to deliver them without alteration m content or material degradation in

quahty to each subscriber m a forrrt and manner so that the subscnber may receive the signals
wrthout addihonal eqmpment or cost beyond that required to receive the level of cable services to

which the subscriber has subscribed.

7 1.5Except as expressly permittedbyapphcable law Franchisee shall not exercise any

edrtorial control over the contentofcommunicationsonthe designated PEG channels except for such

commumcationsas Franchise may produce and cablecast onsuch channels.Subect to all

otherlmitations of this Franchise Agreement the PEG channels may be used for any

commumcation m any form the full signal provided must be carried

7 1.6PEG channels may not be used to cablecast anythmg prohibited by federal law.

PEG channels may not be used to cablecast commercialmatter. "Commercial matter"means time

sold or used to propose a commercial transaction or for the express purpose ofsellmga commercial

productorservice. Nothing m this Sechon preventsthe levy ofa fee to defray costs ofYhe

City oradesignated access entity associatad with the operation activatron or maintenanceofPEG

channels facilities and equipment By way of example and not hmitation the parties do not mtend

to limit sponsorship announcements comparableto those that might be carried onanon- commercial

broadcast stationorto prevent schools from chargmg course fees and then dehvermg the
course via the PEG channels orto sohcrt financial support for the provisionofPEG access by designated

access providers and for charitable educahonalor governmental purposes The City agrees
that rt will not use or authonze useof rts designated educational and governmental access channels

forany far-profit commercialpurposesbythe City or third parties Franchisee shall have the right

to audit the useof such facilities toensure compliance wrththis paragraph which shallbereasonably construed

m accordance wrth Franchisee’s practcesinotherDenver-area urisdichons UsebyCityenterprise
funds and agencesisnot "forprofiY’ or "commercial" solely because the enterprise oragency has

more revenues than expenses orbecause the achvrty inwhichrtisengaged isprovided ona
for-profit basis by private entitiesm other communities orthe City. Nothing prevents the Crty from authonzmg

charges to users or viewers to pay far such non-commercial services such as fees forinstructronal

programmmg or charges to recover thecost of special use equipment or as the Crty may

be required to charge under apphcable law717 Aceess Channels. 22

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  30Packet Page  77



7 1 7.1Sub ect to the provisionsof Sections71.9.2 -7.19 9on and after the cffechve dateof

this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall providefourdownstream6MHz PEGchannels one pubhc

access channel one educational access channel and two local government access channels. The
City may require Franchisee toactivateanaddrtional6MHz channel for PEGuseupto

atotal maximum of five channels under the procedures specified below.717

2 If a designated access provider beheves that additionalPEGchannels areneededthe

designated access provider may filea request with the Crty Manager The City Manager will determme
whether additional PEGchannels shouldbeactivated considermg among other factors the

ollowmg the communtty’s needs and mtereststheutilization of Yhe existrng channels the plans of

designated access providers for utihzingtheadditional channels themterestofthecommunrtymadditional

PEGuse of thecable system whether it isfeasiblefor designated access providers to achieve their

goals by clustermg PEG programmmg mto blocks oftime so that the channel space can be

compahbly shared between multiple designated access providers whether several des gnated access

providers shouldcombme therprogrammmg ontoasmgleaccess channel and the impactof
the activationof the additional channels on existmg programming 7.1.73 Should theCity

Managermhisor her sole discretion find that activation o addrtional channels is justified

thentheCityManager shall provide htsher decisionm writmg and Franchiseeshall activate the

channels wrthm mnety daysofreceiving the demsion. Fianchisee may appeal the decisionof

theCity Manager tothe City Council wrthin thiriy days ofthe dateofthe City Manager’s decision

and if it doessomaydelay activation of the channels The City Council after reviewmg the decision ofthe
City Manager and afterapublic hearing mayin its discrehon approve modifyorre ect the

decision ofthe City Managerm its solediscretion If theCity Council orders Franchisee to activate addittonal

channels the channels shall be activated withmsixty daysofthe date the Crty

Council makes its decision. The decision shall befinal and unappealable. 7 1.7.4 Franchisee and the City

agree

that itistheir mutual goal to effectively and efficiently use PEG channels. Franchisee shall be permrtted
touse underutrhzed hmeonPEGchannels as provided below. 7.17.5IfFranchisee believes

that any PEG channel

hasunderutilized timeit mayfilearequest with the CityManagerCouse that

tme In response to the request the City Manager will considera combinarion of factors includmg without hmitation the

commumty’s needs and mtereststheutilizahonoftheexistmg channeis the plansofthe

designated access provider forutilizmg the channels mcludmg whether the underutilized capacityis bemgused for

mtermittent programmmg that could otherwise notbeeastly provided on the same basis

ifthe channels are bemg underuhhzed the reasons for underutihzation whetherit is feasible for the

designated access providersto achievetheirgoals by clustering PEG programmmg mto blocks of

time so that the channel space canbecompahbly shared between multiple designated access providers whether

23

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  31Packet Page  78



several designated access providers should combme therprogrammmg onto a smgle access channel
and whether Franchisee is in full comphance with rts PEG obligations.

7.17 6 The Crty Manager shall render a demsion regardmg the request for utihzation

withmsixty days of receivmgCherequest Should the Crty Manager ftndm his or her sole discrehon

that a PEG channel or aportion of a PEG channel may be used by Franchisee then Franchisee

may begin usmgsuch time ninety days after receiptof the decision. Franchisee’s requestshallnot
be unreasonably derued Anypermission granted pursuant to this subsection for useofa PEG channel

ora portion thereof shallbeconsidered temporary. 7.1.7.7At

suchttmeasadesignated access provider believes thatit wishesto utilize the PEG channel time

currently used by Franchisee pursuantto this subsectionadesignated access provider may request that
theCity Manager return such channel orportionofthe channel forPEG use In response to

the request the City Manager will consider a combmation of factors mcludmg wrthout hmitahon the commumty’s
needs and mterests the utihzatronof the existmg channels the plans of the designated

access provider for urihzmg the channels the impact of Franchisee use on PEG use of

the cable systern whether rt is feasible for the designated access providers toachieve their goals by

clustering PEG programmmg mto blocks of timesothat the channel space can be compattbly shared

between mulhple designated access providers and whether several designated access providers should combme

their programmmg ontoa smgle access channel7.1.78The City Manager shall

renderhisher decision regardmg the matter wrthm sixty daysofreceivmg the request. Should

the City Manager findmhisorher sole discrehon that the PEG channel or portion ofthe PEG

channel shouldbereturned for PEG use then Franchisee shall surrender the channel or portion ofthe

channel asdirected wrthin nmety days ofrecervmg the decision. The designated access provider’s request shall not

be unreasonably derued. 7.1.79The decisionof the Crty Manager shall

befinaland unappealable as toboth Franchisee and designated access providers. Franchisee maynot request a

returnofachannel orany portionofachannel withm twoyears of the
mrtial activationof the PEG channels required by Section 7Tha CityManager may deny Franchisee the right to
uhhze all oraportion ofaPEGchannel ar revoke onthirty days notice an authorization to utilize

all oraportion ofaPEG channelif Franchisee isnot m full comphance wrth its PEG obligations.

71.7.10 In addition to the maximum five channels required above

a ifFranchiseedoes not carry GSPAN as partof its commercial service and C-SPAN

isavailable for carriage Franchisee will provide an addrtional PEG channel for thecarriage of C-SPAN. If

techmcally feasible Franchisee will downlmk and mseri C-SPAN on the appropriate PEG channelb f

Franchisee doesnotcarry C-SPAN2 as partofits commercial service and C-SPAN2 is

available for carrtage Franch see will providean addthonal PEG channel far the carriage ofC-SPAN2 If

techmcally feasible Franchisee willdownhnk and msert C-SPAN2 onthe appropriate 24

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  32Packet Page  79



PEG channel and c if Franchisee does not carry the Radio Readmg Service ofthe Rockies as part
of its commercial service and rt is available for carriage Franchisee will provide an FM band PEG

channel for carriage of the service. Any additional PEG channels provided under this

Section 7.17.10 aor b will be offered on the Basic or Expanded Basic Service tier. 7.1 7.11

Franchiseeand theCity will cooperate to heip promote theuse and viewership of the PEG

channels. Consistent with this cooperative approach except where requiredby federal law Franchisee
shall not change PEG channel locahons without advance notice tothe Ctty Franchisee will also

cooperate withother cable systems and open video systems in theCrtyto attempt to develop umform

channel locations forthe PEG channels If Franchisee detennmes that achangetoa PEG

channel assignment is necessary it shall provide the City withammmum of sixty daysnohceand use

its best efforts to provtde 120 days norice prior to the ttme that public educational and governmental access
channel designationsue changed Franchisee shall payall costs associated with replacmg

oradustmg equipment as necessaryforthe channel redesignahon In addrtion Franchisee shall
pay the reasonable cost of replacngmaterials and supplieschangmg signs and remarketmg the

channels uptoa maximum of fifty cents050 per subscnber per channel changed. Anysuch

amounts paid by Franchisee maybe addedatFranchisee’s discrehon and m accardancewrth the

apphcable FCC regulations tothe priceofcable services and collected from such subscnbers as "external

costs" assuch term isrequired by applicable law. Franchiseeat Franchisee’s expense shall place the

City’snohcesofthe channel change onits regular monthly billmgs upon the City’s request. 7.2Return

Lanes for PEG Use.7 2.1

Franchiseeshall mamtam the achvated upstream hnks

set forihm Exhibit B. Franchisee agrees thatit will provide and maintam activated capacity

toenable transmtssion of a second PEG channel from each of the PEG facilrties located

at1000 Canyon Blvd and 2590 Walnut 7.22The Crty orany designated access provider may

upgradethe connechons at its cost. TheCityshall provide Franchiseeof itsmtent to upgrade

rts connections m wnhng. Franchisee shall provide reasonable access to and space atrts factlities

toaccommodate thePEG return line upgrade. The City may use the PEGcapital funds

provided mthis Franchise Agreement far any such upgrade costs. Franchisee shall upgrade such requested connections
matmely manner72.3Ifthe headendismoved or replacedFranchisee shall

transfer thelmk s tothe new locahon mcludmg without hmrtahon movmg termmal equipment andsplicing fiber as

necessary 72.4The Crty may request that Franchisee construct new return

lmes

for PEGuse. Such return hnes shallbe constructedattheCity’scost however the City

may use the PEG caprtal25

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  33Packet Page  80



fitnds provided m this Franchise Agreement for any such costs. Franchisee shall construct such

requested return lmes m a timely manner.

73 Support for PEG Access.

7 3 1 Franchisee shall contmue to collect and remrt the current 0.5050cents per month

per residential and commercial subscriber untrla new rate is made effectrve as set forth below.

Following City Council decision made by mohon Franchisee shall provide the Citywrth upto

0 75 75 cents per month per residenhal and commercial subscriber for PEG use capital facihties
and equipment support.Any change inthe amount ofthis support will become effective sixty

days after Franchisee receives written notice ofthe City’s Councildecision Additional mcreases may

berequired by ordinance mcludmgamandatory public hearmgno sooner than 42months after

tha effective dateofthis Franchise Agreement toan amount over075 75 cenis but mno

event will the amount exceedatotal of 100 one dollar per residential and commercial subscriber per

month and such amount must beapphcable toall franchised cable operatorsmthe City. Any

change m the amount of this support will become effective sixty days after Franchisee receives written

notice ofthe Crty Council’s decision.Nofeesshall be charged ongratis accounts. The City shall

be solely responsible for all liabihty to any third party arismg outof theCrty’s use ofPEGuse caprtal funds

that will be collected and paid to the City m accordance with this Sechon. Anypayment under this

Section shall be due ona quarterly basis payable concurrently wrth franchise fees forsuch

quarter 7.4 Mascellaneous PEG Requarements

7.41 Upon reasonable advance

noticebut no more oftenthanonce per calendar year Franchisee will provide the City

wrthaninsert space m subscribers’ cable bills topromote PEG programmmg. Franchisee shall providetheCrty

with the prmtmg specifications for the mserts. The Cityshall beresponsible far the

content and pnntmg costsof the msert and forthe costof shippmg the prmted mserts toPranchisee’s billing
agent. TheCrtyshall oniypaymcremental mailmg costs if the City’s msert resultsinan mcrease

to thestandard maihng costs normally mcurred by Franchisee msendmg its subscriber bilhng statements. In addrtion

Franchisee shall use reasonable effortstoaccommodate PEG promotional spots received from the City

ona reasonable basismFranchtsee’s cross-channel ad avails uptoamaximumof100

30-60spots per year. Any such ad availsprovided for PEGpromotional spots shall be atnocost tothe
City orits designated access providers. 742If Franchisee makes changes torts cablesystem

that necessitate modifications toPEGfacilities and equipment mcludmg without hmitahon the upstream paths

Franchisee shall provide any addihonal facihtiesorequipment necessarytoimplement suchmodifications

within thirty daysofthe date that the system changes aremade

so that PEG facilities and equipment may be used and operated as intended mcluding among other thmgs so

that lrve and taped commumcations can be produced and cablecast efficiently to subscnbers By way
ofexample and26

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  34Packet Page  81



not limitation should Franchisee cease delivery of allsgnals in an analog format to subscribers it

will provide the facihties and equipment necessary so that PEG signals canbe delivered m a digrtal
format

7.4.3Anydownstream and upstream PEG Channels provided pursuant to this Section may

befurther subdivided compressedordecompressed atthesole discretion and sole expense of

adasignated access provider Asa condition of Franchisee’s allowmg suchusethe designated access provider

mustfullycooperate with Franchiseemordernot to cause any perceptible adverse effecton
the performance of Franchtsae’s cable system andshall take no action causmg Franchisee to beunable

tosatisfy the performance requirements spemfied by this Franchise Agreement. 7.4.4 Except as

otherw

seprovidedm this Franchise Agreementthe channels provided for PEGuse except as

expressly provided with respectto the I-netshalibeat Franchisee’s cost 7.5Costs Not Franchase Fees Theparties

agree

thatany cost toFranchisee associated wrth providmg anysupport for PEG use required under

this Franchtse Agreement mcludmg the provision of the I-Net and payments made ontside this

Franchise Agreement for PEGand I-Net support if any are nota franchise fee withm themeanmg

of 47 U.S.C. 542 and fall wrthm one or moreofthe exeeptions listedm47U S.C. 542g28.

Institutional Network 81 Instatutaonal Network Franchisee agrees thatit willconstructan

mstitutional network "I-neY’

in accardance wrth the Cable Act as requested by the City at

rts actualmcremental construction costs. Additionally the parties may reach an agreement as to Franchisee’s mamtenance of

theCity’s I-net. The parties agree that the City mayuse PEG caprtalfunds

provided pursuant toSection73.1topay Franchisee for I-net capital costs directly related toan I-net built

by Franchisee PEGcapital fundscollected and paidtothe Citypursuant to Section731 may beusedYo construct
Yha I-net only if Franchisee constructs the I-net. 9. Operation and Reporting Provisions 9.1 Open Books und Records. Without

hmiting its obhgations underSection 2 Franchisee agrees thatttwillcollect

and make available booksand

recordsor mspechon and copying by the City in accordance with the cable
ordmance as it existed asof the effective dateof this Franchise Agreement Pranchisee shall

be responsible for collectmg the mformation and producmg rt.z7

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  35Packet Page  82



9.2Tame forProductton. Books and records shall beproduced to tha City at the Boulder Mumcipal

Buildmgor such other location as the parties may agree.If Franchisee objects to a request

for books and recordsit must nonetheless produce the books and records requested unless the

City agrees that they need not be producedara court ofcompetent urisdictionrules otherwise Notwithstandmg

any provisionofthe cable ordmanceif documents are too voluminous or for secunty

reasons cannot beproduced at the Boulder Mumcipal Buildmgor mutually agreeable location
withm the City then Franchisee may produce the material at another central location provided

italso agrees topay the addrt onalreasonable travelcosts incurredby the Crty to access the matenals.

The parties agree that any amounts paid are notafranchisefee wrthin the meanmgof47U.S

C542 and fall withm oneofthe excephons thereto 9.3Reports

Requared.Franchisee shallfile thereports that itis required to provide under the cable ordmance

as ofthe effective date of this Franchise Agreement. 94Records

Maantaaned. Franchisee shall mamtam the records required by the cable ordmance as of

the effective date of this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall mamtain records. required bythe

cable ordmance required toprepareall reports required under thecable ordinance and sufficientto
demonstrate whether ornot Franchisee has complied wrth its obhgations under this Franchise Agreement or

applicable law. Records shallbe kept for at least three years. 9S Relateon to

Pravacy Raghts. Franchisee shall take all steps required if anyto ensure that itis

able to provide the City all mformation which mustbeprovided ormay be requested under this Franchise Agreement

mcludmg wrthouthmrtahon by providing appropnate subscnber pnvacynotices. Nothmgin

this Section 95shall be read torequire Franchisee to violate47U.S.C. 551. Franchisee shallberesponsible for

redactmg any data that federal law prevents rtfrom providing tothe City 10.Customer Service

Standards 10.1

Standards Franchisee shall meet

orexceed the customer service standards of the cable ordmance and applicable law. In

the eventofa conflict among standards the stncter standard shall apply.102 Ascertaanment ofProgrammang

and Customer

Sattsfactton Upon therequest ofthe Crtybut no more often than

every two years Franchisee shall at the sole expenseofFranchisee undertake a suroey ofcommunity views
ofcable operations mtheCity includmg wrthout limrtatton programming response to communrty needs sahsfaction

and dissahsfachon wrth cableservices offered by Franchisee and customer service

Franchisee shall consult and cooperate wrth theCrtymdevelopmg and implementmg an ascertamment methodology.

The final form and contentof the survey shall beas mutually agreed

upon by Franchisee and theCity Franchisee shall provide the results of suchsurvey to the

City withm two months after completmg the survey. Upon request 28

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  36Packet Page  83



Franchisee shall also provide a copy of results from any other survey of subscribers m the Crty
conducted mdependently by Franchisee withm the previous year. Any survey results conducted

wthm the Crty which are mtended for external publication shall also be provtded to the City.
Nothmg herem shall be construed to hmrt the nght ofthe City to conduct its own surveys at its own

expense. Nothing m this Section shall be construed as requirmg the renegohation ofthis Franchise

Agreement. Any such survey conducted may include subscnbers from other commumties in

addition to the City provided that the City’sresults are displayed separately. 11.

Rate Regulation The

City may regulate Franchisee’s ratesand charges as provided by apphcable law. All rates that

are sub ect toregulation by theCity must be reasonable and except as applicable law provides otherwise

canonly be changed wrth thepnor approval ofthe City 12. Insurance

Surety Indemnification 12.1 Insurance

Reyuared.Franchisee agreesto mamtam adequate insurance throughout theentire length ofthe

franchise penodas requiredby the cable ordmance as ofthe effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement 12

2Indemnificat

on. 12 21

Franchisee shall at its sole cost and expense except for the City’s habihty as describedmSectton 6

3 mdemnify hold harmless and faithfully defend the City its officials boards commissions commissioners agents

and employees agamst any and all claims surts causes of action proceedmgs

and judgments for damages or equrtable relief arismg outof the construchon mamtenance or operahon

ofits cable system by Franchisee its employees affihatesoragents copyright mfrmgements or

afailureby Franchisee to secure consents from the owners authorized distributors or Franchisees

ofprograms tobedehveredby the cable system the conduct ofFranch see’s busmessm

theCrtyormany way ansmg out ofFranchisee’s en oyment or exerciseofthe franchisegranted hereunder regardless

of whether the actoromission complamed ofis authorized allowed or prohibrted by apphcable

lawor this Franchise Agreement except in cases where liability is.a solely caused

by thegross negligence ofthe person or persons covered by the mdemmty orbresults from programmmg

contributed or produced by the Cityand transmitted over the cable system. 122

2 Without limitmg the

faregomg Franchisee shall atiCs solecostand e3cpense fully mdemrufy defend and hold harmless

theCityand rtsofficers agents and employees from and agamst any andall claims suits

actions liabilrty and udgmenis for damages or otherwise subjecttoSechon638 ofthe Cable Act

47 U.S C. 558 ansing out of oralleged to anse out of the construction operahon mamtenance or repair of its

systembyFranchisee its employees affiliates 29

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  37Packet Page  84



ar agents including wrthout hmrtation any claim agamst Franchisee far invasion of the right of

privacy defamation of any person firm or corporation or the violation or mfrmgement of any
copyright trade mark trade name service mark or patent or of any other nght ofany person firm
or carporahon. This mdemmty does notapply to mtervenhon by the Crty m regulatory proceedmgs
brought by Franchisee or to the programming camed on any channel set aside for public
educational or government use or channels leased pursuant to 47 U S C. 532 unless Franchisee

was m any respect engaged in determimng the editonal contentofthe program or adopts apohcy of

pre-screemngprogrammmgforthe purported purposeofbammgorregulatmg mdecentor obscene programmmg

andexcept for programmmg contributedar producedbyFranchisee 12.2

3The mdemnrty provision mcludesbutisnot hmrted tothe Crty’s reasonable attorneys’fees consented

to by Franchisee and payment for any labor and expenses of the crty attorncy’s office at
thegomg rate for legal services m Boulder County. Such consent shallnot beunreasonably wrthheld 123

No Lamct

ofLcabtlaty. The provisions ofthis Section12shall not beconstrued tolmit the liabihty ofFranchisee

for damages 13. Performance Guarantees and

Remedies 131Letterof

Credzt. 13 11In

sahsfaction of the security fund requirements of ihe cable ordinance Paragraph 11-6-13 a1

B.R.C. 1981asthesameexisted ontheeffective date of this Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall provide aletter ofcredit

m the amount of 100 000 prior to the effecYive date of YhisFranchise and shall mamtam

Yhat letter ofcredit throughout the franchise term The letter ofcredit shallbema

farm satisfactory tothe City Attorney mcludmg wrthout limitahon specification of venue m Boulder andwitha

financial mstitution satisfactory to theCity The City may requtre Franchisee to mcrease the amount of
the letterofcredrt once every three yearsto reflect mcreasesmtheUSCity Average of

theConsumer Price Index The letterof credit set forth mthe Greater Metro Telecommumcations Consortium franchise may be used

tosatisfythisreqwrementas long as the Consortium agrees toprocedures acceptable

to the Cityfordraws on such letter of credrt The Crty may draw upon the letterof

credrt for the reasons and after providmg the notice specified mthecable ordinanceasrtexisted as
ofthe effective daYeoftlus Franchise Agreement Franclusee’s recoursemthe event Franchisee believes any takingof

security funds is improper willbethrough legal action after the security hasbeen drawn upon
pursuant tothe provisions of Sechon 131313.1.2 Franchisee shall provide proof that the letter of

creditcomplieswrth this Franchtse Agreement and wrth all requirements of the cable ardmance 30

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  38Packet Page  85



13 1.3Franchisee agrees thatit shall not attempt tbrough itigationorotherwiseto prevent

ormhibit the City from drawmg on the letter of credit Franchtsee shall have the right to appeal

to the Boulder CityCouncil for reimbursementmthe event that it believes that the letterofcredit

was drawn upon improperly. Franchisee shallalso have the right ofa de novo court appealif it

believes the letter of credit has not been properly drawn m accordance with this Franchise Agreement

Any funds that the City erroneouslyorwrongfully withdraws from the letter ofcredit shall

be returned toFranchisee with mterest from the date of withdrawalata rate equal to the prime rate

of mterest as quoted by the Bank of New York within thirty busmess days of a final determmation

thaYthe withdrawal wasm error orwrongful. 13

2 Materaal Term.The letter ofcreditisamaterial term ofthisFranchise Agreement. 133

Remedaes. Inadditton toany other remedies avatlableatlaw or equity theCity may apply

any one of the followmg remediesmthe event Franchisee violates this Franchise Agreementor
apphcable law.13

31 Revoke the franchise pursuantto the procedmes specified in Sechon 13.5. Providedthat

any amendments tothe cable ordinance or the quasi- udicial proceduresoftheCrty codified at
Chapter 1-3 B.R.C. 1981must providethesame level ofdue process as isprovided under the procedures provided for
under the cable ordmance and quasi udicial procedures asthe sameexisted on the effective

dateofthis Franchise Agreement 13.3.2 In addihon toor

msteadofany other remedy seek legal or equrtable relief from any court of competent urisdichon 13.33

Obtain liquidated damages asprovidedherem

13.4Laqu dated Damages Because Franchisee’s failureto

complywith provisionsofthis Franchise Agreementwill result inmuryto the City

andbecause iYwill be difficulttoesYimate the extent ofsuch mjury the City and Franchisee agree to

the following hquidated damages for the following violations which represent both parties’ best estimate of the

damagesto theCrty resulting from the specified mury.Tomamtain that esYimate the
parties agree that theliquidaCed damage amounts arem 2003 dollars asof the effective date
ofthis Franchise Agreement mflated by the US CityAverage of the ConsumerPrice Indexand shall be

mcreased each year by the fullamount of the increase mtheUS. City Average ofthe

Consumer Pnce Index once mflation from the effectrve date ofthisFranchise Agreement has exceeded twenty percent Thus

treatmg 2003as thebase year mdcxed as100 the hquidated damages shall bemcreased m

the first year when themdex reaches 120 and once avery year after that year aseach

annual increase becomes available. 134.1 For transfemng the franchise wrthout approval1000

day foreach violationforeach daythe violation contmues.31

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  39Packet Page  86



13.4.2Forfailure to comply with requirements for pubhc educational and governmental use

of the System 250 day foreach violation foreach day the violahon continues 13.43

Forviolatron of customer service standards 150per violation except for violahons of apphcable

customer service standards for which Franchisee’s compliance isnotmeasured in terms of

rtsresponse tomdividual customers 250amonth forany penod dunng which it failstomeet

applicable performance standards 13.4.4 Forall other

materialviolationsof this Franchise Agreement forwhich actual damages maynotbe ascertainable 100

day for each violation for eachday the violation contmues 134.5 The City may impose

hquidated damagesas provided m this Section13.45Wrthm fifteen days of the dateofa

noticeofviolation issent toFranchisee Franchisee may requestmwritmg apubhc hearmgbefarethe City

Council pursuant to the procedures specified m the cable ordmance. The Crtymayimpose liquidated damages accrumg

from the date of noticeof the violation after the hearmg unlessit finds that

athere was no violation or bdamages should not be imposed. Any amendments to thequasi- udicial procedures

of the City codified at Chapter1-3B.R.C. 1981 must provide the same level ofdue
processasis provided under the procedures provided for under the quasi- udicial procedures as the same existed

on the effechve dateofthe Franchise Agreement. Nothmg herem prevents Franchisee from raismg adefense to

the mposrtiono liquidated damages from thedaYe of violation based upon laches

waiverstatuteof hmrtattons orany other similar defense. Franchisee mayappeal any imposihonof liquidated

damages toacourtofcompetent urisdiction 135ProceduresProrto Revokang theFranchase.

135.1

The City shall havethe rightto revoke the

franchise forthe reasons specified in the cable ordmance as of the effective date of this

Franchise Agreement and mSection 13 5 of this Franchise Agreement pursuant tothe revocation procedures

specified m the cable ordinance Provided thatany amendments to thecable ordinance must provide

the same levelof due process as is provided under the procedures provided for

under the cable ordmance as the sameexisted ontheeffective dateofthis Franchise Agreement. Pnor

to mrtiahnga revocation action theCity shall provide Franchisee with a detailed written noticeof

any franchise violation upon whichitproposes to take action and asixty dayperiod

within which Franchisee may a demonstrate that a violation does not existor cure analleged violation

orb if thenature of the violation prevents correctionof the violation withm sixty daystoininate a

reasonable planofactron to correct such violation mcludmg a pro ected date by which

itwill be completed and nohfy the Cityof such plan of action or c show that

the defect m performance should be excused. However in any case involving repeated violations thetme period

allowed for cure 32

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  40Packet Page  87



may be reasonably reduced at the election ofthe City and revocation proceedings shall follow the

process set forth at Section 11-6-12dB.R.C.1981 asamended.13.5.2 If Franchisee fails

todisproveor correct the violation withm sixty daystothe City’s satisfaction orin the

case ofaviolation which cannot be corrected in sixty daysifFranchisee has failed to mitiate a reasonable

plan of correcrive acrion and to correct the violation withinatime satisfactory tothe City

then the Crty may declare Franch see in default which declaration mustbeinwriting In the

event that the City declares Franchisee m default the City shall have the right to exercise any
other rights and remedies afforded tothe City in laworequrty. 13 5.3 At any time after fifteen

clays ofsendmg the written declaration ofdefault to Franchisee the City may revoke the franchisF However

withm fifteen days of the date the declaration issent to Franchisee Franchisee may request

mwritmg apublic hearmg before the Ciry Council pursuant to the procedures specified in

the cable ordinance. If Franchisee requests the hearmg Franchise may not be revoked until
after the hearing is conducted. The Citymay revoke after hearing unless it finds that a
there was no default or bthe default has been fully cured or there isatimetable for cure

satisfactory to the Crty. Provided that any amendmentsto the cable ordinance or the quasi judicial procedures

of the City codified at Chapter1-3B.R.C. 1981 must provide the same level ofdue processasis

provided underthe procedures provided for under the cable ordinance and quasi judicial proceduresasthe same

existed on the effective date ofthis Franchise Agreement Franchisee shall have the right toappeal

the revocarion toa courtofcompetent jurisdiction 13 6 Revocation or Terminationof FY anchise In

addrtionto

all oCher rights of the Crtyunderthis Franchise Agreement the City shall have the right to

revoke the franchse For the reasons specified m the cable ordinance asofthe effective date

of this Franchise Agreement forafelony conviction for defrauding or attemptmg to defraud theCity or

subscribersif Franchisee abandons the cable system or for any 24 hour period willfully

refuses to provide service to the City or any substantial portion ofthe Cityinaccordance with

this Franchise Agreement andas otherwise provided herein. 137Remedies Cumulative. Allremedies under the

cable ordinance and

this Franchise Agreement are cumulative unless otherwise expressly stated. The exercise ofone

remedy shall not foreclose useof another nor shall the exercise ofa

remedy or the payment of hquidated damages or penalties relieve Franchisee of its obhgations to comply with

this Franchise Agreement Remedies may be used singly or in combmation in addition

the Citymay exercise any rights it hasat law or equrty at any time

Except that the City is not entitled to recover damages for the same in ury under two separate Sections where

doing so would resultmadouble recovery 33

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  41Packet Page  88



13 8 Relatton to Insurance and Indemnity Requtrements. Recovery by the City of any

amounts under msurance the constructionperformance bond the letter of credit or otherwise

does not hmit Franchisee’sduty to mdemmfy the City m any way nor shall such recovery relieve Franchisee

ofits obhgations under this Franchise Agreement hmitthe amounts owed to the City or
in any respect prevent theCity from exercismg any other right or remedyit may have 14.

No Evasion Franchisee

shall not take any action toevade any provisionof this Franchise Agreementorthe

cable ordmance This provision shall be read to prohibit among other thmgs Franchisee requiring

any subscriber towaive any right mcludmg without limitation privacy rights as a condition

of obtaining service but this provision shall not be deemed to prohibit reasonable mandatory

arbitration clauses as a condition ofsubscription. 15.

Rights of Individnals Protected No

cable line wire amplifier converteror other piece of equipment ownedor controlled by

Franchisee shall be installed by Franchisee mside a dwelling or other occupied structure without

first securmg tha written permissionof the owner of the property involved except in those

cases where Franchisee ispermrtted byfederal or state law to mstall such facilities and equipment

mside the structure without permission.16.

Miscellaneous Provisions 16.1

CompkanceWith Laws. Franchisee and the City shall comply with all apphcable laws and
regulations as they become effective unless otherwise stated herem. 162

Govern ng Law.This Franchise Agreement shallbe governed inall respects by the laws of

the State of Colorado. 163

Force Ma eure. Franchiseeshall notbe deemed in default with provisions ofthis Franchise Agreement

where performance was rendered impossible bywaracts ofterrorism or riots civil

disturbances unforeseeable shortageofmaterials or qualified labor withholdmg of necessary permits

and authorizations strikes floods or other natural catastrophes beyond Franchisee’s control
andthe franchise shall not berevoked or Franchisee penalized for suchnon- compliance provided that

Franchisee takes immediate and diligent steps Co brmg rtself back into compliance and to

comply as soon as possible under the circumstances with this Franchise Agreement without unduly

endangering the health safety and mtegrity of Franchisee’s employees orpropertyor the
health safety and integrity of the public public rights of way public property or private property.

34

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  42Packet Page  89



16 4 Notaces Unless otherwise expressly stated herein notices required under this

Franchise Agreement shall be faxed ar mailed first class postage prepaid to the addressees

below. Each party may change its designee by providmg written notice to the other party

16.41 Notices to Franchisee shallbe mailed toComcast

ofColorado IVLLC ATTN

Local Government Affairs8000

E. Ihff Ave. Denver

Colorado 80231 With

a copy to. Comcast

ofColorado IV LLC Attn.

Legal Department 1500
Market Street Philadelphia

PA 19102 16

4.2 Noticesto City shall be mailed to. City Manager

Post Office
Box 791 Boulder Colorado

80306 16.5 Calculation

ofTime. Unless otherwise indicated when the performance or doingof any act
duty matter or payment isrequired hereunder andaperiod of timeordurahon for the completion thereof is

prescribed and is fixed herein the time shall be computed so asto exclude the first and

mclude the last dayof the prescribed ar fixed period of duration time. 16.6 Timeof

EssenceMatntenance of Records of Essence. In determining whether Franchisee has substantially complied

with this Franchise Agreement the parhes agreethattmeisoftheessence to

this Franchise Agreement. The maintenanceofrecords and provision ofreparts maccordance with this
Franchise Agreement isalsoofthe essence to this Franchise Agreement 16 7Captions. The

captions and headings of this Franchise Agreement are for convemence and reference purposes

only and shall not affect m any way the meaning and mterpretation of any provisions

ofthis Franchise Agreement 16.8 Enttre Franchtse Agreement.

ThisFranchise Agreement represents the entire Franchise Agreement between the parties.

35

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  43Packet Page  90



16 9 Counterparts. Thts Franchise Agreement may be executed in counterparts

16.10Effective Date. The effective dateof this Agreement shall be January1 2004. AGREED

TO THIS1 I DAY OF pp20.
City of Boulder

By2e6
’.

City

Manager ATTEST City Clerk on behalf

ofthe Director of Finance

and Record APPROVEDAS T-p

FORM

A __ A3T OF OL DO

IV LLC Mary Whrt Semor

VicePresident36

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  44Packet Page  91



ACCEPTANCE

Comcast of Colorado IV LLC hereby accepts uncondrtionally and agrees to be bound by all the

terms and condrtions ofthis Franchise AQreement dated this ’day of -YNW r
20C as granted by the Boulder Crty

Council.

By STATE OFe
o

._ss. COUNTY
OFyThe foregomg mstrument wasack owledged befare meaNotary Pubhq this -l

dayofu e._20U byar

_-Tle .S’l’Witness my
hand

andofficial

sealn-’-" Notary

Pubhc
My commission expires l 3i200 sealudeutbbdbobbV

L"p’b’UUy fp-p-pyy-ry GLENN
E.WALKER

NOTARY PUBLIC STATE
OF COLORADO Y mm ss on

xpresan

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  45Packet Page  92



EXHIBIT A

LIST OF LOCATIONS RECEIVING FREE CABLE SERVICE

Offices located at

Mumctpal Butldmg 1777 Broadway
Park Central Buldmg 1739 Broadway
New Brdam Buildmg 1101 Arapahoe
Ateium Buildmg 1300 Canyon
Mam Libraiy Baildmg 1000 Canyon Blvd

Boulder Mumcipal Courts 6th &
Canyon Public Woiks Admmishative Center 5050 East

Pearl Public Safety Buildmg 1805

33’ Spruce Pool andYouth Services Buildmg 2160
Spruce Parks&Recreation Admmishatrve Offices
3198 Bioadway Parks Mamtenance 5200

East PearlEast Boulder Commumty Centei

660 Sioux West Senior Center
909 Arapahoe Carnegie Brancl Library 1125

Pme Street Meadows Branch Library

4800Baselme ReynoldsBranch Lbrary 3595 Table

Mesa Drive Murucipal Channel8 1000

Canyon Blvd Dauy Center for theArts 2590

Walnut SCPue S ation #1 2441

13th StFire Statron #22225 Basel

neRdPue Stat on #3 1585

30th StFire SYation #4
4100 Dailey Fixe SCahon #5

436519thFre Stahon #6 5145

N63rd Fre Station #7

1380 SSth Noxth Soulder Recreation CenYer
3170 Bxoadway SouthBoulder Recreat on Centei

1360Gllespie

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  46Packet Page  93



EXHIBIT B

RETURN LINES

1 1000 Canyon Blvd to Comcast Boulder headend 33rd &
Walnut technology fiber modulatoi provided andmamtamed by

Comcast use sole useisupstreamtransmiss onofPEG

signal 21777 Broadway to1000 Canyon

Blvd technology coaxmoddemod provided andmamtamed by

Comcast use ielayofprogrammngoiigmatmg mCtyCouncl

Chambeis 31805 33id toComcaet Bouldei headend 33rd
& Walnut technology coaxmodulator provdedand mamtamed

by Comcast use x5 year on test basis designed as back uptomam
PEG facility at1000 Canyon mevent of emergency that shuts down

mam studio42590 WalnuttoComcast Boulder headend

33rd &Walnut technology fiber modulator provided and

mamtamed by Comcast use upstream carnage

of PEG signal 5 CUstadiumtoComcasC Boulder
headend 33rd&Walnut technology coax modulator provided

and mamtamedby Comcast use upstream camage

of educational access programmmg 6 G500EArapahoe

to Comcast Boulder headendYechnology coax modulatox prov ded

and mamtamedby Comcast use upstreamcamageofschooldsu ctboard meetngs toComcast Bouldei

headend

formseitiononGovetnmantchannel

Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement

Agenda Item 3D     Page  47Packet Page  94



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page  48Packet Page  95



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3D     Page  49Packet Page  96



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3D     Page  50Packet Page  97



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3D     Page  51Packet Page  98



Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)

Agenda Item 3D     Page  52Packet Page  99



I

2

)
4

5

6

7

I
9

l0

11

l:2'

t3

1.4

L5

l.6l

T7

l8

T9

20

21

22

23

2;4

25

,26

27.

28

ORDINA}JCE N.O. 7952

AN ORDINANCE AN4E}IDTNG THE CABLE TELEV]SION
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF
BOULDER A}ID COMCAST OF COLOT{AÐO TV, LLC. TO
EXTEND THE îEßt\4. OF THE FRANCHISE; .{l.ID SETTING
FORTFI REI-ATED DETAIL S"

The Cþ Cöuncil finds thati

A. On Eebruary 3,20Ð+,the Boulder:CityCornrcil ("City') adopted OdinanceNo',7324
a.pproving the, grãtftof a nonoxslusive ûirnshise to Corncast of CoJorado fV, LLC ("Comcast')
for its conçqruotion and operation of a cahle tele.vision system within thç Ctty (the *Franchl$e").

B, Comcast has p. rêserved its right of renewal b5 timely filing a request with the Cþ to

activate the formal prooess for renewing the F¡a¡ehisc pursuant to fhe provisions of the Cable

Comnrunications Polìcy Act of 1984 ("Cable Act'),

' e. The existing'Franchise .was scheduled to e:çire onDecember 31, 201 1.

D. On Mafçû 1, 201t, flrç City.adopæd OrdinanceNo. 778'S-¿uÍtodzing the-ei-ty'man4ggr
enter into .a,twô-year Franchise, extension agreeinent wiih :Csmca.st since ,executetl to make

the gxisting Fra¡rphise s'chpduled t9,e1pire on Deæmbei 3I,2- 013-.

D, Ctty stâff'ailtl Comcast¡eþresentativei have discussed tl¡e renewal of the F¡anchise.
Each.has qgreedthaf its interests will be ser.ved by eXlendingthe existìngF¡.aochí-se fcr one ,

additional.'year.

E, The City Gouncil, having been advised of{fre.benefits qf cxtendi¡gthe existing
Franohise, is agreeablc to extendingfteten¡ of'the F'ràirchise until Decembe¡ 3,1,20J4, mcl
trmending the Franchise Agrpement accordingþ.

NQl]Ii¡, UMNSPOT.¡, BE.IT ORDAJI.IED;BY THE CITY CO1NCIL OF TI{Ð CITY

, O¡ EOULNER. COLOFKADO :

,sectisn 1.. The:City Gouncil adopjs, 'pprovêsj andar¡ho¡izes ihe city manqgerto enter

,nro ,,r"ã*franchise exteusion, entitled i'second A¡nendmentls the Frâtrchise Agrêement

Betwêen the City of Bouldeq Coloradp and Comcast of Coloiado W, LI;C Dated.Janriary 1.,,

2:,00i4," attached as E úìbit A..and inoorpoiate.d by this reference, extending tho ter.gr of the

X:\CÀIC^\G?952 te Corucast l.'f,ancJrisc-7S).öoè

Attachment C - Ordinance 7952 (2nd Extension)

Agenda Item 3D     Page  53Packet Page  100



i
2

Ð

4

5

6

7

8

9

l0

11

T2

13

14

T5

16

t7

18

l9

z0

21

23

24

25

Franchise unîil Decenib.er 37.2û14. The.city manager is a¡.¡tbo¡'ized to approve any minor

ohanges arì may be necessary prior to final execution by the parties.

Section 2.

force and effècL

Exoept as spioifically mo.difred herebJ, the Franchise shall remain in full

26

27

Secäon 3. Neither party waíve.s any rigbt which ít enjoys under law as a rçsult of

agreeing to this Fr¿nohise extensiorl, and C,omoast shall not be requìred to f?le riny additiorial

request oi doqument in order to preserve ìts right of renewal under Section'626 of the Cable Act.

Section 4. Tiùs o¡dina¡ce is necessary to,pËotect the public.health, safety, a¡d 'welfare of

the residents of the cþ'.and covers maftens of locaj cqnc6m.

' Sectíon 5. Tlie City Counef deeurs it:appropriate thatthis ordfuiancê b¡ pubiished hyfi.Ile

only and.o¡dêrs thalcopies qfftis ordihancehe made avaílablein tle.ofüce,ofdrecíty'clerk for

public ínspeøion -dnd aiquisition.
ì

INTRODUCED RE.AD O}I F.TRST REAÐINIC, IWN OBNEBEO 
"UBjI.TST{EÞ 

BY

T.tTLe ONLYthls 3rd d¿ryof Ðpcemb:e}2013'.

K:\CMCÀ10-79i2 re Conrc¡stft¿nshiss709.doc

Attachment C - Ordinance 7952 (2nd Extension)

Agenda Item 3D     Page  54Packet Page  101



ORDEREDEEAD ON SEEOND 
..READ]I\IG, 

PASSÞD, ,¿D.ÛPTED,

PUBL'ISHBD BY TITLE OM;Y this l?ilr day of Decombeç .2013..

I

2

3

4

5

'6

1

I
.9

.10

.11

.12

13

L4

I5

l6

ï1

18

19
l

20

2t

22

23

24

z5

26

zl

28

Attachment C - Ordinance 7952 (2nd Extension)

Agenda Item 3D     Page  55Packet Page  102



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page  56Packet Page  103



 

K:\CMCA\o-8021-709.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 8021  
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CABLE TELEVISION 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
BOULDER AND COMCAST OF COLORADO IV, LLC, TO 
EXTEND THE TERM OF THE FRANCHISE; AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 
 

 
The City Council finds that:   

A.  On February 3, 2004, the Boulder City Council (“City”) adopted Ordinance No. 7324 
approving the grant of a nonexclusive franchise to Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC (“Comcast”) 
for its construction and operation of a cable television system within the City (the “Franchise”).  
 

B.  Comcast has preserved its right of renewal by timely filing a request with the City to 
activate the formal process for renewing the Franchise pursuant to the provisions of the Cable 
Communications Policy Act of 1984 (“Cable Act”).  
 
 C.  The existing Franchise was scheduled to expire on December 31, 2011. 
 
 D. On March 1, 2011, the City adopted Ordinance No. 7785 authorizing the city manager 
to enter into a two-year Franchise extension agreement with Comcast, since executed, to make 
the existing Franchise scheduled to expire on December 31, 2013.  
 
 E. On Dec. 17, 2013, the City adopted Ordinance No. 7952, authorizing the city manager 
to enter into a one-year Franchise extension agreement with Comcast, since executed, to make 
the existing Franchise scheduled to expire on December 31, 2014.  
 
 F.  City staff and Comcast representatives have discussed the renewal of the Franchise.  
Each has agreed that its interests will be served by extending the existing Franchise for an 
additional one hundred twenty days, scheduled to expire on April 30, 2015.  
 
 G.  The City Council, having been advised of the benefits of extending the existing 
Franchise, is agreeable to extending the term of the Franchise through and until April 30, 2015, 
and amending the Franchise Agreement accordingly.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The City Council adopts, approves, and authorizes the city manager to enter 

into the Comcast franchise extension, entitled “Third Amendment to the Franchise Agreement 

Between the City of Boulder, Colorado and Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC,” attached as Exhibit 

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D     Page  57Packet Page  104



 

K:\CMCA\o-8021-709.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A and incorporated by this reference, extending the term of the Franchise through and until April 

30, 2015.  The city manager is authorized to approve any minor changes as may be necessary 

prior to final execution by the parties. 

Section 2.  Except as specifically modified hereby, the Franchise shall remain in full 

force and effect. 

Section 3.  Neither party waives any right which it enjoys under law as a result of 

agreeing to this Franchise extension, and Comcast shall not be required to file any additional 

request or document in order to preserve its right of renewal under Section 626 of the Cable Act. 

Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

 Section 5.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

 INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

 

 

 

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D     Page  58Packet Page  105



 

K:\CMCA\o-8021-709.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December 2014. 

 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D     Page  59Packet Page  106



THIRD AMENDMENT TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
Between 

 
City of Boulder, Colorado 

and 
Comcast of Colorado IV, LLC 

 
This Third Amendment is made as of the ____ day of December, 2014, by and between 

the City of Boulder, Colorado, a Colorado home rule city (“City”), and Comcast of Colorado IV, 
LLC (“Comcast” or “Franchisee”). 

 
A. The City and Comcast entered into Franchise Agreement for the operation of a 

cable system within the city of Boulder dated February 11, 2004 (“Franchise Agreement”). 
 
B. The Franchise Agreement was set to expire on December 31, 2011. 
 
C. Comcast provided the city with the option to delay the renewal and extend the 

term of the Franchise Agreement for two years. The City approved a two-year extension of the 
Franchise Agreement on June 13, 2011, by Ordinance 7785, for the period through and including 
December 31, 2013. 

D. The City again approved an extension of the Franchise Agreement on December 
17, 2013, by Ordinance 7952, for the period through and including December 31, 2014. 

E. The City and Comcast are currently negotiating a new franchise agreement, but 
do not expect to reach agreement before the current extension expires. 
 

F. By this Third Amendment, the parties agree to extend the term of the Franchise 
Agreement for the period through and including April 30, 2015. 
  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and obligations set forth below, 
the parties agree to extend the term of the Franchise Agreement as follows: 

1. The second sentence of Section 2, subsection 1, paragraph 1 of the Franchise 
Agreement is replaced by the following sentence, to read: 

2.1.1  This franchise grants the right, subject to conditions, to construct, 
operate and repair a cable system in, over, along and under City rights of way within the 
City of Boulder for the purpose of providing cable service, and for providing an 
institutional network and other facilities or services for PEG use of the cable system, 
commencing on the effective date of this Franchise Agreement, January 1, 2004, through 
and including April 30, 2015. 

 

Exhibit A to Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D     Page  60Packet Page  107



2. Except as amended herein, the Franchise Agreement shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands to this Second Amendment on 

the day and year above first written. 

COMCAST OF COLORADO IV, LLC 
 
 

By: _______________________________ 
      Title:  _____________________________  

  
 
 
STATE OF ______________  ) 

) ss. 
COUNTY OF ____________  ) 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me, a Notary Public, this _____ day 
of ______________________________, 2014, by __________________________. 
 

Witness my hand and official seal. 
My commission expires: _______________ 
 
(seal) 

____________________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
 
       
      CITY OF BOULDER 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      City Manager 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

Exhibit A to Ordinance

Agenda Item 3D     Page  61Packet Page  108



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3D     Page  62Packet Page  109



 
 

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8018 amending 
Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to create an additional method of property 
valuation for the determination of whether proposed work on a property triggers upgrades 
to lighting, landscaping, site access and non-conforming drive-throughs under the Land 
Use Code.   

 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Karl Guiler, Senior Planner/Code Amendment Specialist 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In efforts to implement recommended actions of the Economic Sustainability Strategy, adopted 
by City Council on Oct. 29, 2013, and to continually update the Land Use Code to implement the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) and achieve high quality design results, staff is 
proposing the following change: 
 

Create an additional method of property valuation for the determination of whether proposed 
work on a property triggers upgrades to lighting, landscaping, site access and non-
conforming drive-throughs under the Land Use Code.   

 
The change is proposed as a way to remove regulatory barriers to reinvestment in existing 
buildings. As part of the outreach for the Economic Sustainability Strategy it was learned that 
some property owners have hesitated to make ordinary improvements to their buildings based on 
the concern that certain zoning requirements (e.g., upgrades to parking lot landscaping, outdoor 
lighting etc.) can be triggered based on a modestly sized renovation or tenant improvement 
projects. Owners have indicated that the reason for this is the Boulder County Assessor’s 
relatively low value of buildings as compared to property value. The current code includes 
zoning thresholds or triggers for upgrades relative to the Boulder County assessed value of 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page  110

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Final_ESS_Adopted_by_Council_-_reduced_file_size-1-201312121401.pdf


buildings. The proposed change would enable owners to submit a fair market value as 
determined by a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado as an alternative. This approach is 
consistent with how properties are evaluated for the purposes of improving properties located in 
the floodplain.  

The proposed Land Use Code change is found within the attached draft ordinance (Attachment 
A). This code change was passed on first reading on May 20, 2014 when it was included with the 
proposed change to the density calculations, which is not proceeding at this time. The ordinance 
was passed on first reading again (due to the time that has transpired since the last first reading) 
on Dec. 2, 2014, where there were no first reading questions. 
 
Planning Board made a motion to adopt the proposed ordinance, but suggested adding a 
requirement that appraisals be forwarded to the Boulder County Assessor’s office for 
consideration.  Staff contacted the Boulder County Assessor directly and the Assessor indicated 
that they would support the idea of forwarding professional appraisals to their office in efforts 
to improve their property data. Staff intends to forward referrals to the county, per this 
recommendation as part of its regular business process, but finds it unnecessary to add this 
process step as a requirement in the Land Use Code. This recommendation is discussed in more 
detail on page 5 of the ‘Analysis’ section of this memorandum.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8018 amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, 
in particular, to create an additional method of property valuation for the determination 
of whether proposed work on a property triggers upgrades to lighting, landscaping, site 
access and non-conforming drive-throughs under the Land Use Code.   

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  Adding the option to determine actual building value from a licensed 

professional to the land use code would remove potential impediments to reinvestment in 
properties based on low county assessor values created for tax purposes and encourage 
reinvestment and rehabilitation of buildings. 

 Environmental:  No anticipated impacts. 
 Social: No anticipated impacts.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal: None identified. 
 Staff time: The proposed code changes are within normal staff work plans. 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Planning Board 
The board reviewed the proposed ordinance on May 1, 2014 and recommended approval of the 
ordinance on a 4-2 vote (see motion below). Audio and complete meeting minutes from the 
May 1, 2014 meeting can be found on the Planning Board’s website at 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/planning-board. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page  111



 
The motions were as follows: 
J. Putnam, seconded by B. Bowen, moved that the Planning Board recommend approval to the 
City Council of an ordinance implementing recommended actions of the Economic Sustainability 
Strategy by amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, in particular: 
 

1. Updating the land use regulations that require site improvements and upgrades if a 
project exceeds a certain percentage of the value of any existing structures on the 
property by allowing the value of existing structures to be established through a 
professional appraisal of the fair market value of such structures (Action 3.6, ESS). 

 
On a subsidiary motion to amend the main motion J. Gerstle, seconded by L. May, the Planning 
Board voted 4-2 (B. Bowen and J. Putnam opposed, A. Brockett absent) to recommend that if a 
private appraisal is used in this process, that information shall be provided to the County 
Assessor.  
 
The main motion, as amended, passed 4-2 (B. Bowen and J. Putnam opposed, A. Brockett 
absent). 
 
Planning Board members Bowen and Putnam, despite proposing the original motion, voted 
against it because of the amendment to the motion requiring a referral of any appraisal to the 
county.  
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK  
Staff has received little written public feedback on the proposed change.   
 
BACKGROUND 
City Council adopted the Economic Sustainability Strategy on Oct. 29, 2013. The Economic 
Sustainability Strategy is a cross-cutting and “place-based” approach to economic vitality. It 
seeks to create vibrant, amenity-rich business districts that vary in their focus and intensity, and 
offer environments that support key industry clusters, retain talented workers and enhance a 
unique and sustainable “Boulder” quality of life.  
 
In 2012, city staff, along with the University of Colorado Leeds Business Research Division and 
the Boulder Economic Council, conducted a primary employer study identifying the issues, 
trends and needs of Boulder’s primary employers relative to the city’s existing industrial and 
commercial space.  In Boulder, “primary employers” are defined as companies that receive at 
least fifty percent of their revenue from outside Boulder County, thus bringing in a significant 
amount of “new money” into the Boulder economy. The results of this study are found at 
www.bouldercolorado.gov/pages/primary-employer-study. The strategies that have come out of 
this process help to prioritize the action items, which would be updated each year based on 
resources available (city work plan and budget).  The recommended actions of the Economic 
Sustainability Strategy are informed by the input relieved as part of this process. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Valuation Code Change: 
The following code change is intended to implement recommended Action 3.6 of the Economic 
Sustainability Strategy: 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page  112



 
Action 3.6, page 17, Economic Sustainability Strategy - Update the land use regulations 
for required site improvements and upgrades by changing how the assessed value is 
calculated by allowing the option of using the professionally appraised fair market value 
of the structure. 

 
The Land Use Code ties certain site improvement requirements, such as landscaping and outdoor 
lighting upgrades, for properties that are being redeveloped to the size of an expansion or value 
of the planned improvements relative to the value of existing structures on the site.  For instance, 
certain site improvements like landscaping and outdoor lighting upgrades would be required if 
the value of a project exceeds a specified percentage of the value of the existing structure on the 
site. Oftentimes, the extent of required upgrades is dependent on this percentage. The web links 
below show the applicable sections where valuations are used and the thresholds that determine 
the level of upgrade: 
 
 Site Access Control (see section 9-9-5, B.R.C. 1981) 
 Landscaping (see section 9-9-12(b), B.R.C. 1981) 
 Outdoor lighting (see section 9-9-16(c), B.R. C. 1981) 
 Nonconformance standards (see section 9-10-2, B.R.C. 1981) 

 
With the exception of ‘Site Access Control’ which is based on a specific project to determine if 
site access would need to be modified, the other code sections, including the city’s floodplain 
regulations, require cumulative valuations. For the code sections listed above, assessed value is 
limited to actual Boulder County assessed value as the comparative figure to the development 
project cost whereas the floodplain section of the Land Use Code allows the option to also use 
fair market appraisals. The fair market value determined by an appraiser is used to determine 
whether the thresholds for improvements are required under the city’s floodplain regulations. 
These can be accessed at the following web link: floodplain regulations concerning valuation  
 
The proposed code change would apply the same allowance for the floodplain regulations to the 
four code sections above. The reasons this issue was identified is because some customers have 
pointed out that the value assessed by the County Assessor does not accurately represent the fair 
market value of a structure as the Assessor assesses the value of a structure for tax purposes 
while, in reality, the fair market value of a structure is typically higher. This has led to 
inconsistent property improvements over time.  
 
Staff finds that it is appropriate to allow this alternative method of valuation, because city codes 
are already considered aggressive in what is required from a qualitative perspective. Even minor 
changes to a building may trigger expensive site upgrades that can become cost prohibitive and 
may discourage building retrofits. The site improvements and adjustments may not be 
proportionate to the level of work proposed for the building when assessing against the Boulder 
County Assessor figures. Of greatest concern is that such standards may discourage ordinary 
upkeep and maintenance of buildings and thus, can make leasing difficult. 
 
Staff has been working with property owners to better understand the issue. A local 
developer/property manager has provided some examples of where building values (see 
Attachment B), created for tax purposes, is accessed at a low value relative to the overall 
property value – in some cases only around 2 percent of the total land value. With these low 
accessed values for buildings, the trigger for more expensive improvements on a site is often 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page  113

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_5
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_12
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-9.htm#section9_9_16
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-10.htm
http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-3.htm#section9_3_8


easily triggered. If expensive site improvements become required for relatively modest upgrades 
to buildings, improvements may be deferred or canceled. 
 
Therefore, staff has proposed the following new language that would add this assessment figure 
as an option to the applicable sections discussed above: 
 

For purposes of this paragraph (1), the applicant may demonstrate the value of the 
existing structure by submitting, in the discretion of the applicant, either the actual value 
assessed by the Boulder County Assessor or the fair market value determined by a real 
estate appraiser licensed in Colorado. 

Attachment A includes the specific sections with the proposed language within their context. 
 
Planning Board’s recommendation was that a requirement be added for fair market appraisals to 
be forwarded to the Boulder County Assessor’s office. The recommendation did not specify 
exactly how this would be done.  
 
Staff is not averse to referring the appraisals and intends to do so as information such as building 
permit information, including valuations on permits, and Geographic Information Systems (GIS) 
data are routinely sent to the county.  The City and County already share a great deal of data with 
each other.  This would be another data source that would be a part of the exchange. The city is 
committed to transparency in its regulated process.  It will be relatively easy to include additional 
valuation data that it receives to Boulder County. 
 
For the most part, the zoning code is a document that provides how the city regulates the use of 
land through zoning.  It is not used as a tool to direct the city manager to do things that are not 
directly part of the regulatory process. The code sets up minimum requirements that must be met 
in the development review process including but not limited to required public notice, required 
steps in the review process (e.g., decisions, inactive applications etc.) and call-up periods.   There 
are other process matters, such as application completeness checks, application routings, the 
standard three-week review track, and conveyance of review comments to applicants etc. that are 
not specified in the code but are done according to standard business practice. Staff finds the 
referral of the fair market appraisals more akin to these process steps and as it is unrelated to 
zoning regulation, staff has found it unnecessary to add the referral step into the code language. 
 
STAFF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the proposed ordinance based on the following 
conclusions: 
 

 The proposed change would be appropriate to help deal with the challenge of high land 
costs and barriers to redevelopment/reinvestment;  

 The proposed change would be consistent with how valuations are calculated per the 
flood regulations, and 

 The proposed change would be consistent with Economic Sustainability Strategy 
recommendations. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page  114



ATTACHMENTS:  
 
A. Ordinance No. 8018  
B. Tax assessment figures  
 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page  115



 

K:\PLCU\O-8018-2nd Rdg-EHF-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8018 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9, “LAND USE CODE,” 
B.R.C. 1981, TO ADD A VALUATION METHOD FOR 
EXISTING STRUCTURES FOR DETERMINATION OF 
UPGRADE REQUIREMENTS UNDER TITLE 9, B.R.C. 1981, 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-9-5, “Site Access Control,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-9-5  Site Access Control.  

(a) Access Control: Vehicular access to property from the public right-of-way shall be controlled 
in such a manner as to protect the traffic-carrying capacity and safety of the street upon which 
the property abuts and access is taken, ensuring that the public use and purpose of public rights-
of-way is unimpaired as well as to protect the value of the public infrastructure and adjacent 
property. The requirements of this section apply to all land uses, including single-family 
residential land uses, as follows: 

(1) For all uses, except single-family residential, the standards shall be met prior to a final 
inspection for any building permit for new development; redevelopment exceeding 
twenty-five percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing 
structure; or the addition of a dwelling unit.  For purposes of this paragraph (1), the 
applicant shall demonstrate the value of the existing structure by submitting, at the 
discretion of the applicant, either the actual value assessed by the Boulder County 
Assessor’s Office or the fair market value determined by a real estate appraiser licensed 
in Colorado. 

(2) For single-family residential uses, the standards of this section shall be met prior to a 
final inspection for any building permit for new development; the demolition of a 
principal structure; or the conversion of an attached garage or carport to a use other than 
use as a parking space. 

(b) Access for Properties Subject to Annexation: Each parcel of land under a single ownership at 
the time of its annexation will be reviewed in terms of access as one parcel (regardless of 
subsequent sales of a portion) unless the property is subdivided at the time of its annexation. 

(c) Standards and Criteria for Site Accesses and Curb Cuts: Any access or curb cut to public 
rights-of-way shall be designed in accordance with the City of Boulder Design and Construction 
Standards and the following standards and criteria: 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018

Packet Page  116



 

K:\PLCU\O-8018-2nd Rdg-EHF-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(1) Number of Access Points Permitted: One access point or curb cut per property will be 
permitted, unless a site plan or traffic study, approved by the city manager, demonstrates 
that additional access points and curb cuts are required to adequately address 
accessibility, circulation, and driveway volumes, and only where additional accesses and 
curb cuts would not impair any public use of any public right-of-way, or create safety or 
operational problems, or be detrimental to traffic flow on adjacent public streets. 

(2) Access Restrictions: On arterial and collector streets, or if necessary for the safe and 
efficient movement of traffic, all accesses shall be designed and constructed with 
physical improvements and appropriate traffic control measures to assist or restrict 
turning movements, including, without limitation, acceleration or deceleration lanes, 
access islands, street medians, and signage, as may be required of the development if the 
city manager finds that they are necessary to preserve the safety or the traffic-carrying 
capacity of the existing street. The city manager shall determine the length and degree of 
the required access restriction measures for the property. 

(3) Residential Access to Arterial and Collector Streets Restricted: No residential 
structures shall have direct access onto an arterial. However, if no alternative street 
access is possible, an access may be permitted subject to the incorporation of any design 
standards determined to be necessary by the city manager to preserve the safety and the 
traffic-carrying capacity of the arterial or collector. 

(4) Access From Lowest Category Street Required: A property that has frontage on more 
than one street, alley or public access shall locate its access or curb cut on the lowest 
category street, alley or public access frontage. If more than one access point or curb cut 
is necessary, an additional access or curb cut will be permitted only where the proposed 
access or curb cut satisfies the requirements in this section. 

(5) Property Right to Access: If a property cannot be served by any access point or curb 
cut that satisfies this section, the city manager will designate the access point or curb cut 
for the subject property based on optimal traffic safety. 

(6) Multiple Access Points for Single-Family Residential: The city manager will permit 
multiple access points on the same street for single-family residential lots upon finding 
that there is at least one hundred linear feet of lot frontage adjacent to the front yard on 
such street, the area has a limited amount of pedestrian activity because of the low 
density character, and there is enough on-street parking within three hundred feet of the 
property to meet the off-street parking needs of such area. The total cumulative width of 
multiple curb cuts shall not exceed the maximum permitted width of a single curb cut. 
The minimum spacing between multiple curb cuts on the same property shall not be less 
than sixty-five feet. 

(7) Shared Driveways for Residential Structures: A detached single-family residential lot 
that does not have frontage on the street from which access is taken may be served by a 
shared driveway that meets all of the standards and criteria for shared driveways set forth 
in the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018

Packet Page  117



 

K:\PLCU\O-8018-2nd Rdg-EHF-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(8) Minimum Driveway Width: The minimum width of a driveway leading to an off-
street parking space shall not be less than nine feet. A driveway, or portion of a driveway, 
may be located on an adjacent property if an easement is obtained from the impacted 
property owner. (See figure 9-1 of this section.) 

 

Figure 9-1: Minimum Driveway Width 

(9) Exceptions: The requirements of this section may be modified under the provisions of 
section 9-2-14Section 9-2-14, "Site Review," B.R.C. 1981, to provide for safe and 
reasonable access. Exceptions to this section may be made if the city manager determines 
that: 

(A) The topography, configuration of a lot, or other physical constraints makes 
taking access from the lowest category street, alley or public access frontage 
impractical, or the character of the existing area is such that a proposed or existing 
access to the street, alley or public access frontage is compatible with the access 
of properties in such area; 

(B) The site access and curb cuts would not impair public use of the public right-
of-way; create safety or operational problems or be detrimental to traffic flow on 
adjacent public streets; and 

(C) The site access and curb cuts will minimize impacts to the existing on-street 
parking patterns. 

. . . 
Section 2.  Section 9-9-12, “Landscaping and Screening Standards,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended to read: 

9-9-12  Landscaping and Screening Standards.  

. . . 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 9

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018

Packet Page  118

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-2.htm#section9_2_14


 

K:\PLCU\O-8018-2nd Rdg-EHF-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(b) Scope: This section and Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, 
apply to all nonresidential and multi-family residential developments unless expressly stated 
otherwise. 

(1) The standards in this section and Sections 9-9-13, "Streetscape Design Standards," 
and 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, shall be met prior to a 
final inspection for any building permit for: 

(A) New development; 

(B) Redevelopment involving expansion of the total building floor area which 
exceeds twenty-five percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the 
existing structure for any use except a property with three or fewer attached 
dwelling units; 

(C) Redevelopment involving the expansion of the total floor area for a property 
that has three or fewer attached dwelling units, shall meet the landscaping 
standards as follows: 

(i) Redevelopment valued at more than twenty-five percent, but less than 
fifty percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing 
structure shall require compliance with the street and alley tree 
requirements and the trash and parking screening requirements; 

(ii) Redevelopment valued at fifty percent or more, but less than seventy-
five percent of the Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing 
structure shall require compliance with the street and alley tree 
requirements and the trash and parking screening requirements and the 
front yard landscape requirements; and 

(iii) Redevelopment valued at seventy-five percent or more of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure shall require 
compliance with the landscape regulations. 

(D) Redevelopment exceeding one hundred percent of the Boulder County 
Assessor's actual value of the existing structure and not involving expansion of 
the total building floor area; or 

(E) The addition of a dwelling unit. 

(F)  For purposes of this paragraph (1), the applicant shall demonstrate the value 
of the existing structure by submitting, at the discretion of the applicant, either the 
actual value assessed by the Boulder County Assessor’s Office or the fair market 
value determined by a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado.   

(2) When additional parking spaces are provided, or for a change of use where new off-
street parking spaces are provided, the provisions of Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot 
Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, shall be applied as follows: 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 10

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018

Packet Page  119



 

K:\PLCU\O-8018-2nd Rdg-EHF-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(A) When the number of additional parking spaces that will be provided exceeds 
twenty-five percent of the number of existing parking spaces on the site, all 
standards in Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, 
shall be met for the entire parking lot (existing and new portions) prior to the final 
inspection for a change of use or concurrent with the addition of the parking 
spaces. 

(B) When the number of additional parking spaces that will be provided is less 
than twenty five percent of the number of existing parking spaces on the site, the 
standards in Section 9-9-14, "Parking Lot Landscaping Standards," B.R.C. 1981, 
shall be met for the new portions of the parking lot prior to the final inspection for 
a change of use or concurrent with the addition of the parking spaces. 

. . . 

Section 3.  Section 9-9-16, “Lighting, Outdoor,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-9-16  Lighting, Outdoor.  

. . . 

(c) Scope: This section shall apply to all exterior lighting, including illumination from outdoor 
signs that impact the outdoor environment. No person shall install any light fixture unless such 
fixture meets the requirements of this section. 

(1) Conformance at the Time of Building Permit Application: Compliance with the 
requirements of this chapter shall be required for all new development. The following 
outdoor lighting improvements shall be installed prior to a final inspection for any 
building permit for any redevelopment which exceeds the following thresholds: 

(A) When development or redevelopment exceeds twenty-five percent of the 
Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure, then all existing 
unshielded exterior light fixtures shall be retrofitted with shielding to prevent light 
trespass. 

(B) When development or redevelopment exceeds fifty percent of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure, then: 

(i) All exterior lighting, except existing parking lot lighting, shall be 
brought into conformance with the requirements of this section; and 

(ii) All existing parking lot light fixtures shall be retrofitted with shielding 
to prevent light trespass. 

(C) When development or redevelopment exceeds seventy-five percent of the 
Boulder County Assessor's actual value of the existing structure, then all exterior 
lighting fixtures shall be brought into full conformance with the requirements of 
this section. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 11

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018

Packet Page  120



 

K:\PLCU\O-8018-2nd Rdg-EHF-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(D) For purposes of this paragraph (1), the applicant shall demonstrate the value 
of the existing structure by submitting, at the discretion of the applicant, either the 
actual value assessed by the Boulder County Assessor’s Office or the fair market 
value determined by a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado. 

(2) Replacement of Fixtures: If an existing light fixture is removed, it shall only be 
replaced with a conforming light fixture. 

. . . 

Section 4.  Section 9-10-2, “Continuation or Restoration of Nonconforming Uses and 

Nonstandard Buildings, Structures and Lots,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-10-2  Continuation or Restoration of Nonconforming Uses and Nonstandard Buildings, 
Structures and Lots.  

. . . 

(d) Drive-Thru Facilities: A drive-thru facility that was established prior to July 31, 1986, on a 
property not abutting Canyon Boulevard in the DT zoning districts, and has not expired pursuant 
to subsection (a) of this section, shall be considered a nonconforming use, and may: 

(1) Be renovated or remodeled, by improvements the cumulative total of which increases 
the structure's fair market value by no more than twenty-five percent of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the structure, without meeting the criteria for drive-thru 
uses in subsection Subsection 9-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981; 

(2) Be renovated or remodeled by improvements the cumulative total of which increases 
the facility's structure's fair market value by more than twenty-five percent of the Boulder 
County Assessor's actual value of the structure; or be relocated on site if the development 
meets the criteria for drive-thru uses in subsection Subsection 9-6-9(c), B.R.C. 1981; or 

(3) Be relocated off site or expanded on site, subject to the conditional use requirements 
for drive-thru uses. For the purposes of this paragraph, "expanded" means creation of an 
additional drive-thru bay, lane, or teller window. 

(4) For purposes of this subsection (d), the applicant shall demonstrate the value of the 
existing structure by submitting, at the discretion of the applicant, either the actual value 
assessed by the Boulder County Assessor’s Office or the fair market value determined by 
a real estate appraiser licensed in Colorado. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 12

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018

Packet Page  121



 

K:\PLCU\O-8018-2nd Rdg-EHF-.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 6.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 13

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018

Packet Page  122



 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 14Packet Page  123



Summary of info from Assessment Information Reports
7‐Apr‐14

structure actual value % of actual  structure
sf from assessment value value psf

Account#: 0004324 1580 Canyon land $1,316,000.00 97.79%
structure 6528 $29,800.00 2.21% $4.56
total $1,345,800.00 100.00%

Account#: 0033583 236 Pearl land $686,181.00 98.37%
structure 1248 $11,400.00 1.63% $9.13
total $697,581.00 100.00%

Account#: 0069297 2633 30th land $314,600.00 38.57%
structure 10408 $501,100.00 61.43% $48.15
total $815,700.00 100.00%

Agenda Item 3E     Page 15

Attachment B - Tax Assessment Figures

Packet Page  124



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 16Packet Page  125



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  December 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8016 amending 
Chapter 4-11, “Mall Permits and Leases,” Sections 4-1-9 “Authority to Deny Issuance of 
Licenses,” 4-20-11 “Mall License and Permit Fees,” and 8-6-6 “Requirements for 
Revocable Permits, Short-term Leases and Long-term Leases,” B.R.C. 1981, to update 
the code to be consistent with current mall practices and needs, and setting forth related 
details.  
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Molly M. Winter, Director, Downtown & University Hill Management 
Division/Parking Services 
Sandra Llanes, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Lane Landrith, Business Coordinator, Downtown & University Hill Management 
Division/Parking Services 
Ashlee Herring, Communications and Special Events Oversight Coordinator, Downtown 
& University Hill Management Division/Parking Services 
Sloane Walbert, Planner 1, Planning and Development Services 
   
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this council agenda item is to propose amendments to the code related to 
Pearl Street Mall permits (Attachment A – Ordinance No. 8016).  These amendments 
are necessary to align with current mall permit procedures, guidelines, and practices; to 
accommodate additional community requests for more events on the mall; to adapt to 
physical changes to the mall; to increase diligence on maintaining an overall benefit to 
the community; and to clarify circumstances under which permits can be denied.   
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  1Packet Page  126



City Council approved first reading of the draft ordinance on November 18, 2014 and did 
not have any questions for staff. 
 
Section 4-11-1 “Legislative Intent” of Chapter 4-11 “Mall Permits and Leases” B.R.C. 
1981 provides this informational summary:  

The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public interest by enhancing the 
attractiveness of the mall environment; providing opportunities for creative, 
colorful, pedestrian-focused commercial activities on a day/night, year-round and 
seasonal basis; encouraging commercial activity and entertainment that adds 
charm, vitality, diversity, and good design to the mall area; encouraging the 
upgrading of storefronts and the development of compatible and well-designed 
improvements; providing revenue to offset in part the cost of maintaining the mall 
area; providing reasonable time, place, and manner restrictions on 
constitutionally protected activities so that they may flourish without detracting 
from the purpose of the mall as a commercial forum and a means of access to 
businesses on the mall; and limiting private development on the mall to those 
proposals of the highest quality that advance these purposes. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8016 amending Chapter 4-11, Mall Permits and Leases,” 
Sections 4-1-9 “Authority to Deny Issuance of Licenses,” 4-20-11 “Mall License and 
Permit Fees,” and 8-6-6 “Requirements for Revocable Permits, Short-term Leases and 
Long-term Leases,” B.R.C. 1981, to update the code to be consistent with current mall 
practices and needs. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic: Special events collect and remit sales tax and bring visitors and vitality 
to downtown.  

• Environmental: The Pearl Street Mall provides zero waste receptacles and 
strongly encourages special events to adhere to a zero waste event. Best practices 
for waste water disposal are also used with each event permit. 

• Social: The Pearl Street Mall provides a unique gathering space for cultural, 
musical, artistic, and educational events at no charge to the public. 
 

OTHER IMPACTS 
Fiscal - City staff time for review and oversight of all special event permit applications 
and events. 
   
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

• Downtown Management Commission (DMC) reviewed the proposed mall code 
changes and recommended the changes (4-0) at their November 3rd meeting, and 
offered that Mall Entertainment permits not become too restrictive as to limit the 
types and number of potential performers.  It is worth mentioning that the only 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  2Packet Page  127



proposed code change to Entertainment permits is to increase the term of the 
permit from three days to one month. 

• Downtown Boulder, Inc. (DBI) supported the staff recommendation to amend the 
city code as proposed. 

• Downtown Boulder Business Improvement District Board (BID) supported the 
staff recommendation to amend the city code as proposed. 
 

ANALYSIS 
In addition to city code requirements, guidelines are applied to special event applications 
to ensure the safety of the public, to balance the number of community events with the 
needs of the downtown businesses, and to facilitate good customer service and clarity 
with event producers. Refer to Attachment C for mall event guidelines. 
 
Based on experience over the years and feedback from mall businesses, staff currently 
operates under the guideline of scheduling special events every other weekend during 
peak months, primarily from May through October.  This creates the balance of providing 
activities for the public and maintaining access to retail businesses during the busy 
summer and fall seasons.   
 
Proposed Code Changes 
The code sections addressing the Pearl Street Mall permits have not been updated for 
many years. These proposed code changes are needed to bring the code in alignment with 
current procedural practices, to accommodate additional community request for more 
events on the Pearl Street Mall, to increase diligence on maintaining an overall benefit to 
the community, to adapt to physical changes to the mall, and to address circumstances 
under which permits can be denied.   
 
Listed below is a summary and rationale for proposed mall code section changes.  Please 
see Attachment B for additional information on the proposed amendments.  
 
4-11-7 & 4-11-8 “Permits for patios and building encroachments”: Currently any 
encroachments proposed for the mall are reviewed as a revocable permit or lease under 
Chapter 8-6 which is administered by Community Planning and Sustainability. The 
change in Section 4 reflects this existing practice. 
 
4-11-2 “Definitions”; Definition of “special activity”: The changes proposed include, 1) 
change the terminology to reflect the more common practice of using the term “special 
event” rather than “special activity”; 2) designating the city manager (staff) as 
responsible for scheduling events rather than DMC; 3) removing specific requirements 
for sales conducted as a fundraising activity by a nonprofit group; and, 4) and finally 
adding “artist using non-airborne mediums” to the Ambulatory vendor permit definition 
to control the location due to health risks with spray paint.  
 
4-11-4 “Uses prohibited without a permit”: Amended section (c) proposes to allow 
amplified music on the mall only as part of an approved special event permit.  Acoustic 
music is allowed without the need for any permit. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  3Packet Page  128



4-11-12 “Mobile Vending Cart Permit”: Under section (b), changed maximum number of 
carts allowed on mall from 14 to 13.  The mall’s capacity is at 13 carts due to Mall 
renovations and added amenities in 2000. Section (i) establishes a more user-friendly 
process of renewing Mobile Vending Cart permits that are in good standing rather than 
having to reapply as a new vendor. 
 
4-11-16 “Special Event Permit”: Section (b) is amended to reflect the current practice of 
approving more than six days per year to the same organization during a calendar year.  
Over the course of the last 30 years, the Mall has evolved into a popular event venue. The 
Business Improvement District, formed in 1999, created the mechanism for producing 
more festivals, art fairs, parades, music series and special events that have enhanced the 
vitality of downtown Boulder. 
 
4-11-18 “General Permit and Lease Requirements”:  Reaffirmed in section (c) that the 
provisions of 4-1-9 “Authority to Deny Issuance of Permits and Licenses” are applicable 
to the mall, giving staff the ability to deny or revoke a permit where the specified 
conditions have been violated. 
 
 4-11-19 “Application Procedures”: Includes monthly mall permits in the list of permits 
that the DMC does not approve.  The standard practice of staff reviewing and approving 
permit and is now being reflected in the code. 
 
4-11-22 “Termination of Permits”: Amended section (c) provides staff with discretion to 
deny a permit for 3 years subsequent to being revoked, pending due process and a formal 
review. 
 
4-1-9 “Authority to Deny Issuance of Permits and Licenses”;  
This proposed amendment provides staff with additional criteria for denial of permit: 

- Providing false information or misrepresenting a material fact on application; 
- The applicant has within the past three years, from application date, violated a 
law or condition in a permit governing the activities permitted by the permit; 
- The applicant has previously unlawfully conducted activities that require a 
permit without obtaining such permission in advance; 
- The applicant had a city issued permit revoked within the past three years. 

 
Please refer to Attachment B for a complete listing of the proposed Mall ordinance 
updates. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and adoption of Ordinance No. 8016 to 
amend the Boulder Revised Code (Attachment A).   These proposed changes more 
accurately reflect the physical modifications in Mall infrastructure, and the current 
operational standards set forth for safety and enjoyment of all when balancing the diverse 
needs of our nationally recognized downtown mall. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  4Packet Page  129



ATTACHMENTS 
A:   Ordinance No. 8016 
B:   Mall Ordinance Updates – Summary of Amendments 
C:   Mall Event Guidelines 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  5Packet Page  130



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  6Packet Page  131



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 8016 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 4-11, “MALL 
PERMITS AND LEASES,” SECTIONS 4-1-9 “AUTHORITY TO 
DENY ISSUANCE OF LICENSES,” 4-20-11 “MALL LICENSE 
AND PERMIT FEES,” AND 8-6-6 “REQUIREMENTS FOR 
REVOCABLE PERMITS, SHORT-TERM LEASES AND 
LONG-TERM LEASES,” B.R.C. 1981, TO UPDATE THE CODE 
TO BE CONSISTENT WITH CURRENT MALL PRACTICES 
AND NEEDS, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Chapter 4-11, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

…. 

4-11-2.  Definitions.  

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings, unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise: 

"Advocacy adjunct" means lightweight tables, chairs, and signs capable of being moved easily in 
case of emergency which are entirely within an advocacy area and do not exceed six feet in 
height. 

"Advocacy area" means those designated areas of the mall where tables, chairs, and signs 
otherwise prohibited may be employed pursuant to the provisions of this chapter as an adjunct to 
political advocacy, noncommercial fundraising, and petitioning the government. 

"Ambulatory vendor" means a portrait, caricature or landscape artist using non-airborne 
mediums, or any person who engages in the business of selling balloons, balloon sculptures, 
flowers or shoe shines. 

"Building extension" means any structure that is an extension of an existing building front or 
basement adjacent to the mall and that encroaches upon the mall. 

"Building ornament" means any awning, sign, planter box, or other ornament on a building 
adjacent to the mall that encroaches upon the air space above the mall. 

"Encroachment" means a private improvement, structure or obstruction extending into or located 
within, upon, above or under any public right of way or public easement. 

"DMC" means the Downtown Management Commission established by section 2-3-5, 
"Downtown Management Commission," B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  7Packet Page  132



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

"Educational activity" means all noncommercial activity of any person or group directed at 
informing or persuading the public which is consistent with the provisions of this code and the 
laws of the state and the United States, and specifically includes the passage of petitions and the 
advocacy of candidates and issues in any election. 

"Entertainment" means a performance or show designed to entertain the public but excludes 
services provided on a one to one basis. 

"Entertainment vending" means the sale of a recorded performance of an entertainer by that 
entertainer while that entertainer is performing. 

"Festive activity" means a cultural event of community-wide interest, including, without 
limitation, events involving sales, the primary purpose of which is not for profit, which is 
consistent with the legislative intent of this chapter, and which is scheduled by the DMC and 
approved by the city manager. 

"Kiosk" means a freestanding structure erected by the City within a pedestrian circulation area 
and used for the posting of notices or advertisements. It also means a small building located in 
Mall Zone 3 and operated under lease for the sale of food, flowers, newspapers, or other goods 
approved by the  city managerDMC. 

"Mall" means the Boulder downtown pedestrian mall established by Ordinance No. 4022, 
adopted February 18, 1975. 

"Noncommercial" means that which does not involve the sale of real or personal property or a 
service. 

"Nonprofit group" means an entity which has received a tax status determination by the United 
States Internal Revenue Service as a section 501 tax exempt organization, or which is 
incorporated as a nonprofit corporation under the laws of the state of Colorado, or which is 
incorporated as a nonprofit corporation under the laws of another state and has been issued a 
certificate of authority by the secretary of state for Colorado to conduct affairs in Colorado. 

"Personal services vendor" means any person providing personal services on a one on one basis 
which does not involve the sale of goods. 

"Sale" or "sell" means the exchange of goods or services for money or other consideration, and 
includes the offering of goods or services for a donation except when a writing is offered for a 
donation to express bona fide religious, social, political, or other ideological views, and the 
writing is carried by the person offering it and not set on the ground or any structure. 

"Special activityEvent" means an educational or cultural event of community-wide interest, 
including, without limitation, events involving sales, the primary purpose of which is not for 
profit, which is consistent with the legislative intent of this chapter, and which is scheduled and 
approved by the city manager,festive activity,  or an activity not involving sales and sponsored 
by a nonprofit group, that involves the use of a booth, blanket, table, structure, cart, or other 
equipment on the mall. It also means sales conducted as a fundraising activity by a nonprofit 
group. if: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  8Packet Page  133



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(a) The group has volunteer members actively engaged in carrying out the objects of the 
entity; 

(b) The sales on the mall are made only by the group's volunteer members; 

(c) Such volunteer members receive no remuneration, direct or indirect, from the sales or 
sales activities; and 

(d) Any goods sold either bear conspicuously on their exterior the name of the group or its 
registered trademark, or such goods are unique to the group and are not readily available 
through retail stores in the City. 

"Special entertainment" means any activity which involves the juggling, casting, throwing or 
propelling of a knife or burning projectile on the mall, or involves the use of equipment on the 
mall which is more than six feet above the surface of the mall when at rest or when bearing a 
load while being used in the act. 

…. 

4-11-4.  Uses Prohibited Without Permit.  

(a) (1) No person shall sell, display for sale, or advertise for sale any goods or services to the 
public on the mall without a valid permit or lease therefor issued under this chapter. This 
subsection does not apply to a sign, including, without limitation, a sandwich board, carried 
by a person and not set on or affixed to the ground. 

…. 

(c) No person shall install or construct a building extension, building ornament an 
encroachment, or kiosk on the mall without a valid permit or lease therefor issued under this 
chapter and/or Chapter 8-6, “Public Right of Way and Easement Encroachments, Revocable 
Permits, Leases, and Vacations” B.R.C. 1981. 

(d) No person shall use amplified sound on the mall without obtainingunless it is part of an 
approved special activity Special Event permit issued under this chapter allowing such 
amplified soundn amplified sound permit. 

…. 

4-11-4.5.  Advocacy Area Permit.  

(a) The city manager shall designate four areas per block within Zones 3 or 4 in the 1100, 
1200, and 1400 blocks, and ten areas within the 1300 block as advocacy areas. Each area shall 
be five feet by six feet. 

…. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  9Packet Page  134



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(e) If a special activitySpecial Event permit is issued for an arts related event and covering 
every block of the mall, the manager shall designate and provide alternative locations within 
the same block if feasible, or elsewhere on the mall if feasible, and otherwise as close to the 
mall as practicable to all applicants, not exceeding twenty-two, who qualify for advocacy area 
permits. The manager may so displace users of advocacy areas for only one such special 
activitySpecial Event permit in any calendar year. 

…. 

(h) Sales of goods or services for any purpose are permitted under an advocacy area permit 
only if the permittee also has a special activitySpecial Event permit, but a permittee may 
solicit donations so long as no portion of the donation goes to the financial benefit of any 
natural person who is soliciting the donation. If the permittee is soliciting donations and is 
also giving out goods or services related to the advocacy, such goods or services must not be 
given on condition that a donation is made, and must be available free to anyone requesting 
such goods or services, although the permittee may limit the number any one person may 
receive so long as such limit is not conditioned upon the donation. 

…. 

4-11-5.  Ambulatory Vending Permit.  

(a) Ambulatory vending is permitted only in Zones 1, 2, and 3. An applicant for an 
ambulatory vending permit, any of which is to be used in Zone 1, shall first obtain the written 
consent of the tenant occupying the building in front of which the applicant desires to locate. 

…. 

(f) Sales shall be limited to items created at point of sale. 

4-11-6. Amplified Sound Permit. Repealed 

(a) Amplified sound permits may be issued for all zones. An applicant for an amplified sound 
permit which is to include any part of Zone 1 shall obtain the written consent of the tenant 
occupying the building in front of which the applicant desires to locate. 

(b) The city manager may permit the use of amplified sound only if the amplified sound is 
essential to the exercise of a use allowed under this chapter and will benefit the public or 
enhance the ambiance of the mall. Every use of amplified sound shall comply with section 5-
9-3, "Exceeding Decibel Sound Levels Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981. The manager may attach 
such other reasonable conditions on the use of an amplified sound permit as may reduce 
friction among competing uses of the mall or serve the purposes of this subsection. 

(c) An amplified sound permit is valid only for the period and location specified in the permit. 
No applicant may be issued more than one permit for a day. No fee will be charged for 
issuance of an amplified sound permit. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  10Packet Page  135



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

4-11-7. Building Extension Permit or Lease.  Repealed 

(a) Building extensions are permitted only in Zone 1. 

(b) A person who wishes to construct a permanent building extension on mall property shall 
obtain a lease from the City in accordance with section 2-2-8, "Conveyance of City Real 
Property Interests," B.R.C. 1981. The lease may be renewed and shall contain provisions for 
the eventual acquisition of title to the permanent building extension by the City or for the 
removal of such construction at the owner's expense along with restoration of the mall to its 
original condition at the termination or expiration of the lease. 

(c) Every lease also shall provide that if the city requires the use of the leased property before 
expiration of the lease period, it may terminate the lease upon reasonable notice to the owner 
and reasonable compensation for the expenses of removing the building extension. 

(d) Each application for a lease shall be reviewed by the  DMC, which shall recommend to the 
city manager approval, approval with conditions to be incorporated in the lease agreement, or 
denial of the application. The manager then will decide whether to grant the lease application 
and prescribe the lease terms. 

(e) The city will not issue a lease for a basement-level building extension, except those 
approved prior to September 15, 1981. 

(f) A permanent building extension shall remain open to the public during the minimum 
number of retail business hours specified in the lease agreement. 

(g) A building extension permit or lease may be issued only if: 

(1) The existing building front conforms, or is improved so as to conform, to the City of 
Boulder Downtown Boulder Private Development Guidelines for Architecture and Signs, 
June 1976; and 

(2) The proposed building extension will benefit the public or enhance the ambiance of 
the mall. 

(h) The construction of a building extension shall be completed within the time period 
established in the permit or lease, which shall in no event exceed one year, or the permit or 
lease will automatically expire. 

(i) All building extensions, including, without limitation, basement stairwells, shall be 
illuminated as necessary to ensure public safety during hours of operation and non-operation 
from dusk until 3:00 a.m. 

(j) A building extension permit is valid for the period of May 1 to April 30 of the following 
year, upon payment of the fee prescribed by section 4-20-11, "Mall License and Permit Fees," 
B.R.C. 1981. For the first year of the permit, this fee will be prorated for the balance of the 
permit period. A building extension permit is renewable automatically every year upon 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  11Packet Page  136



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

payment of the applicable fee, unless terminated or revoked in accordance with section 4-11-
22, "Termination of Permits," B.R.C. 1981. 

(k) The holder of a building extension permit or lease shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
city, its officers, employees, and agents against any and all claims arising from any occurrence 
occasioned by the permitted use, and shall maintain during the period of the permit or lease 
comprehensive general public liability and property damage insurance, as prescribed by 
section 4-1-8, "Insurance Required," B.R.C. 1981, naming the city, its officers, employees, 
and agents as insureds; providing that the insurance is primary insurance and that no other 
insurance maintained by the city will be called upon to contribute to a loss covered by the 
policy; and providing for thirty days' notice of cancellation or material change to the city. 

4-11-8. Building Ornament Permit. Repealed 

(a) Building ornaments are permitted only in Zone 1. 

(b) A building ornament permit may be issued only if: 

(1) The existing building front conforms, or is improved so as to conform, to the City of 
Boulder Downtown Boulder Private Development Guidelines for Architecture and Signs, 
June 1976; and 

(2) The proposed building ornament will benefit the public or enhance the ambiance of 
the mall. 

(c) No fee will be charged for the issuance of a building ornament permit, whose term is 
perpetual. 

4-11-9.  Entertainment Vending Permit.  

(a) Entertainment vending permits may be issued for all zones. An applicant for an 
entertainment vending permit which is to include any part of Zone 1 shall obtain the written 
consent of the tenant occupying the building in front of which the applicant desires to locate. 

…. 

(d) A musical entertainment vending permit is valid for three continuous days orup to one 
month upon payment of the fee prescribed by section 4-20-11, "Mall License and Permit 
Fees," B.R.C. 1981. 

…. 

…. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  12Packet Page  137



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

4-11-12.  Mobile Vending Cart Permit.  

(a) Mobile vending carts are allowed only in Zones 1, 2, and 3. An applicant for a mobile 
vending cart permit which is to include any part of Zone 1 shall obtain the written consent of 
the tenant occupying the building in front of which the applicant desires to locate. 

(b) The city manager may issue as many mobile vending cart permits as the manager deems 
appropriate, but the manager shall not permit the operation of more than fourteen thirteen 
mobile vending carts on the mall at the same time. 

…. 

(f) No operator of a mobile vending cart shall conduct the operator's primary trade at locations 
other than those authorized in the permit. But the operator may sell goods in transit upon 
request. If an authorized location conflicts with a special activitySpecial Event, the city 
manager may temporarily relocate the vendor. The city manager may also approve permanent 
changes of location as other locations become available, if two permittees agree in writing to 
exchange locations or temporarily on a month to month basis during September through May 
if the city manager has reason to believe that the regular vendor will not be using the location. 

…. 

(i) A mobile vending cart permit is valid for a one year period, beginning April 1 and ending 
March 31, with two options to renew for additional one year periods, upon timely payment of 
the fee prescribed by section 4-20-11, "Mall License and Permit Fees," B.R.C. 1981. A 
mobile vending cart permit is not automatically renewable thereafter. A permittee who wishes 
to continue operating after the expiration of the permit shall follow the application procedures 
required of a continuing vendor as established by city manager rule in accordance with section 
4-11-19, “Application Procedures,” B.R.C. 1981.new applicant. 

…. 

(k) Each cart shall display a sign at least one foot by one foot visible to the public which 
contains the required dates and hours of operation, the items for sale, and the prices of the 
items. The sign shall be presented to the city manager for approval before it is used. All items 
and their prices must be approved by the city manager as part of the application process. The 
city manager may approve item changes or substitutions upon receiving written application 
for such change. 

(l) No person shall fail to maintain, and provide proof when requested, of the permit 
authorizing such use. 

…. 

4-11-15.  Sidewalk Sales Permits.  

(a) The city manager may, after receiving the advice of the DMC, issue a mall sidewalk sale 
permit to any nonprofit organization whose principal purpose is the advancement of the 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  13Packet Page  138



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

cultural or economic interests of the downtown area of the City and which has a demonstrated 
history of at least three years of substantial, active efforts advancing those goals. 

…. 

(d) The applicant may condition individual sub-permit eligibility only on the assent of 
individual owners to the sharing of the reasonable promotional costs of the applicant for the 
sale event on a flat rate, per participant basis, not to exceed $50.00 for each day per sub-
permit, and the payment of such amount to the applicant. The applicant shall specify such 
amount on the application, and the city manager shall issue the permit only if the amount is 
reasonable. 

4-11-16.  Special ActivitySpecial Event Permit.  

(a) Special activitySpecial Event permits may be issued for all zones. An applicant for a 
special activitySpecial Event permit which is to include any part of Zone 1 shall obtain the 
written consent of the tenant occupying the building in front of which the applicant desires to 
locate. 

(b) A special activitySpecial Event permit is valid for one to six days per yearthe approved 
number of days upon payment of the fee prescribed by section 4-20-11, "Mall License and 
Permit Fees," B.R.C. 1981. No more than six days total may be permitted to the same person 
during a calendar year.  

(c) A special activitySpecial Event permit issued to a government is valid for one to ten days 
per year without a fee. 

(d) The city manager may, by contract, provide for one or more series of artistic performances 
for the entertainment of the mall public, which series shall involve regularly scheduled 
performances over four weeks, with a minimum number of performances of once per week, 
with each performance lasting a minimum of one hour and a maximum of four hours. Such a 
contract shall serve as a special activitySpecial Event permit, allowing the use of a stage or 
other equipment, and amplified sound, as specified in the contract. 

(e) The city manager may only permit the use of amplified sound in connection with a Special 
Event, and only if the amplified sound is essential to the exercise of a use allowed under this 
chapter, and will benefit the public or enhance the ambiance of the mall.  Every use of 
amplified sound will comply with Chapter  5-9, “Noise,” B.R.C. 1981.  The manager may 
attach such other reasonable conditions on the use of amplified sound as may reduce friction 
among competing uses of the mall or serve the purposes of this chapter.  

4-11-17.  Special Entertainment Permit.  

(a) Special entertainment permits may be issued only for Zones 1, 2, and 4. An applicant for a 
special entertainment permit which is to include any part of Zone 1 shall obtain the written 
consent of the tenant occupying the building in front of which the applicant desires to locate. 

…. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  14Packet Page  139



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

(c) A special entertainment permit is valid for the period and the hours specified in the permit, 
which shall be for reasonable hours and a reasonable period no greater than three one months 
per permit; no fee will be charged for its issuance. Such a permit is not an exclusive license 
for use of the area of the mall designated therein. The manager may attach such other 
reasonable conditions on the use of a special entertainment permit as may reduce friction 
among competing uses of the mall or serve the purposes of this subsection. 

…. 

4-11-18.  General Permit and Lease Requirements.  

(a) The city manager shall not approve a permit or lease application pursuant to this chapter 
unless it complies with the following general design requirements: 

(1) The proposed design conforms with every applicable city code; and 

(2) The proposed design conforms with the applicable design criteria in the City of 
Boulder Downtown Boulder Private Development Guidelines for Architecture and Signs, 
June, 1976. 

(b) A lessee or permittee is responsible forNo person shall fail to maintaining the area within 
and in proximity to the location of the leased premises or permitted location in a neat, clean, 
and hazard-free condition, including, without limitation, disposing of all trash off-site. 

(c) The provisions of Section 4-1-9, “Authority to Deny Issuance of Permits and Licenses,” 
B.R.C. 1981, shall be applicable to this chapter.  In addition, tThe city manager may deny a 
permit, except for a newspaper vending machine permit, if the application does not meet the 
purposes and requirements of this chapter, would violate any law, or the proposed use would 
constitute a physical hazard to the public health, safety, or welfare, or would violate any law. 

4-11-19.  Application Procedures.  

(a) The DMC shall review each mobile vending cart application for a permit or lease in 
accordance with the purposes and requirements of this chapter and recommend to the city 
manager approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the application. This subsection does 
not apply to newspaper vending machine permit applications or applications for daily permits 
other than special activity permits, or applications for advocacy area permits, or to any class 
of permit which the DMC has, by resolution, determined not to review. 

(b) The city manager, after receiving a completed application and if applicable, a 
recommendation from the DMC as provided in subsection (a) of this section, shall determine 
whether each application for a permit or lease meets the purposes and requirements of this 
chapter and, approve with conditions,  or disapprove deny the application. 

…. 

.… 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  15Packet Page  140



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

4-11-22.  Termination of Permits.  

(a) Any permit issued hereunder may be revoked by the city manager under the proceduresas 
prescribed by section 4-1-10, "Revocation of Licenses," B.R.C. 1981, for any violation of this 
chapterlaw, or a breach of a condition in the permit. 

(b) Upon revocation or expiration of any permit, the permittee shall immediately remove all 
structures or improvements from the permit area and restore the area to its condition existing 
prior to issuance of the permit. 

(c) If a permit is revoked, the permittee may not be approvedapply for the same type of permit 
for threeone years after the effective date of the revocation.  Approval of applications 
submitted subsequent to the three year ban are discretionary and subject to the applicant’s 
ability to demonstrate rehabilitation and the likelihood of future permit compliance. 

4-11-23.  Amendments.  

The DMC may recommend amendments to this chapter to the city council. 

Section 2.  Section 4-1-9, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

4-1-9.  Authority to Deny Issuance of Permits and Licenses.  

(a)  The city manager may deny an application for a permit or license under this title upon a 
determination that: 

(1)  The applicant has failed to supply any of the information required on the application; 

(2)  The applicant has provided false information or misrepresented a material fact in 
connection with an application; 

(32)  The applicant has failed to obtain required insurance; 

(43)  The applicant has failed to pay the required license fee; 

(5)  The applicant has, within the past three years from application date, violated a law or 
condition in a license governing the activities permitted by the license; 

(6)  The applicant has previously unlawfully conducted activities that require a permit or 
license without obtaining such permission in advance; 

(7)  The applicant had a city-issued license revoked within the past three years; 

(84)  The applicant is not qualified by experience, training, or education to engage in the 
activity authorized by the license; or 

(95)  The applicant has been finally convicted of an offense and would create danger to 
the public health, safety, or welfare if the applicant were to engage in such offensive 
conduct after the license were issued. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  16Packet Page  141



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

…. 

Section 3.  Section 4-20-11, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

4-20-11.  Mall License and Permit Fees.  

The following fees shall be paid before issuance of a mall building extension, kiosk, mobile 
vending cart, ambulatory vendor, entertainment vending, personal services vending, or animal 
permit, or special activity permit, and rental of advertising space on informational kiosks: 

(a)  For building extension permits, an annual fee of $15.50 per square foot of occupied space; 

(ba)  For kiosk permits, an annual fee to be negotiated by contract with the city manager; 

(cb)  For mobile vending carts, $2,075.00 per year, payable in two equal payments by April 1 
and August 1, or, for substitution or other permits which begin later in the year and are 
prorated, within thirty days of permit approval; 

(dc)  For ambulatory vendor permits, $103.50 per month from May through September, and 
$51.00 per month from October through April;  

(ed)  For any permits requiring use of utilities to be provided by the city, up to a maximum of 
$18.00 per day; 

(fe)  For rental of advertising space on informational kiosks, $975.00 per quarter section per 
year; 

(gf)  For animal permits, $0.00 per permit; 

(hg)  For entertainment vending permits, $14.50 per month; 

(ih)  For personal services vending permits, $103.50 per month from May through September, 
and $51.00 from October through April; and 

(ji)  For a newspaper vending machine permit, $66.50 per year. 

Section 4.  Section 8-6-6, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

8-6-6.  Requirements for Revocable Permits, Short-Term Leases and Long-Term Leases.  

(a)  Purpose and Scope: Public rights-of-way and public easements are held by the City in 
trust for public use to ensure the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the City. The 
city council intends that all decisions regarding the granting of permission to place an 
encroachment into public right-of-way or public easements are legislative in nature. The City 
may determine from time to time at its discretion to issue a revocable permit, short-term lease 
or long-term lease subject to the requirements set forth in this section for certain 
encroachments into public rights-of-way and public easements that do not adversely affect its 
present or future use. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  17Packet Page  142



 

K:\DMAD\o-8016-2nd-1880.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

 

 

…. 

(k)  Mall Permit Required: Nothing in this section shall be deemed to waive or supersede the 
requirement to obtain a license or permit to place structures on the Downtown Boulder Mall, 
as required by chapter 4-11, "Mall Permits and Leases," B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 6.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 18th day of November, 2014. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page  18Packet Page  143



ATTACHMENT B:  MALL ORDINANCE UPDATES – SUMMARY OF 
AMENDMENTS 

 

 

4-11-7 & 4-11-8 “Permits for patio’s and 
building encroachments” 

– moved from Chapter 4-11 “Mall Permits 
and Leases”  to  8-6-6  “Requirements for 
Revocable Permits, Short-Term Leases and 
Long-Term Leases” 
- From P&DS:  After doing some research 
I would recommend removing all sections 
related to “Building Extensions” or 
“Building Ornaments” in Title 4.  In 1997 
Ordinance 5919 created Chapter 8-6 and 
defined the use of revocable permits and 
leases to manage any encroachments in the 
public right-of-way. It appears this 
ordinance also moved the authority to 
review and approve encroachments from 
the DMC to Public Works. As far as I am 
aware we have not approved a Building 
Extension or Building Ornament (as 
defined in Title 4) on the mall since this 
ordinance was adopted. Currently any 
encroachments proposed for the mall 
would be reviewed as a revocable permit or 
lease under Chapter 8-6. See BRC 8-6-3 
and 8-6-6.  Directing all proposed 
encroachments on the mall to the criteria in 
Chapter 8-6 would consolidate and codify 
the policies and practices for managing 
encroachments into the right-of-way, which 
was the objective of Ordinance 5919. 

4-11-2 “Definitions” - The definition of “special activity” was 
changed to reflect the more common 
practice of using the term “special event”.  
This change was implemented throughout 
the chapter.  Other changes to the term 
“special event” include providing that the 
city manager (staff) schedule events rather 
than DMC and removing specific 
requirements for sales conducted as a 
fundraising activity by a nonprofit group.  
“Festive activity” was removed and 
combined with “special event”. 
- Removal of “building extension” and 
“building ornament” because no longer 
applicable to this chapter. 
- added “artist using non-airborne 
mediums” to Ambulatory vendor due to 
health risks with spray paint. 
- Added the term, “encroachment” as 
referenced in 4-11-4(c). 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 19Packet Page  144



ATTACHMENT B:  MALL ORDINANCE UPDATES – SUMMARY OF 
AMENDMENTS 

 

 

4-11-4 “Uses prohibited without a permit” – amended section (c) to only allow 
amplified music on the mall as part of an 
approved special event permit.   
- Repealed 4-11-6 “Amplified Sound 
Permit” to be consistent with the amended 
section above (allowing amplified sound 
permits only as part of a special event). 

4-11-9 “Entertainment Vending Permit” – amended section (d) to allow approval of 
permit for up to one month rather than “3 
continuous days or one month”.   
- From a consistency perspective all 
permits are only approved for one month. 

4-11-12 “Mobile Vending Cart Permit” – Removed ability to locate carts in zone 1.  
There has never been an approval for a cart 
in zone 1.  Zone 1 is right up against a store 
front and requires written consent from 
tenant.   
- Under section (b), changed maximum 
number of carts allowed on mall from 14 to 
13.  The Mall’s capacity is at 13. This is 
due to Mall renovations in 2000. 
- Under section (i), established a more user 
friendly process of renewing vending cart 
permits rather than having to reapply as a 
new vendor. 
- Under section (l), added a requirement 
that permittee provide proof when 
requested of permit.  This will be helpful to 
enforcement. 

4-11-15 “Sidewalk Sales Permits” – removed section (d) which provided 
details about how the applicant could 
determine sub permit eligibility based on 
cost sharing with other permitees and city 
manager made final determination on 
whether the amount was reasonable.  Staff 
does not want to be involved in making 
these business type decisions for permittee. 

4-11-16 “Special Event Permit” – amended section (c) to reflect the current 
practice of approving permits for one 
month rather than three months per permit. 
-amended section (b) to reflect the current 
practice of approving more than six days 
per year to the same person during a 
calendar year.    

4-11-18 “General Permit and Lease 
requirements” 

– clarified in section (c) that the provisions 
of 4-1-9 “Authority to Deny Issuance of 
Permits and Licenses” is applicable to the

Agenda Item 3F     Page  20Packet Page  145



ATTACHMENT B:  MALL ORDINANCE UPDATES – SUMMARY OF 
AMENDMENTS 

 

 

Mall. 
4-11-19 “Application Procedures”   - included monthly permits to the list of 

permits that DMC does not approve.  This 
has been the standard practice and is now 
being reflected in the code. 

4-11-22 “Termination of Permits” – Amended section (c) to provide staff with 
discretion to deny a permit for 3 years 
subsequent to being revoked. 

4-1-9 “Authority to Deny Issuance of 
Permits and Licenses” 

– amended code to provide additional basis 
for denial of permit to include: 
- Providing false information or 
misrepresenting a material fact on 
application; 
- The applicant has within the past three 
years, from application date, violated a law 
or condition in a license governing the 
activities permitted by the license; 
- The applicant has previously unlawfully 
conducted activities that require a permit or 
license without obtaining such permission 
in advance; 
- The applicant had a city issued license 
revoked within the past three years. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  21Packet Page  146



Attachment C – Mall Event Guidelines 
City of Boulder 

PEARL STREET MALL EVENT REGULATIONS                                        
These regulations govern the process for accepting, reviewing, and approving Mall 
Special Event permit applications.  The authority for these regulations is contained in 
Subsection 4-11-19(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Pearl Street Mall Special Event Permits are limited to allow a 
minimum 10 days of non-event activity between permit dates.
During the summer and early fall, staff follows the guideline 
of permitting events every other weekend to maintain a 
balance between providing events for the public and 
maintaining access to retail businesses. 
Required attachments for Application: 

Small Event 
Less than 100 

people 

Large Event  
Over 100 people

 

Proof of non-profit status 
501© letter from IRS OR 
State articles of incorporation 

 
yes 

 
yes 

 
Map indicating: 
*Location of tents/tables/chairs, stage, trash/electrical cords 
*Rally route (if applicable) 
*Base maps are available at our office.   
*Booths must be open on all sides  

 
yes 

 
yes 

 
 
 

Damage Deposits Up to $500 may 
be required 

$500 
 

Insurance Certificate naming the City of Boulder, its employees 
and elected officials, as additional insured.  A general liability 
insurance policy with a combined single limit of $1 million per 
occurrence, and $2 million aggregate.  Separate alcohol service 
liability riders may be required.  
 
The following verbiage must be in the description area of the 
insurance rider: “The City of Boulder, its employees and 
elected officials, are named as an additional insured on 
general liability for (name the event, the date, location).”  
The City will not accept insurance riders if this language 
does not appear. 

 
yes 

 
yes  

 
 
 

Performers Schedule 
Name of group (s) 
Approximate Performance Times 

 
yes 

 
yes  

 
Music or other amplified sound will not commence before 7:00 
a.m. or continue after 12:00 a.m. Amplified sound may be 
limited to a specific time. Compliance with the city’s noise 
regulations as described in city code Chapter  5-9, “Noise” 
B.R.C. 1981.  A copy of the law may be obtained from the City 
of Boulder website at www.bouldercolorado.gov, under Codes 
and Regulations.  
If a complaint is received, the Boulder Police Department may 
respond and a warning and/or summons may be issued to the 
Event Organizer resulting in a requirement that all music, bands 
and amplification be turned down or turned off immediately.  

 
 

 
 

If Electrical is needed (optional) (all electrical cords must be 
taped down during event). No plug strips allowed; Planter/pole 
outlets = 8 amps or 1000 watt limit.  110 OUTLETS ONLY 
Key deposit (optional). Daily rate is set yearly in annual city 
budget. 

$18.00/day in 
2014 

 
 

$200 

$18.00/day in 
2014 

 
 

$200 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  22Packet Page  147



Attachment C – Mall Event Guidelines 
City of Boulder 

PEARL STREET MALL EVENT REGULATIONS                                        
These regulations govern the process for accepting, reviewing, and approving Mall 
Special Event permit applications.  The authority for these regulations is contained in 
Subsection 4-11-19(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Other Information A to Z 
  

 
Amplified Sound 
Hours: 
 
 
 
Banners and Signs: 
 

 Pearl Street Mall, CAGID and DBBID:   Amplified sound permitted 
between the hours of 7:00am to 12:00am midnight. The use of 
amplified sound may be restricted on a case by case basis pursuant to 
the discretion allowed in City Code Chapter 4-11: Mall Permits and 
Leases, BRC. 
 
May not be placed across streets intersecting the Mall.  
No A-Frame Signs.  No chalking or painting on city property, 
including the bricks on the Pearl Street Mall. 
 

Courthouse Lawn: 
 

 Apply to Boulder County:  Sheree Stroud – 303-441-4571; 
sstroud@bouldercounty.org 
 

Damages: 
 

 Provided full cleaning and maintenance are completed to return the 
permitted area to its original state, event deposit will be returned. 
 

Deposits:  Deposits will be cashed by the city upon approval of the application.  
Deposits will be refunded by check 10 days after the event.  Any 
deductions due to failure to comply with these requirements will be 
noted. 
 

Electricity: 
 

 Only 110 outlets are available on the Pearl Street Mall. Cost is per 
day, set annually by the Boulder City Council.  No power strips 
allowed.  Electrical key must be returned to Boulder Parking Services 
front desk within 48 hours after the completion of the event. 
 

Food: 
 
 
Flyers: 

 If food is served, approval is required from the Boulder County Health 
Department: 303-441-1150.  
 
Events will be required to flyer stores/restaurants one week before 
date of event with all pertinent information, including food and 
merchandise sales.  Event organizer must get city staff approval of 
vendor information that will be sent out, prior to releasing it to the 
public. 
 

Mobile Carts: 
 

 Do not set up within 10 feet of mobile vending carts.  Mobile Vending 
Carts must be accommodated and notified of the event’s location in 
writing a minimum of 7 days prior to your event permit date. 
 

No Gaming 
Activities: 
 
Public Restroom 
Cleaning: 
 

 No raffle tickets, games of chance, etc. are allowed on the Mall. 
 
Additional Mall restroom cleanings during a Special Event are 
required.   The current contractual service provider must be hired for a 
fee of $60 per visit, payable to CITY OF BOULDER.  Regularly 
scheduled restroom cleanings will take place at 1:00, 5:00, and 9:00 
PM, and Special Events must pay for additional cleanings at 3:00 PM 
and 7:00 PM, depending upon the event ending time. 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  23Packet Page  148



Attachment C – Mall Event Guidelines 
City of Boulder 

PEARL STREET MALL EVENT REGULATIONS                                        
These regulations govern the process for accepting, reviewing, and approving Mall 
Special Event permit applications.  The authority for these regulations is contained in 
Subsection 4-11-19(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Parking:  No cars/trucks are allowed on the Pearl Street Mall after 10:00 a.m.  Park only in the fire lanes for 
loading/unloading (herringbone pattern on the brick). 
 
Parking Procedures for Special Events 
 
Each special events organization that requires street closure and parking restrictions shall enter into a 
contract with Downtown University Hill Management Division/Parking Services, for the overtime 
hiring of parking officers. 
 
Requests for parking service officers must be made 30 days in advance of the scheduled date of the 
event. The contract shall be completed and returned 2 weeks prior the scheduled date of the event along 
with the required fees. 
 
Without a valid contract in place prior to the scheduled event, DUHMD/PS will not respond to or 
provide services related to the relocation of vehicles located within the closed street. 
 
An event coordinator, who has been approved to hold an event, requiring street closure and parking 
restrictions, will be contacted by Parking Services for the completion of the contract for parking 
officers. It is the discretion of the Assistant Parking Manager to determine the number of parking 
officers assigned to work such an event. 
 
Organizations who sponsor an event shall comply with the specification outlined in the City of Boulder 
Downtown & University Hill Event & Street Closure Application and the Request for Parking Service 
Officer Contract. 
 
Contract specifications for the use of Parking Service Officers: 
 It is the responsibility of the event coordinator to post the required signs at least 72 hours in advance 

in a metered or pay station area. Additionally, other areas require signs to be posted at least 72 hours 
in advance. 
 Each city block shall have no less than six no parking signs and shall be affixed so the sign is visible 

from a parked position. Two of the signs shall be posted at each end of the respective block. The signs 
shall be attached to either permanent posts, (meter posts or sign posts) or removable posts such as 
wooden or metal stakes or similar material. No signs shall be located or attached to pay station kiosk 
or traffic control device. Signs shall be affixed to their respective posts by plastic ties or wire. No 
signs shall be taped to any object. 
 Once posted it is the responsibility of the event staff to maintain the signage. (DUHMD/PS 

recommends that the event staff check signage at least twice each day and if possible, take photos or 
video of the posted signs.) 
 All vehicles that remain in a closed area after the required signs have been posted will be relocated. 

Costs associated with the relocation of vehicles are the responsibility of the event coordinator. 
Relocation fees are determined by the tow company at the rate of $70.00 for a single axle and $110.00 
for dollied vehicle. 
 The assigned parking service officer and/or the tow company will provide the event coordinator with 

a list of vehicles relocated and there location. 
 Parking service officers are only hired to issue citations for parking violations and coordinate the 

relocation of vehicles. 
 Costs associated for the use of Parking Services are based on budgetary considerations, which are 

evaluated annually. Current charges are $50.00 per hour at a minimum of three hours for each parking 
officer hired. Additionally costs include a vehicle fee of $20.00 and a 10% administrative fee. Events 
occurring on a recognized holiday will be charged at the rate of $100.00 per hour at a minimum of 
three hours for each parking officer hired along with the vehicle fee and administrative fee. 
 Cancellation of a contract with less than 72 hours notice will result in an additional cost of 10% of the 

total amount due.  Cancellation of a contract with less than 24 hours notice will result in an additional 
cost of 100% of the total amount due. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  24Packet Page  149



Attachment C – Mall Event Guidelines 
City of Boulder 

PEARL STREET MALL EVENT REGULATIONS                                        
These regulations govern the process for accepting, reviewing, and approving Mall 
Special Event permit applications.  The authority for these regulations is contained in 
Subsection 4-11-19(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

 
Porta-Lets: 
 

  
If event attendance is over 1000 people per day, and/or alcohol   service has been 
permitted, porta-lets will be required.   
 

Sales Tax: 
 

 Call the City of Boulder Sales Tax Office to determine these requirements.  303-441-
3050.  
Sales and Admissions Tax Licenses 
 
Any charges for entrance into events are subject to the City’s admissions tax and any 
sale of tangible personal property is subject to the City’s sales tax.  The event 
organizer is responsible for the collection of sales and admissions tax even if the tax 
is collected by vendors unless the tax department authorizes self-pay by a licensed 
vendor.  Call the City’s Tax Department (303-441-4026) for licensing information 
and procedures for collection and remittance of tax.  Promoters must be in good 
standing with City Sales Tax prior to approval of this permit application. 
 
 

Teardown & Trash 
Removal: 
 

 Must be completed by midnight of the final day of the event. 
Organizer is responsible for removing ALL event trash/recycling/compost from the 
area or fees will be assessed to the security deposit. 
 

Tents & Fire Code 
Compliance:  
 

 A permit is required to erect and use a tent in excess of 20 Ft. x 20 Ft. feet or a 
canopy in excess of 400 square feet or a canopy in excess of 400 square feet if the 
perimeter is open for at least 75%. A canopy with 100% of the perimeter open 
requires a permit in excess of 700' square feet. Please contact Planning and 
Development Services, located at 1739 Broadway on the third floor for a permit 
application. A representative from the Boulder Fire Department will conduct the 
physical inspection of the tent/canopy prior to use. Should you have any questions, 
please contact Boulder Fire Department special events chief @ 303.441.4356. 

 
Use sand bags to tie down tents; water-filled barrels must not be emptied onto the 
Mall or adjacent streets; use a sewer drain only. 

 
Vendor inventory must be stored under tables, not behind tents. 
 
Tents must be open on all sides, especially on the south side of the mall to allow 
Mall merchants to be accessible through vendor tents. 
  

Trash and Recycling: 
City trash cans are 
not to be covered 
during events. 

 You are required to recycle during your event. Zero waste events are strongly 
encouraged.  Call the Local Environmental Action Division at 303-441-1878 if you 
have additional questions.  Events will not be approved if an authorized recycling 
plan is not attached to this permit application. 
   
Attach a copy of the approved plan to this application. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page  25Packet Page  150



Attachment C – Mall Event Guidelines 
City of Boulder 

PEARL STREET MALL EVENT REGULATIONS                                        
These regulations govern the process for accepting, reviewing, and approving Mall 
Special Event permit applications.  The authority for these regulations is contained in 
Subsection 4-11-19(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

 
 
You will also be required to comply with Boulder County’s Storm water Best 
Practices http://www.bouldercounty.org/env/water/pages/stormwater.aspx 
 
 
By county ordinance, it is a crime to place any foreign substance whether solid or 
liquid into any body of water or watercourse. 
 

Agenda Item 3F     - Page 26Packet Page  151

lewia1
Cross-Out



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 
No. 8012 authorizing and directing the acquisition of property located along the 
Wonderland Creek corridor between Winding Trail Drive and Foothills Parkway, by 
purchase or eminent domain proceedings, for the construction of the Wonderland Creek 
Greenways Improvement Project. 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works  
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
Bob Harberg, Principal Engineer - Utilities 
Annie Noble, Flood and Greenways Engineering Coordinator 
Kurt Bauer, Engineering Project Manager 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The city is in the process of designing a Greenways improvement project along 
Wonderland Creek from Foothills Parkway to Winding Trail Drive. The project will 
include extending the multi-use path along Wonderland Creek, providing three new 
pedestrian and bicycle underpasses, and constructing flood mitigation along the project 
reach. The September 2013 flood event resulted in substantial damages along 
Wonderland Creek, and this Greenways project will help mitigate future flood risks.  
 
Construction of the project requires the purchase of numerous temporary and permanent 
easements. The project has received $2.9 million in federal grant money which has a 
deadline of June 30, 2015 to advertise for construction. In order to avoid losing federal 
funds, the city must acquire all of the necessary easements prior to advertising the project 
for construction. The city has begun to purchase the required easements and so far has no 
indication of unwilling sellers. However, if the city is not able to acquire all of the 
easements by the required deadline, the project and federal funding will be jeopardized. 
Due to the lengthy process associated with eminent domain proceedings, staff is 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  1Packet Page  152



requesting council approval in advance in case the city must acquire the remaining 
easements through eminent domain. City Council will be presented with a second reading 
of the proposed ordinance at a public hearing scheduled for Dec. 16, 2014. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance 8012 authorizing and directing the acquisition of property 
located along the Wonderland Creek corridor between Winding Trail Drive and Foothills 
Parkway, by purchase or eminent domain proceedings, for the construction of the 
Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project. 

 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – The Wonderland Creek channel between Foothills Parkway and 

Winding Trail Drive is inadequate to convey stormwater resulting from major storms.  
The September 2013 flood resulted in substantial flood damage along a portion of 
Wonderland Creek within the project corridor. This project will provide flood 
mitigation along the project reach and in neighborhoods such as Winding Trail and 
Kings Ridge, reducing the risk to life and property and disruptions to businesses.   

• Environmental - The proposed multi-use path would help reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions by promoting non-motorized transportation. Reducing vehicle miles 
traveled helps meet the goals of the Transportation Master Plan and Climate 
Commitment. Use of the trail by commuters will also help reduce dependency on oil 
and other natural resources. Other project objectives include water quality and habitat 
improvements and mitigation of the environmental damages associated with flooding.    

• Social - The proposed multi-use path would provide a connection to the rest of the 
city’s path system, including a safe railroad crossing that can be used by all members 
of the community. The flood mitigation measures would reduce the risk to life and 
damage to property along a portion of Wonderland Creek, including an assisted living 
facility.    

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal – The total cost for this project is estimated to be $21 million. Federal 

Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) funding has been granted for this project 
in two phases, for a total of $2.9 million. The city’s contribution is being funded 
through the Flood and Greenways Capital Improvement Program (CIP). Funding was 
initially approved by City Council as part of the 2014-2019 CIP and was 
subsequently changed in late 2013, when funds previously allocated for the 
Wonderland Creek project were used for flood recovery efforts.  While staff 
anticipates that FEMA will reimburse some of these funds, the timing of the 
reimbursement is uncertain. As a result, the current CIP shows $16 million in bonds 
for the Wonderland Creek project. About $2.1 million in funding is also provided by 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  2Packet Page  153

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/17165�


the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District (UDFCD). Property acquisition 
associated with this project is estimated to cost approximately $275,000. 

• Staff time – Staff time for this project is included in the current work plan.   
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Staff has prepared two separate Community and Environmental Assessment Process 
(CEAP) reports, one for the reach from Foothills Parkway to the Diagonal Highway and 
one for the reach from the Diagonal Highway to Winding Trail Drive. The Greenways 
Advisory Committee unanimously recommended approval of the Wonderland Creek 
Foothills Parkway to Diagonal Highway CEAP on Aug. 31, 2010 and unanimously 
approved the Wonderland Creek Diagonal Highway to Winding Trail Drive CEAP on 
Jan. 10, 2013. The Greenways Advisory Committee is comprised of representatives of six 
advisory boards that have an interest in the Greenways Program. The CEAPs were 
provided to all of the members of the six advisory boards for review and comment. Both 
CEAPs were also accepted by council. 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
An open house was conducted on Jan. 14, 2010 for the Wonderland Creek Foothills 
Parkway to Diagonal Highway project. Staff also conducted a meeting for the Boulders at 
Talisman Homeowners’ Association (representing 104 units) on Feb. 16, 2010. An open 
house was conducted on Oct. 11, 2012 for the Wonderland Creek Diagonal Highway to 
Winding Trail Drive project. An open house was held on Aug. 25, 2014 to present the 
project design to the public. Onsite meetings were also held with all of the property 
management agencies and homeowners’ associations affected by the project. The 
majority of comments received at the meetings favored all aspects of the project. Some 
comments noted concerns with trail crossing locations and the screening of project 
features. The project team has responded with the reason for the proposed trail crossing 
locations and is working to resolve screening issues with stakeholders. Residents that 
were impacted by the September 2013 flood, including those located in the Winding Trail 
and Kings Ridge neighborhoods, have expressed great interest in completing this flood 
mitigation project.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The flood mitigation aspects of the Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project 
were identified in the Fourmile Canyon Creek and Wonderland Creek Flood Mitigation 
Final Plan, which was approved by City Council on Nov. 10, 2009. The multi-use path 
and underpass components of the project are shown in the Greenways Master Plan and 
the Transportation Master Plan.   
 
The September 2013 flood event resulted in substantial damages along Wonderland 
Creek, including damage to multifamily units located at 28th Street and Winding Trail 
Drive (Birchwood Condominiums) and in the King’s Ridge neighborhood. This 
Greenways project will provide 100-year flood conveyance capacity throughout the 
project reach, reducing the risk of flooding for 130 structures and 583 dwelling units.  
The project will also separate the creek flows from the Boulder and White Rock irrigation 
ditches, mitigating the flood risk in the King’s Ridge neighborhood.   

Agenda Item 5A     Page  3Packet Page  154

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/11369�
https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/11369�
https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/11366�


 
The project will reduce flood risk and extend and enhance the multi-use path system from 
Foothills Parkway to Winding Trail Drive. The project includes: 
 
• Providing three bicycle and pedestrian underpasses at the BNSF railroad, Kalmia 

Avenue, and 28th Street;  
• Extending the multi-use path system from Foothills Parkway to 30th Street; and  
• Providing channel improvements along the project corridor.  
 
Two separate CEAPs have been prepared and accepted, one for the reach from Foothills 
Parkway to the Diagonal Highway and one for the reach from the Diagonal Highway to 
Winding Trail. A CEAP was prepared in 2010 for the reach from Foothills Parkway to 
30th Street and in 2013 for the reach from the Diagonal Highway to Winding Trail Drive.  
Both CEAPs were accepted by City Council. The city selected a consultant team in 2012 
and is currently working on final design of the project elements. The project is estimated 
to cost $21 million (including the costs associated with property acquisition) and has 
received a total of $2.9 million in federal TIP funding, with the remainder being funded 
by the Flood and Greenways CIP and the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District.  
Attachment B shows the project location.    
 
ANALYSIS 
In order to complete the Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project, the city 
needs to secure 44 easements (14 permanent and 30 temporary) from 15 different 
property owners, including five homeowners’ associations. The federal grant requires the 
project to be advertised for construction by the end of June 2015, and the city will need to 
acquire all of the necessary easements prior to advertising the project for construction.   
 
The federal grant requires development and approval of right of way plans prior to 
acquiring any easements. The right of way plans for the project segment from Foothills 
Parkway to the Diagonal Highway were approved through the federal process in June 
2013 and the right of way plans for the segment from the Diagonal Highway to Winding 
Trail Drive were approved in June 2014. The federal grant also stipulates a specific 
process for property acquisition. The city has hired Western States Land Services, Inc. to 
assist in this acquisition process, which includes:  
  
• Determining fair market value through an appraisal process; 
• Presenting an offer of fair market value to each property owner; and  
• Presenting any counter offers to the city for consideration. 

 
The average size of the permanent easements required for the project is 3,900 square feet, 
with an average cost of approximately $16,000. There is no requirement to purchase 
structures. As of Nov. 24, 2014, Western States, on behalf of the city, has secured nine 
permanent easements and 11 temporary easements from six property owners. In addition, 
the following five permanent and five temporary easements are very close to closing: 
 
• RE-2, RE2A, owned by BNSF Railway; 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  4Packet Page  155



• PE-1, TE-1, owned by the University Corporation for Atmospheric Research; 
• TE-5, owned by the Housing Authority of the City of Boulder; 
• PE-3Rev, PE-3A, TE-3, TE-3A, TE-3B, owned by the Hayden Place Owners 

Association. 
 
Attachment C presents a tabular and graphical summary of the easements that will need 
to be secured to complete the project, including the status of the purchasing process.  
Attachment D presents the legal descriptions of these easements.   
 
Although the city currently does not have any indication that there may be unwilling 
sellers of the easements necessary to construct the project, staff recommends City 
Council approval to use eminent domain, if needed, to protect the project and its federal 
funding. Attachment A presents the proposed ordinance authorizing acquisition of right 
of way property necessary for the Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project by 
purchase or eminent domain proceedings. The city will continue to negotiate in good 
faith with those property owners from whom easements have not yet been secured, and 
the city does not intend to initiate any condemnation action unless it has exhausted efforts 
at negotiation. In order to ensure all easements are secured by the federal grant deadline, 
approval to use eminent domain would be required no later than Jan. 1, 2015.     
 
Alternatives to condemnation of the remaining easements needed to advance this project, 
if negotiations with any property owner fail, are shown below. 
 
1. Modify the project design to accommodate any missing easements. This option would 

be difficult, as considerable effort has been made during the design process to 
minimize the need to purchase easements. Modification of the design will therefore 
compromise the objectives of the project, including possible reduction in the flood 
mitigation and/or multi-use path enhancements. In addition, the federal grant requires 
specific project elements be constructed, including path connections and pedestrian 
and bicycle underpasses.  
  

2. Abandon the project and forfeit the federal funds. Failure to fulfill the grant 
stipulations could jeopardize future TIP funding opportunities for the city. 

 
ATTACHMENTS  
A: Proposed Ordinance 
B: Project Location Map 
C: Ownership Tabulation and Right-of-Way Exhibits 
D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  5Packet Page  156



 
ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE 
ACQUISITION OF RIGHT OF WAY PROPERTY LOCATED ALONG 
WONDERLAND CREEK FROM FOOTHILLS PARKWAY TO 
WINDING TRAIL BY PURCHASE OR EMINENT DOMAIN 
PROCEEDINGS, FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE WONDERLAND 
CREEK GREENWAYS IMPROVEMENT PROJECT. 

 

WHEREAS THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

FINDS AND RECITES THAT: 

A. The city has adopted the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, the purpose of 
which is to protect and promote the public health, safety and welfare.  Providing for appropriate 
trailway, drainage and utility systems is central to policies and goals of the Plan, including but 
not limited to those related to economic sustainability, a multimodal transportation system, 
recreation, environmental protection, flood control, stormwater drainage, water quality, and the 
city’s ecological objectives. 

B. The Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project (the “Project”) has been 
identified in the Greenways Master Plan (“GMP” 2011), the Transportation Master Plan (“TMP” 
2008), the Fourmile Canyon Creek and Wonderland Creek Major Drainageway Planning Final 
Plan (“Final Plan” 2011), the Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project Foothills 
Parkway to Diagonal Highway Community Environmental Assessment Process (“CEAP” 2010), 
and the Wonderland Creek Diagonal Highway to Winding Trail Community Environmental 
Assessment Process (“CEAP” 2012). 

C. The Project is funded through the Stormwater and Flood Management Utility and 
the Tributary Greenways capital improvements programs (“CIP” 2015-2020) which includes 
funding from the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District and the Federal Transportation 
Improvement Program.  The total estimated project cost is $21 million dollars. 

D. The acquisition of certain rights of way described in Attachments C and D is 
necessary for the construction of the Project from Foothills Parkway to Winding Trail.  The 
construction of the Project will accomplish a number of important public purposes, including: 

1) Mitigation of flooding along the Project reach during a 100-year storm event; 

2) Construction of a multi-use path along the creek corridor; and  

3) Enhancement of traveler safety and traffic management by providing grade 
separated multi-use underpasses at the Burlington Northern and Sante Fe  
Railroad, Kalmia Avenue, and 28th Street. 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page  6Packet Page  157



E. Council finds that the acquisition of interest in the property described in 
Attachments C and D is necessary for the construction of the Wonderland Creek Greenways 
Improvement Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

 Section1. City Council authorizes the city manager and/or the city manager’s designee 

and agents to formally negotiate for the acquisition of the property described in Attachments C 

and D or any part thereof.  Council authorizes the acquisitions of such property as easements.   

Section 2. City Council authorizes the acquisition of the property or properties described 

herein for the city by the city manager and the city attorney and/or his or her designee by the 

exercise of the city’s power of eminent domain should negotiations for the acquisition of the 

property interests not be successful, and further authorizes the initiation of condemnation 

proceedings to acquire the above-designated property for the city. 

Section 3. City Council adopts the findings and recitals set forth above into this ordinance 

by this ordinance.  City Council deems this ordinance necessary to protect the public health, 

safety, and welfare of the residents of the city. 

Section 4.  City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page  7Packet Page  158



INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this ____ day of __________, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 2014. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 

 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A     Page  8Packet Page  159



Diagonal Highway 

Fo
ot

hi
lls

 P
ar

kw
ay

 

Iris Avenue 

Kalmia Avenue 

28
th

 tr
ee

t 

Wonderland Creek  
Project Location 

Attachment B: Project Location Map

Agenda Item 5A     Page  9Packet Page  160



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  10Packet Page  161



Easement 
ID

Aquired Area 
(sq. ft.) Owner Address Owner Name Purpose Status

Diagonal Highway to Winding Trail Portion of the Project

PE-1 5,053 2850 Kalmia, Boulder, CO 80301 Boulders Apartments Colorado, LLC          For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path, 
drainage, channel improvements and utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-1 20,081 2850 Kalmia, Boulder, CO 80301 Boulders Apartments Colorado, LLC          For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-1A 16,596 2850 Kalmia, Boulder, CO 80301 Boulders Apartments Colorado, LLC          For the purposes of temporary access for construction. IN PROCESS

TE-1B 5,619 2850 Kalmia, Boulder, CO 80301 Boulders Apartments Colorado, LLC          For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-1C 30 2850 Kalmia, Boulder, CO 80301 Boulders Apartments Colorado, LLC          For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-1D 142 2850 Kalmia, Boulder, CO 80301 Boulders Apartments Colorado, LLC          For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-2 11,020 525 Canyon Blvd., Boulder, CO 80301 Aspen Grove HOA For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-3 9,278 525 Canyon Blvd., Boulder, CO 80301 Aspen Grove HOA For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-4 181 2875 Island Drive, Boulder, CO 80301 Meraly J. Brown   For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-5 1,822 PO Box 79, Boulder, CO 80306 WCT, LLC For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-6 18,668 333 N. Summit St., Toledo, OH 43604 HCR ManorCare Properties, LLC For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-7 1,748 575 Canyon Blvd.,  Boulder, CO 80302 Birchwood Drive Condo Associaiton  For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

PE-7 267 575 Canyon Blvd.,  Boulder, CO 80302 Birchwood Drive Condo Associaiton  For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path, 
drainage, channel improvements and utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-7A 746 575 Canyon Blvd.,  Boulder, CO 80302 Birchwood Drive Condo Associaiton  For the purposes of temporary access, construction of a multi-use path, grading of channel and drainage 
improvements, and modifications to existing utilities.

IN PROCESS

Foothills Parkway to Diagonal Highway Portion of the Project

PE-1 7,234 PO Box 3000, Boulder, CO 80307-3000   University Corporation For Atmospheric Research, a Colorado not-for-profit corp        For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path, 
drainage, channel improvements and utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-1 21,809 PO Box 3000, Boulder, CO 80307-3000   University Corporation For Atmospheric Research, a Colorado not-for-profit corp        For the purposes of temporary access for grading and construction. IN PROCESS

TE-2 15,303 176 E. 5th Street, Room 1120, St. Paul, MN 55101 BNSF Railway Company (Colorado Central Railroad Co) For purposes of abandoning and filling a segment of the Boulder and White Rock Ditch. IN PROCESS

TE-2A 8,727 176 E. 5th Street, Room 1120, St. Paul, MN 55101 BNSF Railway Company (Colorado Central Railroad Co) For purposes of abandoning and filling a segment of the Boulder and White Rock Ditch. IN PROCESS

RE-2 12,948 176 E. 5th Street, Room 1120, St. Paul, MN 55101 BNSF Railway Company (Colorado Central Railroad Co) For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path, 
drainage, channel improvements and utilities.

IN PROCESS

RE-2A 8,790 176 E. 5th Street, Room 1120, St. Paul, MN 55101 BNSF Railway Company (Colorado Central Railroad Co) For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of the relocated segment 
of the Boulder and White Rock Ditch and utilities.

IN PROCESS

TE-3 2,634 5545 Juhls Dr., Boulder, CO 80301        Hayden Place Owners Association For purposes of construction of drainage and channel  improvements and multi-use path/irrigation ditch 
maintenance path.

IN PROCESS

TE-3A 6,030 5545 Juhls Dr., Boulder, CO 80301        Hayden Place Owners Association For purposes of construction of drainage and channel  improvements and multi-use path/irrigation ditch 
maintenance path.

IN PROCESS

TE-3B 5,754 5545 Juhls Dr., Boulder, CO 80301        Hayden Place Owners Association For purposes of construction of a multi-use path and drainage and channel improvements and reconstruction 
of a parking lot.

IN PROCESS

PE-3A 32,047 5545 Juhls Dr., Boulder, CO 80301        Hayden Place Owners Association For purposes of construction of a relocated segment of the Boulder and White Rock Ditch including 
permanent placement of the ditch, access, use and maintenance of the ditch.   

IN PROCESS

Attachment C: Ownership Tabulation

Agenda Item 5A     Page  11Packet Page  162



Easement 
ID

Aquired Area 
(sq. ft.) Owner Address Owner Name Purpose Status

PE-3REV 48,843 5545 Juhls Dr., Boulder, CO 80301        Hayden Place Owners Association For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access use and maintenance of a multi-use 
path/irrigation ditch maintenance path  and  drainage and channel improvements.

IN PROCESS

PE-4 19,620 City of Boulder For purposes of construction, relocating, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of the Boulder 
and White Rock Ditch and utilities.

AQUIRED

TE-5 300 4800 North Broadway, Boulder, CO 80304    Housing Authority of the City of Boulder, Colorado a Colorado Housing Authority For purposes of construction of a multi-use path and drainage and channel improvements. IN PROCESS

TE-6REV 3,813 7901 Plateau Road,  Longmont, CO 80503 Cahalan Hayden LLC, a Colorado limited liability company       For purposes of reconstructing a parking lot. AQUIRED

TE-7 371 PO Box 325, Eldorado Springs, CO 80025 The Spring Creek Homeowners Association, Bartlett Management (Angela Bartlet) For purposes of construction of utilities, drainage and channel improvements. AQUIRED

PE-7 1,454 PO Box 325, Eldorado Springs, CO 80025 The Spring Creek Homeowners Association, Bartlett Management (Angela Bartlet) For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of utilities and drainage  
and channel improvements.

AQUIRED

PE-7A 572 PO Box 325, Eldorado Springs, CO 80025 The Spring Creek Homeowners Association, Bartlett Management (Angela Bartlet) For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path. AQUIRED

TE-8A 3,206 2400 28th Street, Boulder, CO 80301 The Boulders Homeowners Association, a Colorado non-profit corporation      For purposes of slope construction. AQUIRED

PE-8A 2,506 2400 28th Street, Boulder, CO 80301 The Boulders Homeowners Association, a Colorado non-profit corporation      For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path and 
channel improvements and utilities

AQUIRED

TE-8 608 2400 28th Street, Boulder, CO 80301 The Boulders Homeowners Association, a Colorado non-profit corporation      For purposes of slope construction. AQUIRED

PE-8 2,809 2400 28th Street, Boulder, CO 80301 The Boulders Homeowners Association, a Colorado non-profit corporation      For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path and 
channel improvements and utilities

AQUIRED

PE-9 13,657 2400 28th Street, Boulder, CO 80301 The Boulders Homeowners Association, a Colorado non-profit corporation      For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path, 
drainage and channel improvements and utilities

AQUIRED

PE-10 397 47th Steet, Suite 220, Boulder, CO 80301   3393 Iris Avenue, LLC, a Colorado limited liabillity company   For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path and 
utilities

AQUIRED

TE-10 2,380 47th Steet, Suite 220, Boulder, CO 80301   3393 Iris Avenue, LLC, a Colorado limited liabillity company   For purposes of construction of a multi-use path. AQUIRED

TE-11REV 4,081 5340 Waterstone Drive, Boulder, CO 80301 3333 Iris Egel, LLLP, a Colorado Limited Liability Limited Partnership For purposes of construction of a multi-use path. AQUIRED

PE-11 923 5340 Waterstone Drive, Boulder, CO 80301 3333 Iris Egel, LLLP, a Colorado Limited Liability Limited Partnership For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path and 
utilities.

AQUIRED

TE-12 1,232 PO Box 9140, Boulder, CO 80301-9140    The Geological Society of America Inc., a Non-profit New York Corporation For purposes of grading for drainage and channel improvements. AQUIRED

TE-13 6,411 PO Box 9140, Boulder, CO 80301-9140    The Geological Society of America Inc., a Non-profit New York Corporation For the purpose of slope construction. AQUIRED

TE-14 2,073 2595 Canyon Blvd., Suite 2030, Boulder, CO 80302   DellaCava Family Limited Liablity Company, a Colorado Limited Liability Company      For the purpose of slope construction of a multi-use path and drainage and channel improvements. AQUIRED

TE-15 3,886 2595 Canyon Blvd., Suite 2030, Boulder, CO 80302   DellaCava Family Limited Liablity Company, a Colorado Limited Liability Company      For purposes of construction of a multi-use path AQUIRED

PE-15 1,565 2595 Canyon Blvd., Suite 2030, Boulder, CO 80302   DellaCava Family Limited Liablity Company, a Colorado Limited Liability Company      For purposes of construction, permanent placement, access, use and maintenance of a multi-use path and 
utilities.

AQUIRED

TE-15A 637 2595 Canyon Blvd., Suite 2030, Boulder, CO 80302   DellaCava Family Limited Liablity Company, a Colorado Limited Liability Company      For purposes of construction of a multi-use path AQUIRED

Attachment C: Ownership Tabulation

Agenda Item 5A     Page  12Packet Page  163



PE-7
TE-7 TE-6

TE-5
TE-4

TE-3

TE-2

TE-1

PE-1

TE-7A

TE-1CTE-1D

TE-1A

TE-1B

Elmer's Twomile Creek

Kalmia Av

Palo Py

28
th 

St

34
th 

St

Diagonal Hy

Loma Pl

Ouray St

Sil
ve

rto
n S

t

Island Dr

Bir
ch

wo
od

 D
r

Big Horn St

Pin
ed

ale
 St

Links Dr

Mo
nte

rey
 Pl

Winding Trail Dr

Ar
thu

r C
t

Rid
ge

wa
y S

t

Ro
un

dtr
ee

 C
t

Pa
se

o D
el 

Pr
ad

o

La
rkw

oo
d C

t

Sta
r L

n

Juniper Av

Ha
ze

lwo
od

 C
t

Penrose Pl

No
ttin

gh
am

 C
t

Lloyd Cr

Nebrina Pl

Maya Pl

30
th 

St

Pa
lisa

de
 D

r

Nogales Ct

34
th 

St

Wonderland Creek 
Easment Status and Type
For Drainage Improvement Project North

0 250 500 750125
Feet

1:3,000

Legend
Easement Aquired

Easement In Process

Wonderland Creek

¯

TE Temporary Easement

PE Permanent Easement

RE Railroad Easement

Attachment C: Right-of-Way Exhibit North

Agenda Item 5A     Page  13Packet Page  164



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5A     Page  14Packet Page  165



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  15Packet Page  166



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  16Packet Page  167



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  17Packet Page  168



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  18Packet Page  169



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  19Packet Page  170



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  20Packet Page  171



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  21Packet Page  172



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  22Packet Page  173



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  23Packet Page  174



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  24Packet Page  175



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  25Packet Page  176



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  26Packet Page  177



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  27Packet Page  178



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  28Packet Page  179



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  29Packet Page  180



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  30Packet Page  181



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  31Packet Page  182



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  32Packet Page  183



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  33Packet Page  184



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  34Packet Page  185



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  35Packet Page  186



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  36Packet Page  187



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  37Packet Page  188



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  38Packet Page  189



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  39Packet Page  190



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  40Packet Page  191



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  41Packet Page  192



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  42Packet Page  193



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  43Packet Page  194



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  44Packet Page  195



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  45Packet Page  196



Attachment D: Legal Descriptions for Outstanding Easements

Agenda Item 5A     Page  46Packet Page  197



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  
 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only two emergency 
ordinances numbered 8020 and 8027 both amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, amending 
Sections 6-16-2 “Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” with Ordinance No. 8020 
extending the time for medical marijuana businesses to convert to recreational marijuana 
businesses from December 31, 2014 to March 31, 2015 and Ordinance No. 8027 amending those 
sections to eliminate the deadline for conversion of those businesses that existed on October 22, 
2013. 
  
 
 
PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Mishawn J. Cook, Licensing and Collection Manager 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

At the council meeting on November 6, 2014, council directed staff to prepare an ordinance 
extending the time for existing medical marijuana businesses to convert to recreational marijuana 
businesses.  Proposed ordinance number 8020 would extend the deadline until March 31, 2015.  
A council member requested that staff prepare an alternative version for introduction and 
adoption on first reading that would eliminate the deadline for conversion.  At the December 2, 
2014 council meeting, council passed both ordinance number 8020 amending the deadline and the 
alternate version, ordinance number 8027 eliminating the deadline on first reading.  This agenda 
item proposed the ordinances for consideration on second reading.   In addition, at the December 
2, 2014 meeting, council directed staff to prepare language striking restrictions on sales of 
merchandise with the name and logo of the medical or recreational marijuana businesses.  The 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page  198



 

versions of ordinances 8020 and 8027 eliminating the merchandising restriction are attached as 
attachments C and D.    
 
At the meeting last October when the issue was raised about council considering changing the 
restrictions on merchandising, council advised the public it would consider the changes to 
merchandising in February, 2015 and a comprehensive review later in the year.   
 
Staff’s recommendation is that council amend the date in ordinance 8020 from March 31, 2015 
to December 31, 2015.   Extending the date for a year allows council to determine the appropriate 
time in its 2015 work plan to do a comprehensive review of the marijuana codes.  Staff 
recommends that such a review be scheduled after June 2015.  That will allow a year to determine 
what of the June 2014 code revisions need to be changed and will be after the 2015 legislative 
session so any changes to the city code necessitated by state law changes can be included.  Staff 
does not recommend that council eliminate the advertising restrictions.   Council carefully 
considered the advertising provisions when they were adopted on November 12, 2013 and 
declined to eliminate them when the recreational marijuana code was amended on June 3, 2014.  
Staff recommends that council provide time for adequate analysis before eliminating those 
provisions.  
 
POTENTIAL MOTIONS 
 
If council chooses to follow staff’s recommendation, council could adopt Ordinance No. 8020 as 
follows: 
 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only emergency 
Ordinance No. 8020, as amended, amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, amending Sections 6-
16-2 “Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” to extend the time for medical marijuana 
businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses from December 31, 2014 to December 
31, 2015. 
 
If council chooses not to follow staff’s recommendation, council could adopt one of the four 
alternative ordinances through a motion as follows: 
 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only emergency 
Ordinance No. 8020 amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, amending Sections 6-16-2 
“Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” to extend the time for medical marijuana 
businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses from December 31, 2014 to March 31, 
2015. 
 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only emergency 
Ordinance No. 8027 amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, amending Sections 6-16-2 
“Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” eliminating the deadline for medical marijuana 
businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page  199



 

Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only emergency 
Ordinance No. 8020 amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, and Chapter 6-18, B.R.C. 1981 
amending Sections 6-16-2 “Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” to extend the time for 
medical marijuana businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses from December 31, 
2014 to March 31, 2015 and amending Sections 6-14-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of 
Medical Marijuana Businesses,” and 6-16-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational 
Marijuana Businesses” to eliminate the restriction on selling certain merchandise. 
 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only emergency 
Ordinance No. 8027 amending Chapter 6-16, B.R.C. 1981, and Chapter 6-18, B.R.C. 1981 
amending Sections 6-16-2 “Definitions,” and 6-16-3 “License Required” eliminating the deadline 
for medical marijuana businesses to convert to recreational marijuana businesses and amending 
Sections 6-14-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses,” and 6-
16-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses” to eliminate the 
restriction on selling certain merchandise. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
On November 6, 2012, voters passed Amendment 64 to the Colorado Constitution, legalizing 
recreational marijuana.   On November 12, 2013, council passed ordinance number 7930 adding 
Chapter 6-16 to the Boulder Revised Code regulating recreational marijuana in Boulder.  
Ordinance 7930 allowed only medical marijuana businesses licensed or who had filed to be 
licensed by October 20, 2013 to convert to recreational businesses.   Ordinance 7930 also 
exempted existing medical marijuana businesses from some of the separation requirements 
imposed on new recreational marijuana businesses.  Until June 1, 2014, only existing medical 
marijuana businesses were permitted to file for recreational marijuana licenses.  Ordinance 7930 
also restricted recreational marijuana businesses from selling any merchandise with the business 
logo.   Boulder County Health recommended this restriction to help limit the impact of 
recreational marijuana on youth.   
 
On June 3, 2014, council passed ordinance number 7970 amending Chapters 6-14 and 6-16.  The 
main purpose for ordinance number 7970 was to address issues identified with the medical 
marijuana and recreational marijuana code.  In the original proposed ordinance, staff 
recommended that the ability for existing medical marijuana businesses to convert terminated as 
of May 31, 2014.  The reason for the recommendation was that as of June 1, 2014, individuals 
not holding medical marijuana licenses could apply for recreational marijuana licenses.  The 
application requirements are different for new as compared to converted or co-located 
recreational marijuana businesses.  To avoid confusion, staff recommended that as of June 1, 
2014 all businesses be subject to the same requirements.  Council amended the proposed 
ordinance to impose a cut off of December 31, 2014.  The proposed ordinances would extend 
that date until March 31, 2015 or eliminate it completely. 
 
In June 2014 council was urged by a few members of the industry to eliminate the advertising 
limitations.  Council rejected this proposal. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page  200



 

ANALYSIS 
 
Sixty-two medical marijuana businesses were eligible for conversion.  The conversion does not 
affect the six marijuana infused product businesses (MIPs).  MIPs are wholesale sellers.  
Accordingly there is no difference if their products are distributed to recreational or medical 
dispensaries.   Accordingly, Ordinance 7930 licensed all MIPs in Chapter 6-16 only, rather than 
under both Chapters 6-14 and 6-16.  They were all converted automatically without any need for 
an application.  The remaining 56 medical marijuana businesses are cultivation facilities or retail 
centers of which 35 filed to convert or co-locate.  That leaves 21 medical marijuana businesses 
that have not yet filed an application to convert or co-locate.  Staff has contacted each of these 
businesses to remind them of the December 31st deadline and to learn if any of the businesses 
planned to convert or co-locate.  Four applications for conversion are pending.  Eight businesses 
are ineligible, either because of their location or because they already own a recreational 
marijuana business.  One has informed staff that they are primarily interested in medical 
marijuana so they do not plan to convert.  Three have informed staff that they will file for 
conversion by the end of December.  Thus, if those three businesses file, there will be only five 
businesses affected by this legislation. 
 
The sale of recreational marijuana became legal on January 1, 2014.  Most businesses did not 
convert or co-locate immediately.  Only existing medical marijuana businesses were allowed to 
grow or sell recreational marijuana before June 1, 2014.  Thus, the vast majority of the business 
activity in recreational marijuana did not occur until the third quarter of 2014.  Because of the 
limited number of businesses reporting, sales tax staff was unable to report recreational sales tax 
revenue until the September revenue reporting period.  Reporting earlier could have violated 
state law by identifying the sales tax revenue of individual businesses.  The results show a 
significant increase over medical marijuana sales tax revenue, which itself saw a significant 
increase compared to the similar period in 2013.  Year to date sales tax revenue for medical 
marijuana through September 30, 2014 was $849,863.  This represented a 20.19% increase over 
the first three quarters of 2013.  Recreational marijuana sales tax revenue was $912,280 or 7% 
more than medical marijuana sales tax.   Of course, the tax on recreational marijuana is higher 
than the tax on medical marijuana.  It is fair to say, however, that these preliminary numbers 
demonstrate some level of vitality in the recreational marijuana business.  
 
The justification for eliminating the advertising limitations is that these restrictions put Boulder 
recreational marijuana businesses at a competitive disadvantage with similar businesses outside 
of Boulder.  However, there was also mention that some council members do not want to allow 
such merchandise that is in child sizes or appeals to minors.  The issue is further complicated by 
the state law restrictions on what a marijuana business can sell.  Claims were also made that the 
businesses are being harmed because they cannot obtain trademarks on their logos or copyrights 
on advertising.  Since federal law prevents trademarks or copyrights for marijuana products of 
advertising, this assertion had no basis in fact.  Staff recommends that council consider allowing 
for a more thorough analysis of effect of changing the rules regarding selling of merchandise to 
be better able to weigh the policy considerations at issue with respect to this proposed change.  
Staff’s recommendation is that council delay any change until the third quarter of 2015 to allow 
for a detailed analysis of a full year’s worth of data on recreational marijuana sales and their 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page  201



 

impacts and learn of the changes to the marijuana laws at the state level that will be adopted 
during the 2015 legislative session. 
 
Following is a chart of the attached ordinances and their contents: 
 
  Passed on first 

reading 
Date to convert or co-
locate 

Removes restriction on 
advertising 

A Ord 8020 December 2 March 31, 2015 No 
B Ord 8027 December 2 Removed No 
C Ord 8020-a n/a March 31, 2015 Yes 
D Ord 8027-a n/a Removed Yes 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 8020 
Attachment B – Proposed Ordinance 8027 
Attachment C – Proposed Ordinance 8020-a 
Attachment D – Proposed Ordinance 8027-a 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page  202



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page  203



 

K:\ccco\o-8020-2nd-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8020 

 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING 
CHAPTER 6-16. B.R.C. 1981, AMENDING SECTIONS 
6-16-2 “DEFINITIONS,” AND 6-16-3 “LICENSE 
REQUIRED” TO EXTEND THE TIME FOR MEDICAL 
MARIJUANA BUSINESSES TO CONVERT TO 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES FROM 
DECEMBER 31, 2014 TO MARCH 31, 2015.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 6-16-2 “Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-2.  Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise: 

* * * 

"Co-located marijuana business" means a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility that held a license from the city on October 22, 2013, and applied for co-location by 
December 31, 2014March 31, 2015, that is permitted by the owner of the building and all 
applicable laws, to divide the licensed medical marijuana business to allow for both a medical 
and a recreational marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility as separate business premises 
with separate licenses from the city within the same footprint and owned by the same person as 
the medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility. The licensees with an ownership or 
financial interest of either part of a co-located marijuana business may not be changed to be 
different from the other. 

* * * 

 Section 2.  Section 6-16-3 “License Required,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-3. License Required.  

* * * 

(f)  Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business. A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business. A 
license for a medical marijuana business that was licensed, open, and operating on 
October 22, 2013, or that had submitted a complete application for a medical marijuana 
business on October 22, 2013, may be converted to the same type of marijuana 
establishment by complying with the requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a 
marijuana license and paying the application fee specified in Section 4-20-67, 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 8020

Packet Page  204



 

K:\ccco\o-8020-2nd-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981, if it makes application for the 
conversion by December 31, 2014March 31, 2015. The license for the medical marijuana 
business must be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana business 
license will be issued. The term of the license shall be the same as the existing medical 
marijuana business license. 

(g)  Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business Within the Footprint of the Medical 
Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility may apply for a co-located marijuana business license by December 31, 
2014March 31, 2015, by submitting an application for a co-located marijuana business on 
forms approved by the city. At a minimum, the application form shall include a 
modification of the existing medical marijuana business to conform to the new footprint 
of the medical marijuana portion of the co-located marijuana business and all components 
of the application described in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, determined 
applicable by the city manager for the recreational marijuana portion of the co-located 
marijuana business, and paying the modification of premises fee and operating fee 
specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981. The 
license for the medical marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the co-
located marijuana business license will be issued. The term of the co-located marijuana 
business license shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana business license. For 
purposes of separation from other marijuana businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this 
chapter, the co-located medical and recreational marijuana business shall be considered 
one marijuana business. No co-located medical and recreational marijuana business may 
be sold separately from the other and must maintain identical ownership at all times. 

* * * 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition.  

Section 5. The city council finds this is necessary for the immediate preservation of 

public peace, health, safety, and property justifying the adoption of this ordinance as an 

emergency measure. Emergency adoption of this ordinance is necessary to prevent an 

interruption in the application process. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 

passage at second reading.    

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 8020

Packet Page  205



 

K:\ccco\o-8020-2nd-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 8020

Packet Page  206



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page  207



 

K:\ccco\o-8027-2nd-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8027 

 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING 
CHAPTER 6-16. B.R.C. 1981, AMENDING SECTIONS 
6-16-2 “DEFINITIONS,” AND 6-16-3 “LICENSE 
REQUIRED” TO ELIMINATE THE DEADLINE FOR 
MEDICAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES EXISTING ON 
OCTOBER 22, 2013 TO CONVERT TO 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 6-16-2 “Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-2.  Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise: 

* * * 

"Co-located marijuana business" means a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility that held a license from the city on October 22, 2013,  and applied for co-location by 
December 31, 2014, that is permitted by the owner of the building and all applicable laws, to 
divide the licensed medical marijuana business to allow for both a medical and a recreational 
marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility as separate business premises with separate 
licenses from the city within the same footprint and owned by the same person as the medical 
marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility. The licensees with an ownership or financial 
interest of either part of a co-located marijuana business may not be changed to be different from 
the other. 

* * * 

 Section 2.  Section 6-16-3 “License Required,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-3. License Required.  

* * * 

(f)  Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business. A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business. A 
license for a medical marijuana business that was licensed, open, and operating on 
October 22, 2013, or that had submitted a complete application for a medical marijuana 
business on October 22, 2013, may be converted to the same type of marijuana 
establishment by complying with the requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a 
marijuana license and paying the application fee specified in Section 4-20-67, 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance 8027

Packet Page  208



 

K:\ccco\o-8027-2nd-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981, if it makes application for the 
conversion by December 31, 2014. The license for the medical marijuana business must 
be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana business license will be 
issued. The term of the license shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana 
business license. 

(g)  Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business Within the Footprint of the Medical 
Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility may apply for a co-located marijuana business license by December 31, 2014, by 
submitting an application for a co-located marijuana business on forms approved by the 
city. At a minimum, the application form shall include a modification of the existing 
medical marijuana business to conform to the new footprint of the medical marijuana 
portion of the co-located marijuana business and all components of the application 
described in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, determined applicable by the 
city manager for the recreational marijuana portion of the co-located marijuana business, 
and paying the modification of premises fee and operating fee specified in Section 4-20-
67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981. The license for the medical 
marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the co-located marijuana 
business license will be issued. The term of the co-located marijuana business license 
shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana business license. For purposes of 
separation from other marijuana businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this chapter, the 
co-located medical and recreational marijuana business shall be considered one marijuana 
business. No co-located medical and recreational marijuana business may be sold 
separately from the other and must maintain identical ownership at all times. 

* * * 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition.  

Section 5. The city council finds this is necessary for the immediate preservation of 

public peace, health, safety, and property justifying the adoption of this ordinance as an 

emergency measure. Emergency adoption of this ordinance is necessary to prevent an 

interruption in the application process. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 

passage at second reading.    

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance 8027

Packet Page  209



 

K:\ccco\o-8027-2nd-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of December, 2014. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance 8027

Packet Page  210



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page  211



 

K:\ccco\o-8020 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8020 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6-16. 
B.R.C. 1981, AMENDING SECTIONS 6-16-2 “DEFINITIONS,” 
AND 6-16-3 “LICENSE REQUIRED” TO EXTEND THE TIME 
FOR MEDICAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES TO CONVERT 
TO RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES FROM 
DECEMBER 31, 2014 TO MARCH 31, 2015 AND AMENDING 
SECTIONS 6-14-8 “REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO 
OPERATION OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES” 
AND 6-16-8 “REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO OPERATION 
OF RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES” TO 
ELIMINATE THE RESTRICTION ON SALE OF 
MERCHANDISE WITH THE NAME OR LOGO OF THE 
BUSINESS.   

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 6-16-2 “Definitions,”  B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-2.  Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise: 

* * * 

"Co-located marijuana business" means a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility that held a license from the city on October 22, 2013, and applied for co-location by 
December 31, 2014March 31, 2015, that is permitted by the owner of the building and all 
applicable laws, to divide the licensed medical marijuana business to allow for both a medical 
and a recreational marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility as separate business premises 
with separate licenses from the city within the same footprint and owned by the same person as 
the medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility. The licensees with an ownership or 
financial interest of either part of a co-located marijuana business may not be changed to be 
different from the other. 

* * * 

 Section 2.  Section 6-16-3 “License Required,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-3. License Required.  

* * * 

(f)  Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business. A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business. A 
license for a medical marijuana business that was licensed, open, and operating on 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 8020a

Packet Page  212



 

K:\ccco\o-8020 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

October 22, 2013, or that had submitted a complete application for a medical marijuana 
business on October 22, 2013, may be converted to the same type of marijuana 
establishment by complying with the requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a 
marijuana license and paying the application fee specified in Section 4-20-67, 
"Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981, if it makes application for the 
conversion by December 31, 2014March 31, 2015. The license for the medical marijuana 
business must be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana business 
license will be issued. The term of the license shall be the same as the existing medical 
marijuana business license. 

(g)  Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business Within the Footprint of the Medical 
Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility may apply for a co-located marijuana business license by December 31, 
2014March 31, 2015, by submitting an application for a co-located marijuana business on 
forms approved by the city. At a minimum, the application form shall include a 
modification of the existing medical marijuana business to conform to the new footprint 
of the medical marijuana portion of the co-located marijuana business and all components 
of the application described in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, determined 
applicable by the city manager for the recreational marijuana portion of the co-located 
marijuana business, and paying the modification of premises fee and operating fee 
specified in Section 4-20-67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981. The 
license for the medical marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the co-
located marijuana business license will be issued. The term of the co-located marijuana 
business license shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana business license. For 
purposes of separation from other marijuana businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this 
chapter, the co-located medical and recreational marijuana business shall be considered 
one marijuana business. No co-located medical and recreational marijuana business may 
be sold separately from the other and must maintain identical ownership at all times. 

* * * 

Section 3.  Section 6-14-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana 

Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-14-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  

* * * 

(p)  Advertisement. A medical marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
inconsistent with the medicinal use of medical marijuana. A medical marijuana business 
may not advertise in a manner that is misleading, deceptive, false or is designed to appeal 
to minors. Advertisement that promotes medical marijuana for recreational or any use 
other than for medicinal purposes shall be a violation of this code. The following 
conditions shall apply: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 8020a

Packet Page  213



 

K:\ccco\o-8020 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(1)  Any person licensed as a medical marijuana center shall include in any 
advertisement for medical marijuana or any medical marijuana-infused product the 
following language: "For registered Colorado medical marijuana patients only." 
Provided, however, this language shall not be required to be displayed upon any sign 
identifying a medical marijuana center, as permitted by Subparagraph (2)(A) of this 
section. 

(2)  Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any 
person licensed under this chapter or any other person to advertise any medical 
marijuana or medical marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the 
advertisement is in plain view of or in a place open to the general public, including 
advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor 
general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a 
vehicle; any handheld or other portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet, or flier directly 
handed to any person in a public place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any 
public or private property. The prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply 
to: 

(A)  Any sign located on the same zone lot as a medical marijuana center which 
exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the medical marijuana 
center and which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city 
laws and regulations, which sign includes only the name and address of the 
center; 

(B)  Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 
periodical of general circulation within the city or on the internet; or 

(C)  Any products marked with the name or logo of the licensed medical 
marijuana center, including wearable or non-consumable usable product 
merchandise, packaging in which marijuana is sold, or on medical marijuana 
accessories sold; or  

(DC)  Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 
by a medical marijuana center or a medical marijuana-infused products 
manufacturer. 

(3)  It is an affirmative defense if a medical marijuana business employee provided 
another individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of providing that 
person's name and business affiliation, including, without restriction, title, mailing 
address, email address, and telephone number. 

(4)  No medical marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any 
marijuana or products marked with its name or logo without charge within a 
marijuana business or any place open to the public for the purpose of promotion or 
advertising. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 17

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 8020a

Packet Page  214



 

K:\ccco\o-8020 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(5)  No medical marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any 
coupon or similar writing, electronically or on paper, which purports to allow the 
bearer to exchange the same for any marijuana product, either free or at a discount. 

(6)  No medical marijuana business shall sell, distribute, or provide, or allow the sale, 
distribution, or provision of, products marked with its name or logo, in child sizes, 
designed for the use of minors, or which is misleading, deceptive, false, or appealing 
to minors.other than packaging in which medical marijuana is sold or on medical 
marijuana products. This prohibition shall not prevent employees of the business from 
wearing uniforms with the name or logo while working for the business on the 
business premises. 

Section 4.  Section 6-16-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational 

Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses.  

* * * 

(p)  Advertisement. A recreational marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that 
is misleading, deceptive, false, or designed to appeal to minors.  

The following conditions shall apply: 

(1)  Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any 
person licensed under this chapter or any other person to advertise any recreational 
marijuana or recreational marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the 
advertisement is in plain view of, or in, a place open to the general public, including 
advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor 
general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a 
vehicle; any handheld or other portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet, or flier directly 
handed to any person in a public place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any 
public or private property.  

The prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

(A)  Any sign located on the same zone lot as a recreational marijuana center 
which exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the recreational 
marijuana center and which otherwise complies with this code and any other 
applicable city laws and regulations, which sign includes only the name and 
address of the center; 

(B)  Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 
periodical of general circulation within the city or on the internet;  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 18

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 8020a

Packet Page  215



 

K:\ccco\o-8020 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(C) Any products marked with the name or logo of the licensed recreational 
marijuana center, including wearable or non-consumable usable product 
merchandise, packaging in which marijuana is sold, or on recreational marijuana 
accessories sold; or  

(DC)  Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 
by a recreational marijuana center or a recreational marijuana-infused products 
manufacturer. 

(2)  It is an affirmative defense if a recreational marijuana business employee 
provided another individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of 
providing that person's name and business affiliation, including, without restriction, 
title, mailing address, email address, and telephone number; 

(3)  No marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any marijuana 
or products marked with its name or logo without charge within a marijuana business 
or any place open to the public for the purpose of promotion or advertising; 

(4)  No marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any coupon or 
similar writing, electronically or on paper, which purports to allow the bearer to 
exchange the same for any marijuana product either free or at a discount; and 

(5)  No recreational marijuana business shall sell, distribute, or provide, or allow the 
sale, distribution, or provision of, products marked with its name or logo, other than 
packaging in which marijuana is sold or on recreational marijuana products in child 
sizes, designed for the use of minors, or which is misleading, deceptive, false, or are 
appealing to minors. This prohibition shall not prevent employees of the business 
from wearing uniforms with the name or logo while working for the business on the 
business premises. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 6.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition.  

Section 7. The city council finds this is necessary for the immediate preservation of 

public peace, health, safety, and property justifying the adoption of this ordinance as an 

emergency measure. Emergency adoption of this ordinance is necessary to prevent an 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 19

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 8020a

Packet Page  216



 

K:\ccco\o-8020 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

interruption in the application process. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 

passage at first reading.    

READ ON FIRST READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 20

Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 8020a

Packet Page  217



 

K:\ccco\o-8027 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8027 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6-16. 
B.R.C. 1981, AMENDING SECTIONS 6-16-2 “DEFINITIONS,” 
AND 6-16-3 “LICENSE REQUIRED” TO ELIMINATE THE 
DEADLINE FOR MEDICAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES 
EXISTING ON OCTOBER 22, 2013 TO CONVERT TO 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES AND 
AMENDING SECTIONS 6-14-8 “REQUIREMENTS RELATED 
TO OPERATION OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES” 
AND 6-16-8 “REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO OPERATION 
OF RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA BUSINESSES” TO 
ELIMINATE THE RESTRICTION ON SALE OF 
MERCHANDISE WITH THE NAME OR LOGO OF THE 
BUSINESS.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 6-16-2 “Definitions,”  B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-2.  Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise: 

* * * 

"Co-located marijuana business" means a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility that held a license from the city on October 22, 2013,  and applied for co-location by 
December 31, 2014, that is permitted by the owner of the building and all applicable laws, to 
divide the licensed medical marijuana business to allow for both a medical and a recreational 
marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility as separate business premises with separate 
licenses from the city within the same footprint and owned by the same person as the medical 
marijuana wellness center or cultivation facility. The licensees with an ownership or financial 
interest of either part of a co-located marijuana business may not be changed to be different from 
the other. 

* * * 

 Section 2.  Section 6-16-3 “License Required,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-3. License Required.  

* * * 

(f)  Conversion of Licenses to Different Marijuana Business. A license for a marijuana 
establishment may not be converted to a license for a medical marijuana business. A 
license for a medical marijuana business that was licensed, open, and operating on 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 21

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance 8027a

Packet Page  218



 

K:\ccco\o-8027 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

October 22, 2013, or that had submitted a complete application for a medical marijuana 
business on October 22, 2013, may be converted to the same type of marijuana 
establishment by complying with the requirements of this chapter for a renewal of a 
marijuana license and paying the application fee specified in Section 4-20-67, 
"Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981, if it makes application for the 
conversion by December 31, 2014. The license for the medical marijuana business must 
be surrendered to the city before the recreational marijuana business license will be 
issued. The term of the license shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana 
business license. 

(g)  Conversion to a Co-located Marijuana Business Within the Footprint of the Medical 
Marijuana Business. A licensee of a medical marijuana wellness center or cultivation 
facility may apply for a co-located marijuana business license by December 31, 2014, by 
submitting an application for a co-located marijuana business on forms approved by the 
city. At a minimum, the application form shall include a modification of the existing 
medical marijuana business to conform to the new footprint of the medical marijuana 
portion of the co-located marijuana business and all components of the application 
described in Section 6-16-5, "Application, " B.R.C. 1981, determined applicable by the 
city manager for the recreational marijuana portion of the co-located marijuana business, 
and paying the modification of premises fee and operating fee specified in Section 4-20-
67, "Recreational Marijuana Businesses, " B.R.C. 1981. The license for the medical 
marijuana business must be surrendered to the city before the co-located marijuana 
business license will be issued. The term of the co-located marijuana business license 
shall be the same as the existing medical marijuana business license. For purposes of 
separation from other marijuana businesses in Paragraph 6-16-7(e)(2) of this chapter, the 
co-located medical and recreational marijuana business shall be considered one marijuana 
business. No co-located medical and recreational marijuana business may be sold 
separately from the other and must maintain identical ownership at all times. 

* * * 

Section 3.  Section 6-14-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana 

Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-14-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Medical Marijuana Businesses.  

* * * 

(p)  Advertisement. A medical marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that is 
inconsistent with the medicinal use of medical marijuana. A medical marijuana business 
may not advertise in a manner that is misleading, deceptive, false or is designed to appeal 
to minors. Advertisement that promotes medical marijuana for recreational or any use 
other than for medicinal purposes shall be a violation of this code. The following 
conditions shall apply: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 22

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance 8027a

Packet Page  219



 

K:\ccco\o-8027 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(1)  Any person licensed as a medical marijuana center shall include in any 
advertisement for medical marijuana or any medical marijuana-infused product the 
following language: "For registered Colorado medical marijuana patients only." 
Provided, however, this language shall not be required to be displayed upon any sign 
identifying a medical marijuana center, as permitted by Subparagraph (2)(A) of this 
section. 

(2)  Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any 
person licensed under this chapter or any other person to advertise any medical 
marijuana or medical marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the 
advertisement is in plain view of or in a place open to the general public, including 
advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor 
general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a 
vehicle; any handheld or other portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet, or flier directly 
handed to any person in a public place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any 
public or private property. The prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply 
to: 

(A)  Any sign located on the same zone lot as a medical marijuana center which 
exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the medical marijuana 
center and which otherwise complies with this code and any other applicable city 
laws and regulations, which sign includes only the name and address of the 
center; 

(B)  Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 
periodical of general circulation within the city or on the internet; or 

(C)  Any products marked with the name or logo of the licensed medical 
marijuana center, including wearable or non-consumable usable product 
merchandise, packaging in which marijuana is sold, or on medical marijuana 
accessories sold; or  

(DC)  Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 
by a medical marijuana center or a medical marijuana-infused products 
manufacturer. 

(3)  It is an affirmative defense if a medical marijuana business employee provided 
another individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of providing that 
person's name and business affiliation, including, without restriction, title, mailing 
address, email address, and telephone number. 

(4)  No medical marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any 
marijuana or products marked with its name or logo without charge within a 
marijuana business or any place open to the public for the purpose of promotion or 
advertising. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 23

Attachment - Proposed Ordinance 8027a

Packet Page  220



 

K:\ccco\o-8027 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(5)  No medical marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any 
coupon or similar writing, electronically or on paper, which purports to allow the 
bearer to exchange the same for any marijuana product, either free or at a discount. 

(6)  No medical marijuana business shall sell, distribute, or provide, or allow the sale, 
distribution, or provision of, products marked with its name or logo, in child sizes, 
designed for the use of minors, or which is misleading, deceptive, false, or appealing 
to minors.other than packaging in which medical marijuana is sold or on medical 
marijuana products. This prohibition shall not prevent employees of the business from 
wearing uniforms with the name or logo while working for the business on the 
business premises. 

Section 4.  Section 6-16-8 “Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational 

Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, is amended as follows: 

6-16-8. Requirements Related to Operation of Recreational Marijuana Businesses.  

* * * 

(p)  Advertisement. A recreational marijuana business may not advertise in a manner that 
is misleading, deceptive, false, or designed to appeal to minors.  

The following conditions shall apply: 

(1)  Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, it shall be unlawful for any 
person licensed under this chapter or any other person to advertise any recreational 
marijuana or recreational marijuana-infused product anywhere in the city where the 
advertisement is in plain view of, or in, a place open to the general public, including 
advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor 
general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a 
vehicle; any handheld or other portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet, or flier directly 
handed to any person in a public place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any 
public or private property.  

The prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

(A)  Any sign located on the same zone lot as a recreational marijuana center 
which exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the recreational 
marijuana center and which otherwise complies with this code and any other 
applicable city laws and regulations, which sign includes only the name and 
address of the center; 

(B)  Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 
periodical of general circulation within the city or on the internet;  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 24

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance 8027a

Packet Page  221



 

K:\ccco\o-8027 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(C) Any products marked with the name or logo of the licensed recreational 
marijuana center, including wearable or non-consumable usable product 
merchandise, packaging in which marijuana is sold, or on recreational marijuana 
accessories sold; or 

(DC)  Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 
by a recreational marijuana center or a recreational marijuana-infused products 
manufacturer. 

(2)  It is an affirmative defense if a recreational marijuana business employee 
provided another individual, upon request, a business card for the purpose of 
providing that person's name and business affiliation, including, without restriction, 
title, mailing address, email address, and telephone number; 

(3)  No marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any marijuana 
or products marked with its name or logo without charge within a marijuana business 
or any place open to the public for the purpose of promotion or advertising; 

(4)  No marijuana business shall distribute or allow the distribution of any coupon or 
similar writing, electronically or on paper, which purports to allow the bearer to 
exchange the same for any marijuana product either free or at a discount; and 

(5)  No recreational marijuana business shall sell, distribute, or provide, or allow the 
sale, distribution, or provision of, products marked with its name or logo, other than 
packaging in which marijuana is sold or on recreational marijuana products in child 
sizes, designed for the use of minors, or which is misleading, deceptive, false, or are 
appealing to minors. This prohibition shall not prevent employees of the business 
from wearing uniforms with the name or logo while working for the business on the 
business premises. 

Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 6.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition.  

Section 7. The city council finds this is necessary for the immediate preservation of 

public peace, health, safety, and property justifying the adoption of this ordinance as an 

emergency measure. Emergency adoption of this ordinance is necessary to prevent an 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 25

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance 8027a

Packet Page  222



 

K:\ccco\o-8027 (option a)-2nd rdg-2162.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

interruption in the application process. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon 

passage at first reading.    

READ ON FIRST READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of December, 2014. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 26

Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance 8027a

Packet Page  223



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: Dec. 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE  Motion to accept the City Manager’s recommendation to disburse 
2015 Human Services Fund allocations to community human service agencies.  
 
 
PRESENTERS   
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Karen Rahn, Director,  Human Services Department 
Wendy Schwartz, Human Services Planning and Program Development Manager 
 

  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This memorandum informs City Council of the 2015 Human Services Fund (HSF) 
awards of $2,056,188 to 46 programs administered by 36 community agencies. The HSF 
Advisory Committee (HSFAC) completed funding deliberations in October. The city 
manager approved the recommendations on Nov. 19. 
 
CITY MANAGER PRELIMINARY DECISION 
The City Manager recommends that council accept the funding recommendations 
proposed by the HSFAC and approved by the City Manager, and authorize the City 
Manager to disburse $2,056,188 in HSF funds. 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
The City Manager requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of 
the following motion: 
 
Motion to accept the City Manager’s recommendation to disburse 2015 Human Services 
Fund allocations to community human service agencies.  
 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS  

 Economic: More than $2 million will be allocated for programmatic operating 
expenses to human services agencies serving Boulder residents in 2015. Many 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  1Packet Page  224



services provide support that allows lower-income families and individuals to 
remain housed, employed and productive members of the community.  

 
 Social: HSF funding provides a safety net of basic services, including physical 

and mental health care, emergency shelter, transitional and permanent supportive 
housing, and programming to assist Boulder residents in meeting basic needs and 
achieving self-sufficiency.  HSF support also promotes a system of prevention 
and early intervention services designed to preclude more costly treatment 
services before problems become acute. Residents served by agencies receiving 
HSF funding are primarily diverse, low-income or at-risk populations. 
 

BACKGROUND  
The 2015 allocation represents the twenty-first year of the HSF, established after passage 
of the 0.15 percent sales and use tax in 1992. Beginning in 1992, 40 percent of the funds 
collected through this tax were used to fund human services. In 2009, a ballot initiative 
extended the 0.15 percent sales and use tax indefinitely, and without restriction, to 
continue “to fund, without limitation, fire, police, library, parks, human services and 
other general fund purposes.” The HSF allocations are guided by the Housing and Human 
Services Master Plan (HHSMP), approved by City Council in 2005. The HHSMP 
identifies five priority areas for human services funding through the HSF.  
 
The 2015 funding cycle was the second year using e-CImpact, a regional online grant 
management and application system (GMS) in collaboration with Boulder County, the 
City of Longmont and Foothills United Way. The Human Services Department serves as 
the project leader and systems administrator for the GMS, managing the development and 
ongoing maintenance of the system and providing technical assistance to the funding 
partners and applicants. The GMS fulfills a key objective of the city and its partners, and 
is a goal in the Human Services Master Plan (HSMP) and regional Boulder County 
Human Services Strategic Plan (HSSP) aimed at advancing regional planning and 
coordination. 
 
The shared system allows community nonprofits to apply to one or more funders using 
one online application, and assists funders in aligning their funding processes 
countywide.  The shared online system includes consistent impact areas with community 
outcomes and indicators for all four funders (Attachment A). These impact areas 
incorporate the five priority areas identified in the HSMP. Impact areas will be revised, as 
necessary, to align with priorities in the updated Human Services Strategy, expected to be 
completed in 2015. 
 
Applications to the HSF are made through a competitive Request for Proposals (RFP) 
during the late spring/early summer. The process for deliberations and developing 
recommendations was:  

 technical assistance and trainings for local agencies interested in applying; 
 HSFAC and staff review and analysis of applications; 
 HSFAC interviews with applicant agencies regarding proposals;  
 HSFAC deliberations and recommendations; 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  2Packet Page  225



 preliminary recommendations communicated to applicants; requests for appeals 
considered; and 

 recommendations to city manager. 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
The City of Boulder received funding requests totaling $2,868,368 for 62 programs from 
48 agencies.  $2,056,188 was available for 2015 funding. The competition for funds 
resulted in assessment of proposals and funding decisions based on the established 
criteria. Out of 62 program applications, 44 received less than their requested funding or 
were not funded. Eighteen programs received full requests and seven of those programs 
received increased funding. Attachment B lists the 2015 HSF funding awards approved 
by city manager, and programs not funded, by impact area. Attachment C lists the 2015 
awards in alphabetical order with agency totals for those agencies receiving multiple 
funding awards. 
 
In addition to assessing alignment to the impact areas, outcomes and indicators, the 
HSFAC (Attachment D) evaluated proposals based on technical criteria established in 
the Request for Proposals (RFP), the funding application, and funding guidelines. 
 
NEXT STEPS 

 January, 2015 - Negotiation and execution of contracts with funded agencies 
 July, 2015 - Funded agencies submit mid-year progress reports 
 June, 2015 - RFP released for 2016 fund round 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. 2015 Regional impact areas with community outcomes and indicators 
B. 2015 HSF Awards and requests by impact area 
C. 2015 HSF Awards, alphabetical order 
D.  HSFAC members 

 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  3Packet Page  226



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  4Packet Page  227



ATTACHMENT A: HSF Impact areas and outcomes 

2015 Impact Areas, Outcomes and Indicators                                      Revised June 2014 
 
Impact Area 1: Preparing low-income and at-risk children and youth for success  

A. Outcome: Children are school-ready upon entering kindergarten  

Indicators: 

 Percentage of families with access to quality, and/or affordable, and/or culturally competent 
child care options 

 Percentage of parents acquiring  knowledge and skills to prepare children for school 

 Percentage of parental involvement and engagement in their child’s early childhood education 

 Percentage of young children who exhibit developmentally-appropriate language, learning, 
cognitive and literacy skills 

 Percentage of young children with social-emotional competence 

  Percentage of young children with access to preventive and comprehensive medical, dental, 
mental and behavioral health care  

 
B. Outcome: Youth are healthy and successful in school and have the skills necessary for self-sufficiency 

and success as an adult 
Indicators: 

 Percentage of students who have four or more absences during any one month or 10 days 
during a school year  

 Percentage of youth engaging in risk behaviors (as defined by the Youth Risk Behavior Survey) 

 Percentage of youth who graduate from high school 

 Percentage of dropout youth who obtain their GED 

 Percentage of youth who complete career technical training or post-secondary education 

 Percentage of parental involvement and engagement in their child’s education 

 Percentage of youth with significant or chronic disabilities or special needs with a transition 
plan to adult-centered services and/or adult life 

Impact Area 2: Improving economic well-being, independence and self-reliance for adults 
A. Outcome: Individuals and families have a path toward greater financial independence and security 

Indicators: 

 Percentage of adults who complete basic adult literacy and/or GED 

 Percentage of individuals completing career or job readiness training 

 Percentage of lower-income individuals acquiring skills to maintain stable housing, 
employment, education and/or assets 

 Percentage of individuals who establish a support network of resources and services in order to 
avoid crisis  

 Percentage of individuals moving toward increased wages or stable income to meet basic 
needs and away from (or decreased) public or private assistance 

 

B. Outcome: Individuals who have continuing and long-term needs achieve or maintain healthy, 

safe and independent lives to the maximum extent possible 
Indicators:  

 Percentage of individuals with access to community-based services and resources 

 Percentage of individuals with access to transportation  

Agenda Item 6A     Page  5Packet Page  228



ATTACHMENT A: HSF Impact areas and outcomes 

 Percentage of elderly and/or individuals with disabilities who are able to maintain independent 
living  

Impact Area 3: Meeting basic needs for individuals and families 
Outcome: Individuals and families at-risk or in crisis access services to help meet immediate and/or 

basic needs  

Indicators: 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families with access to affordable, nutritious food 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families with access to transportation 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families with access to preventive support and treatment 

for dental, mental and physical health care  

 Percentage of individuals and/or families enrolling in public benefits  
 Percentage of homeless individuals and/or families provided emergency shelter or housing 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families provided short term assistance who are 

homeless or at risk of homelessness 

 Percentage of homeless individuals and/or families moving  into transitional,  permanent 
supportive or permanent  housing 

 Percentage of clients that develop, implement and/or complete recovery/treatment/service 
plans 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families with a medical home  

Impact Area 4: Building a safer community 
Outcome: Individuals and families access services to prevent and reduce interpersonal violence in 

their lives; remain safe and crime-free in their neighborhoods; and have the tools and resources 

to prevent future harm. 

Indicators: 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families with access to services that provide safety 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families with access to prevention and education 
resources* 

 Percentage of individuals and/or families who establish a support network to help remain 
free from abuse or recidivism 

 Percentage of individuals who establish a support network and do not re-offend 12 months 
after completion of restorative justice or release from correctional institutions* 

 Percentage of individuals engaged in education, job training activities, or employment during 
12 months after release from a correctional institution* 
 

*The City of Boulder does not currently fund these indicators.  
 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  6Packet Page  229



ATTACHMENT B: 2015 HSF Awards by Impact Area 

2015 Human Services Fund Awards by Impact Area 
 Impact Area: Children and Youth  

Agency Program 2014 
Award 

2015 
Requested 

2015 
Approved 

Acorn School  Wilderness Center for Early Childhood Education $25,000 $50,000 $15,000 
Alternatives For Youth Boulder County iTHRIVE $10,000 $20,000 $10,000 
Boulder County Public Health GENESIS/GENESISTER $50,000 $75,000 $40,000 
Boulder Day Nursery Early Learning Programs $65,000 $65,000 $65,000 
Boulder Institute for Psychotherapy 
and Research 

Early Childhood Program: Bright Beginnings + Zero to Five $0 $20,000 $0 

Boulder Valley School District 
Boulder High School Adelante! Program $25,000  $58,600   $30,000  
Teen Parent Program  $20,000  $40,000   $15,000  

Centro AMISTAD, El El Centro AMISTAD $10,000 $25,000 $0 
Children's House Preschool First Chance Scholarship $22,050 $25,000 $25,000 
Community Cycles Kids Bikes for School and Recreation $0 $7,500 $0 

Family Learning Center, The 
School Readiness  $56,989  $62,888   $54,000  
Youth Development  $11,762  $13,738  $13,738 

I Have A Dream Foundation  Positive Futures $0 $50,000 $0 
New Horizons Cooperative Preschool Bilingual Early Childhood Education $42,000 $42,000 $42,000 
Project YES (Youth Envisioning 
Social Change) 

Expanding Youth Empowerment Services  $0 $10,000 $0 

Voices For Children CASA Special Truancy Advocates $0 $5,000 $0 
YMCA of Boulder Valley Youth and Teen Programs $0 $10,000 $0 

YWCA of Boulder County 
YWCA Youth Programs - Latina Achievement Support and 
Reading to End Racism 

$25,000 $50,000 $25,000 

Total Children and Youth $629,726 $334,738 
    

 Impact Area: Self-Sufficiency 

Agency Program 2014 
Award 

2015 
Requested 

2015 
Approved 

Association for Community Living in 
Boulder County 

Adult  Empowerment $0 $5,000 $5,000 

Bridge House Employment Services and Ready to Work $40,000 $80,000 $50,000 
Bridge to Justice Post-Decree Services  $0 $28,121 $5,000 
CareConnect Safety Net and Community Outreach Services $32,000 $42,500 $29,000 
Center for People with Disabilities Core Services $40,000 $65,000 $40,000 
Community Action Development 
Corporation 

Circles $10,000 $11,265 $11,265 

Community Cycles Bikes for Work $0 $30,000 $0 

Foothills United Way 
Personal Investment Enterprise (PIE) $0 $40,000 $27,935 
Volunteer Connection $0 $23,430 $0 

Immigrant Legal Center of Boulder 
County  

Immigrant Legal Services $25,000 $25,000 $23,000 

Intercambio Uniting Communities Programs $20,000 $30,000 $20,000 
TRU Community Care Indigent Care Fund $0 $5,000 $0 
Veterans Helping Veterans Now  Veteran and Family Mental Health and Wellness Services $15,000 $21,500 $15,000 
YMCA of Boulder Valley Parkinson's Fitness Program $0 $10,000 $0 
YWCA of Boulder County Children’s Alley Child Care $0 $70,000 $65,000 

Total Self-Sufficiency $486,816 $291,200 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  7Packet Page  230



ATTACHMENT B: 2015 HSF Awards by Impact Area 

 

 Impact Area: Basic Needs 

Agency Program 2014 
Award 

2015 
Requested 

2015 
Approved 

Agape Family Services Emergency Homeless Shelter (Warming Center) $0 $10,000 $0 
Attention Homes Meeting Basic Needs for At-Risk Youth $40,000 $60,000 $40,000 
Boulder County AIDS Project HIV Care and Prevention Services $30,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Boulder County Legal Services 
Critical Legal Services for Low-Income City of Boulder 
Residents 

$19,000 $19,000 $19,000 

Boulder Institute for Psychotherapy 
and Research 

Mental Health Outpatient Clinic $0 $35,000 $0 

Boulder Outreach for Homeless 
Overflow 

Emergency Warming Centers $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 

Boulder Shelter for the Homeless 

Boulder County Cares $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 
Housing First $12,000 $12,000 $12,000 
Transition Program  $28,000 $28,000 $28,000 
Transitional Housing (formerly BCATH) $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 
Winter Sheltering  $55,000 $60,000 $55,000 

Boulder Valley Women's Health 
Center  

Subsidized Reproductive & Sexual Health Services and 
Education Program 

$100,000 $110,000 $ 100,000 

Bridge House Basic Needs and Case Management $30,000 $70,000 $40,000 
Clinica Campesina Family Health 
Services 

Health Care for Low-Income City of  Boulder Residents $300,000 $350,000 $300,000 

Community Food Share  Food Procurement and Food Distribution Program $5,000 $10,000 $5,000 
Dental Aid Safety Net Dental Services $121,295 $140,000 $125,000 
Emergency Family Assistance 
Association 

Shelter and Basic Needs $110,00 $125,000 $125,000 

Mental Health Center of Boulder 
County 

Mental Health Wellness Services for Severely Mentally Ill 
Individuals 

$350,000 $442,326 $350,000 

Mother House Mother House $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 
Safehouse Progressive Alliance for 
Nonviolence   

Domestic Violence Victim Services $55,500 $54,250 $54,250 

St. Benedict Health and Healing 
Ministry 

St. Benedict  $0 $5,000 $0 

Second Wind Fund of Boulder County Second Wind Fund programs $0 $2,000 $0 
Total Basic Needs $1,617,576 $1,333,250 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

Agenda Item 6A     Page  8Packet Page  231



ATTACHMENT B: 2015 HSF Awards by Impact Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 Impact Area: Safety 

Agency Program 2014 
Award 

2015 
Requested 

2015 
Approved 

Blue Sky Bridge Child and Family Advocacy Program $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 
Boulder County Legal Services Legal Services for Victims of Domestic Violence $18,000 $18,000 $18,000 
Children First of the Rockies (formerly St. 
Vrain Family Center) 

SAFE Services $5,000 $6,000 $5,000 

FOCUS Reentry FOCUS Reentry $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 
Rocky Mountain Legal Center Rocky Mountain Legal Center $0 $15,000 $0 
Safehouse Progressive Alliance for 
Nonviolence   

Counseling, Advocacy  &  Outreach  $39,000 $55,250 $39,000 

Voices For Children  Court-Appointed Special Advocate (CASA) $5,000 $10,000 $5,000 
Total Safety $134,250 $97,000 

Total HSF $2,868,368 $2,056,188 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  9Packet Page  232



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  10Packet Page  233



ATTACHMENT C: 2015 HSF Awards by Alphabetical Order 

 

2015 Human Services Fund Awards by Alphabetical Order 

Agency Program 2014 
Award 

2015 
Requested 

2015 
Approved 

Acorn School  Wilderness Center for Early Childhood Education $25,000 $50,000 $15,000 

Agape Family Services Emergency Homeless Shelter (Warming Center) $0 $10,000 $0 
Alternatives For Youth Boulder County iTHRIVE $10,000 $20,000 $10,000 
Association for Community Living in 
Boulder County 

Adult  Empowerment $0 $5,000 $5,000 

Attention Homes Meeting Basic Needs for At-Risk Youth $40,000 $60,000 $40,000 
Blue Sky Bridge Child and Family Advocacy Program $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 
Boulder County AIDS Project HIV Care and Prevention Services $30,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Boulder County Legal Services 
(Total 2014 agency funding $37,000) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $37,000) 

Critical Legal Services for Low-Income City of Boulder 
Residents 

$19,000 $19,000 $19,000 

Legal Services for Victims of Domestic Violence $18,000 $18,000 $18,000 
Boulder County Public Health GENESIS/GENESISTER $50,000 $75,000 $40,000 
Boulder Day Nursery Early Learning Programs $65,000 $65,000 $65,000 
Boulder Institute for Psychotherapy and 
Research 
(Total 2014 agency funding $0) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $0) 

Early Childhood Program: Bright Beginnings + Zero to Five $0 $20,000 $0 

Mental Health Outpatient Clinic $0 $35,000 $0 

Boulder Outreach for Homeless 
Overflow 

Emergency Warming Centers $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 

Boulder Shelter for the Homeless 
(Total 2014 agency funding $120,000) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $120,000) 

Boulder County Cares $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 
Housing First $12,000 $12,000 $12,000 
Transition Program  $28,000 $28,000 $28,000 
Transitional Housing (formerly BCATH) $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 
Winter Sheltering  $55,000 $60,000 $55,000 

Boulder Valley School District 
(Total 2014 agency funding $45,000) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $45,000) 

Boulder High School Adelante! Program $25,000 $58,600 $30,000 

Teen Parent Program  $20,000  $40,000   $15,000  

Boulder Valley Women's Health Center  
Subsidized Reproductive & Sexual Health Services and 
Education Program 

$100,000 $110,000 $ 100,000 

Bridge House 
(Total 2014 agency funding $70,000) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $90,000) 

Basic Needs and Case Management $30,000 $70,000 $40,000 

Employment Services and Ready to Work $40,000 $80,000 $50,000 

Bridge to Justice Post-Decree Services  $0 $28,121 $5,000 
CareConnect Safety Net and Community Outreach Services $32,000 $42,500 $29,000 
Center for People with Disabilities Core Services $40,000 $65,000 $40,000 
Centro AMISTAD, El El Centro AMISTAD $10,000 $25,000 $0 
Children First of the Rockies (formerly 
St. Vrain Family Center) 

SAFE Services $5,000 $6,000 $5,000 

Children's House Preschool First Chance Scholarship $22,050 $25,000 $25,000 
Clinica Campesina Family Health 
Services 

Health Care for Low-Income City of  Boulder Residents $300,000 $350,000 $300,000 

Community Action Development 
Corporation 

Circles $10,000 $11,265 $11,265 

Community Cycles 
(Total 2014 agency funding $0) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $0) 

Bikes for Work $0 $30,000 $0 

Kids Bikes for School and Recreation $0 $7,500 $0 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  11Packet Page  234



ATTACHMENT C: 2015 HSF Awards by Alphabetical Order 

 

 

 

 

 

Agency Program 2014 
Award 

2015 
Requested 

2015 
Approved 

Community Food Share  Food Procurement and Food Distribution Program $5,000 $10,000 $5,000 

Dental Aid Safety Net Dental Services $121,295 $140,000 $125,000 
Emergency Family Assistance 
Association 

Shelter and Basic Needs $110,00 $125,000 $125,000 

Family Learning Center 
(Total 2014 agency funding $68,751) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $67,738) 

School Readiness  $56,989  $62,888   $54,000  

Youth Development  $11,762  $13,738  $13,738 

FOCUS Reentry FOCUS Reentry $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 
Foothills United Way 
(Total 2014 agency funding $0) 
(Total 2015 agency funding 27,935) 

Personal Investment Enterprise (PIE) $0 $40,000 $27,935 

Volunteer Connection $0 $23,430 $0 

I Have A Dream Foundation  Positive Futures $0 $50,000 $0 
Immigrant Legal Center of Boulder 
County  

Immigrant Legal Services $25,000 $25,000 $23,000 

Intercambio Uniting Communities Programs $20,000 $30,000 $20,000 

Mental Health Center of Boulder County 
Mental Health Wellness Services for Severely Mentally Ill 
Individuals 

$350,000 $442,326 $350,000 

Mother House Mother House $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 
New Horizons Cooperative Preschool Bilingual Early Childhood Education $42,000 $42,000 $42,000 
Project YES (Youth Envisioning Social 
Change) 

Expanding Youth Empowerment Services  $0 $10,000 $0 

Rocky Mountain Legal Center Rocky Mountain Legal Center $0 $15,000 $0 
Safehouse Progressive Alliance For 
Nonviolence 
(Total 2014 agency funding $94,500) 
(Total 2015 agency funding 93,250) 

Counseling, Advocacy  &  Outreach  $39,000 $55,250 $39,000 

Domestic Violence Victim Services $55,500 $54,250 $54,250 

St. Benedict Health and Healing Ministry St. Benedict  $0 $5,000 $0 
Second Wind Fund of Boulder County Second Wind Fund programs $0 $2,000 $0 
TRU Community Care Indigent Care Fund $0 $5,000 $0 
Veterans Helping Veterans Now  Veteran and Family Mental Health and Wellness Services $15,000 $21,500 $15,000 
Voices For Children CASA 
(Total 2014 agency funding $5,000) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $5,000) 

Court-Appointed Special Advocate (CASA) $5,000 $10,000 $5,000 

Special Truancy Advocates $0 $5,000 $0 

YMCA of Boulder Valley 
(Total 2014 agency funding $0) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $0) 

Parkinson's Fitness Program $0 $10,000 $0 

Youth and Teen Programs $0 $10,000 $0 

YWCA of Boulder County 
(Total 2014 agency funding $95,000) 
(Total 2015 agency funding $90,000) 

Children’s Alley Child Care $0 $70,000 $65,000 

Latina Achievement Support and Reading to End Racism $25,000 $50,000 $25,000 

Total HSF $2,868,368 $2,056,188 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  12Packet Page  235



ATTACHMENT D: HSFAC Committee Members 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Human Services Fund Advisory Committee members 
 

Mary Friedrichs , LCSW, BCD 
Licensed clinical social worker with expertise in mental 
health services throughout the different stages of the 
developmental lifecycle 

Lynn Gilbert, RN, CPNP, PhD, FAAN Retired nurse practitioner with expertise in early childhood 
development 

Dr. Stephanie Greenberg Human services research consultant and analyst 

Will Murray Community member with local nonprofit expertise 

Amy Zuckerman Human Relations Committee member with expertise in 
business leadership  

Agenda Item 6A     Page  13Packet Page  236



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6A     Page  14Packet Page  237



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: December 16, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a Response to City and County of Denver’s 
Request for Support for its National Western Center Project 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Mayor Appelbaum received a request (Attachment A) from Denver Mayor Hancock for 
Boulder to sign on as a supporter of Denver’s efforts to secure funding for its National 
Western Center Project (Attachment B) and, specifically, Denver’s application for 
Regional Tourism Act (RTA) funding from the state of Colorado. The purpose of this 
agenda item is to allow council to discuss whether the city should provide Denver with 
the requested support. 
 
The RTA establishes a program that gives local governments the opportunity to apply 
with the Economic Development Commission for approval of a large scale Regional 
Tourism Project that is of an extraordinary and unique nature, is anticipated to result in a 
substantial increase in out-of-state tourism, and that generates a significant portion of the 
sales tax revenue by transactions with nonresidents of the zone. Local governments 
applying for these funds must provide reliable economic data demonstrating that, in the 
absence of State Sales Tax Increment Revenue, the project is not reasonably anticipated 
to be developed within the foreseeable future. A fact sheet on the RTA is included as 
Attachment C. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A – Letter from Mayor Hancock 
Attachment B – National Western Center Project Summary 
Attachment C – Regional Tourism Act Fact Sheet 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 1Packet Page  238



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 2Packet Page  239



Attachment A - Letter from Mayor Hancock

Agenda Item 6B     Page 3Packet Page  240



Attachment A - Letter from Mayor Hancock

Agenda Item 6B     Page 4Packet Page  241



THE NATIONAL WESTERN CENTER PROJECT 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The National Western Complex, Denver Coliseum and National Western Stock Show are at a crossroads. 
The site is old, antiquated and has seen no significant investment since the 1990’s. At the same time, 
younger generations are very much aware of and concerned with what we might term great global 
challenges. Theirs are the generations that will have to feed more than 9 billion people, solve the issue of 
fresh water shortages and respond to climate change.  At the intersection of these issues lies a rare and 
precious opportunity to transform the National Western Complex and Denver Coliseum site into the 
“National Western Center.” While honoring the National Western Stock Show’s (NWSS) 100-year history, 
five partners—Colorado State University, Denver Museum of Nature and Science, History Colorado, 
Western Stock Show Association and the City and County of Denver—are singularly focused on the 
opportunity to reinvent the site for the next 100 years. As part of the core master planning process, which 
began  in April 2013, we envision a large “campus” celebrating the historic NWSS event, but also 
showcasing the innovative ways Colorado is addressing the challenges of food, water, energy and the 
environment; integrating  local, regional, national and international partnerships between the public and 
private sectors; and blurring the lines between entertainment, competition, education and industry to help 
solve global issues.  We believe the creation of the National Western Center will have a significant impact 
on Colorado tourism and will spawn a whole new generation of supporters.  
 
There are two over-arching objectives for the existing 130-acre site (and larger study area), located at 
Brighton Blvd and I-70, which will be presented as part of Denver’s RTA application: 
 

 Preserving a Colorado treasure in the National Western Stock Show 

At its core, the project’s objectives are to preserve and ultimately significantly grow the National 
Western Stock Show event, (currently the state’s largest agricultural convention) across four functional 
areas – equestrian, livestock, rodeo, and tradeshow. Based upon extensive market research, the 
program will include new and adaptively reused event facilities and site improvements to elevate the 
NWSS for the next 100  years, driving increased visitors from around the country to the “Super Bowl” of 
stock shows, both for the January show as well as through expanded year round program offerings.  

 Creating a Year-Round Entertainment & Education Destination 

Beyond meeting the needs of the NWSS event, the master plan for the proposed NWC Campus would 
include both new and adaptively reused facilities for a full range of events, including but not limited to 
amateur sporting events, concerts, family shows, etc. In addition, the NWC will focus on formal and 
informal educational experiences, will convene international conferences, host a regional food and 
artisan market, and support business incubation. Finally, the plan intends to strategically align the new 
campus with the broader needs of the Colorado Convention Center through a new programming and 
events partnership, to help drive more out-of-state visitors to Denver.  

The founding NWC MOU Partners have all committed to using the depth and breadth of our resources, now 
and in the future, to assure successful attainment of our shared vision for the National Western Center. 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 5Packet Page  242



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 6Packet Page  243



Regional Tourism Act (RTA) 
 

Purpose 
The Regional Tourism Act creates a mechanism for a local government to undertake a regional tourism 
project to  attract out-of-state visitors, to create a regional tourism zone in which the project will be built, 
and to create a regional tourism authority (or to designate other financing entities) with the power to receive 
and utilize the increment of revenues derived from the state sales tax collected in the zone, that is above a 
designated base amount, to be used to finance eligible improvements to the project.   
 
The State’s Role  
The Colorado Office of Economic Development and International Trade (OEDIT) provides administrative 
support for the Colorado Economic Development Commission (EDC).  The EDC has oversight authority for this 
program.  A local community should work with OEDIT to determine application requirements and deadlines 
to submit completed applications for review by OEDIT.  The Business Funding and Incentives Staff will 
facilitate the application review process, application presentation with structuring recommendations to the 
EDC, resolution drafting and project monitoring. 
 
Requirements  

• The EDC shall not approve any project that would likely create an annual state sales tax revenue 
dedication of more than $50 million to all regional tourism projects. 

• The EDC cannot initially approve more than two projects.  Once the EDC approves two initial 
projects, the EDC may approve two additional projects during the next calendar year.  Once the EDC 
approves two additional projects, the EDC may approve two additional projects during the following 
calendar year.    

• The EDC will: 
Review applications forwarded with OEDIT recommendations and may approve or reject the 
project based on a demonstration that the following criteria are materially met: 
o The project is of an extraordinary/unique nature and is reasonably anticipated to 

contribute significantly to economic development and tourism in the state and 
communities where the project is located. 

o The project is reasonably anticipated to result in a substantial increase in out-of-state 
tourism. 

o A significant portion of sales tax revenue generated by the project is reasonably anticipated 
to be attributable to transactions with nonresidents of the zone. 

o The local government has provided reliable economic data demonstrating that in the 
absence of state sales tax increment revenue, the project is not reasonably anticipated to 
be developed within the foreseeable future. 

Adopt a resolution for approved applications specifying the following: 
o The local government approved to undertake a regional tourism project. 
o The area of the regional tourism zone. 
o Requested by the local government, authorize the creation of an authority to receive and 

spend state sales tax increment revenue. 
o The percentage of the state sales tax increment revenue that will be dedicated to the 

project.   
o Authorize the collection and use of the state sales tax increment revenue for a designated  

number of years. 
o Authorize the utilization of the state sales tax increment revenue by the financing entity  

pursuant to the RTA and conditions of approval determined by the EDC. 
o Appoint board members to the approved authority when applicable. 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 7Packet Page  244

mailto:jeff.kraft@state.co.us�
http://www.advancecolorado.com/�


o Have the ability to revoke or modify its approval of a project if substantial work on the 
project does not commence within five years of approval by the EDC. 

o Other terms and conditions required by the EDC. 
 
Process 
A local government will need to submit a regional tourism project application to OEDIT within the application 
cycle deadline.  OEDIT will review the application for general completeness and to make an initial 
determination regarding whether the application has met the general criteria for a regional tourism project.  
An economic review and report on the application will be completed by an independent Third Party Analyst 
hired by the Office of State Planning and Budgeting.  Applications will be forwarded to any county or counties 
and adjacent municipalities where the project will be implemented for an opportunity to review the 
application and submit comments to the EDC within 30 days prior to the scheduled EDC meeting.   The EDC 
will make final approval or denial determinations. 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 8

Attachment B - NWCP SummaryAttachment B - NWCP Summary

Packet Page  245

mailto:jeff.kraft@state.co.us�
http://www.advancecolorado.com/�


 
                   

TO:  Members of Council 
FROM: Mary Moline, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE:  December 16, 2014 
SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 

1. CALL UPS 
A. 5675 Arapahoe Ave. Site and Use Review Approval Extension (LUR2008-00034) 

 
B. Disapproval of an application to designate the property at 445 College Ave. as an individual 

local historic landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-
00085).  This decision is subject to City Council call-up no later than December 16, 2014. 

 
C. Landmark Alteration to construct a 753 sq. ft. addition to a contributing house and to construct 

a 336 sq. ft. one-car garage at 735 Mapleton Ave. in the Mapleton Hill Historic District, per 
section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-00192). This Landmark 
Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than December 16, 2014. 

 
D. Landmark Alteration Certificate to alter windows to create an entrance at the north (primary) 

elevation of 1029 Broadway St. (pending landmark), per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder 
Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-00354). This Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City 
Council call-up no later than December 16, 2014. 

 
E.  Site review for the proposed removal of existing structures and a two-phased redevelopment 

with three, four-story buildings of Class A office in a campus format with below grade parking 
for the property located at 2095, 2111 and 2121 30th Street along with 2920 and 2930 Pearl 
Street.  A total of 330,000 gross square feet is proposed to be developed in two phases (220,000 
square feet in initial phase) with maximum 55’ building height and four-stories.  Site Review 
case no. LUR2014-00035.  The applicant intends to pursue Vested Rights per section 9-2-19, 
B.R.C. 1981. (Information will be available on Friday, December 12). 
 

2. INFORMATION ITEMS 
A. Update on Mobile Food Truck Late Night Food “Podding” in Downtown Boulder 
 
B. Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 2015 Major Update – Assessment and Options for Scope 

of Work and Update on Resilience Strategy 
 

3.  BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
A. Human Relations Committee – December 4, 2014 
B. Landmarks – November 5, 2014 

 C. Landmarks – December 3, 2014 
D. Library Commission – October 7, 2014 

 
4. DECLARATIONS 
 None 





 
 

 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM  

To:  Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
  David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
  Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
  Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
  Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
 
Date:   December 9, 2014 
 
Subject:  Call-Up Item:  5675 Arapahoe Ave. Site and Use Review Approval Extension 
(LUR2008-00034) 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On Dec. 4, 2014, the Planning Board unanimously approved the above-referenced application as 
provided in the attached Notice of Disposition (Attachment A). In approving the application, the 
board found the project consistent with Land Use Code criteria 9-2-12 (b)(2), B.R.C. 1981, 
“Planning Board Level Extension.”  The Planning Board decision is subject to City Council call-
up within 30 days. The call up period expires on Jan. 5, 2015.  There is one City Council meeting 
within this time period for call-up consideration on Dec. 16, 2014.   The staff memorandum of 
recommendation to Planning Board and other related background materials are available on the 
city website for Planning Board, follow the link: https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-
commissions/planning-board-agenda 
 
BACKGROUND  
 
On Jan. 2, 2011 the application was approved for the reuse of an existing warehouse building 
along with a second story addition for a climate controlled storage facility and construction of 
several self storage units at the rear of the property as a Phase I.  A Phase II was approved with 
several additional self storage units at the rear and Phase III was approved for a larger addition to 
the back of the climate controlled storage warehouse building along with additional self storage 
units at the rear.  A parking reduction for 82 percent was also approved based on the operational 
characteristics of a self storage facility where parking demand is sporadic and drive aisle widths 
wide enough to accommodate vehicle loading and unloading.  Additional information can be 
found in the staff memo for the original approval, found in the above referenced link.   
 

Call Up Item 
5675 Arapahoe Ave

1A     Page 1



 
 

 
Figure 2:   

Existing Building to be reused with foreground open space 
viewed from Arapahoe Ave. toward northwest 

 
 

Figure 1: 
Full Build Out of Project Site in Aerial Context 

Figures 1 and 2 illustrate the Site Plan in context and the site when viewed from Arapahoe Avenue 
with the open space that will remain on the site with reuse and remodeling of the existing building and 
additional storage units at the rear of the property away from the pond, wetlands and trees.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Since the approval in 2011, the applicant postponed their initial schedule for the project due to the 
global financial crisis.  As a result, two staff level approval extensions were granted as permitted in the 
Land Use Code, section 9-2-12, B.R.C. 1981.  Because the applicant exhausted any additional 
administrative extensions to complete the development, and given need for additional time to complete 

Call Up Item 
5675 Arapahoe Ave

1A     Page 2



 
 

updated flood analysis required as part of technical document review, the applicant filed a request for 
approval to the Planning Board. 
 
SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS 
 
An extension to an approved discretionary review application may be granted upon a request by an 
applicant and findings of consistency of the request with land use code section 9-2-12 (b)(2), B.R.C. 
1981 as follows: 
 

“(A) Criteria for Demonstrating Reasonable Diligence: An applicant may show that it has 
exercised reasonable diligence by providing evidence that it has done substantial work 
towards completing the project. Such evidence may include, without limitation, drafting plans 
for building permit or technical document review, applications for building permits or other 
permits that are required prior to the issuance of building permits, site preparation and 
grading, or commencement of the construction of a portion of the project.” 
 
and 

“(B) Criteria for Demonstrating Good Cause: An applicant may show good cause as to why an 
extension should be granted by providing evidence that includes, without limitation, the 
following: a demonstration of the applicant’s ability to complete the project within the 
extension; the extension is needed because of the size of the project or phasing of the 
development; or economic cycles and market conditions prevented the construction of the 
project during the original approval period.” 

The criteria also has a provision to permit Planning Board to impose additional conditions on the 
applicant in order to ensure compliance with any amendments to Title 9, "Land Use Regulation," 
B.R.C. 1981, enacted after the date of the original approval.   

The applicant indicated that their reasonable diligence includes preparation and submittal to the city of 
the technical document review plans as well as obtaining a grading permit for early site preparations.  

 
Once the project was reinitiated, the previous flood plain development permit had expired and the 
applicant was advised that a new permit was required before the project could proceed. A portion of 
the supporting technical information for the original permit could not be located by the city or the 
applicant and the information that was available was not adequate for determine compliance with the 
floodplain regulations. This necessitated additional technical floodplain modeling, which the applicant 
has been working with staff on for the past year. Through this new modeling, grading and drainage on 
the site required redesign to meet the regulations.  The redesign and modeling have necessitated 
additional time for completion and hence the request for extension of the development approval.  
 
PLANNING BOARD HEARING 
 
The Planning Board had a brief discussion about the proposed preservation of the existing pond, 
wetlands, and mature trees on the site, as well as the building’s 250-foot setback from Arapahoe 
Avenue; and a brief discussion about the minor modification approved on the building.  On a 

Call Up Item 
5675 Arapahoe Ave

1A     Page 3



 
 

motion made by C. Gray, seconded by J. Putnam, the Planning Board voted 7-0 to approve the 
extension request for the combined Site and Use reviews, case no. LUR2008-00034, as described in 
the staff memorandum incorporating the staff memorandum as findings of fact. The Planning Board 
did not impose any additional conditions on the applications. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PARTICIPATION 
 
Required public notice for Site Review was given in the form of written notification mailed to all 
property owners within 600 feet of the subject site and the public notification sign was posted on the 
property for at least 10 days, per the public notification requirements of Section 9-4-3, B.R.C. 1981.  
Staff received no comments from members of the public.  
 
CONCLUSION 
 
By a unanimous vote (7-0) the Planning Board approved the application to extend the Site and Use 
Review approvals.  Consistent with the land use code section 9-4-4(c), B.R.C. 1981, if the City Council 
disagrees with the decision of the Planning Board, it may call up the application within a 30-day call up 
period which expires on Jan. 5, 2015, and with one City Council meeting during that time, it may 
consider this application for call-up at its Dec. 16, 2014 public meeting.  

 
ATTACHMENT: 
 
A.   Planning Board Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 4, 2014 

Call Up Item 
5675 Arapahoe Ave

1A     Page 4



Address: 5675 ARAPAHOE RD 

 
 

 
  

 
BOULDER PLANNING BOARD 

NOTICE OF DISPOSITION 
 
You are hereby advised that on December 4, 2014 the following action was taken by the Planning Board 
based on the standards and criteria of the Land Use Regulations as set forth in Chapter 9-2, B.R.C. 1981, 
as applied to the proposed development. 
 
DECISION:      Approved  
PROJECT NAME:    FLATIRONS STORAGE  
DESCRIPTION:    THREE YEAR EXTENSION OF PHASE 1 of the Site and Use Review 

approvals under LUR2008-00034 pursuant to Section 9-2-13(b)(2), B.R.C. 
1981.  The Site and Use Review approvals under LUR2008-00034 are for a 
storage facility project that includes self-storage, climate controlled 
storage and an 82 percent parking reduction.  

LOCATION:     5675 ARAPAHOE RD  
COOR:       N03E01  
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: See Exhibit A attached 
APPLICANT:     WW REYNOLDS  
OWNER:      LOOKOUT LLC; STORAGE CONTAINERS LTD.; ACE HOLDINGS LLC;  
       AND CANAL AVENUE PARK LLC  
APPLICATION:     Extension of Site and Use Review Approals under LUR2008-00034 
ZONING:      IG   
CASE MANAGER:   Elaine McLaughlin 

    
 

This decision may be called up before the City Council on or before January 5, 2015.  If no call-up 
occurs, the decision is deemed final thirty days after the Planning Board's decision. 
 
THE DEVELOPMENT APPROVALS REMAIN SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
IMPOSED AS PART OF THE SITE AND USE REVIEW APPROVALS FOR LUR2008-00034 ON 
DECEMBER 2, 2010, EXCEPT AS THOSE MAY BE MODIFIED BY THIS APPROVAL.  THE NOTICE OF 
DISPOSITION FOR LUR2008-00034, INCLUDING THE CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL, IS ATTACHED 
TO THIS DISPOSITION. 
 
Pursuant to Section 9-2-12 of the Land Use Regulations (Boulder Revised Code, 1981), the applicant 
must begin and substantially complete Phase 1 of the approved development within three years from the 
date of approval of this three year extension of Phase 1 and begin and substantially complete Phase 2 
and Phase 3 in compliance with the approved phasing plan.  Failure to "substantially complete" (as 
defined in Section 9-2-12, Boulder Revised Code 1981) the development in compliance with the approved 
phasing plan, as revised by this approval, shall cause the approvals to expire. 

 
At its public hearing on December 4, 2014, the Planning Board approved the requested extension of 
Phase 1 of the development for a period of three years with the following motion: 
 
 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Community Planning & Sustainability 

1739 Broadway, Third Floor  •  P.O. Box 791, Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
phone  303-441-1880  •  fax  303-441-3241  •  web  www.bouldercolorado.gov 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Community Planning & Sustainability 

1739 Broadway, Third Floor  •  P.O. Box 791, Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
phone  303-441-1880  •  fax  303-441-3241  •  web  www.bouldercolorado.gov 

Call Up Item 
5675 Arapahoe Ave

1A     Page 5



Call Up Item 
5675 Arapahoe Ave

1A     Page 6



 

Exhibit A: Legal Description 
 
 

Call Up Item 
5675 Arapahoe Ave

1A     Page 7





INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To: Members of City Council 

From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Deb Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

Date:   December 16, 2014 

Call-up Item: Disapproval of an application to designate the property at 445 College Ave. as an 
individual local historic landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 
(HIS2014-00085).  This decision is subject to City Council call-up no later than December 16, 
2014.  

Executive Summary 
On October 1, 2014, the Landmarks Board voted to initiate landmark designation of 445 College 
Avenue (3-2, M. Gerwing and K. Remley opposed). At the December 5, 2014  designation 
hearing, the application was disapproved by the Landmarks Board (5-0).The decision to 
disapprove the application was based upon the board’s consideration that the proposed 
designation did not meet the requirements in Section 9-11-1, B.R.C. 1981. The board also cited 
staff’s analysis of the property finding that it did not represent the highest level of historic and 
architectural significance typically required for designation over an owner's objection, that there 
was very little public support for landmarking the property and, that in this case, designating 
over the owners objection would not represent a reasonable balance of private property rights 
and the public interest. 

The board’s disapproval is subject to a 45-day call-up period by City Council. The disapproval of 
this Landmark Designation is subject to City Council call-up no later than December 16, 2014. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Notice of Disposition dated December 16, 2014 
B. Photographs of 445 College Ave. 

Call Up Item 
445 College Ave

1B     Page 1





 
 
 

 
Notice of Disposition 

 
 
You are hereby advised that on December 3, 2014 the following action was taken: 
 
ACTION:     Disapproved by a vote of 5-0 
 
APPLICATION: Public hearing and consideration of the proposed designation of the 

property at 445 College Ave. as an individual local historic 
landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 
(HIS2014-00085). 

 
LOCATION:   445 College Ave. 
 
ZONING:   RL-1 (Residential Low-1) 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER: Landmarks Board / George and Stephanie Stark 
      
This decision was arrived at based on the purposes and intent of the Historic Preservation Code as set 
forth in 9-11-1, B.R.C., 1981, as applied to the Landmark Designation application.  
 
Public Hearing 
Karl Kellogg, 2249 Tin Cup Circle, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation. 
Marion Thurnauer, 440 College Avenue, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark 
designation.  
Mark Gelband, 505 College Avenue, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation. 
Dale Thoms, 425 College Avenue, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation.  
Inger Barron, 430 College Avenue, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation. 
Eileen Kintsch, 435 College Avenue, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation. 
Abby Daniels, 1123 Spruce Street, Boulder, Co., Executive Director, Historic Boulder, spoke on 
behalf of the Historic Boulder Board voiced in opposition to landmark designation of this 
property.  
Dale Thoms, 425 College Avenue, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation. 
Kathryn Barth, 2940 20th Street, Boulder, CO., spoke in support of landmark designation. 
George Stark, 1321 Marshall Street, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation. 
Nancy Kellogg, 299 Tin Cup Circle, Boulder, CO spoke in opposition to landmark designation. 
Joan Lieberman, 1335 Marshall Street, Boulder, Co spoke in opposition to the landmark 
designation. 
Gretchen King, 415 College Avenue, Boulder, Co spoke in opposition to the landmark 
designation. 
Stephanie Stark, 1321 Marshall Street, Boulder, Co spoke in opposition to the landmark 
designation. 
 
Motion 

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014

Call Up Item 
445 College Ave

1B     Page 2



On a motion by M. Gerwing, seconded by K. Remley, the Landmarks Board disapproved (5-0) 
the designation of the property at 445 College Ave. as an individual local historic landmark, 
finding that although, pursuant to Sec. 9-11-1(a), B.R.C. 1981, the proposal would protect, 
enhance, and perpetuate a building of the city reminiscent of past eras, events, and persons, it 
does not meet the legislative intent of Section 9-11-1(b) in that approving the application would 
not draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest.  I further 
move that the Landmarks Board adopt this staff memorandum as findings of the Board, order 
staff to issue the demolition permit and recommend that prior to issuance of the demolition 
permit, staff require the applicant to submit to CP&S staff for recording with Carnegie Library: 
 

1. A site plan showing the location of all existing improvements on the subject property; 
 

2. Measured elevation drawings of all faces of the buildings depicting existing conditions, 
fully annotated with architectural details and materials indicated on the plans; and 

 
3. Medium format archival quality color photographs of all exterior elevations. 

 
 

The Board’s decision was based upon staff’s analysis of the property finding that it did not 
represent the highest level of historic and architectural significance typically required for 
designation over an owners objection, that there was very little public support for landmarking 
the property and, that in this case, designating over the owners objection would not represent a 
reasonable balance of private property rights and the public interest.  

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014

Call Up Item 
445 College Ave

1B     Page 3



 
 
 

 
Figure 1. Map of 445 College Ave.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 2. Original drawings by Hobart Wagener showing house designed for Lot 11, Kecoughtan Hills 
Subdivision, 1961.  

 
 

Attachment B - Photographs of 445 College Ave.

Call Up Item 
445 College Ave

1B     Page 4



 
Figure 3. Tax Assessor Card Photograph, 445 College Ave., 1963.  

 
 
 

 
Figure 4. 445 College Ave., South façade, 2014. 

Attachment B - Photographs of 445 College Ave.

Call Up Item 
445 College Ave

1B     Page 5



 
Figure 5. 445 College Ave., West elevation, 2014. 

  
  

 
 

 
Figure 6. 445 College Ave., East elevation, 2014. 

 
 

Attachment B - Photographs of 445 College Ave.

Call Up Item 
445 College Ave

1B     Page 6



 
Figure 7. 445 College Ave., North elevation, 2014. 

  
 

 
Figure 8. 445 College Ave., Non-historic accessory building 2014. 

    

Attachment B - Photographs of 445 College Ave.

Call Up Item 
445 College Ave

1B     Page 7



 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Deb Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
 Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
 James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
 Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
  
Date:   December 16, 2014 
 
Call-up Item: Landmark Alteration Certificate to construct a 753 sq. ft. addition to a 
contributing house and to construct a 336 sq. ft. one-car garage at 735 Mapleton Ave. in the 
Mapleton Hill Historic District, per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 
(HIS2014-00192).  This Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no 
later than December 16, 2014.  
  
 
Executive Summary 
The proposal to construct a 753 sq. ft. addition to a contributing house and to construct a 336 sq. 
ft. one-car garage at 735 Mapleton Ave., ensuring that the development shall be constructed in 
compliance with approved plans dated 09/23/14, was approved with conditions by the 
Landmarks Board (4-0), F. Sheets recused herself, at the December 3, 2014 meeting. The 
decision was based upon the board’s consideration that the proposed construction meets the 
requirements in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981.  
 
The board’s approval is subject to a 14-day call-up period by City Council. The approval of this 
Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than December 16, 
2014. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Notice of Disposition dated December 16, 2014 
B. Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave. 
 

 

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 1





 
Notice of Disposition 

 
 
You are hereby advised that on December 3, 2014 the following action was taken: 
 
ACTION:     Approved by a vote of 4-0, F. Sheets recused  
 
APPLICATION: Public hearing and consideration of an application for a Landmark 

Alteration Certificate to construct a 753 sq. ft. addition to a 
contributing house and to construct a 336 sq. ft. one-car garage at 
735 Mapleton Ave. in the Mapleton Hill Historic District, per 
section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-
00192). 

 
LOCATION:   735 Mapleton Ave. 
 
ZONING:   RL-1 (Residential Low-1) 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER: David Waugh / Mary Beth Emerson 
      
This decision was arrived at based on the purposes and intent of the Historic Preservation Code as set 
forth in 9-11-18, B.R.C., 1981, as applied to the Landmark Alteration Certificate application.  
 
Public Hearing   
Michael Mikuta, 2433 8th St., spoke in support of the Landmark Alteration Certificate 
application but voiced concerned about location of proposed garage to ensure back-out distance 
and requested it be moved 1’ south into the property.  Spoke in support of removing the historic 
garage to allow for more flexibility and better design.  
 
Motion  
On a motion by M. Gerwing, seconded by M. Schreiner, the Landmarks Board approved (4-0) 
the proposed construction shown on plans dated 09/23/2014, finding that it generally meets the 
standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Chapter 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, 
subject to the following conditions: 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for constructing the addition and new one-car garage 
in compliance with the approved plans dated 09/23/2014, except as modified by these 
conditions of approval.  
 

2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit a revised design that: 
 

a. Retains a greater portion of the north (rear) wall of the historic house and creates 
a more defined connection between the historic house and new addition; 
 

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 2



b. Preserves the east wall of the existing garage 
 

c. Applicant shall submit a revised design that studies turning the gable to match the 
roof form of the existing garage.  

 
3. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 

Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall provide details on the rehabilitation of the 
existing house. 
 

4. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit the following, which shall be subject to 
the final review and approval of the Landmarks design review committee: window and 
door details, wall material details, siding material details, paint colors, roofing material 
details and details regarding any exterior lighting and hardscaping on the property to 
ensure that the approval is consistent with the General Design Guidelines and the 
Mapleton Hill Historic District Guidelines and the intent of this approval.  
 

  

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 3



 

 
Figure 1. Tax Assessor photo of 735 Mapleton Avenue, c. 1949. 

 
 

 

 

 

   
Figure 2. 745 (right) and 735 Mapleton Ave. (at left), 1929.  

Photograph Courtesy the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 4



 
Figure 3. Location Map, 735 Mapleton Ave. 

 
 

 

 

 
Figure 4. Façade 735 Mapleton Avenue, 2014. 

 

MAX WELL

ST
7T

H

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 5



 
Figure 5. East elevation, 735 Mapleton Avenue, 2014.   

 
 

 

 

    
Figure 6. North (rear) of house from alley, 735 Pine St., 2014.   

 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 6



 
Figure 7. Existing garage, 735 Pine St., 2014.   

 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 7



 
Figure 8. Proposed Site Plan, Dec.3, 2014 (right). Not to scale.  

    
 
 

 
Figure 9. Existing South Elevation (façade)- Fenestration not accurately depicted- see 

photographs.  
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 8



 
Figure 10. Proposed South Elevation, 2014 (façade); addition not visible.  

 
 
 

 
Figure 9. Existing East Elevation.  

 
 
 

 
Figure 11. Current Proposal for East Elevation, Dec. 3, 2014.  

 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 9



 
Figure 12. Existing North Elevation. 

 
 

 
Figure 13. Proposed North Elevation.   

 
 
 

 
Figure 14. Existing West Elevation. 

 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 10



 
Figure 15. Proposed West Elevation, Dec. 3rd, 2014. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 16. Elevations of proposed garage, Dec. 3rd, 2014. 

 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.

Call Up Item 
735 Mapleton Ave.

1C     Page 11



 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
 Deb Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
 Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
 James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
 Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
  
Date:   December 16, 2014 
 
Call-up Item: Landmark Alteration Certificate to alter windows to create an entrance at the 
north (primary) elevation of 1029 Broadway St. (pending landmark), per section 9-11-18 of the 
Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-00354).  This Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject 
to City Council call-up no later than December 16, 2014.  
  
 
Executive Summary 
The proposal to alter windows to create an entrance at the north (primary) elevation of 1029 
Broadway St. (pending landmark), ensuring that the development shall be constructed in 
compliance with approved plans dated 09/16/14, was approved with conditions by the 
Landmarks Board (5-0), at the December 3, 2014 meeting. The decision was based upon the 
board’s consideration that the proposed construction meets the requirements in Section 9-11-18, 
B.R.C. 1981.  
 
The board’s approval is subject to a 14-day call-up period by City Council. The approval of this 
Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than December 16, 
2014. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Notice of Disposition dated December 16, 2014 
B. Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St. 
 
 

 

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 1





 
Notice of Disposition 

 
 
You are hereby advised that on December 3, 2014 the following action was taken: 
 
ACTION:     Approved by a vote of 5-0 
 
APPLICATION: Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration 

Certificate to alter windows to create an entrance at the north 
(primary) elevation of 1029 Broadway St. (pending landmark), per 
section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2014-00354). 

 
LOCATION:   1029 Broadway St. 
 
ZONING:   RH-5 (Residential High Density-5) 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER: Catherine Quintero, Burkett Design / Evans Scholar Program 
      
This decision was arrived at based on the purposes and intent of the Historic Preservation Code as set 
forth in 9-11-18, B.R.C., 1981, as applied to the Landmark Alteration Certificate application.  
 
Public Hearing   
Abby Daniels, Historic Boulder, Inc., 1123 Spruce St., spoke in support of the staff 
recommendation.  
 
Motion  
On a motion by M. Schreiner, seconded by M. Gerwing, the Landmarks Board approved (5-0) 
a Landmark Alteration Certificate for the proposed alteration shown on plans dated 09/16/2014 
and 9/24/2014, finding that it generally meets the standards for issuance of a Landmark 
Alteration Certificate in Chapter 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to the following conditions: 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1.   The applicant shall be responsible for making modifications to the north face of the 
building in compliance with the approved plans dated 09/16/2014 and 09/24/2014, except 
as modified by these conditions of approval.  

 
2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 

Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit a revised design that:  
 
(A) Locates the entrance to the west side of the north addition; 

(B) Revises the replacement of non-historic windows on the north addition to more 
closely replicate the appearance of the screened in porch visible in the 1930s 
photograph;  

(C) Eliminates the proposed new windows and door at the north wall of the main 
building;  

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 2



3. The Landmarks design review committee shall review details of the remodel, including 
doors and window details, moldings and proposed insets, paint colors, and any associated 
hardscaping to ensure that the approval is consistent with the General Design Guidelines 
and the historic preservation ordinance. 

  

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 3



 
 
 

 
Figure 1. Location Map, 1029 Broadway 

 
 
 
 

  
Figure 2. 1931 Sanborn map of 1500 (later 1029) S. Broadway. 

  

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 4



 
Figure 3: 1029 Broadway, Northeast corner, 1930s 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 4: 1029 Broadway, Tax Assessor Card photograph c.1949. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 5



 
 

 
Figure 5: Façade, 1029 Broadway, 2014.   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
Figure 6: north elevation, from Broadway and 15th Street, 2014.   

 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 6



 
Figure 7: northwest corner from 15th Street  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 8: Proposed site plan 

    
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 7



 
Figure 9: north elevation windows  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 10: north elevation, from Broadway and 15th Street, 2014.   

 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 8



 
Figure 11: Proposed West elevation 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 12: west face of north addition 

  
 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 9



 
Figure 13: west face of north addition 

 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.

Call Up Item 
1029 Broadway St.

1D     Page 10





 
 

 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Molly M. Winter, Director, Downtown & University Hill Management 

Division/Parking Services 
 Sandra M. Llanes, Senior Assistant City Attorney  
 Curtis Johnson, Deputy Police Chief 
 Bill Cowern, Traffic Engineer, Transportation  
 Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager, Finance Department 
 Lane Landrith, Business Coordinator, Downtown & University Hill Management 

Division/Parking Services 
 Sarah DeSouza, Senior Manager for Community Outreach, Parks and Recreation 
 
Date:   December 10, 2014 
 
Subject: Information Item: Update on Mobile Food Truck Late Night Food “Podding” in 

Downtown Boulder 
  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this information item is to provide City Council an update regarding late night 
Mobile Food Vehicle (MFV) options in Boulder’s downtown area. City staff assessed MFV 
operator interest in a participating in a pilot program, analyzed potential “podding” locations and 
recommended one location, the Municipal Parking Lot, to the MFV community. Due to limited 
interest, a fall late night pilot MFV service was not pursued. City staff has encouraged MFV 
operators to develop a business plan for partnering with the city to offer a late night MFV pilot 
program in spring 2015.  Prior to initiating any late night food service pilot program, staff will 
conduct outreach efforts to residents, property and business owners adjacent to the Municipal 
Parking Lot to inform them of the program and allow them the opportunity to provide feedback 
on the proposal. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
With the exception of the one-time costs associated with creating parking lot signs and the 
ongoing costs of placing parking lot barricades in the Municipal Lot, all other costs associated 

Information Item 
Mobile Food Truck

2A     Page 1



with implementing a pilot late night food service program in the downtown area will be absorbed 
by the participating MFVs. These costs are expected to include, but are not limited to, event 
marketing and publicity, parking lot monitoring and parking enforcement (towing and/or 
relocating services). 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic: All MFVs operating in the City of Boulder are required to obtain required 

business and MFV licenses and pay sales tax. 
 
 Environmental: If implemented, a pilot late night program in the City’s municipal parking lot 

would require all MFVs to utilize zero waste practices. 
 
 Social: A late night MFV program would provide additional late night food service options 

for people exiting bars and other establishments in the City’s downtown.  From a safety 
perspective, Boulder Police Department prefers that the crowds be dispersed from the 
downtown area rather than be encouraged to congregate. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In May 2014, Council approved Ordinance 7971, an amendment to Section 9-6-5, “Temporary 
Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural Uses,” B.R.C. 1981 that increased the number of 
mobile food vehicles allowed on private property in designated zone districts.  At the public 
hearing, some Mobile Food Vehicle (MFV) operators spoke in support of the Ordinance and 
requested that in addition, Council consider allowing MFVs late night access in the areas 
currently restricted by ordinance in the city’s downtown core.  In response to the request, 
Council directed staff to identify possible locations for late night service in the populated 
downtown area near Pearl Street. Staff was directed to return to Council with an update. 
 
ANALYSIS 
In July 2014 staff conducted a survey of all licensed MFV to determine interest in late night food 
service in Boulder’s downtown.  Fourteen of 21 vendors (67 percent) indicated interest in 
participating in a pilot program. Based upon the high level of interest, a thorough opportunity 
and constraints analysis of potential downtown locations was conducted by staff including Curtis 
Johnson, Deputy Chief of Police, Molly Winter and Lane Landrith, Downtown and University 
Hill Management Division/Parking Services Director, Mishawn Cook, Tax and License 
Manager, Bill Cowern, Traffic Engineer, and Sarah DeSouza, Senior Manager for Community 
Outreach, Parks and Recreation Department (Attachment A). Based on the analysis of four 
downtown locations (Walnut Street and 11th Street, the Municipal Parking Lot, 11th Street and 
Canyon Boulevard, and the Randolph Building (1126 Walnut Street), the Municipal Parking Lot, 
located between the main library and the Municipal Building on the south side of Canyon 
Boulevard, was identified as the safest and most appropriate site for late night MFV activity.  
This location was chosen based on the least amount of negative impacts relating to public safety, 
adjacent neighborhoods, food truck viability, existing brick and mortar establishments, parking, 
traffic and general logistics.  
 
On September 10th, interested licensed MFV operators were invited to attend a meeting to 
discuss the specifics of initiating a pilot late night food service program at the recommended 

Information Item 
Mobile Food Truck

2A     Page 2



location.  One operator, representing two MFV’s, attended the meeting and the following 
considerations were discussed: 
 
The city is interested in partnering with MFV operators to establish a pilot late night MFV 
service in downtown Boulder.  The city’s role in the partnership is to facilitate a location for the 
activity.  Staff has identified a city-owned parking lot (the Municipal Parking lot at Canyon and 
Broadway) that can accommodate a number of trucks without violating any existing ordinance or 
creating safety or parking concerns for the general public.  While the city understands the desire 
of MF vendors to be situated closer to Pearl Street, there are no city-owned locations that can 
accommodate “podding” in that location.  Any food service in that area would require taking 
highly utilized parking places “off line” for the entire evening, inconveniencing the general 
public. And the Boulder Police Department has concerns that such a location would impede 
crowd dispersal.  Listed below are considerations for a pilot program:   
 

 As the operating partner, the MFV vendors will need to develop an equitable and 
inclusive “business plan” or strategy that will best position this pilot venture for success. 

 
 As business owners, the MFV vendors will be responsible for all of the costs associated 

with marketing and implementing the business operation.  The city will provide the 
location and will produce parking lot signage, barricades and trash/litter service for the 
“podding” area.   

 
 Scheduling and managing the rotation of trucks will be facilitated by the MFV vendors. 

 
 The Mobile Food Vehicle staff will facilitate the towing or relocation of vehicles through 

Boulder Police, and the city will not pay for any costs associated with vehicle relocation.  
These costs will be assumed by the participating MFV vendors. It must be understood 
that the Boulder Police may have other higher priority issues to deal with at that time.  

 
 Based on feedback from the food truck operators, it was suggested that the pilot program 

would begin with three trucks operating on Friday nights from 7 p.m. to 1:00 a.m. 
 

 The city can make available a portion (up to half) of the “Municipal” parking lot located 
on the south side of Canyon Boulevard.  The parking lot would require signage indicating 
what nights it would be closed early and barricades to block off the “podding area” to 
prevent people from parking. 

 
 The Municipal lot is a public parking area after work hours, Monday through Friday, and 

on the weekends.  Any cars parked in the designated area will have to be either ticketed 
and towed or ticketed and moved.  The difference between these two options is how the 
fees for either towing or relocation, are assessed.  If cars are relocated, an option that is 
more desirable to the parking public, the cost of the towing is paid by the event 
promoters.  If their cars are towed, vehicle owners will be responsible for their own 
impoundment fees.  There are public relations associated with this issue as many people 
use this area to park, and are likely to be upset if their cars are towed for parking in this 
public lot. 

Information Item 
Mobile Food Truck

2A     Page 3



 
 The Boulder Police Department supports the late night food service pilot program.  Their 

primary concern during the late night hours in downtown Boulder is the safety of the 
public, especially in the areas that have a high concentration of liquor licenses.  The 
Police Department will work with the MFV operators to ensure that customers purchase a 
food item on their pathway home and not linger around food trucks.  Locating the MFV 
operators in the Municipal Building Parking Lot helps ensure that patrons will have a 
safer place to purchase food, away from the street. 
 

 All currently city of Boulder licensed MFV operators have provided a certificate of 
insurance naming the city as an additional insured for auto, general liability, and property 
damage. The certificate of insurance would indemnify the city against undue risk for this 
type of permitted activity.  

 
As only one MFV operator attended the meeting, staff reached out by email to the other 12 
interested vendors asking for their input regarding the proposed pilot program.  MVF operators 
were asked to respond by Monday, October 6th indicating their interest in participating in a fall 
pilot program and specifically asking for volunteers from the MFV community to assume 
leadership of the effort.  City staff offered to coordinate and facilitate a meeting of MFV 
operators to discuss the pilot program.  Three MFV operators indicated interest in participating 
but not organizing a future pilot program. Since there was no interest in holding a coordination 
meeting, one was not scheduled.  As a result, the fall pilot program in downtown Boulder was 
not realized due to lack of support from the MFV community.   A member of the MFV 
community suggested waiting until spring to pursue a pilot program. Another consideration for 
the future will be the impact of the implementation of the Civic Area Plan.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
At both the September meeting and in subsequent follow up emails, licensed MFV operators 
were told that if the fall pilot program did not occur, the city would be willing to partner on a 
spring late night mobile food service program in the downtown area.  In order to proceed with a 
spring pilot program in 2015, MFV operators will need to determine their collective interest in 
planning, promoting and facilitating this recurring late night event. Additionally, prior to 
initiating any late night food service pilot program, staff will conduct outreach efforts to 
residents, property and business owners adjacent to the Municipal Parking Lot to inform them of 
the program and allow them the opportunity to provide feedback on the proposal. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Attachment A:  Downtown Mobile Food Truck Options for Late Night Service Matrix 

Information Item 
Mobile Food Truck

2A     Page 4



Walnut and 11th Municipal Lot 11th and Canyon Randolph Building

Public Safety Impacts

Area already filled with people; Desire to 

disperse crowds; Concern about people in 

roadway with food; drunkenness; brawling; 

would require more PD officers

Adequate lighting, crosswalks to support 

pedestrian crossing of Canyon; Safe; could 

require additional PD officers

Concern about people in roadway with 

food; Not very much room for food trucks; 

would probalby require more PD officers

Concern about people in roadway with food; 

Not very much room for food trucks; would 

probalby require more PD officers

Neighborhood Impacts
Residential neighborhood is half block away; 

trash and noise concerns

Residential neighborhood is relatively close 

by (1155 Canyon); trash concerns

High end residential property above; public 

spilling into; concern about people spilling 

into street; trash and noise concerns

Further away from residential but still within 

range; trash and noise concerns

Mobile Food Vehicle Viability
2 Food Trucks; high density of people in the 

area

6+ Food Trucks; farther away from Pearl 

Street
1‐2 Food Trucks ? Food Trucks

Impacts to Brick and Mortar 

Establishments
Old Chicago open for late night food service

Mustard's Last Stand closes at 10:00 pm; no 

restaurants to the north

Still within proximity to food establishments 

although none immediately competing
Close to Walnut (Absinthe)

Parking Viability Diagonal parking north side only;
Impact to parking lot on Thursday, Friday 

and Saturday nigh

On street parking usually full; angle parking 

on west side
On street parking is usually full

Traffic Impacts

North side of Walnut east of 11th ‐ Wide 

roadway with room for a food truck to park.  

Pedestrian impacts on sidewalk.

East side of parking lot ‐ No public ROW 

issues ‐ No pedestrian issues

11th north of Canyon ‐ Wide roadway with 

room for a food truck to park on either the 

east or the west side.  Pedestrian impacts on 

sidewalk.

East side of 11th south of Walnut ‐ Wide 

roadway with room for a food truck to park.  

Pedestrian impacts on sidewalk.

Logistics

Conduct lottery (?); lost parking spaces 

(revenue); cost of permit; towing vs 

removing vehicles

Conduct lottery (?); lost parking spaces 

(revenue); cost of permit; towing vs 

removing vehicles

Conduct lottery (?); lost parking spaces 

(revenue); cost of permit; towing vs 

removing vehicles

Conduct lottery (?); lost parking spaces 

(revenue); cost of permit; towing vs 

removing vehicles

High Impact

Medium Impact

Low Impact

Downtown Mobile Food Truck Options for Late Night Service Matrix

Attachment A:  Downtown Mobile Food Truck Options for Late Night Service Matrix

Information Item 
Mobile Food Truck

2A     Page 5





 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
To:   Members of City Council 
 
From:   Jane Brautigam, City Manager 
 David Driskell, Director of Community Planning & Sustainability (CP&S) 
 Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of CP&S  
 Lesli Ellis, AICP CEP, Comprehensive Planning Manager, CP&S 
 Greg Guibert, Chief Resilience Officer, CP&S 
 Jean Gatza, Sustainability Planner II, CP&S 
 
Date:   December 16, 2014 
 
Re:   Information Packet on Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 2015 Major Update – 

Assessment and Options for Scope of Work and Update on Resilience Strategy 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) is adopted jointly by the City of Boulder (“city”) 
(Planning Board and City Council) and Boulder County “county” (County Commissioners and Planning 
Commission) in their legislative capacities.  A link to the 2010 plan and maps is located at 
www.bouldervalleycompplan.net.  The BVCP is updated periodically to respond to changed circumstances 
or evolving community needs and priorities. In 2015, the plan is due for its major five year update. 
 
The purpose of this information packet is to describe the 2015 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) 
update assessment and scoping process; provide background and feedback regarding the update process; and 
summarize the consultant assessment of the 2010 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  (See Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan Assessment report, Attachment A.)  The draft report identifies strengths and 
weaknesses of the Plan and offers suggestions for improvement.  This packet builds upon the Oct. 14, 2014 
joint study session with City Council and Planning Board and the Nov. 3, 2014 joint study session with the 
Board of County Commissioners and Planning Commission, incorporating feedback from all four bodies as 
well as others.  It also provides a draft a process and timeline for the 2015 update in preparation for the work 
plan discussion in January and ideas for community engagement.  (See Attachments B and C.) 

 
In addition, the memo provides an update on the city’s Resilience Strategy next steps and work plan and 
materials from 100 Resilient Cities (100RC) (Rockefeller Foundation).  (See Attachment D.) 
 
If you have ideas or questions, please contact Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager:   
(303) 441-1898 or ellisl@bouldercolorado.gov. 

 

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 1



FISCAL IMPACTS  
 The 2015 BVCP update will be conducted by staff in house with support from technical consultants 

and other services (utilizing an approved 2015 budget of $100,000).   The Resilience Strategy is 
almost entirely funded by 100RC (Rockefeller Foundation) grant. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic – The BVCP guides city decisions relative to annexation, zoning, and overall city form 

and contains policies on economic vitality.  It has economic impacts on the business community in 
that it provides predictability about patterns for future growth and policies, and it has positive 
impacts on city revenues because of its emphasis on sustainability including economic vitality.  
Additionally, it addresses planning for services and their related costs.  The Resilience Strategy will 
address financial and economic resources and resilience.   

 Environmental – The BVCP addresses environmental concerns, including future growth and open 
space preservation, transportation, climate and greenhouse gas emissions, local food and agriculture, 
quality of the built environment, and overall ecological quality.  The Resilience Strategy will address 
shocks and stresses from flooding and other natural hazards and the community’s ability to recover 
quickly.   Additionally, it is an important regional policy document adopted by both the city and 
Boulder County. 

 Social – The BVCP contains policies to address community well being and diverse needs of people 
with different ethnicities, cultures, abilities, ages, and income.  It also addresses housing and human 
services.  The process to develop the plan engages a broad segment of the community for input and 
how to engage all community members.  The Resilience Strategy in its multifaceted definition will 
be inclusive and address health and wellbeing and needs of under-represented populations.   

BACKGROUND 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 2015 Update 

Plan Assessment and Scoping Process 
In June 2014, the city issued a Request for Proposals, received five proposals, and hired a consultant team 
(Clarion Associates/Godschalk) to conduct research and analysis in support of an assessment of the 2010 
Plan, understand community goals for the update, and to provide fresh ideas about how communities make 
plans highly strategic and effective.  The consultants have completed most of their assessment and the draft 
report is attached.  (See Attachment A.) 

2010 BVCP Background 
Since 1970, the city and county have jointly adopted and regularly updated a comprehensive plan that guides 
land use decisions in the Boulder Valley.  Each five years, the city and county undertake a review to 
determine how to ensure the plan remains responsive to evolving conditions, needs and priorities.     
 
The last update in 2010 addressed demographic challenges, recommended ramping up climate action, and 
addressed economic challenges.  Two broad areas were strengthened during the update:  (1) Sustainability 
polices encompassing social equity, environmental health and economic vitality, and (2) urban form and 
community design policies.  The city and county also discussed clarifying the process for considering service 
area expansion into the Area III-Planning Reserve but did not ultimately change the plan requirement for 
four-body review of service area expansions (i.e., City Council, County Commissioners, Planning Board and 
County Planning Commission). 
 
The plan is framed as the overarching policy guide for the community that is implemented by departmental 
strategic/master plans (over 20), subcommunity and area plans, Priority Based Budgeting, the Capital 

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 2



Improvements Program, and Development Standards and Zoning.  The Land Use Code and zoning is largely 
instrumental in guiding development to achieve plan goals consistent with the land use map. 

FEEDBACK 

Board of County Commissioners and Planning Commission – Nov. 3 Study Session 
The County Commissioners and Planning Commission held a joint meeting on Nov. 3, 2014 to review 
preliminary observations from the consultant and provide input regarding the scope and extent of the plan 
update.  The summary is located in Attachment B1.   Joint county input regarding the upcoming BVCP 
update is summarized as follows: 
 

1. Select a limited range of topics that are important to the community and do them well.  A mid-range 
BVCP update effort is appropriate.  

2. Make the document accessible, visual, and readable to encourage the next generation to engage.  
3. Maintain the long standing partnership between the city and county (while expanding systems 

thinking and regionalism). 
4. Add resilience as a core concept in addition to sustainability.   
5. Create clear linkages to metrics and/or regulations.  It is important to set baselines and be able to 

measure progress toward goals.   
6. Give the plan a clearer link with the land use code and implementation – make it easier to use when 

reviewing development proposals.    
7. Examples of urban form would be helpful.  It will be important for the city to determine what level 

of density is acceptable for the county’s rural policies to work. 

City Council and Planning Board – Oct. 14 Study Session 
The City Council and Planning Board met on Oct.14, 2014 to review preliminary observations from the 
consultant and provide input regarding the scope of issues and extent of the plan effort.  The approved 
summary is located in Attachment B2.   Points of input regarding the Plan included but were not limited to: 
 

1. Support a mid-range BVCP work effort with focus on implementation tools (with some opting for a 
minor work effort, and others supporting a more major effort in 2015).   

2. Integrate resilience with sustainability.  
3. Do not redefine the vision or rehash values, but make the plan more graphic and less wordy and 

clarify policies in some cases. 
4. Integrate metrics and outcomes. 
5. Add new or emerging topics, such as built environment clarification, climate commitment, arts and 

culture, and local foods.  
6. Engage the community widely, including neighborhoods (coordination with the city’s new 

neighborhood liaison) and include vulnerable or under represented populations. 

City Boards and Commissions 
All board and commission meeting summaries are located in Attachment B3. 
 

 Transportation Advisory Board discussed the update on Oct. 13, 2014.   
 The Environmental Advisory Board discussed the update on Oct. 1, 2014. 
 The Planning Board met on Sept. 18, 2014 in preparation for the Study Session with City Council on 

Oct. 14, 2014.   

Other Input  
The consultants and staff conducted interviews and scoping sessions with city board members and with staff 
from city and county organizations, including the following (summarized in Attachment B4):     
 

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 3



 Two members from the Arts Commission 
 Two members from the Open Space Board 
 Two members from Downtown Management Commission 
 Growing up Boulder staff 
 City staff from all departments that provide community services, including master plan coordinating 

committee and ecological planning team 
 County staff from multiple departments 

CONSULTANT ASSESSMENT SUMMARY 
To assist with discussions in October and November, the consultant prepared initial assessment observations.  
The draft report summarizes these observations as well as input received from the city and county over the 
past few months. It is presented in five parts:   

 
1. Introduction – describes the BVCP Plan analysis and provides general background on the history, 

successes and strengths of the Plan.   
2. Analysis of Plan and Themes for Improvement – includes seven key themes identified during the 

Plan analysis that guide the recommendations for the 2015 Plan update process. 
3. Best Practices – provides general background on features of effective community plans, and 

includes a set of “best practices” around some of the key themes to help inform the Plan update 
process.  

4. Work Plan and Community Engagement Recommendations – includes sequence of steps for the 
Plan update, including initial ideas about phasing of tasks in 2015 and 2016 and ideas to engage the 
community. 

5. Possible Structure(s) for Plan Update – includes options for a revised structure for the Plan to 
incorporate consultant recommendations, with two outlines presented in the appendix 

Recommendations for Plan Improvement—Key Themes 
While the consultant report recognizes many long time strengths of the Plan, it also identifies potential areas 
of improvement, including:   
 

 Include 21st century challenges and opportunities, such as resilience and unpredictable change, 
climate mitigation and adaptation, planning for energy needs, and others; 

 Present the vision in a more compelling way;  
 Include outcomes and metrics to help track progress towards reaching the community’s goals; 
 Illustrate desired urban form of the city;  
 Strengthen linkages between the plan and  implementation tools; 
 Clarify policies in key areas; and  
 Integrate resilience during the update process and throughout the Plan. 

 
Each of these themes is discussed in more detail below and in the report (See Attachment A.) 

1—Include 21st Century Challenges and Opportunities and Expand Systems and Regional 
Thinking 
The Plan has its origins in the primary challenges facing the community in the 20th century; growth 
management, containment of sprawl, and preservation of open lands.  The city and county are nationally 
renowned for achieving “best-in-class” results in tackling these challenges. However, the Plan’s scope now 
needs to broaden if it is to serve the community’s current needs and challenges, and vision for the future.   
While the Plan’s core values and vision from the 1970s are still solid, a new and evolving set of challenges is 
now before the community, such as: 
 

 resilience and the dynamic and unpredictable pace of change and disruptive events; 

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 4



 climate adaptation and mitigation and planning for fundamental energy system transformation; 
 equity, income disparity, and aging population;  
 housing affordability;  
 expanding on local and regional partnerships to leverage scarce resources and plan to achieve mutual 

goals; and 
 community arts and culture. 

 
Some of these topics can best be addressed through work that is underway while others may need to be 
addressed through alliances or other initiatives. 

2—Recast the Document Format to Present the Vision in a More Compelling Way   
The Plan contains many powerful and innovative ideas, each of which can lead the city towards a better 
future.  Opportunities include making the format more user-friendly and less wordy, doing a better job of 
telling the Boulder story, and conveying the vision in a more graphic way. 

3—Address Outcomes and Metrics in the Plan 
For the most part, the current plan and its policies do not have direct and well defined measures of outcomes, 
results, and actions. While this encourages flexibility of implementation, it discourages public understanding, 
accountability, collaboration, and organizational learning. For more specifics, one must look to the various 
Master Plans created for transportation, public safety, and other functional areas. The Plan could serve a 
stronger role in integrating the various plans as well as by including a set of high level outcomes and metrics.  

4—Illustrate the City's Desired Urban Form  
The Plan does not clearly illustrate the desired sustainable urban form and how it will be affected by 
individual projects or public policies.  The Plan needs to use new tools to show what the desired outcome is 
(e.g., graphic images, pictures, perhaps 3D modeling).  This will help inform ongoing efforts to update the 
city’s development regulations and procedures and provide a clear picture of the types of change that are 
expected. The report presents opportunities to illustrate or modify the land use plan to focus on desired 
physical characteristics for places and to illustrate how all areas of the city fit together. 

5—Strengthen Linkages between the Plan and Implementation Tools  
The Plan should serve as the guiding document for the tools that are used to implement planning in the 
community, including master plans; area and sub-community plans; priority-based budgeting that drives 
programs and services; and development regulations contained in the Land Use Code. More could be done to 
strengthen and more clearly articulate the Plan’s role and linkages especially to the code.  

6—Clarify Policies in a Few Key Areas   
The Plan contains a large number and range of policies. While for the most part they are clear and well-
written, users of the Plan will say that at times they can be all things to all people.  The 2015 update could 
focus on clarifying a narrow range of policies.  

7—Integrate Resilience  
Community resilience is generally defined as the ability of a city to bounce back after a shock or stress or the 
sustained ability of a community to use available resources to respond to, withstand, and recover from 
adverse situations.  Resilience and sustainability are closely related; a sustainable city is resilient and a 
resilient city is sustainable.  The city and county leaders were supportive of including resilience in the Plan, 
and opportunities for the update include integrating resilience throughout the Plan update by leveraging the 
100 Resilient Cities effort, network, and analysis (described later in this memo) to develop a new model for 
addressing resilience in a comprehensive plan.  

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 5



Proposed Approach and Schedule to Update the BVCP 
In October and November, the consultant presented different approaches and levels of effort to address the 
Plan update, ranging from minimal (e.g., retaining the current plan and focusing on related implementation 
tools) to much higher levels of effort (e.g., potentially significant changes to the plan and repackaging, with 
extensive engagement of the community and key partners).    
 
Given the multitude of other initiatives and high priority work items and also ideas to improve the BVCP and 
address current conditions, in October and November the city and county leadership generally supported a 
moderate scope for the update to focus on aspects of the plan that could be successfully completed (as noted 
in key themes above) as well as focusing on parallel or subsequent implementation tools, including Design 
Excellence code changes and growth management implementation.   
 
The 2015 BVCP update is anticipated to take 18-24 months with major phases that roughly coincide with the 
Resilience Strategy phases and that will be solidified after work plan discussions with City Council and the 
county in January 2015:   
 

Phase 1—Foundation Work and Community Engagement Plan (tasks described below) 
Phase 2—Issues Focus and Community Kick off  
Phase 3—Policy and Map Updates 
Phase 4—Draft Plan and IGA Renewal  

 
The draft Timeline for the Plan and Resilience Strategy is also located in Attachment C. 
 
Because the topic of four-body review of service expansions or changes to Area III/Planning Reserve was 
not discussed or supported during city and county Study Sessions, staff does not anticipate revisiting the 
topic that was previously unresolved.   
 
Additionally, because the City of Boulder/Boulder County Comprehensive Development Plan 
Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) expires on Dec. 31, 2017, staff suggests the city and county 
extend/renew the IGA after the plan update is complete in 2016.   
 

 
Draft 2015/2016 Timeline for BVCP Update 

Foundation Work (Phase 1 – Early 2015) 
Staff anticipates certain steps that are part of a five year update regardless of its overall scope plus some 
additional proposed foundation work in response to the key themes and recommendations identified as part 
of the initial plan assessment and discussions.  The following tasks are planned for early 2015:     
 

1. Finalize the work plan with the city and county (Jan. 2015) with consideration of other work plan 
priorities. 

2. Update community profile and demographic information.  
3. Prepare map-based (Geographic Information System) analysis of growth capacity considering 

current land use plan and zoning and other regional forecast information. 

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 6



4. Evaluate 3D mapping options and prepare 3D mapping analysis.  
5. Develop a Community Engagement Plan that will be creative, transparent, and involve all segments 

of the community around key issues.  (See Attachment A, p. 35, and Attachment B for additional 
community engagement ideas.) 

6. Prepare approach to including metrics in the Plan, including those currently in use in Boulder and 
exploration of how other communities have included metrics in plans.  

7. Coordinate with new neighborhood liaison to identify best ways to involve neighborhoods. 
8. Invite requests for land use map changes as part of phase 2. 

 
Tasks for the subsequent three phases of the update effort will be defined as part of Task 1 above (finalizing 
the work plan). 

RESILIENCE STRATEGY 
As part of the Rockefeller Foundation’s 100 Resilient Cities (100RC) campaign, Boulder will be devoting 
considerable attention and work effort over the coming two years toward becoming more resilient to the 
physical, social, and economic challenges of the 21st century. (More information is available in Attachment 
D.)  100RC supports the adoption and incorporation of a view of resilience that includes not just the shocks 
the community faces – fire, flood, disease – but also the chronic stresses that persistently weaken the city and 
sap our full potential. The 100RC program supports resilience building activities at the city level along four 
pathways: 
 

 Chief Resilience Officer: Financial support for the creation of a new position in the government 
who will lead the effort. This position was filled in the Fall of 2014 with the hiring of Greg Guibert 
as Boulder’s first Chief Resilience Officer. 

 Tools and Methods: Technical and logistical support for the development of a resilience strategy 
that will serve as the city’s roadmap to resilience activities and priorities 

 Platform Partners: Access to tools and specialized partnerships to help developed a sophisticated 
understanding the city’s risks, assets, weaknesses, and opportunities and how they interlink in 
unanticipated ways 

 Network: Inclusion into a network of 99 other cities from which best practices, innovation, and 
peer-to-peer learning can advance the practice of resilience globally  

 
100RC has developed a general approach and methodology for developing resilience strategies that Boulder 
with three stages that Boulder will need to customize according to its individualized needs, community goals, 
and capacity and develop in tandem with the BVCP scope of work.    
 

 Phase I can be generally characterized as foundational and included a workshop with 100RC staff in 
April 2014 and the hiring of the CRO in September 2014. The first major process phase, however, 
began in late October 2014 and it will include a series of diagnostic and analytical activities designed 
to more comprehensively assess the city’s risk profile, catalogue the existing portfolio of resilience-
related projects, policies, and programs, and map a robust and inclusive stakeholder engagement plan 
for subsequent phases.  

 Phase II will deliver the resilience strategy by identifying specific priorities and initiatives for 
implementation.  

 Phase III will be dedicated to early implementation activities and ensuring the financial 
sustainability of the effort beyond the initial 100RC investments. 

 
The success of the resilience strategy process for the city will rest in the ability to integrate the tools and 
methodologies pioneered by 100RC with the needs, processes, and priorities of the Boulder community. 
While the diagnostic, assessment, and engagement tools will undoubtedly surface important contributions to 
the overall strategy, it must build on a foundation of existing city efforts and successes. Some early 

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 7



opportunities for integration include incorporation of resilience principles and metrics into the BVCP Update 
and the development of the Local Food policy. Similarly, some of the mapping and assessment tools 
proposed by 100RC, such as the creation of a stakeholder map, have the potential to add real value to other 
efforts across city departments, including the 2015 Plan update.  
 
As part of the 100RC program, Boulder will have access to a series of specialized technical partners known 
as Platform Partners. The type and level of service will vary among Platform Partners, with some making 
specific ‘off the shelf’ tools available for city use, such as SwissRE’s catastrophe modeling software. Other 
opportunities will be co-developed in consultation with the city and a partner. In Norfolk, for example, the 
city has partnered with Palantir, a data innovation and management company, to develop information 
architecture that will allow the city to digest vast quantities of data to improve situational awareness during 
disasters. Similarly, Norfolk has also partnered with Sandia National Labs to develop a cutting-edge full cost 
accounting method of Cost-Benefit Analysis for various development pathway options to maximize their 
resilience to climate change and sea level rise. Finally, Boulder’s resilience strategy development process 
may indicate specific technical analysis not yet supported by the 100RC Platform in which case the city will 
have the opportunity to work with 100RC to locate suitable partners whose services can be replicated across 
the Network. Engagement with Platform Partners is largely envisioned for Phase 2 and 3, once priority areas 
have been identified through community input and interaction. However, Boulder is partnering with Ushahidi 
(http://www.ushahidi.com/), an open-source location-based community engagement technology platform, in 
early phases as intentional expansion of the engagement effort to local technologists, tech start-ups and 
entrepreneurs, among others.  
 
On December 3, 2014, 100RC announced the second round of cities into the Network. As part of the 
inaugural class announced in 2013, Boulder is relatively well advanced in the planning process. A smaller 
subset of cities were designated as pilot cities and provided useful input and modification to the draft tools 
and methodologies now being replicated across the Network. Because Boulder is already engaged in a 
number of resilience building activities independent of the 100RC effort (in many cases due to the 2013 
Flood recovery efforts), we have made important early contributions to 100RC tools and guidance 
documents, suggesting significant modifications to the stakeholder engagement and “shocks and stresses” 
assessment tools, for example. The expectation remains that Boulder will continue to be a peer leader having 
made early connections with Melbourne, AUS; San Francisco, CA; Berkeley, CA; and Rotterdam, NL 
around areas of mutual interest, including climate impact assessments, cyber-security and infrastructure, and 
equity and housing affordability, among others.  

 
Draft 2015/2016 Timeline for Resilience Strategy 

IMMEDIATE NEXT STEPS 
Jan. 2015 Finalize work plan for 2015 BVCP Update and Resilience Strategy 
Jan. 23, 2015 Council retreat discussion of work plan 
Early 2015 Phase 1 Plan Update and Resilience Strategy technical work; Develop Community 

Engagement Strategy 

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 8



ATTACHMENTS 
A. Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Assessment - Report from Consultant 
B. Summary of Feedback and Input  

B1. Boulder County, Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting of the County Commissioners and Planning 
Commission 
B2. City of Boulder, Oct. 14, 2014 Joint Meeting of the City Council and Planning Board  
B3. Board and Commissions Summary  
B4. Summary of Interviews and Staff Input  

C. Draft Timeline for BVCP 2015 Major Update and Resilience Strategy 
D. Updated Resilience Strategy Materials   

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 9





 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 10



 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 11



 

Introduction ......................................................................................................................................1 

Project Description.................................................................................................................................... 1 

Project Process .......................................................................................................................................... 1 

Organization of this Analysis ..................................................................................................................... 2 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Overview ......................................................................................... 2 

Summary of Preliminary Findings ............................................................................................................. 6 

Analysis of Current Plan and Recommendations for Improvement ......................................................7 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

Elements of “Cutting-Edge” Plans ............................................................................................................. 7 

Key Themes and Areas for Improvement ................................................................................................. 9 

Best Practices .................................................................................................................................. 21 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 21 

Urban Form Best Practices ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Outcomes and Metrics Best Practices .................................................................................................... 28 

Resilience Best Practices ......................................................................................................................... 30 

Action Plans Best Practices ..................................................................................................................... 32 

Work Plan and Community Engagement Recommendations ............................................................. 34 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 34 

Work Plan Recommendations ................................................................................................................ 35 

Recommendations for Public Outreach .................................................................................................. 35 

Recommended Structure for Plan Update ......................................................................................... 37 

Appendix ......................................................................................................................................... 38 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Outline, Based on Current Structure ............................................ 38 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Outline, Based on Sustainability Framework ............................... 41 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 12



1 
 

INTRODUCTION 
Project Description 
The City of Boulder retained Clarion Associates and David Godschalk, national planning consultants, to 
complete an assessment of the 2010 Boulder Valley Comprehensive (plan) in anticipation of its five-year 
plan update.  The intent was to provide a third party review of the plan identifying strengths and 
weaknesses of the document, and offering suggestions for improvement based on national best 
practices and community-identified concerns.  It will set the foundation for the plan update 
commencing in 2015, which planning staff will largely conduct in-house.   

Project Process 
The Plan Assessment project consisted of three primary tasks as follows.  

Task 1: Preliminary Assessment 
To begin the project, the consultants met with city and county staff from multiple departments over the 
course of several days, and reviewed background materials. Consultants and city staff also met with 
boards and commissions to get their input.  Consultants then reviewed the plan document and prepared 
a set of preliminary observations. These served as the basis for study sessions with city and county 
leadership during Task 2. 

Task 2: Review Preliminary Findings 
The consultants met with city and county leadership to review and discuss their preliminary findings. 
Meetings included a study session with the Boulder Planning Board; a joint study session of the Planning 
Board and City Council; and a joint study session with the County Planning Commission and Board of 
County Commissioners. Participants at the meetings discussed a wide variety of issues and concerns for 
Boulder and their relationship to the 2015 plan update.  

Task 3:  Preliminary Report 
During the final phase of this project, the consultants refined their findings and recommendations for 
proceeding with the 2015 plan update. The result is this analysis, which includes the following:   

• Key Themes – Analysis of Current Plan and Recommendations for Improvement 
• Summary of Best Practices Related to BVCP Update Issues 
• Work Plan Recommendations 
• Recommended Structure for Updated Plan 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 13



2 
 

 

Organization of this Analysis 
This Analysis is organized in five parts plus an appendix: 

Introduction – describes the plan analysis effort and provides general background on the history and 
successes and strengths of the plan.   
 
Key Themes – provides general background on elements of “cutting-edge” plans, and describes seven 
key themes identified during the Plan analysis that guide the recommendations for the 2015 plan 
update process. 
 
Best Practices – includes a set of “best practices” examples to help inform the plan update process.  
 
Work Plan Recommendations– includes a recommended sequence of step for the plan update, 
including phasing of tasks in 2015 and 2016, as well as ideas for community engagement. 
 
Recommended Structure for Plan Update – includes recommendations for a revised structure for the 
plan, to incorporate our recommendations. 

 
Included in the appendix are outline examples of a revised BVCP based on the recommendations 
contained in this report.  Also available under separate cover are summaries of issues identified during 
consultant/staff interviews, and a summary of study sessions with city and county elected and 
appointed officials. 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Overview1 

Early Planning Efforts 
Boulder has long valued its surroundings at the base of the Front Range foothills. After examining the 
city for the Boulder Civic Improvement Association, Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. recommended in 1910 
that the foothills of the city be preserved in their natural state. Boulder's first urban service boundary, 
the "Blue Line," was established in 1959 as a citizen-initiated City Charter amendment. The purpose of 
the Blue Line is to protect the foothills from development which was considered imminent and 
extremely detrimental to the natural beauty of Boulder. It insured that city water service could not be 
used to further urban development up into the foothills by prohibiting the supply of county water to 
areas lying above a certain elevation. Effectively, this line prevented the city from annexing or serving 
the land west of its municipal limits. 

                                                           
1 Note: this section is based on “Growth Management in Boulder, Colorado: a Case Study”, prepared by J.Raismes, 
H. Hoyt, P.Pollock, J. Gordon, And D. Gehr, 1999 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 14



3 
 

Once the city had adopted the Blue Line as an urban growth boundary along its western side, it began 
planning for its utility capacity to serve new growth. The city’s primary planning document was called 
the "Guide for Growth," adopted in January, 1958. It consisted of a land use and circulation map, a 
summary of basic studies, plans for circulation, land use, schools, recreation, central district and utilities, 
and action programs.   

Other early planning documents included "Boulder's Fringe Area Objectives" (1964) and "The Service 
Area Concept: A Program for Boulder's Planned Development" (1965), often referred to as "The Spokes 
of the Wheel." The assumption of both of these plans was to guide growth in the fringe areas, to 
prevent disorderly sprawl, through contracts for water and sewer service outside of the city's 
boundaries. 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan – a New Beginning City/County Cooperative 
Planning 
The adoption of the 1970 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan was important in that it set the stage for 
city and county cooperation and introduced the concept of staged urban growth in the Boulder Valley. 
The plan was primarily a land use and service area map which also defined future open spaces around 
the city. It largely placed the burden on the city to implement the plan through annexation and utility 
service policies, since the current plan was first adopted in 1977. Since then, six major updates have 
been completed: 1982, 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005 and 2010.  

With the adoption of the 1977 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, the city changed its service area 
concept to one that is based on staged development. It divided Boulder Valley into three service areas: 

• Area I, land within existing city limits, which were receiving all municipal services; 
• Area II, land eligible for annexation within the next fifteen years; and 
• Area III, land not planned for urban development within the fifteen year planning period. 

Also adopted was a land use map that specifically defined the type and intensity of land use. The county 
agreed to zone the unincorporated areas in a manner that was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
Ultimately, in 1984, county staff brought forward a proposal to implement the comprehensive plan's 
recommendations through downzoning most of the unincorporated area of the county. Much of the 
county had over the years been zoned to various residential and commercial districts, and most of this 
rezoning had been done on a speculative basis, resulting in large areas zoned for urban uses and 
densities, but only scattered, and minimal actual development. The county’s rezoning of 25,340 acres in 
1985 and 1986 was a bold step in implementing the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and is one of 
the major factors for its success. Both the city and the county have lived with a stable Comprehensive 
Plan framework since 1977, with periodic updates approximately every five years. The most recent 
update was in 2010. 

Successes and Strengths of the Plan 
By most measures, Boulder's growth management strategy clearly has been successful. It has helped 
preserve important elements of the natural environment. It has focused community attention on the 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 15



4 
 

relationship between development and the infrastructure necessary to support that development. The 
sense that both the valley’s natural beauty and its urban form may be protected over time has 
contributed to the desirability of the city as a place in which to live and work. 

Unlike many cities that sprawled into the countryside, Boulder has created a sharp edge between urban 
and rural development. The definition of areas where services are provided allows a direct link between 
land use planning and infrastructure planning. The urban service areas also help to focus investment on 
redevelopment within the city. Through redevelopment of underutilized areas and infill development, 
the city has been able to capitalize on its existing public investments in infrastructure, and has 
transformed many of its corridors and centers into vibrant, urban places. 

The city’s coordination of planning efforts with the county is the bedrock foundation upon which all of 
these planning efforts have been implemented. The city and county have maintained relations that led 
to cooperative planning efforts from the days of the Boulder Regional Planning Commission in the early 
1950's to today. City and county cooperation has prevented leapfrog development patterns in the 
Boulder Valley and other problems that occur when governments compete with each other rather than 
cooperate. City and county cooperation also set the stage for the highly successful Open Space Program 
that to date has preserved more than 70 square miles of city open space land, with an additional 150 
square miles administered by the county. The result has been the preservation of two-thirds of the 
Boulder Valley. 

While Boulder has been successful in preserving a ring of open space around its borders and limiting 
outward sprawl, many working people now find it challenging to live within the city due to the high cost 
of housing.  Infill and redevelopment opportunities within which to retain some demographic balance 
are limited, therefore the city faces the challenge of making sure that the city's planning does not lead 
to social elitism and other unintended changes in the quality of life and character in Boulder, due to high 
costs of housing and other factors such as high levels of workforce in-commuting. The city has 
continuously revisited the question of balance between housing and jobs over the years, and has made 
adjustments to the BVCP land use plan in response. However, the dynamic between places to live and 
work is now a regional issue, as are transportation challenges, and Boulder will need to continue to 
engage with other communities as well as regional partners on this topic. 

Current Status and Policy Directions 
The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan provides a general statement of the community’s desires for 
future development and preservation of the Boulder Valley, and is largely a policy document. The 
principle of sustainability drives the overall framework of the plan. The sustainability framework 
contained in the current plan is primarily based on the Triple Bottom Line: environmental sustainability 
(energy, climate, agriculture and food, and natural environment); economic sustainability (economy and 
transportation); and social sustainability (housing and community well-being). More recently, City 
Council has adopted a comprehensive sustainability framework that is based on seven broad categories:  

 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 16



5 
 

1. Safe Community 
2. Healthy and Socially Thriving Community 
3. Livable Community 
4. Accessible and Connected Community 
5. Environmentally Sustainable Community 
6. Economically Vital Community 
7. Good Governance 

The core components of the plan are: 

Policies: The bulk of the plan contains policies that guide decisions about growth, development, 
preservation, environmental protection, economic development, affordable housing, culture and the 
arts, urban design, neighborhood character and transportation. The policies also inform decisions about 
the manner in which services are provided such as police, fire, emergency medical services, water 
utilities, flood control and human services. 

Amendment Procedures: This section of the plan describes the procedures for various types of 
amendments to the Plan, including five-year updates. 

Land Use Map Description: The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Land Use and Area I, II, III maps 
define the desired land use pattern for the Boulder Valley regarding location, type and intensity of 
development. 

Implementation: This section describes the various master plans, subarea and community plans that 
provide a more detailed framework for implementation of the plan. 

Referral Process: Establishes the referral process for land use and public improvement activities. 

Urban Services Criteria and Standards: Describes the urban service criteria and standards that are used 
to determine adequacy of services for land use and public improvement activities in Area II as well as for 
annexation. 

The most recent update to the plan, completed in 2010, focused on three areas: 

1. Sustainability policy changes throughout the document, with a particular focus on urban 
form/community design; 

2. Land Use and Area I, II, and III map changes, particularly the consolidation of Area IIA and IIB 
designations; and 

3. Process changes for amendments to the Area III Planning Reserve; these were ultimately not 
approved by the County Planning Commission, thus these changes were not included in the 
2010 update. 
 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 17



6 
 

Summary of Preliminary Findings  
Overall, the plan contains a number of strengths that serve as a positive foundation for the update.  
These include: 

• A solid foundation in growth management and land conservation, with a track record of success 
that is widely supported by the community; 

• A long-term, successful track record of cooperation between the city and county in planning and 
implementation; 

• A compact development pattern with policy support for diverse housing types; 
• A comprehensive set of master plans, subarea plans, and other detailed documents that help 

implement the BVCP; 
• Regular updates to the plan (five years) to keep it current and relevant; 
• A multi-modal transportation network that is well on its way towards implementation; and 
• A wide range of topics related to sustainability and other contemporary issues to build on for 

the update. 

In addition to these strengths, we have identified a number of key themes for improvement to be 
considered during the upcoming update process. These include the following: 

• Include 21st century challenges and opportunities in the update, such as resilience, climate 
mitigation and adaptation, planning for energy needs in the future, and others; 

• Present the vision in a more compelling way;  
• Consider including outcomes and metrics to help track progress towards reaching the 

community’s goals; 
• Make the desired urban form of the city more clear, and illustrate it so that all can understand 

it; 
• Strengthen linkages to implementation tools and actions; 
• Clarify policies in key areas; and  
• Integrate resilience throughout the plan during the update process. 

Each of these themes is discussed in more detail in the next section of this report. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 18



7 
 

 

ANALYSIS OF CURRENT PLAN AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT 
Introduction 
The following observations from the consultant team are based on our assessment of the plan, 
interviews with board members and city staff, and observing other community discussions regarding 
planning policy.  They are based on the personal experience and national research of the authors about 
best practices related to effective and cutting-edge comprehensive plans.  Our preliminary observations 
were reviewed in study sessions with city and county planning commission members and appointed 
officials, and our recommendations below reflect the input and discussions from these study sessions.  

Elements of “Cutting-Edge” Plans  
Based on our experience with plans that have been prepared in recent years, we believe that cutting-
edge, successful plans should include the following:   

Compelling Vision:  The plan contains a clear and compelling vision for the future of the community that 
is easy to identify and describe. 

Strong Rationale for Plan Direction and Policies:  Effective plans include strong, clear rationale for 
recommended policies and actions. Elected officials and citizens must understand why a particular 
course of action is needed or desired if they are going to support its implementation. 

Visually-Oriented and User-Friendly:  The plan should use state-of-the-art graphics and images as much 
as possible to depict planning concepts.  Maps should be legible and useful, conveying desired 
outcomes, not just land use categories. 

Contemporary Planning Issues and Opportunities:  The plan should also advance best practices in the 
planning and development fields for contemporary issues such as resilience and sustainability, 
neighborhood design and mixed-use development, partnerships and coordination, and social equity.  It 
is also important that plans incorporate such topics in compelling and meaningful ways.  

Integrated Approach:  The plan should serve to tie together other plans in the community.  

Clear-Cut Implementation Strategies:  An effective plan should include a clear set of actions and 
strategies to carry it out.  In many instances, elements of plan implementation can be carried out 
concurrent with the planning process, setting the stage for action and demonstrating early progress 
towards plan goals.  

Outcome-Focused and Include Measures for Progress:  Successful plans set clear, desired outcomes and 
include mechanisms for tracking progress. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 19



8 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cutting-edge plans for communities integrate multiple aspects of a community’s sustainability goals 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 20



9 
 

Key Themes and Areas for Improvement 
While recognizing many long time strengths of the plan, this assessment identifies a number of potential 
areas of improvement. Each is described below. 

Include 21st Century Challenges and Opportunities in the Update 
The plan has its origins in the primary challenges facing the community in the 20th century; growth 
management, containment of sprawl, and preservation of open lands.  In its current form, the plan is 
largely a land use and preservation plan, and has been so dating back to its origins in the 1970’s. The city 
and county are nationally renowned for achieving “best-in-class” results in tackling these challenges. 
However, the plan’s scope now needs to broaden if it is to serve the community’s current needs and 
challenges, and vision for the future. While many of these challenges and opportunities are being 
addressed in some way through separate initiatives, the 2015 update could serve to bring together 
many of these topics in a cohesive, unified manner. Opportunities include:   

1. Address new century challenges. While the plan’s core values and vision are still solid, a new and 
evolving set of challenges is now before the community, such as: 

• resilience and the dynamic and unpredictable pace of change 
• climate adaptation and mitigation and planning for energy needs of the future 
• equity, income disparity, and aging population  
• housing affordability  
• expand on local and regional partnerships to leverage scarce resources and plan to achieve 

mutual goals 
• the role of arts and culture 

Some of these topics can best be addressed through work that is now underway, such as the ongoing 
housing strategy and through efforts to integrate the City’s ongoing resilience strategy with the plan 
update process. Other topics will need to be addressed through other initiatives or alliances to address 
topics such as social equity, or arts and culture, which could be integrated with the city’s cultural plan. 

2. Expand systems and regional scope. In our discussions with city and county leadership, they noted 
that many of the systems that serve the community and demographic and growth influences that affect 
it (e.g., water, transportation, air quality and climate, natural systems, energy infrastructure and supply, 
population growth) have a geographic scope that reaches beyond the boundaries of the plan. With an 
increased emphasis on resilience, it may be appropriate during the update to consider these systems in 
their larger context, beyond the boundaries of the plan area. This will be particularly important to 
consider as part of the resilience strategy. Note that this recommendation does not imply that the plan 
needs to be recast as a regional plan; rather, what we are suggesting is that many of the built and 
natural systems that support the city are part of a larger regional framework that needs to be 
considered. However, it may be appropriate for some of the maps in the plan to be more regional in 
scale. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 21



10 
 

Recast the Document Format to Present the Vision in a More Compelling Way   
The plan contains many powerful and innovative ideas, each of which can lead the city towards a better 
future.  However, they are imbedded in the Plan document in a rather disconnected manner, not stated 
as a unifying vision with a clear, strategic structure.  Simply stated, Boulder has a great story to tell 
about its vision for the future, and we believe that the Plan is the right place for this to come together. 
We have found in our experience with other progressive communities that a cohesive vision can serve as 
a unifying element of the plan.  The Vision and supporting Core Values can be part of a strong section 
that can also stand-alone outside of the plan document, and serve as a guide for high-level policy and 
decision-making.  These relatively simple changes could go a long way towards unifying the plan update 
and enabling it to serve as a unifying document for the community’s development. Opportunities 
include: 

1. Make the format more user-friendly. The plan in its current form it is not presented in a manner that 
is a compelling read for much of the community, particularly non-planners, because it is heavy on text, 
contains few graphics and maps, and is organized in standalone chapters or elements that do not relate 
to a broader vision for the city. A fresher format that is more visually oriented, in addition to other 
recommendations outlined below, could help make the document more appealing to readers. 

2. Do a better job of telling the Boulder story. Boulder has an incredible story to tell – its past, present, 
and future – and the plan can present so much more in a way that is more inspirational and accessible to 
the broader community. This can help build a greater understanding of the purpose of the plan. This 
could include a retrospective section that explains what the plan has done to shape the community over 
time, and how its values have been maintained over the 40+ year history of planning in the Valley. For 
example, a graphically illustrated timeline of areas of land conserved over time would help give the 
reader a better sense of accomplishments related to the vision contained in the Plan. 

3. Convey a compelling vision. The plan and other documents (Sustainability Framework, for example) 
contain much that speak to the community’s values and vision, but this is not presented in a clear, 
cohesive, form that gives meaning to most people in the community. In the current form of the plan, 
there really is no identifiable vision per se. City and county leadership have told us that they would like 
to see the vision be more obvious and clear in the document. The community’s vision for the future 
could be more evident, setting the tone for the plan and carrying forward in some manner throughout 
the document.  Note that our recommendation does not imply that the underlying elements of the 
vision needs to change, but rather that it could be made more obvious and clear. Simply stated, the 
vision should set the aspirations of the community, and the rest of the plan should describe what it will 
take to get there.  

For Boulder, a new, creative approach to its vision might include elements of the past, present, and 
desired future in a series of “big idea” statements, including graphics and illustrations to fully convey the 
desired future vision.   

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 22



11 
 

For example, Portland’s draft Vision for 20352 (see figure below) is a simple narrative statement.  It is 
supported by seven key directions to achieve the vision, that help to frame up the rest of the plan’s 
content: 

1. Create complete neighborhoods 
2. Encourage job growth 
3. Create a low-carbon community 
4. Improve natural areas and open spaces 
5. Provide reliable infrastructure 
6. Improve resiliency 
7. One size does not fit all 

 
 

                                                           
2 http://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/57352 

Source: Portland 2035 Comprehensive Plan Proposed Draft 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 23



12 
 

Another example is found in The Auckland Plan – a recently completed plan for Auckland, New Zealand3. 
Its vision is found in a section of the plan called “Auckland Now and Into the Future”. The vision 
statement is a simple one: 

Auckland’s vision is to become the world’s most liveable city. As the world’s most liveable city Auckland 
will be a place that: 

Aucklanders are proud of, 

they want to stay or return to, and 

others want to visit, move to, or invest in  

The vision; the outcomes (what the vision means in 2040); and transformational shifts needed to 
achieve the vision for Auckland are all contained in the simple diagram below. What distinguishes both 
of these examples from the BVCP is that there is a clearer link between the vision stated in the plans and 
the actions and outcomes that are needed to achieve the vision over the longer-term. 

                                                           
3 http://theplan.theaucklandplan.govt.nz/auckland-now-and-into-the-future/#b-1-the-vision-for-auckland 

Source: The Auckland Plan 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 24



13 
 

 

Use the Plan to Address Outcomes and Metrics 
The current BVCP is primarily a general policies plan. For the most part, the policies do not have direct 
and well defined measures of outcomes, results, and actions. While this encourages flexibility of 
implementation, it discourages public understanding, accountability, collaboration, and organizational 
learning. A written policy that can be interpreted as either supporting or opposing a proposed action is 
not a useful decision guide. For more specifics, one must look to the various Master Plans created for 
transportation, public safety, and other functional areas. While these other supporting plans represent a 
strong approach to implementing programs and policies, we believe that the BVCP could play a stronger 
role in integrating the various plans (see below, Strengthen Linkages Between the Plan and 
Implementation Tools) as well as by including a set of high level outcomes and metrics. In our 
discussions with city and county leadership, we were told that the current plan does not answer the 
question of “how are we doing” because it does not incorporate a process or have metrics to help 
answer that question in an ongoing manner. Opportunities include: 

 

1. Include outcomes and metrics. Planning has been defined as the transformation of knowledge into 
action. Contemporary best practices-based plans make this transformation possible by defining the 
community's desired outcomes and linking them to measureable metrics that assess the results of 
actions. Without outcomes and metrics, planning goals are abstract concepts without ties to practical 
actions. Experience shows that what gets measured gets done. 
 
Plans that bring together goals, outcomes, metrics, and actions have several benefits:  

• they make clear to the public how the community's planning vision will be defined, measured, 
and acted upon 

• they lay out an agenda for government decision-makers and staff in order to activate the plan's 
goals 

• they provide a basis for collaboration between the public and private sectors, including 
developers, neighborhoods, and non-profit organizations 

• they support learning and understanding about the effectiveness of community development 
strategies in order to adapt and revise them as necessary to meet adopted goals. 

 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 25



14 
 

The Imagine Austin Plan includes a number of urban form indicators that are related to proximity 
from residences. These include percent of households within a half mile of: 

• a full-service supermarket/grocery store (Livable) 
• a park or accessible open space (Natural and Sustainable) 
• an art/cultural venue (Creative) 
• a school (Educated) 
• transit (Mobile and Interconnected) 
• retail and mixed-use centers (Prosperous), and 
• medical services (A Community that Values and Respects People). 

 

2. Indicators for baseline measures and desired targets. Metrics are prepared on the basis of the 
community's goals and needs. They are stated in terms of baseline measures of starting conditions as 
indicators-- qualitative or quantitative measurement tools that allow comparisons of outcomes and 
changes over time among government units, projects, and objectives, and benchmarks that lay out 
desired targets (e.g., future objectives). Metrics may be derived from scientific or technical 
measurements such as air quality, as well as more general composite indices such as the ecological 
footprint. Increasingly, communities are not only publishing metrics report cards on a regular basis but 
also displaying them on website dashboards where the public can track the effectiveness of planning 
Initiatives. 

3. Opportunities for linkages to desired outcomes in master plans. Cutting-edge plans contain 
projections, outcomes and metrics used to set objectives and track progress. Linking these to maps and 
other visual tools would help convey and track outcomes in a more graphic style. Opportunities include: 

• include information about growth projections and land use information, to set a foundation for 
understanding the city's capacity for growth. This could also include information on growth 
rates, cost of growth, etc., as desired to support and inform the plan’s policy directions. 

• include high-level outcomes or objectives in the plan to provide stronger linkages between the 
BVCP and the many city master plans that are used to implement the BVCP (for example, the 
Transportation Master Plan and Fire-Rescue Master Plan) 

• create linkages to the city's budgeting process 
• set the stage for tracking progress over time (possibly through an expansion of  the dashboard 

being coordinated through the City Manager's Office) to reflect community trends as well as city 
performance. 

4. Integrate outcomes and metrics for each chapter of the plan. The updated plan could integrate 
outcomes and metrics into each major plan chapter, or in a combined section of the plan as part of the 
Action Plan. The 2010 BVCP states that the city and county will establish sustainability indicators specific 
to the Boulder Valley to measure progress in the health and well-being of the community, environment, 
and economy, including changes related to elements of sustainable urban form.  These could be 
formulated for the plan update, along with outcomes and measures for other plan elements, and be 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 26



15 
 

added to over time as appropriate indicators are developed and vetted (see Best Practices information 
on metrics and indicators in section III of this report).  Fort Collins has implemented a Performance 
Measurement and Community Dashboard that integrates and displays a periodic snapshot of the 
community’s progress in attaining key outcomes (see figure below). The outcome categories are the 
same as the city’s performance-based budgeting system, as well as the organizing structure of Plan Fort 
Collins, the city’s comprehensive plan. The dashboard is a work in progress; as metrics are refined, they 
are added to the dashboard. Performance results are updated quarterly; the most recent results shown 
below are from the 3rd quarter of 2014. 

 

 

Illustrate the City's Desired Urban Form  
When asked about issues that the plan update should address, one of the most oft-heard comments 
from staff and city leadership was about urban form and the lack of clarity about the desired future form 
and shape of the city. While the plan includes broad policies and a narrative definition of “sustainable 
urban form”, it does not clearly articulate and illustrate what the desired sustainable urban form might 
look like, and how it might be affected and implemented by individual projects or public policies.  Words 
alone cannot convey this vision – the plan needs to use new tools to show what the desired outcome is 
(graphic images, pictures, perhaps 3d modeling, either city-wide or for targeted sectors).  This could help 
inform ongoing efforts to update the city’s development regulations and procedures, as well as provide 
a more clear picture of the types of change that are expected in the city’s physical realm. Opportunities 
include: 

Source: City of Fort Collins Community Dashboard, 2014 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 27



16 
 

1. Illustrate desired urban form outcomes. A clear statement and image of the desired future urban 
form could help to inform public expectations and assist staff, decision-makers, and developers in 
judging the appropriateness of potential changes to Boulder’s regulations and ultimately built urban 
form. This could be done at several levels – visual models to illustrate build out of centers, prototype 
buildings and blocks, or perhaps visuals that conceptualize build out of sectors of the city, if desired.  
Auckland’s plan includes excellent examples of how visuals can be used to convey differing levels of 
intensity.  This could be particularly useful in illustrating that the various areas of the community may 
have different outcomes for their built form – that there is no “one size fits all” approach.  Urban form 
policies, with accompanying illustrations, could be prepared for prototypical districts, neighborhoods, 
and major corridors. As part of this approach, it would be useful to clearly identify and distinguish areas 
where change is expected (and desired), from areas that are expected to remain largely stable, with 
little change in their current physical form. The urban form policies should clearly illustrate the 
differences between transforming and stable areas.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The Auckland Plan (Auckland, NZ) uses 3D graphics and drawings to illustrate the desired urban form for 
different sectors of the city. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 28



17 
 

2. Consider reinventing the Future Land Use map to focus on desired physical characteristics for 
“places” rather than by land use type. One emerging trend in comprehensive plans is the concept of 
form-based or place-based land use plans. Place-based planning is a way to shape the future of the city 
by concentrating on the look, feel, form, and character of places instead of focusing on conventional 
categories of land use. In general, they are organized around “place-types,” the characteristic patterns 
of development that citizens live with every day.  Typically, they are built around three place-types: 
neighborhoods, districts, and corridors. This approach to a future land use plan is less concerned with 
the specific use of each parcel, but rather is more focused on the collective uses within an area to 
establish a “place”. This approach, if applied to the BVCP, could help create a stronger linkage between 
the desired physical form of areas of the city and the land use maps. As a relatively new approach, there 
are few examples of communities that have used this approach over time, since the completed 
examples are all recent. For more information on this approach, see section IV of this report – Best 
Practices for Urban Form. 

3. Consider including a structure or framework plan that illustrates how all areas of the city fit 
together. Many contemporary plans include an illustrative plan that conveys how various centers, 
corridors, open lands, and other community elements fit together. Depending on the desired usage, this 
could replace or supplement the Future Land Use Plan map. Portland 2035, the city’s draft 
comprehensive plan, includes an excellent example of a framework plan that illustrates the city’s overall 
physical framework (see figure below).  For Boulder, a framework plan approach could be expanded to 
illustrate the many systems that support community life, such as layers for natural systems and open 
lands; multi-modal transportation corridors, trails and pathways; community facilities (schools, parks, 
etc.); and neighborhoods and districts. This approach would reinforce the interconnectedness of these 
elements. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Portland’s newly adopted plan update includes an Urban Design Framework diagram that locates centers and corridors 
(areas that are expected to grow and change) within the City’s physical context. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 29



18 
 

 

Strengthen Linkages between the Plan and Implementation Tools  
The plan should serve as the guiding document for the tools that are used to implement planning in the 
community. These include: departmental master plans and strategic plans; area and sub-community 
plans; priority-based budgeting that drives programs and services; and development regulations 
contained in the Land Use Code. In its present form, the plan does not clearly describe how it relates to 
the implementing tools. More could be done to strengthen and more clearly articulate this role for the 
Plan. Although there is a separate Action Plan document that was prepared as part of the 2010 plan 
update, it is not clearly linked to the BVCP. Opportunities include: 

1. Strengthen linkages to other plans and implementation tools within the Plan. Although the 
Introduction section and the Implementation section of the plan describe the various other plans and 
regulatory tools that are part of the implementing mechanism for the BVCP, it does not describe how 
they related to the policies contained within the plan. The BVCP is the place for the conversation about 
how all of the pieces fit together. The update could provide stronger linkages to the various master 
plans and other operational plans and tools, to illustrate more clearly how all of the component parts of 
the community’s vision and planning framework are integrated.  This could be done in a number of 
ways, such as a matrix that illustrates linkages and connections between the policies in the plan and the 
implementing plans and regulations and programs; an expanded section in the plan Introduction that 
more fully explains the relationships between the plan and implementation tools; or perhaps “bridge” 
language at the beginning of each chapter that describes the plans and other tools that implement the 
topics in the chapter. 

2. Increase the Plan’s focus on implementation by retooling the Action Plan.  In its current form, the 
Action Plan for the BVCP is prepared as a separate document.  It is structured on the seven themes of 
the Sustainability Framework and does not clearly describe linkages between the BVCP’s policies and the 
implementation items contained in the Action Plan. While implementing actions generally are contained 
in master plans and other documents as well as the Boulder Revised Code, it may be appropriate to 
include high-level strategies within the plan itself so that it serves as a unifying element, to show how 
the master plans and other implementing documents are linked to it, and how they serve to carry out 
the overall vision contained in the plan. Even if the Action Plan remains as a separate document, it could 
be more clearly connected to the vision, policies, and directions in the BVCP as well as to the overall 
directions contained in the master plans and other implementing plans and regulatory tools. The Action 
Plan could provide the direct linkage between desired policies and outcomes in the BVCP and the 
actions that are needed to be taken to implement them. The Action Plan could also identify near-term 
as well as mid and long-term strategies, and continue to be subject to a mid-term review to ensure that 
it is aligned with work plans and available resources.  

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 30



19 
 

Clarify Policies in Key Areas   
The plan contains a large number and range of policies. While for the most part they are clear and well-
written, users of the plan have told us that it can at times be all things to all people; that policies can be 
used to both advocate and repel proposed actions. Opportunities include: 

1. Make the intent of policies in key areas clearer. Sharpening the focus of key policies can help make 
them less subject to interpretation. For example, the Growth Requirements policy states: 

“The overall effect of urban growth must add significant value to the community, improving quality of life. The 
city will require development and redevelopment as a whole to provide significant community benefits, achieve 
sustainability goals for urban form, and to maintain or improve environmental quality as a precondition for 
further housing and community growth”. 

While well intentioned, this policy leaves a number of unanswered questions. What does it mean to add 
value, improve quality of life, provide significant community benefits, achieve sustainability goals, and 
maintain or improve environmental quality? The policy would be clearer if it specified outcomes and 
metrics for the desired qualities of proposed growth. Example outcomes could be a measureable 
increase in affordable housing and transit usage in new development. Target metrics could be an 
increase in affordable units and transit ridership in growth areas, both of which are contained in master 
plans and could be incorporated into the BVCP.  

A second example is the policy on Preservation of Floodplains, which states that: 

“Undeveloped floodplains will be preserved or restored where possible through public land acquisition of high 
hazard properties, private land dedication and multiple program coordination. Comprehensive planning and 
management of floodplain lands will promote the preservation of natural and beneficial functions of floodplains 
whenever possible”. 

While the written policy specifies the intent of floodplain preservation, it would be clearer if 
accompanied by a map of floodplains and their land use, including those areas already in public 
ownership. It would be more effective if it were integrated with the subsequent floodplain policies on 
Flood Management, Non-Structural Approach, Protection of High Hazard Areas, and Larger Flooding 
Events into one unified floodplain policy, rather than a series of separate policies.   

2. Address development issues at the urban edge. One specific policy area identified during initial 
discussions with county staff is related to development at the urban edge (i.e., in Area II) and update 
policies and regulations for these areas. As part of the update, the plan could include updated policies 
and regulations to govern annexation and the management of parts of Area II at the urban edge where 
development connected to urban services may be desirable, in order to clarify what form of 
development is appropriate, and how it is to be processed under joint city/county procedures. This 
could also include describing how the boundaries are determined, to clarify why properties are included 
(or not) in these areas. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 31



20 
 

Integrate Resilience   
Community resilience is generally defined as the ability of a city to bounce back after being struck by a 
severe shock. Another definition is the sustained ability of a community to utilize available resources to 
respond to, withstand, and recover from adverse situations.  “Evolutionary resilience” recognizes that 
community systems constantly shift between states of equilibrium. Under changing conditions, 
continual adaptation is required. 

Resilient cities aim for development that can withstand major disruptions without failure of critical 
systems; they are concerned with survivability, reducing impacts from future crises on their populations, 
infrastructure, and institutions. Sustainable cities aim for development that balances the demands of 
environmental protection, economic growth, and human equity.  They are concerned with 
intergenerational equity, meeting the needs of present residents without disadvantaging future 
populations. Resilience and sustainability are closely related; a sustainable city is resilient and a resilient 
city is sustainable. This interdependence shows up in overlapping goals, policies, and metrics of 
comprehensive plans. Opportunities include: 

1. Integrate resilience throughout the BVCP by leveraging the Resilient Cities effort. As the recipient of 
a Resilient Cities grant from the Rockefeller Foundation, Boulder is committed to develop its resilience. 
The updated plan could be an important tool in achieving this goal by addressing resilience throughout 
its policies and topics. Boulder has previously committed to becoming more sustainable. Both resilience 
and sustainability require foresighted planning, aware and prepared populations, and relevant outcome 
measures, though their main goals are somewhat different.  

2. Develop a new model for addressing resilience in a comprehensive plan. Boulder has the 
opportunity to develop a new model for incorporating resilience in the comprehensive plan, based on its 
own hazards and vulnerability. The model should recognize that a resilient city is a complex network of 
physical systems and human communities requiring combinations of apparent opposites: redundancy 
and efficiency, diversity and interdependence, strength and flexibility, autonomy and collaboration, 
planning and adaptability.  Because the most vulnerable populations are the weakest links in resilience, 
there is an opportunity to integrate hazard mitigation, economic development and social justice. In 
addition to traditional physical system hazard mitigation, Boulder could seek social and institutional 
resiliency by monitoring vulnerability reduction, building distributed hazard mitigation capability, 
developing broad  hazard mitigation commitment, operating networked communications, adopting 
recognized equity standards, assisting vulnerable neighborhoods and populations, and mitigating 
business interruption impacts. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 32



21 
 

 

BEST PRACTICES  
Introduction 
As part of the assessment process, the consultants prepared a set of best practices to help inform the 
update process by providing examples of what other communities are incorporating into “cutting-edge” 
plans for progressive communities. The topics below – urban form, outcomes and metrics, resilience, 
and action plans – were chosen to align with the recommendations contained in this report. Each best 
practices topic includes a general description; a discussion of applicability to the BVCP update; and 
several summary examples, with links for additional information. 

Urban Form Best Practices 
Urban form best practices focus on the integration of urban form and character into the realm of 
comprehensive plans, as a means of implementing a community’s vision for its desired built 
environment. One of the key issues for Boulder is how to achieve high-quality design that fits the 
context and scale of the different types of places in the city.  Best practices plans are focused on 
including standards and principles that make areas more livable, more vibrant, and more people-
oriented. These principles include walkability, connectivity, mixed uses, housing diversity, character 
protection, neighborhood form, and transportation alternatives, to name a few.  A sophisticated and 
nuanced approach is required, as there is no “one size fits all” solution. The Boulder community already 
has numerous excellent built examples of districts and neighborhoods that embrace these principles, 
including both historic areas (e.g., downtown districts and neighborhoods)as well as more recently built 
examples (such as North Broadway). The challenge is to integrate information about the desired built 
environment into the BVCP as a form-based “toolkit,” to provide both policy and visual guidance for new 
projects as well as redevelopment.  

Applicability to BVCP 
Boulder could adapt many of the approaches in the examples below as a means of better integrating 
urban form into the plan update. Including a framework plan with a series of overlay illustrations, similar 
to the concept contained in the Portland Design Framework, could help illustrate the linkages and 
relationships between the various elements of the built and natural environment. This would build on 
many of the concepts already contained in the Plan, such as centers and corridors, but would present 
them in a more interconnected manner. This framework could also be used to develop a series of 
character districts for each of the various place-types that would address and illustrate basic urban form 
characteristics. Similarly, the use of drawings, urban framework diagrams, visual models, etc. would 
reinforce the narrative objectives that are already contained in the Plan, and could serve as a guide or 
“roadmap” for the preparation of more tailored policies and regulations for the city. While some of 
these areas would continue to be supported by design standards and other implementing tools, the 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 33



22 
 

urban form framework would help develop a greater understanding of the desired built form for areas 
of the city. 

Examples of Urban Form in Comprehensive Plans 
St. Albans, Vermont  

As part of an innovative approach to establish a renewed direction for this small community in Vermont, 
the city sponsored a charrette-based effort to develop a fresh vision and “toolkit” for the community. 
They developed a character and form-based toolkit that establishes a vision for the community; a set of 
character area directions and illustrations; and a toolkit for implementing the plan in a strategic manner. 

 
The toolkit includes a set of character area diagrams that are a good example of illustrating urban form 
policies in a visual manner, containing information on building character, configuration, setbacks, 
building/street relationships, and parking. For more information, see St. Albans Character and Form-
Based Planning Toolkit. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 34



23 
 

 

Portland, Oregon 

As part of its ongoing Comprehensive Plan update (see http://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/57352), 
the city prepared an Urban Design Direction document, to illustrate how the goals and policies of the 
city’s draft comprehensive plan are supported by an urban design direction and framework. As stated in 
the document, the purpose is “….to provide a clear sense of what these design directions will look and 
feel like at the level of streets and neighborhoods”. In addition to describing the city’s physical evolution 
over time, the framework identifies current design issues and urban design objectives that inform the 
shape of growth and change. The five objectives include: 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 35



24 
 

 
1. Create Complete Neighborhoods 
2. Plan and Design to Fit Local Conditions 
3. Connect People and Neighborhoods 
4. Improve Natural Areas and Open Spaces 
5. Encourage Job Growth 

The urban design framework outlined in the document (see figures below) is based on a network of 
place-types; centers, corridors, transit station areas, city greenways, urban habitat corridors, and 
employment areas. It also identifies a set of “pattern areas” – broad geographies that are defined by 
existing patterns of natural and built features, such as the central city, neighborhoods, and inner ring 
districts, and provides basic urban design characteristics and comparisons for different types of centers, 
corridors, and other features. 

Finally, the document includes a series of urban design framework maps that illustrate how these 
corridors, greenways, and other features are connected together to provide a basis for the city. While it 
is not clear from the document how these maps will relate to zoning, it does state the urban design 
framework materials will be used to help tailor more specific policies and regulations to better respond 
to each area’s unique natural and built assets and characteristics. 

 

 
 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 36



25 
 

Flint, Michigan 

 As a part of its new master plan adopted in 2013 (see http://www.imagineflint.com/), the city of Flint, 
Michigan developed a creative approach to its future land use plan that focuses on a place-based land 
use map, based on the concept of place-making. The plan identifies 12 different place-types within the 
city. This approach was particularly relevant for Flint since like many communities in the Midwest, its 
population is shrinking and their planning effort is focused on revitalization and redevelopment of 
existing, traditional development patterns. One of the more interesting aspects of their approach was 
the development of an Intensity Wheel (see below) that illustrates each place type’s relationship to 
other place types with regard to development intensity and predominant land use. 

Each place type is described in the plan by a series of diagrams and illustrations to capture the intent of 
its land use character and attributes, along with recommendations for implementation. While the 
characteristics of the community are quite different from Boulder, it may be a useful model for a 
different approach to the community’s future land use map. 

 

 

San Francisco, California 

The City of San Francisco’s City Design Group was established in 2005 as a distinct unit within the city’s 
planning department. They focus on multiple projects within the city with an emphasis on placemaking; 

Flint’s recently adopted Comprehensive Plan includes a series of place=based districts that reflect 
character, use-type, and relative intensity. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 37



26 
 

urban design policy development; and design review. There are numerous examples of projects and 
supporting visual materials that can be viewed on the City Design Group’s website located here. 

Examples of visual materials prepared by the City Design Group that may be helpful to inform Boulder’s 
efforts to convey high quality and context-appropriate design include the following: 

Central SoMa Plan. The city recently completed a draft plan for the South of Market (SoMa) 
neighborhood, which is the bridge between the traditional central business district near Market Street 
and the burgeoning activity center of Mission Bay. While the seeds of the Central Corridor Plan began 
under the basic tenet of supporting transit-oriented development, planners recognized that managed 
growth could bring with it a number of tools to transform and improve the neighborhood. Infill fabric, if 
designed with high quality architecture and active ground floors, could increase visual quality as well as 
safety of the areas streets. The plan includes an urban form element that addresses design policies and 
implementation strategies, as well as extensive use of visualization to convey overall desired urban 
form.

San Francisco’s SoMa plan uses visual models to convey changes in the area’s built form. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 38



27 
 

Upper Market Community Vision. In 2007, city residents and planners created a community vision for 
the upper portion of Market Street. While primarily focused on the roadway corridor, it includes 
examples of the use of visual models to convey street character and building/street relationships. A set 
of accompanying Design Guidelines provides further examples of desired attributes of new development 
and redevelopment (see examples below). 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 39



28 
 

 

Outcomes and Metrics Best Practices 
Outcomes and metrics best practices focus comprehensive plans on expected results, linking goals and 
actions.  Leading comprehensive plans provide explicit guidance to stakeholders, decision-makers, and 
the public about what to anticipate as a result of implementing the comprehensive plan. In some cases, 
the connections are strengthened by focusing the plan on a limited number of high priority goals, each 
linked to the community’s overall vision. 

Applicability to BVCP 
The current BVCP includes policies but few outcome measures or metrics. To facilitate implementation, 
the updated plan could add priority outcomes and metrics for each chapter, along with graphic 
examples of desired results.  In some cases, the outcome and metrics could be synthesized from existing 
Master Plans. In other cases, they would need to be derived from best practices and can be added over 
time. The important lesson from Imagine Austin and other similar projects is that the metrics and 
indicators program should be seen as an ongoing process, to be refined and added to over time.  
Austin’s program was designed with the anticipation that metrics would be added, deleted, and changed 
over time. Simply stated, it is not necessary to have a complete set of metrics for all aspects of the BVCP 
as part of the 2015 update. It is more important to get the program underway and set the stage for the 
addition of more metrics over time.  It is also important to develop criteria that are used to identify and 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 40



29 
 

rate the suitability of metrics for use in a plan, to avoid using metrics that are inappropriate for this 
purpose (see indicator criteria for Imagine Austin, below). 

Examples of Outcomes and Metrics in Comprehensive Plans 
Norfolk, Virginia 

The Norfolk, Virginia, comprehensive plan, plaNorfolk2030  
(www.norfolk.gov) contains a vision chapter, eleven chapters 
each based on an element of the vision, and an 
implementation chapter. The element chapters start with 
descriptions of current conditions and expected trends, and 
then highlight key issues. They set one or more key goals, 
define desired outcomes, and list related metrics and actions 
for each identified key issue. For example, Chapter 2, 
Identifying Land Use Strategies, notes that Norfolk is 
essentially a built-out city and includes a single goal: Ensure 
that the type and quality of land uses will complement or 
enhance the community’s physical characteristics. An 
outcome for this goal is for future land use to respect 
neighborhood characteristics and meet the demand for each 
type of use.  

Actions include implementing residential land use categories 
that reflect existing successful neighborhood patterns with 
regard to lot width, structure type, setback, and vehicular use 
areas. Desired characteristics are shown described in text and 
shown graphically, illustrating footprints and visual types (see 

figure with Residential Mixed, Multi-Family, and Multi-Family Corridor).  Metrics include change in linear 
feet of un-buffered lower intensity residential land and more intense land uses, percent of development 
within areas with design guideline mandates that comply with design regulations, and others. 

Austin, Texas 

The Austin Texas 2012 Imagine Austin Comprehensive Plan (www.austintexas.gov) links policies, goals, 
metrics, and actions in its chapter on Implementation and Measuring Success. For example, under the 
number 1 priority program, Invest in a Compact and Connected Austin, there are two goals; increase 
non-vehicular trips, and improve access to transit.  The metrics for the goal to increase non-vehicular 
trips are: transit-ridership numbers, number of transit stops, percentage of trips by biking and walking, 
and annual trips per capita The metrics for the goal to improve access to transit are: population density 
within ½ mile of transit stops and employment density within ½ mile of transit stops and high capacity 
transit stops. The Imagine Austin comprehensive plan calls for an analysis and assessment of indicators 
or metrics that can be used to measure progress after the plan's fifth year. Many of the indicators that 
were contained in the original plan were suggested and not completely scoped, and some were 

Norfolk’s new comprehensive plan expresses 
its design objectives in a graphic format 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 41



30 
 

In selecting indicators to use for Imagine Austin, planners developed the following set of criteria: 
• relevance to the priority programs 
• staff resources  available to support data collection 
• information that can be used by planners and others when faced with decisions 
• measurable information, with achievable results, as opposed to anecdotal information 
• a tendency to show change over a relatively short period of time  
• reliable, consistent, and relatively free sources of data 

 

aspirational or not measurable at the time. More than 100 draft indicators were originally identified; 34 
core measures were selected as the initial set that could reasonably be used by city staff to track plan 
progress. While there is no “right number” of metrics for a community, experience has shown that 
generally, fewer, high-quality indicators are better than a large number of indicators that is hard to 
administer. 

 

Resilience Best Practices 
Resilience best practices in comprehensive plans are relatively rare because the concept of resilience 
has only begun to be applied to community development in the last decade or so. Attention has grown 
since Hurricane Katrina in New Orleans, the Tohoku earthquake and tsunami, and Hurricane Sandy in 
the Northeastern U.S. Current best planning practices focus on disaster resilience: reducing risk, building 
community awareness, and instituting recovery planning, often integrated with sustainability goals and 
policies, as described below: 

• Reducing risk takes the form of integrating hazard mitigation into overall community 
development policies and actions through directing development away from known hazard 
areas and strengthening vulnerable structures and facilities to resist disaster impacts.  

• Building community awareness takes the form of engaging citizens and organizations in hazard 
scenarios and creating neighborhood support networks to function in disaster preparation and 
rebuilding.  

• Instituting recovery planning takes the form of preparing a plan to guide decisions on recovery 
and redevelopment following a disaster in order to increase resiliency and to contribute to a 
more effective and efficient recovery.  

FEMA has published a report, Integrating Hazard Mitigation into Local Planning: Case Studies and Tools 
for Community Officials (2013) with fact sheets on Building Community Resilience by Integrating Hazard 
Mitigation into Local Planning. Topics include: Integrating Hazard Mitigation into the Local 
Comprehensive Plan, The Role of Local Leadership, Social and Economic Benefits, Planning for Post-
Disaster Redevelopment, and Protecting Community Infrastructure.  The report has case studies on 
planning in: Cedar Rapids, Miami-Dade, New Orleans, Tulsa, and other locations. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 42



31 
 

Applicability to the BVCP 
Boulder could follow the traditional examples of other communities in applying disaster resilience 
practices in its comprehensive plan, but it could also extend the resilience lens to cover other plan goals 
and policies. On the traditional front, the BVCP should add resilience to the natural hazards identified in 
the very thorough 2012 City of Boulder Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan. It lists: as “highly likely” (happens 
every year) extreme temperatures, thunderstorms, lightning, windstorms, and winter storms; and as 
“likely” (recurrence interval of ten years or less) drought, West Nile Virus, hailstorms, and wildfire. It 
rates dam failure and floods as “catastrophic” (over 50 percent property damage, facilities shut down 
for more than 30 days, and/or multiple deaths), and includes a map of 100 year and 500 year flood 
hazards. A map of buildings in the 500 year floodplain shows that most of the development in the city’s 
central area is located there. All of these factors have significant potential impacts on future 
development, public expenditures, infrastructure, environmental preservation actions, and other 
planning decisions. 

At the same time, the BVCP update could develop a lens with which to view the city’s social, 
institutional, and economic resilience. This means asking “the resilience question” of plan policies and 
actions that affect disadvantaged populations, deployment of city staff and resources, and vulnerability 
to shocks stemming from potential economic breakdowns. This is a broad question with both tangible 
and intangible elements. For example: Does this policy increase our vulnerable neighborhood 
communication linkages? Does this program build our crisis response capability? Does this metric assess 
our ability to come back from the loss of a major element of our economic base? Together with its new 
Resilience Officer, Boulder can creative a pioneering model for formulating and answering the resilience 
question, based on its unique conditions and needs. 

Examples of Community Resilience in Comprehensive Plans 
Norfolk, Virginia 

Norfolk Virginia is susceptible to flooding from coastal storms and sea level rise. A Category 4 hurricane 
would flood the entire city and a Category 3 storm would flood about 70 percent of the city. Its 2030 
Plan (2014) includes resilience under its goals, outcomes, metrics, and actions for Environmental 
Sustainability in Chapter 6: 

Goal: Prepare for the consequences of natural hazards. 

Outcome: Reduced risk and increased resilience to gradual and catastrophic natural events. 

Metrics: Percent of properties in flood zone that do not receive a variance to waive requirements 
related to flood protection; area of wetland restoration projects; change in FEMA Community Rating 
System evaluation. 

Actions: The Plan includes many actions related to this goal. Examples include: evaluate impact of 
potential sea level rise when reviewing development proposals and in preparation of budgets; revise 
development regulations to respond to the impact of potential sea level rise; continue to monitor 
changes in tide data and its effect on flooding throughout the City;  ensure that all new development in 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 43



32 
 

designated flood-prone areas complies with the City's flood protection regulations; ensure that 
residents and property owners in flood prone areas are notified of the threat to their properties; 
identify areas of the City that are particularly susceptible to inundation and develop a communication 
strategy to notify residents in advance of and during flood events; among others. 

Lee County, Florida 

Lee County includes hazard mitigation in the Conservation and Coastal Management policies in Chapter 
VII of The Lee Plan (www.leegov.com ).While it does not include a specific resilience goal, the plan 
designates a goal to protect the public from the effects of natural and technological hazards through the 
county emergency plan. It defines the hazards by reference to the County's Hazard Vulnerability Analysis 
and includes policies to inform the public, coordinate governmental emergency programs, protect 
natural systems and water resources, limit public expenditures in high hazard areas, and maintain a 
post-disaster strategic plan. The 2014 Lee Plan is a policies plan; it does not include outcomes and 
metrics. 

Action Plans Best Practices 
Action Plan best practices focus comprehensive plans on the strategies and actions that will lead to 
implementation of the plan policies.  Leading comprehensive plans provide explicit guidance to staff, 
decision-makers, and the public about what specific steps need to be taken to move. 

Applicability to BVCP 
Including the action plan in the BVCP would help achieve several purposes; reinforce the role of the plan 
as the unifying document among all of the city’s master plans and implementation tools, and provide a 
stronger linkage between the vision and policies in the plan and the steps to be taken to accomplish the 
desired outcomes.  

Examples of Action Plans in Comprehensive Plans 
Austin, Texas 

 The Austin, Texas comprehensive plan, Imagine Austin (https://austintexas.gov/imagineaustin) has an 
action program that is organized into eight priority programs that provide the structure and direction to 
implement the plan. The eight programs are: 

• Invest in a compact and connected Austin 
• Sustainably manage our water resources 
• Continue to grow Austin's economy by investing in our workforce, education systems, 

entrepreneurs, and local businesses 
• Use green infrastructure to protect environmentally sensitive areas and integrate nature into 

the city   
• Grow and invest in Austin's creative economy 
• Develop and maintain household affordability throughout Austin 
• Create a Healthy Austin program 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 44



33 
 

• Revise Austin's development regulations and processes to promote a compact and connected 
community 

Each priority program has a lead department, cross-disciplinary team, community partners and a work 
plan that is reviewed and revised on an annual basis. Each of the programs is moving forward on the 
plan through a series of actions organized into five categories: education and engagement, internal 
alignment, regulation, capital investment, and partnerships. The city administration is also organizing its 
operations, core services, decisions, and investments around the priority programs in Imagine Austin. 
The eight priority programs are grouped into four topic groups as a way of further consolidating efforts 
in the city towards implementing the plan. 

The city charter requires that the Planning Commission and staff provide an annual report to City 
Council about the implementation of the comprehensive plan. The Planning Commission has just 
published its second annual report since the adoption of the plan in 2012 (see Imagine Austin 2014 Draft 
Annual Report). This is somewhat similar to Boulder’s mid-term review process, but is a more rigorous 
approach, with a detailed review of the Action Plan; metrics and outcomes; and a recasting of strategies, 
in a formal report that is prepared for the Planning Commission. 

Fort Collins, Colorado 

Plan Fort Collins4, the city's comprehensive plan adopted in 2011, contains an Action Plan that identifies 
high-priority actions and strategies for implementing the plan. The Priority Actions and Strategies 
outlined in this section are organized into three key time frames: 

• Immediate actions - Concurrent and ongoing with plan adoption 
• Near-term actions - Following plan adoption, all actions already funded within current budgeting 

cycle 
• Longer-term actions - Several years following plan adoption within the next budgeting cycle  
• The Plan Fort Collins approach is unique in that while it is simple, it is strategic, focused and 

prioritized, and all immediate and near-term actions must be funded to be included in the 
Action Plan. 

                                                           
4 http://www.fcgov.com/planfortcollins 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 45



34 
 

 

WORK PLAN AND COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
Introduction 
The purpose of this section is to provide recommendations for the 
update to the BVCP, including public outreach strategies, and a targeted 
and phased approach to accomplishing the recommendations of this 
analysis. It suggests a strategy for how to accomplish the 
recommendations in the preceding sections of this report.  

During our meetings with city and county officials, we discussed that the 
2015 plan update may be narrow or broad in scope, ranging from 
minimal changes to the plan to a major overhaul of its content and 
structure, with a continuum of options in between. The direction to be 
taken in the 2015 update would depend on direction from city and 
county leadership, based on their perception of need, community 
priorities, and availability of resources.  

In general, most of the city and county leaders believe that the 2015 
update should not constitute a major overhaul, but should comprise a 
moderate level update that incorporates many of the recommendations 
contained in this report as resources allow and as the work plan for the 
update is developed in more detail early in 2015. Particular areas of 
focus that city and county leadership would like to see the update 
address include:  

• Clarifying and incorporating the vision 
• Make policies more clear and succinct 
• Incorporate more direction and visual clarification of desired 

urban form, particularly as it might provide more clear direction 
for needed development code changes 

• Integrate resilience throughout the plan; and  
• Include outcomes and possibly metrics to begin to move towards 

tracking progress towards the plan’s goals. 

Given staff resources and the multitude of other efforts already 
underway, it is likely that the update will be completed in phases over an 
18-month to two-year cycle.  Early in the process, staff should work with 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 46



35 
 

the Planning Board and City Council and County Commissioners and Planning Commission to establish 
priorities for the phasing of tasks during the update process.  

 

Work Plan Recommendations 
Based on discussions with staff to date, we recommend that the 2015 work program focus on 
foundational work for the update process. Foundational work will include: 

• Forecasting (land supply, population and employment projections) 
• Updating map layers needed for analysis purposes and begin work on 3-D mapping 
• Coordinating with resilience strategy foundational work  
• Develop initial concepts for plan formatting 
• Work plan for development of visualization tools for urban form element 
• Work plan/approach for integrating resilience into update process 
• Identification of potential outcomes and metrics to be integrated into the plan (from existing 

master plans and other sources) 
• Public engagement launch with community ideas forum (see outreach section below) 
• Invite applications for land use changes 

We also recommend that the foundational work for the updated vision and “Boulder Planning Story” be 
commenced as part of 2015 activities. As an initial step in the process, staff could develop a working 
version of these two elements to be reviewed at initial community forums. 

Subsequent tasks to be completed during 2016 would include: 

• Policy revisions and additions, including development of new elements as needed (see outline in 
section IV, above) 

• Mapping updates (including development of new approaches to the future land use plan and 
supporting materials) 

• Incorporation of metrics and outcomes into plan draft update 
• Preparation of draft BVCP document (in new format) 
• Preparation of revised City/County IGA 

 

Recommendations for Public Outreach  
Based on our initial discussions and meetings with city and county officials, it is evident that many 
citizens and other organizations will have strong interests in the planning process.  We recommend the 
city consider creative, focused ways to engage the community in the planning process, either in focus 
groups or forums on specific topics.  A targeted approach will allow for input on specific topics of 
interest to all at appropriate points in the process. 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 47



36 
 

Our recent experience in dynamic communities like Boulder is that there is no single "best" way to 
accomplish a high level of participation by the community in planning efforts. Based on our discussions 
during the preparation of this analysis, suggestions to consider include: 

1. Public Ideas Forum: Numerous members of the community as well as city and county officials 
have suggested that an Ideas Forum be conducted as part of the kick-off activities for the update 
process. This could involve speakers as well as table discussions and exercises among attendees 
to begin a dialogue about the range of topics to be addressed in the update. Given the diverse 
range of views, we recommend that the forum be convened by an organization that is seen as a 
neutral party by most in the community or co-hosted by several organizations together. 

2. Educational Forums: Given the range of new topics and challenges to be addressed during the 
update, it may be useful to conduct a series of educational forums about a variety of topics. 
These can we recorded and made available via streaming from the website. 

3. School-Based Activities: Workshops involving youth can achieve two objectives. First, they bring 
a fresh perspective to the planning process, and second, activities involving kids often will 
attract parents who are curious about what their children are involved in related to planning. 
Recent planning events in the community, such as the Civic Center planning process, have 
already used this approach with a successful outcome by partnering with Growing up Boulder. 

4. Displays in Public Places: Ongoing displays can be placed in multiple locations around the 
community where people gather, such as the library, cultural institutions, senior centers, 
recreation centers, etc.  If resources allow, kiosk technology can be utilized to capture feedback 
on a range of topics. 

5. Robust Dedicated Website: Today’s technology-savvy community requires a well-constructed 
website for use throughout the process, as a means of gathering input and feedback on various 
ideas and proposals during the plan process.  Techniques such as "topic of the week," online 
surveys, blogs, and virtual meetings can all be used to raise awareness and generate interest.  
Web sites for plans often attract a different audience than the typical meeting-only based 
process-offering both can increase the range of participants and viewpoints heard.  

6. Neighborhood Groups: Both the city and county have established neighborhood groups that can 
be tapped for the update process. In particular, the groups that have formed to focus on flood 
recovery activities may represent a new pool of community members to engage during the 
process and coordination with new neighborhood liaison position.  

7. Creative Engagement of Business Community: In addition to the traditional focus on business 
owners, consider focusing on employees and in-commuters, using focus groups and employee 
surveys. 

8. Take the Plan to the Community: The most effective strategy for engaging hard to reach 
members of the community is to take the planning process to them. This may include senior 
living centers, schools, and places of worship (particularly important for minority community 
members). 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 48



37 
 

RECOMMENDED STRUCTURE FOR PLAN 
UPDATE 
Based on the recommendations contained in the report, we have developed two possible options for a 
possible structure for the updated plan document. Our primary recommended structure assumes that 
the current 2010 plan structure will be maintained, with revisions and additions to incorporate new and 
updated material. As an alternative, we have suggested an approach that is based on the city’s 
Sustainability Framework. While resources and priorities may not allow the 2015 update to follow this 
alternative approach, we have included it for consideration as a possible direction for the plan’s 
transformation over time. The approach based on the sustainability framework may be particularly 
beneficial as the city’s priority-based budgeting process is fully integrated with the Sustainability 
Framework, and as the city’s metrics dashboard is implemented. This change would ensure that the 
BVCP, budgeting process, Sustainability Framework, and metrics dashboard were all in alignment by 
sharing a common organizational structure. The two outlines are included in the appendix to this report. 

 
 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 49



38 
 

 

APPENDIX 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Outline, Based on Current Structure 
 
Introduction 

• History of BVCP 
• Boulder Valley Today and Tomorrow – Challenges and Opportunities of the 21st Century 
• Summary of 2015 Major Update – and what’s new (including resilience) 
• How this Plan is Structured 
• Incorporating Outcomes and Metrics (note: these could either be in each section or 

consolidated in Action Plan) 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Policies 

Section 1: Vision and Core Values (note: this would be the new consolidated Vision section) 

• Community Vision and Core Values 

Section 2: Built Environment 

• Growth Management (relocated from General Policies in BVCP chapter 1) 
o City’s role 
o Limits on physical expansion 
o Growth projections 
o Growth requirements 
o Jobs/housing balance 
o Framework for annexation and urban service provision 

• Intergovernmental cooperation  
• Partnerships with community organizations 
• Sustainable urban form (note: integrate current work on urban design, include visual 

materials that support and illustrate desired urban form) 
• Community Identity and Land use patterns Neighborhoods 
• Mixed-Use Development 
• Activity centers and corridors 
• Community Conservation 
• Rural lands preservation 

 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 50



39 
 

Section 3: Natural Environment 

• Biodiversity and native ecosystems 
• Urban environmental quality 
• Natural hazards and geological resources 
• Water and air quality 

Section 4: Energy and Climate 
• Climate commitment 
• Energy Conservation and renewable energy production 
• Green building 
• Waste stream management 
• Sustainable purchasing 

Section 5: Economy 

• Strategic redevelopment and sustainable employment 
• Diverse economic base 
• Sustainable business practices 
• Job opportunities, education, and training 
• Fiscal sustainability ( new topic to address city revenues and linkage to budget) 

Section 6: Transportation 

• Complete transportation system 
• Land use integration 
• Air quality 

Section 7: Housing 

• Community housing needs 
• Housing choices 
• Affordable and workforce housing 
• Housing diversity 
• Growth and community housing goals 

Section 8: Safety and Community Well-Being 

• Human services 
• Social equity  
• Diversity and inclusion 
• Community health 
• Community infrastructure and facilities 

o Schools 
o Community facilities and services 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 51



40 
 

o Parks and trails 
• Arts and Culture 
• Community safety and police services 
• Fire protection 
• Emergency preparedness 
• Public safety through design 

Section 9: Agriculture and Food 

• Support for agriculture 
• Local food production & access to healthy foods 
• Sustainable agricultural practices 
•  

Amendment Procedures 
• Procedures 
• Changes at any Time 
• Mid-Term Review Changes 
• Five-Year Review 

Land Use Maps and Descriptions (note: could include Framework Plans here) 
• Land Use  
• Open Space 

Implementation  
• Sub community and Area Planning 
• Master Plans 
• Trails Map 
• Action Plan 

o Matrix with all actions organized by element 
o Identification of priority actions  

 
Referral Process 

 
Urban Services Criteria and Standards 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 52



41 
 

 
 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Outline, Based on Sustainability 
Framework 
 

Introduction 

• History of BVCP 
• Boulder Valley Today and Tomorrow – Challenges and Opportunities of the 21st Century 
• Summary of 2015 Major Update – and what’s new (including resilience) 
• Incorporating Outcomes and Metrics (note: these could either be in each section or 

consolidated in Action Plan) 

Section 1: Vision and Core Values 

• Community Vision and Core Values (note: this would be the new consolidated Vision section) 

Section 2: Safe Community  

• Community safety and police services 
• Fire protection 
• Emergency preparedness 
• Public safety through design 

Section 3: Healthy and Socially Thriving Community 

• Human services 
• Social equity  
• Diversity and inclusion 
• Community health 
• Local food production & access to healthy foods 
• Community infrastructure and facilities 

o Schools 
o Community facilities and services 
o Parks and trails 
o Arts and Culture 

Section 4: Livable Community 

• Sustainable urban form  
• Land use patterns (note:  land use categories and land use maps could be consolidated into this 

element or remain in a separate chapter as per the current plan) 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 53



42 
 

• Creating and maintaining healthy and vibrant neighborhoods 
• Activity centers and corridors 
• Housing (integrate findings/policy directions from housing strategy) 

o Community housing needs 
o Housing choices 
o Affordable and workforce housing 
o Housing diversity 

• Growth Management (from General Policies in BVCP chapter 1) 
o City’s role 
o Limits on physical expansion 
o Growth projections 
o Growth requirements 
o Jobs/housing balance 
o Framework for annexation and urban service provision 

— Areas I, II, and III 
— Annexation 
— Provision of urban services 
— Phased extension of urban services 
— Utilities 

• Rural lands preservation and community conservation 

Section 5: Accessible and Connected Community 

• Complete transportation system 
o Transit 
o Roadways 
o Bicycle network 
o Pedestrian network 

• Land use integration 
• Air quality 

Section 6: Environmentally Sustainable Community 

• Biodiversity and native ecosystems 
• Urban environmental quality 
• Natural hazards and geological resources 
• Water and air quality 
• Climate commitment 
• Energy Conservation and production 
• Green building 
• Waste stream management 

 

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 54



43 
 

Section 7: Economically Vital Community 

• Strategic redevelopment and sustainable employment 
• Diverse economic base 
• Sustainable business practices 
• Job opportunities, education, and training 
• Fiscal sustainability (new topic to address city revenues and linkage to budget) 

Section 8: Good Governance 

• Engaged community 
o Collaborative approach to decision-making 
o Inclusive and accessible  
o Information accessibility 

• Effective local government 
• Intergovernmental cooperation (from General Policies) 

o Regional and statewide cooperation 
o Policy assessment 
o Collaboration for service delivery 
o Compliance with land use regulations 

• Partnerships with community organization 
• Sustainable purchasing 

Plan Amendment Procedures 

• Procedures 

Implementation  

• Sub community and Area Planning 
• Master Plans 
• Trails Map 
• Action Plan 

o Matrix with all actions organized by element 
o Identification of priority actions  

Referral Process 

Urban Services Criteria and Standards 

     
    
  

Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 55



Joint Study Session of Boulder County Commissioners and Boulder 
Planning Commission for Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) 
Assessment and Scope – Nov. 3, 2014 
 
Board of County Commissioners Present: 

• Cindy Domenico 
• Deb Gardner 
• Elise Jones 

 
Planning Commission Members Present: 

• Michael Baker 
• Dan Cohen 
• Lieschen Gargano 
• Scott Holwick 
• W.C. Pat Shanks 
• Doug Young 

 
Staff and Consultants Present: 

• Pete Fogg, Abigail Shannon, and Dale Case (Boulder County) 
• Lesli Ellis and Jean Gatza (City of Boulder) 
• Ben Herman (Clarion Associates) 

 
P. Fogg:  Provided slides with background of the Plan beginning with the 1970s county zoning in 
the Valley.  He described the urban/rural set up - Area I, II, III maps, etc. and why the city/county 
partnership was created. He also provided an overview of the amendment procedures as 
articulated in the Plan.  
 
D. Gardner:  How was the gray (BVCP planning area) boundary determined in the 1970s?   
 
P.  Fogg:  Depends on the location of the boundary, but it is generally based on topographic 
features, the City’s “blue line” on the west, provision of urban services, other existing service 
providers’ boundaries like Left Hand Water District, etc.  
 
B. Herman:  Provided an overview presentation with consultant observations about the current 
BVCP.  It has more moving parts and applications than does the county’s Plan. Key observations 
prior to the City Council and Planning Board discussion included:   
 
1 – tell story better about the vision in the Plan 
2 – make Plan more informative,  graphic 
3 – opportunity to integrate efforts in Plan 
4 – articulate/define what a clear sustainable urban form is (city only?)  
5 – develop better linkages between p Plan and implementation tools  
6 – clarify policies in key areas 
7 – consider measuring outcomes via monitoring, indicator and metrics tools 
 
He also explained the possible Range of Approaches shown on a slide to update the Plan, from 
minor to more major, and stated that the city discussed an update effort possibly in the range of 

Attachment B1 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Boulder County Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 56



about 2.5 on a scale from 1 to 5.  The city would like to modernize the Plan and develop stronger 
linkages to implementation and metrics.   

Attachment B1 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Boulder County Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 57



Questions and Comments:  
 
P. Shanks:  Provide PowerPoints.  P. Fogg will send.  
The relationships between master plans and sections in the Plan is interesting.  Often it’s an 
advisory board that works hard on a master plan – has been done substantially in some areas and 
not at all in others.  What are consultant observations about how these work?   
 
B. Herman:  There seems to be a bit of an unevenness between topics and an opportunity to tie 
them in better with the Plan; some are very plugged into the BVCP while others are not.  Master 
Plans are a good tool to be able to address topics at a level of detail while keeping the BVCP 
approachable and accessible, less daunting.  
 
P. Fogg:  The county does not do area or topical plans in the same way that the city does except for 
in a few areas (e.g., open space or health).   Also, the county does not have the same number of 
advisory boards as the city.   
 
C. Domenico:  Metrics idea is intriguing.  What do they look like in plans that the consultant is 
familiar with?    
 
B. Herman:  Example of Transportation Master Plan that has dozen of metrics and a lot of data.  
Health care has metrics.  At BVCP level, it’s more about the big things that tell us how we’re doing 
overall – big picture.  From there, you can drill into the details.    
 
P.  Fogg:  County staff did a lot of research on this topic while preparing the Sustainability Element 
for the BVCP—mostly considering municipalities where this work has been done.  You can “over-
metric” a plan.  Santa Monica example had over 100, and it became difficult to administer; some 
didn’t fit together well or clashed or were hard to quantify/measure.  Reducing to fundamental goal 
driven metrics can be daunting, but it would be helpful.  Takes diligence and a cold eye to do so.   
 
D. Gardner:   21st Century Challenges and Opportunities slide identifies “Resiliency.”  Because of 
the federal money and interest in this topic, communities will be developing projects to fit the 
resiliency component.  Are the words sustainability and resiliency (or resilience) interchangeable?   
 
B. Herman/L. Ellis:  No, resilience is not a replacement for sustainability.  There isn’t a common 
definition of “resiliency” which is a problem in itself. Needs to be a new overarching concept to 
include in our thinking.  Ties to long term vision.   
 
C.  Dominico:   Long term urban services aren’t sustainable in rural areas.  Resilience is a useful 
new lens.   
 
B.  Herman:  Question for the Planning Commission and Commissioners about what level of effort 
should occur for the BVCP update:  do you agree with the city boards or have different thoughts?   
 
D. Cohen:   To do the full list of issues and challenges presented might be more than 2.75 on the 
scale.  We often don’t go the distance that it takes to make the full list happen.  Glad to see that will 
happen.  The definition of sustainability/resilience is the fundamental question – manage change in 
appropriate way – dealing with density and transit, etc.  Include the boundaries question – city 
boundaries don’t necessarily work with climate issues, etc.  Think a little bigger.  Sometimes there 
is a disjunction between how we count and or versus what our goals are. Example is we kept that 
car out of Boulder so we don’t count it, but the car and its impacts are still out there.   

Attachment B1 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Boulder County Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 58



 
B. Herman:  Boundary – may want to address some of these ideas as a system.   Resilience is not 
quite as value laden as the notion of self-sustaining.  Communities struggle with how we define 
boundaries and limits.  Resilience is something people seem to understand a bit more intuitively.  
 
S. Holwick:  Resilience is less value laden. Everyone wants to be resilient.    
 
D. Young:  Like what Dan said:  do one thing or a few and do them well.  Liked the idea of focusing 
on the vision graphically so people can identify with the plan more.  That might carry the plan 
forward through updates to go forward as opposed to yet another thing that fell off the plate.  
Examples of urban form – if you could provide those graphics – options, that would be helpful.   
When people are afraid or don’t have a clear vision, they want or are more comfortable sticking 
with the status quo.   Need to provide a graphic that provides example of status quo, too.  Defining 
city’s urban form will influence the county a lot in things like housing stock, and (as a Planning 
Commission member), I’m not sure what county housing stock should be like—not sure county’s 
vision is solidly articulated either.  City could be a great proving ground.  Agree with colleagues 
about sustainability and resilience; they are not the same thing.  Systems approach might be a great 
way to look at resilience (i.e., need to be able to poke the system and have it bounce back.)  Really 
being sustainable also means being adaptive in the long term.  Sustainability means getting a 
comfort level with the long term vs. “now”.  Sustainability is a longer wave length than resiliency. 
 
E. Jones:   Commenting through the lens as a county commissioner, a Boulder resident, and former 
Planning Commissioner.  I appreciate the conversation about sustainability.  There’s overlap with 
resiliency, but they are two different things.  Sustainability is a desired state (more proactive), 
whereas resiliency is the ability to bounce back (more reactive).  Both are really important, and it is 
important to include both in the Plan.  Appreciate the conversation around topics such as chronic 
issues like poverty.  Urban form might be a bit disconnected from the county, but the partnership 
between city and county on land use and urban/rural is important on this topic.  The partnership 
only works if we can figure out how to make density acceptable in the city – rural can only work if 
density is OK’d.  It has always been a source of frustration that the Plan does not answer “how are 
we doing” because we don’t have process or metrics to address that question.  Could use the Plan as 
a barometer to help answer that question.  Give a shout out for regionalism – that is the single most 
effective aspect of the Plan, and I like that no one is calling that into question.  The BVCP is an 
example in the state, and many pressing issues are regional.  For instance, with transportation we 
have to think big (e.g., BRT, regional air quality, oil and gas emissions).  Local food is another topic 
the city and county have been addressing together.   Making the document more accessible and 
readable is a good idea; we especially need to do so to encourage the next generation to read and 
access the Plan.  We need to move to new technology – to get people to engage.  Finally, let’s 
acknowledge that every update always takes longer and more effort than we want.  
 
C. Domenico:  Visual piece and telling the story.  Visuals of photos of past and present, and 3D 
graphic visuals could really excited people.  Agree on resilience and sustainability components as 
well as metrics.  Would be helpful to look at clarifying policies around Area II. Transit routes – some 
interesting structures and facilities.  Question is how to bring them into the city, and is there a tie to 
affordable housing?  Economic viability.  Partnership is amazing and really important.   
 
B. Herman:  Don’t sell short what needs to be done or the effort it will take. 
 
P. Shanks:  Liked the comments about metrics – really important for setting 
baselines/indicators/accomplishment of goals vs. using lots of words.  Agree with the experience 

Attachment B1 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Boulder County Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 59



with the Plan policies – it can be all things to all people.  It gets quoted at City Council or Board of 
Commissioners for or against an issue.   Maybe the definitions are not tight enough or enabling 
regulations don’t link tightly enough at the city level.   There may be a closer link between the 
County Comp Plan and county regulations, whereas in the BVCP, there seems to be less linkage with 
the code and regulations (e.g., grow paying its own way is murky in the city).   There seems to be a 
more clear vision for Boulder County (e.g., a series of urban centers with rural areas in between), 
which is pretty much what we have today.  Regional thinking is important.  Boulder gets accused of 
exporting sprawl – how do we reduce/minimize undesirable consequences spinning off from the 
Plan?  Think about urban form, urban centers.  How self-sufficient can we be?  Do centers enable 
transit so people don’t have to drive?  A lot of things like that need to be addressed.  Neighborhoods 
are important.  Right now the Plan doesn’t have much about them.  There’s a lot of annexation 
activity.  That would be a welcome addition to the comp plan.  Agree with everything that’s been 
said.  Pick some of the things that are important and create clear linkages to metrics and/or 
regulations.   At the county, we have been working through the Boulder County Comprehensive 
Plan (BCCP), and shortly thereafter there are regulation updates to reflect that Plan.  It might be a 
little simpler, but it does seem that the BCCP and regulations are more tightly linked.  For the BVCP, 
there may be some items in the Plan that don’t lend themselves to regulations. Maybe they should 
be identified. 
 
D. Young:   The BCCP does seem simpler, whereas the city and its interaction with DRCOG, etc., is 
more complicated.  With the county plan, it has been more like a rolling update, and we can see 
policy changes and regulation changes immediately afterward vs. going through a BVCP Five year 
trauma. This means some sections are less up to date than others, but that’s OK.  Not sure if that 
approach is applicable for BVCP.   It’s a pretty hefty document – daunting for anyone except the 
hardiest of planners.  The BVCP suffers from having people being a bit attached to policies – new 
language and policies get added, not taken out.  
 
D. Cohen:  Agree with Doug and reiterate what Pat says – update the Plan in a conscientious way to 
develop a cleaner link with land use code.  It is hard to use from a development standpoint.  The 
most useful thing about the Plan is the partnership between the city and county, otherwise it is not 
user friendly.  It has weak language in some places, and often gets ignored or pushed aside during 
an argument.  Staff will present a report to Planning Board – the process can be unpredictable.  The 
Plan should be a good basis for the code to implement the vision.  On the metrics side, metrics 
should be informative not prescriptive.  Be careful about drawing a hard line, but instead create 
standards that can evolve.  I concur, the document could be more user friendly.  County and city 
both have great GIS systems.  The BVCP could interface with GIS to provide access and information 
from large to small scale.  
 
M. Baker:  Picking up from there.  Regulations, standards, guidelines – adding that stronger link 
would help the Plan be more user friendly and would provide clarity and certainty.    
 
D. Cohen:  Everyone benefits from clarity in the Plan.   
 
P. Fogg:  Boulder County Healthy Communities annual reports – includes basic metrics and 
indicators.  As example of how a document can use some basic info.  As a primer – look at that 
example.   
 
D. Gardner:  The slide you presented with 21st Century Challenges and Opportunities – these topics 
are also very important to the county.  It would be a missed opportunity if we didn’t work on these 

Attachment B1 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Boulder County Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 60



issues when we’re doing an update.   It is interesting observation that none of these are called out in 
the Key Observations list – are they implied?   
 
B. Herman:  Yes, at least two are implied, and a few of them such as resilience, climate and energy, 
and workforce housing are parallel efforts at the city.   
 
L. Ellis:  Yes, the city has talked about all these issues quite a bit. We will send you a more detailed 
summary from the city joint study session.   
 
D. Gardner:  Good because if we just focus on the “size of the breadbox” without the key 21st 
Century topics we aren’t doing our job. 
 
D. Cohen:  Be more proactive about these topics not passive about leaving it the same. Use the 
policies to drive outcome accomplishments, not just add more policies. 
 
L. Gargano:  If modernization is a goal, making the BVCP more accessible would help even if a lot of 
it doesn’t change policies much.   
 
B. Herman:  Next steps include preparing a consultant report and scope of work.  Plan launch will 
not start until early 2015.  If you have additional thoughts or comments about the plan, community 
engagement, or other topics please send them to Pete Fogg.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B1 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Boulder County Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 61



BOULDER VALLEY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – Input from Oct. 14, 2014 City Study 
Session of the Planning Board and City Council 
 
Staff Presentation: 
L. Ellis introduced the project and consultants with PowerPoint slides. 
 
Planning Board Overview: 
A. Brockett provided an overview of Planning Board discussion on BVCP from previous board 
meeting discussions. 
 
Consultant Presentation: 
B. Herman and D. Godschalk provided consultant observations as included in the packet and the 
Range of Approaches, as follows: 

• Retain Current Plan/Focus on Implementation Tools 
• Minor Plan Update with focus on Vision and  

Policy Refinement  
• Plan Repackaging/Sustainability Integration  

and Outcomes  
• Major Update with Community/Partnership Process  

  
Discussion Topics: 
The following questions guided the council discussion:  
 

1. New Topics and Issues:  What new issues and opportunities should the 2015 plan update 
address? 

2. Update Approach:  What is the appropriate level of effort and community engagement for 
the plan update?  

3. Resilience Strategy:  Should the resilience strategy process and/or outcomes be bundled with 
the BVCP update? 

 
City Council and Planning Board provided the following comments and questions:   
M. Cowles:  Like the upper end of range of approaches for the comp plan update, because the 
community has had floods, fires, and seen increased focus on climate change.  The plan should 
address areas of the city that are less resilient and have more vulnerable people.  We should do the 
plan in line with the resilience strategy. It is surprising that the plan is not expressing the vision.  It 
is expressed with heavy text, and many desires without priorities.  It may be time for analysis 
related to outcomes.  
 
J. Gerstle: We have been well served by the plan’s vision and goals of existing plans, and it is not 
obvious that the vision needs attention. It makes sense to incorporate resilience, but it is not clear 
we need to redefine the vision.  It is appropriate to talk about it and ensure agreement. Focus on 
implementation is absolutely appropriate and most useful to issues raised by Planning Board.  
 
M. Young: Seems the plan does not have a correlating Master Plan to the built environment.  The 
text is good, but it needs visualization of the definitions.  Make it clear to the whole community 
what is appropriate. Do a minor update and focus on the implementation of the built environment 
section and then do code changes. Weave in resilience. 
 

Attachment B2 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Joint CC and PB Meeting, Oct. 14, 2014

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 62



Consultant response:  The plan could include a more defined version of urban form definition (e.g. 
San Francisco or other examples).  It could be part of the plan or a separate element.  
 
L. May: The value statements are clear if you use it a lot.  I would not call for a minor update, but 
we need to an update with focus on vision and policy requirements. Roll in resilience. As part of 
that, a significant community partnership process needs to be incorporated.  Do a modest update and 
incorporate topics that have not previously been in there, and flesh out the built environment topic.   
 
S. Weaver:  Take a holistic look. The values are there.  The vision is there but is not clear to all.  
The update should be somewhere between minor and major. It needs an urban form component that 
gives more guidance – for both by-right and site review projects.  The climate goal that was adopted 
needs to be included and flow down to implementation.  If not we will miss our goals. The BVCP is 
the place to include big aspirational goals.  Add resilience and net energy goals.  Key is to show 
what goals look like to the community.   
 
A. Brockett: Focus on implementation tools.  Add prioritization particularly in built environment 
and outcomes. A separate built environment plan is intriguing, if it guides the shape of 
development, areas of city, different streetscapes.  Maybe not in this plan if it is to be done.  
Achievability of completing the built environment plan is a concern.  
 
J. Putnam: With plan repackaging, be careful not to lose what is in the comp plan. Policies are 
there, but there are holes in translation.  The plan needs a good definition of compact urban form.  
We have good understanding and policies to prevent sprawl.  With visual and graphic tools we can 
address urban form.  Take a hard look at urban form goals with the public, as people may not agree 
with text.  Then, look at implementation tools and outcomes.  Agree that resilience needs to be 
integrated with the plan to take it seriously.  This may mean that we have something rougher and 
less perfect that can be refined later, rather than wait. Get to implementation.  
 
S. Jones: Agree that the plan has served Boulder well. The values are solid – don’t rehash them.  
But, repackage to tell the story better.  Resilience is important.  Rough out the visualization piece 
where details will happen with other processes.  Other issues have been ripening in the community, 
such as arts.  The plan doesn’t really address, but people seem ready to embrace it more holistically.  
 
L. Morzel: Agree with plan repackaging, sustainability, and outcomes.  The comp plan is great. 
When I was a neighborhood advocate, it got me into planning and action. It will be important to 
integrate sustainability and resilience – they have to be done in parallel.  Don’t do much visioning. 
Sharpening and refining policies could help. It will be critically important to add implementation 
tools.  There is too much wiggle room from Planning Board approval through site review, and we 
need more certainty. Address the map changes.  Want to look at Area III – Planning Reserve and 
where we are going with that.  The last thing we want to do is to loosen our belt and go sprawling 
into Area III. We should not consider developing into Area III. Not something city should go talk to 
county about.  Discuss area II as well. Want to have time to discuss map.  
 
A. Shoemaker: Ditto to what Aaron said, including built environment. Allow the update to evolve 
culturally and reflect demographics.  There is a lot of change in the city – implementation tools are 
critical. If we do not have those tools, we lose opportunity to shape things as they are happening.  
Perhaps the vision statement needs more clarity. Improve the graphics of what is a wonky 
document.  

Attachment B2 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Joint CC and PB Meeting, Oct. 14, 2014

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 63



 
B. Bowen: Agree with what others said. Address plan update at the appropriate level of light touch.  
Address urban form more deeply and sustainability and resilience. We have won past battles.  Need 
to be doing a deep enough revision to address current issues and get ahead of them.  
 
C. Gray: The report was interesting and I appreciate the consultant observations. A process with 
resilience integrated into the comp plan update makes sense. Use the new neighborhood liaison to 
have a real involved process in the community.  Community partnerships are important in Boulder 
(e.g., with major employers, university, labs, art and culture).  Not so much about growing the 
community but understanding the needs of those partners.  
 
T. Plass: The bones of the plan are strong. We may be too close to see that the vision is not clear. 
It’s worth looking at how to make it clearer.  Tie in resilience – it’s the next really important thing.  
Would like to also see local food as part of implementation, as it is currently aaspirational, but we 
need to get more specific.  Another more detailed topic is to incorporate better cellular coverage in 
our community, as it is a safety issue and desired by the community.   
 
M. Appelbaum:  Agrees with Tim and John, and would like to address built environment, possibly 
as a master plan or separate element.  Concerned we might focus on built form too much, and it will 
slow down the process.  The comp plan is not just a land use plan – that is what people see, but it is 
much more than that, and we should remind people it is more.  Other sections probably need some 
revision and updating to get them more in sync with other plans.    Sometimes, the land use drives 
other things and sometimes it’s the other way around. Resilience is like that as well. Map is a 
working component but not the only thing.  Not sure about prioritizing goals.  Despite the ability to 
use policies to justify anything, that may not be a bad thing, as we can’t always have it all.  Projects 
(on project-by-project basis) cannot be expected to solve all the problems. A giant battle about 
ranking the goals will not get us far.  Sort out the detailed needs in area plans.  Regional is 
important, but not just for partnerships.  Boulder is part of a bigger metro area.  The way we look at 
implications and the way we measure things is important.  We cannot just look at how things affect 
Boulder. Regional impacts need to be considered, in how we measure (e.g., housing).  We need to 
consider “if it weren’t here what would that mean?” We need a full and accurate picture of not just 
Boulder’s sustainability but the sustainability of the region.  
 
G. Karakehian: Minor update rather than major.  Agree with other comments.  Update and 
modernize, but not interested in seeking a major work effort.  The plan works and needs fine tuning.  
 
L. Payton: Part of the reason we have so little community engagement is because we average 
across the community.  We should have a section on neighborhoods (e.g., a couple of pages per 
neighborhood). Get people involved to describe and set vision for the future, identify ways they are 
vulnerable, resilient, sustainable, or could be more sustainable.  It would get people involved and 
thinking about it.  Policies are too generic and that creates distance between people and the plan.   
 
M. Young: Would like to reiterate support for the arts.  Resilience it has the potential to weave into 
other areas also.  Also, like Liz’s idea of defining neighborhoods and having them define 
themselves.  
 
S. Jones: Agree with Tim on local food; it fits with resilience.   
 

Attachment B2 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Joint CC and PB Meeting, Oct. 14, 2014

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 64



G. Karakehian:  Agree with review of maps – confirm they still reflect what we want them to. 
Value of neighborhood planning in general should be stressed – neighborhood plans indicate what 
may be expected of individual developments.   
 
S. Weaver: Like idea of a very light touch of neighborhood plans – preparation for that could be 
useful.  Not going to get so many area plans in the next five years.  
 
L. May: Reinforce maps and neighborhoods. As we look at developing neighborhood plans, we 
need to look at growth and development pressures and the question of growth paying its own way.   
 
M. Appelbaum:  Neighborhood plans are not where the action is.  They have almost no changes 
unless we started some real rezoning or increase in density. Not saying I am in agreement with no 
changes, but we need to focus on where change is happening and where it is likely to change.  For 
most neighborhoods, very little is happening.  For areas where things are changing, that might be 
helpful, but that is different than the conversation we’re having. Neighborhood planning could 
spread us too thin.   
 
T. Plass:  Agrees that the neighborhood planning idea by Liz has merit. It gives the residents more 
buy-in, engagement.  There is value to calling out neighborhood and having pride in where they 
live.   
 
M. Appelbaum:  Need to address scope of what is possible.  
 
L. Morzel:  Agrees with Tim that neighborhoods could help create better social fabric (e.g., flood 
resulted in people getting to know each other).  Buy-in to the comp plan is important. It isn’t just 
land use.   
 
Consultant summary:  Common themes tonight are middle range of level of effort; integrate 
sustainability and resilience; not a redefining of vision, but clarify policies in some cases and make 
the plan more graphic.  Explore integrating metrics and outcomes, and add new or emerging topics, 
such as built environment clarification.   
 
NEXT STEPS  
 
David Driskell closed the meeting by highlighting the following next steps: 

• Consultant will provide recommendations related to Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
Assessment and thoughts on process and scope. 

• Our goal is to get suggestions to you on work plan prioritization and options in advance of 
your January retreat.  

• Didn’t hear concerns around new thinking about engagement strategy for Comprehensive 
Housing Strategy. We will move to implement.   

• Victor Dover is now planned for Dec. 9 with City Council as part of Design Excellence 
Initiative. 
 

Attachment B2 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Joint CC and PB Meeting, Oct. 14, 2014

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 65



 Approved Transportation Advisory Board Summary from Oct. 13, 2014 Discussion of 
BVCP 2015 Update 

 
Name of Board/ Commission:  Transportation Advisory Board 
Date of Meeting: 13 October 2014 
Board Members Present: Daniel Stellar, Zane Selvans, Jessica Yates, Dom Nozzi, Andria Bilich 
Agenda Item 6: Staff briefing and TAB input regarding scoping for Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Update 
       
Lesli Ellis presented the item. 
A PowerPoint was presented for this item. 
 
Executive Summary from Packet Materials: 
 
Attached for review and input from the Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) is a draft memo to City Council and 
Planning Board prepared for the joint Study Session regarding the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) 
Update.  Also included as attachments are comments received to date from Planning Board, stakeholder interviews, and 
consultant observations. 
 
The purpose of this study session is to review the 2015 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) update assessment 
and scoping process; provide information for feedback from interviews and boards regarding ways to make the plan 
more effective, strategic, and aligned with other outcomes; note the parallel resilience strategy; and seek feedback 
regarding issues and options for the 2015 Major Update of the BVCP.  
 
Staff will available to discuss the BVCP memo and comments received to date as well as seek input from TAB during 
the October 13 board meeting.  Input from TAB will be incorporated into the presentation materials shared with City 
Council and Planning Board on October 14. 
 
Board discussion and comments included:                                                                                                   
 

1. What new issues and opportunities should the 2015 plan update address? 
• Comments regarding striving to be a graphics based plan to inspire audience 
• Comments for using plan to move toward more form-based zoning, away from conventional use-

based zoning 
• Suggestions for urban to rural transect visions to provide for all travel choices for 5 and 15 minute 

neighborhoods. 
• Comments on creating housing for families to reduce in-commuter trips 

 
2. What is the appropriate level of effort and community engagement for the plan update? 

• Comments regarding a complete overhaul of the comp plan with the community involved should be 
tackled now. 

• Comments regarding plan update can be helpful in looking at conflicts between goals. 
• Comments regarding all individual plans, housing, trans etc.. The community doesn’t have 

opportunity to provide feedback, not tethered to other plans. Community engagement will bridge the 
plans and information together.  

 
No board action beyond input is requested at this time.  

 
 

Attachment B3 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Board and Commissions Summary

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 66



 
Environmental Advisory Board Discussion  
about Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Update 

 
October 1, 2014 
 
Environmental Advisory Board Members Present: Mara Abbott, Tim Hillman, Morgan 
Lommele and Brad Queen. 
 
SUMMARY:   

• The board indicated that the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan is a high-level vision 
document that includes the community’s sometimes-conflicting values, but lacks strategic 
structure and fails to address where Boulder is headed as a city in terms of growth and 
sustainability.  

• Instead of requesting community feedback on the Comprehensive Plan, the board 
suggested holding facilitated community meetings to discuss specific topics such as the 
vision of Boulder, energy, resilience, housing and more. It was believed that people may 
be more inclined to discuss specific issues instead of the entire framework of the plan. 

• While gathering community feedback the board suggested using questions that will result 
in measurable, concrete answers that are not ideological in nature. 

• The main questions that should be addressed are questions around sustainability of 
resources and growth and how to balance the two as well as resilience and how our 
community should respond to anticipated and unanticipated stressors.  

• The board noted the importance of integrating resilience into our sustainability efforts 
and developing terminology that is more widely understood. The board suggested using 
the flood to illustrate the importance of resilience and as a way to build awareness of the 
impacts of less concrete issues like climate change. 

• The board recommended actively utilizing organizations like Better Boulder, Open 
Boulder, Plan Boulder, etc. to convene community engagement events through which the 
city could gather valuable feedback on issues, values and priorities. BVSD could be a 
valuable resource to encourage the next generation to discuss these issues. 

• Consider using scenario planning as a way to help make the future options more tangible 
and provide more concrete alternatives for the community to consider and use to create 
recommendations.  
 

 
 

Attachment B3 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Board and Commissions Summary

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 67



Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan – 2015 Update  
Boulder Planning Board – Summary of Key Points (September 18, 2014) 

 
The Boulder Planning Boulder showed support for the following ideas regarding the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Update in 2015.  
 
Format of the Plan 
 
Recognition of its Strengths: 
 

• It includes great aspirational statements and provides an overview of the community (e.g., built 
environment, energy, community well-being).  Many use it to learn about the community.   

• Our partnership with the county and 4-body review provides our only link to regionalism.  

Areas for Improvement: 

1. Improve the format:   Ideas include using graphics and illustrations to convey ideas.  Make it 
more concise, less wordy, lots of visuals. 

2. Tell the Boulder planning story better:  For instance, include a retrospective (e.g., what the plan 
has done to shape this community, and what if we hadn’t had the plan) 

3. Broaden its topics to reflect inclusive community ideas:  Important to be inclusive in the plan, 
beyond land use.  (some topics noted below) 

4. Sharpen its policy focus:  Provide community guidance on priorities.  
5. Include metrics:  Roll in existing and new metrics related to land use, climate/energy, etc.  
6. Partnerships:  continue to build partnerships with CU, federal labs, and other important 

institutional and regional partners.    
7. Bridge to Implementation:  Provide a bridge between the plan’s vision statements, policy, and 

implementation tools (e.g., between land use and zoning) should be strengthened.   Make land 
use map definitions more specific and clear, and link site review criteria with the plan. Address 
form 

8. Clarify density and design:  Define how urban, compact, etc., and what level of quality as 
defined through a community conversation.  Address form-based design. 

Current Issues to be addressed 

1. Workforce housing 
2. Public art, art, and culture 
3. Sustainability goals (integration) 
4. Impacts on government services - community facilities and services (e.g., library, etc).  More 

specificity about offsetting/mitigating impacts. 
5. Regional system and partnerships  
6. Local food 
7. Energy and municipalization 
8. Carrying capacity 
9. Settling  planning reserve questions such as Hogan Pancost 
10. Regenerative design vs. greenfield design 
11. Resilience  

Attachment B3 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Board and Commissions Summary

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 68



How Resilience Strategy Might Relate to the BVCP Update 

1. Coordinate resilience strategy and BVCP, at least at high level and for public process, but do not 
sideline resilience.   

2. Let resilience implementation actions move forward without being tied to the plan.   
3. Determine where vulnerable populations can best be accommodated (e.g. reserve land for 

community identified needs). 
4. Address communication strategies (e.g., between city and population, or within neighborhoods), 

as an important part resilience that could also be addressed through the plan.  This is especially 
relevant during floods, fires, etc. 

Community Engagement Process Ideas  

1. Educate the community about the plan. Start out with some common information (e.g., “Comp 
Plan 101” sessions). Public forums to set the foundation, via speakers. 

2. Consider producing a series of short, snappy videos – educate the community in different ways. 
3. Reach out to people not ordinarily engaged (e.g., Mobile home parks, Neighborhood 

associations) 
4. Talk about how the plan actually affects people’s lives – those not interested in zoning, etc. 

Illustrate what it means to people.  
5. Visualization is really important as part of the outreach process.  

 

 

Attachment B3 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Board and Commissions Summary

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 69



Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Assessment and Update Process 
Summary of Comments from Interviews – Fall 2014 

 
Following is a summary of comments received from a series of interviews and meetings conducted by 
the consultants and staff in fall 2014. During the course of these interviews, the consultant/staff team 
members met with city staff from a broad range of service areas, including staff from Public Works, 
Finance, Fire, Police, City Manager’s office, Community Planning and Sustainability, Energy Future, 
Human Resources, Communications, Housing, Transportation, Environment and Ecology, Open Space, 
Parks and Recreation, and Utilities, as well as Boulder County staff. They also met with the City’s Master 
Plan Coordination Committee; Ecological Planning team staff; and Growing up Boulder staff; members of 
the Arts Commission; Downtown Management Commission; and Open Space Board.  

During the interviews, staff and consultants posed a consistent set of questions to obtain a wide range 
of input in a consistent manner. Topics discussed included the following: 

1. Plan Usage and Awareness - How do you currently use the Comprehensive Plan? How would you 
like to use it in the future, once updated? How widely do you think that the plan is understood 
and used by the community? 

2. Content - What are the strengths of the current plan? What are things in it that are rock solid, 
must remain – format, content, process? What could be improved (format, content, process)?  

3. Issues to be Addressed - What are some of the issues facing the community that you think the 
plan update needs to address? 

4. Update Process - Do you have any ideas for creative ways to engage the community in the 
update process itself? Any organizations or sectors of the community that you think are 
particularly important to reach out to? 

 
The following is a summary of feedback received from the meetings and interviews, organized in the 
same manner as the questions above. 

 
1. Plan Usage and Awareness  

• Usage of the Plan varies widely. Usage of the Plan varies, depending on the role that staff 
or board members play in the city organization. Those involved in development review use it 
regularly as an implementation tool – to provide direction regarding development projects, 
or to justify actions or support actions they are about to take as a city.  Some use it as more 
of a “vision” document, to see if what they are proposing is consistent with the city’s overall 
direction. Some departments acknowledged that they have little knowledge of the plan, and 
do not see it as integral to their work. Many would like to see the Plan have more relevance 
to what they do – to see it serve as more of a “unifying” document, particularly for those 
service areas that rely on a Master Plan to guide their efforts. 

• Awareness of the Plan among the general community is perceived as low. With the 
exception of Planning Board and City Council members, the development community, and a 
small number of planning-oriented citizens (many of whom date back to the initial growth 
management/land preservation efforts in the 1970s), most feel that the Plan is not widely 
understood or perceived as relevant to most residents or businesses. However, many think 
the community has a good understanding of and support for the Plan’s core values (e.g., 

Attachment B4 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Summary of Interviews and Staff Input

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 70



growth boundary, land preservation, focus on transportation choices, etc.) even if they do 
not know that those concepts are contained in the Plan. 

• The Plan gets used by the community to support (or repel) proposed development 
activities. Many noted that the Plan’s policies tend to be used by the public as either a 
sword or shield, depending on whether they support or oppose a proposed action. 
 

2. Plan Content 
a. Plan Strengths 

• Growth Management/Service Area concept is seen as “rock-solid”. There is 
widespread understanding and support for the Plan’s focus on containing urban 
growth where it can be served and preserving rural areas and open lands. 

• Core Values (sustainability, city/county cooperation, environmental stewardship, 
multi-modal transportation, etc.) are widely supported. Most believe that these 
values are widely supported and must remain as part of the Plan’s foundation. 

• Policies are generally clear and well-founded. However, as noted below, many 
believe that there are opportunities to clarify the Plan’s policies. 

b. Areas for Improvement 
• More focus on implementation. Many think the Plan is weak on implementation 

and actions. 
• Clarify Policies. The Plan’s policies in key areas (e.g., urban form, density) could be 

sharpened to make the intent of the policies clearer. (One comment - “dial up 
enough detail so that 90% of people will agree on what it says”.) 

• Strengthen connections to the university and other partners. Partnerships are seen 
as critically important to the community, yet they are not broadly addressed in the 
Plan. 

• Update the format and content to make the Plan more community-friendly. Many 
think the Plan is too much of a “planner’s plan”, and would like to see it repackaged 
in a way that would make it more accessible to the broader community. This could 
include a stronger vision, as well as a retrospective on how the city has gotten to 
where it is through planning.  Do more physical, geographic planning (more about 
form and character), less narrative. 

• Stronger linkage to City Master Plans. Many city departments rely on a Master Plan 
for their guidance and direction, and see an opportunity to strengthen ties between 
the Plan and their Master Plans, with the BVCP containing high-level actions and 
strategies to help integrate the Plan and Master Plans. Have a less piecemeal 
approach to planning in general.  

• Add Metrics and Outcomes. While opinions vary on this topic, many think the Plan 
should set the foundation for the city’s increasing efforts to set outcomes and track 
progress and build on the c measures that are currently in the Plan (e.g., urban 
service criteria) or in master plans (e.g., Transportation Master Plan, Fire Master 
Plan, and Parks and Recreation Master Plan). Some think metrics should be 

Attachment B4 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Summary of Interviews and Staff Input

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 71



contained in the Master Plans, and that the Plan should set high-level goals and 
outcomes.  

• Integrate the Sustainability Framework into the Plan. The Sustainability Framework 
is seen as an increasingly important tool for the city. While it is mentioned, it is not 
yet fully integrated into the Plan. However, city departments are beginning to use 
the Framework as a basis for Master Plan updates and the City Manager’s office is 
using it for performance metrics. 

• Regional Mapping and Thinking.  The plan’s maps stop at the borders and many of 
the policies do not stretch beyond the current limits, but the urban area influences 
areas around it and regional factors have bearing on the city.   
 

3. Issues to be Addressed 

As may be expected, the interviews identified a wide range of issues that the update might 
address. These are listed below (in alphabetical order): 

• Arts and culture – little mention in current plan. 
• Climate  – action, adaptation, mitigation 
• Density/urban form – identified as a top issue by many; define what we mean by 

sustainable urban form. 
• Disruptive change – shift focus of plan from growth management to new challenges (e.g. 

climate). How to be more adaptive, dynamic, and fluid? 
• Economic development – does it need a reset? 
• Energy Future – needs to be considered in the Plan. 
• Fiscal health – linkage with budget, capital projects, tracking fiscal health and outcomes. 
• Inclusivity/income disparity – equity issues around income, public health, access, diversity, 

and wealth that can be passed to future generations. 
• Resilience –with two fires, a flood, and a recent recession, resilience is an important topic. 
• Workforce and affordable housing – in conflict with high economic levels and in short 

supply. 
• Youth issues – interaction with nature, places for teens to “hang,” independent mobility 
• “15-Minute” Neighborhoods – transition of neighborhoods over time; Where? How? How 

much?  

  

Attachment B4 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Summary of Interviews and Staff Input

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 72



 
4. Community Outreach Ideas 

There is widespread support for transparent, inclusive, meaningful input from the community, 
and a variety of ideas were expressed about how to accomplish authentic participation. These 
are listed below: 

• Develop a Process Committee to sort through and prioritize best ideas for community 
engagement, including ideas below.  

• Tap into neighborhood groups organized as part of flood recovery efforts. This was 
mentioned as a way to involve many who would not typically be involved in planning-related 
topics.  Also the Long Term Flood Recovery group might be a good resource.  

• Look to recent successful planning efforts (i.e., Transportation Master Plan, Civic Area 
Plan) for ideas that worked. Both of these recent efforts were mentioned by many as 
having using creative new approaches to citizen engagement – both web-based as well as 
activity-based, storefront workshops and gong to where the people are. TMP storefront 
workshops were seen as particularly effective, as were youth workshops organized by 
school district, university, and the city. 

• Look to some older successful planning efforts. North Boulder Subcommunity Plan was a 
citizen-driven project that is also seen as having been successful for its day.   

• Use creative ways to engage the business community. Look to engage business owners, but 
also employees and in-commuters or day population. Consider focus groups, employee 
surveys that focus on economic policies. 

• Traditional meetings/open houses not seen as very effective. These events tend to attract 
relatively small attendance (unless focused on controversial topics) and provide low return 
on investment. 

• Make the Plan “real” to people. Focus on real, concrete examples with visual tools for 
people to understand how changes to the Plan might affect them.  

• Consider a community-wide kick-off event or forum. Bring people together from different 
backgrounds and interests at the start of the process, to generate discussion and interest in 
update topics. 

• Go to where people are and work with trusted groups. Rather than organizing events and 
expecting the community to come out for them, go to where they are – senior living centers, 
schools, places of worship (particularly important for minority communities).  Touch base 
with organizations, including but not limited to:  Better Boulder, Boulder Chamber, New Era, 
Open Boulder, and Plan Boulder County. 

• Involve neighborhoods.  Need to do a better job of informing and engaging with 
neighborhoods.  

• Do “mobile” planning.  Consider a planning truck (like a food truck) to get out into the 
community.  

Attachment B4 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Summary of Interviews and Staff Input

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 73



• Use newer communication tools, such as video and info graphics.  People get their 
information in different ways – not just written word.  Be creative to hook people with ideas 
that matter to them.   

• Do some Planning “101” sessions for people who are less familiar with the plan.   
• Tap into other local networks.  For instance, police have contacts and networks that 

planning may not have.  
• Consider outreach to county residents specifically.  Go to where the people are, in 

Gunbarrel for instance.   
• Engage with Boards and Commissions.  Facilitate meaningful discussions about planning 

topics.   
• Go to existing organizations’ events and meetings.   
• Attend non-traditional planning events to do brief presentations.  Go to events such as 

New Tech Meet Up (5 minute presentation), Boulder Open Coffee, and Ignite (3 minute 
pitch).  

Attachment B4 - Summary of Feedback and Input: Summary of Interviews and Staff Input

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 74



 



1-Foundation Work 
- Inventory, analysis, projections 
- 3D mapping analysis, metrics 
- Community Engagement Plan 

2-Issues 
- Issues clarification 
- Community launch 
- Invite land use  
  changes 

3-Policy/ 
Map  
- Update maps   
  and policies 

4-Draft Plan/IGA 
- Prepare draft plan update 
- Joint plan adoption 
- Extend city/county IGA 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Update 
& Resilience Strategy 

2015/2016 Draft Timeline 

Phase I- Assessment & 
Information Gathering 
•Stakeholder Engagement Plan
•City and Regional Context
•Shocks and Stresses

Phase II – Strategy 
Development 
•Priorities
•Barriers
•Engagement

Phase III – Implementation 
Future – Financial Sustainability, 
Continual Reassessment of Priorities, 
Metrics and Indicators  

Q2 ‘15 Q3 ‘15 Q1-Q2 ‘16 Q3 ‘16 

Resilience Strategy 

BY: 

Q2 ‘15 Q4 ‘15 Ongoing to Q3 ‘16 BY: 

BVCP – 2015 Update 

Attachment C - Draft Timeline for BVCP 2015 Major Update and Resilience Strategy

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 75



Resilience Strategy Update 
from 100 Resilient Cities 

December 2014 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 76



100RC Overview 

• Objective: Dedicated to helping cities around the world become more 
resilient to the physical, social and economic challenges that are a growing part of 
the 21st century.   100RC supports the adoption and incorporation of a view of 
resilience that includes not just the shocks – earthquakes, fires, floods, etc. – but 
also the stresses that weaken the fabric of a city on a day to day or cyclical basis.   

• Partners 
– HR&A: http://www.hraadvisors.com  
– Platform 

• Network: www.100resilientcities.org  

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 77



City Resilience Framework 

The CRF  

looks at cities 

 through the lens of  

 

7 Qualities 

4 Dimensions 

12 Drivers 

50 Sub-Drivers 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 78



Resilience Qualities 

Robust Flexible Redundant Resourceful Integrated Inclusive Reflective 

.... and act Ability to learn 
...conceiving systems & assets that can withstand 

shocks & stresses as well as using alternative 
strategies to facilitate rapid recovery 

...planned to take account of 
city-wide needs and  promote 

coordinated actions 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 79



The Strategy building process and 100RC resources 

100RC supports: 
Stakeholder Engagement and Community Participation  

Strategy Communication and Awareness Building 

100RC provides: 
Technical Assistance and Capacity Building from Platform 

Knowledge Sharing and Training through Network 

II.D Initiatives 
and Barriers to 
overcome 

Phase II: 14-18 weeks 
Strategy development 

Phase III: Ongoing 
Execution and Iteration 

II.A Resilience 
Diagnostic 

Implementation 
steps and public 
launch 

II.B Risk and 
Opportunity 
Assessment 

II.C Resilience 
Priorities and 
Enablers 

I.A Strategy  
Launch 

Phase I: 10-12 weeks  
Establishing the foundation 

I.B Stakeholder  
Engagement  
Plan 

I.C City  
Context and 
Resilience  
Assessment 

I.D Customize city 
approach and 
define Scope of 
Work 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 80



100RC Program Elements 

• Chief Resilience Officer: a new position in the 
government who will lead the effort 

• Tools and Methods: Technical and logistical support for 
the development of a resilience strategy that will serve 
as the city’s roadmap to resilience activities and 
priorities 

• Platform Partners: Specialized partnerships to help 
developed a sophisticated understanding the city’s 
risks, assets, weaknesses, and opportunities and how 
they interlink in unanticipated ways 

• Network: Inclusion into a network of 99 other cities 
from which best practices, innovation, and peer-to-peer 
learning can advance the practice of resilience globally.  
 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 81



What is the Platform and Why Do We Need it? 

The Challenge: 
• Market has limited information around city needs 

 
• Existing resilience building tools and services are not 

reaching cities 
 

Partner identification 

Implementation of Tools 
and Services 

Tools/Services/ Research/ 
Funding 

 
(the Catalog) 

Uptake off the Catalog 
 

The Solution: 
The Platform 

• The Platform links resilience tools and 
services with city demands 

 
 

• Team identifies, negotiates and 
aggregates resilience-building tools and 
services in a web-based Catalog  
 
 

• Engages with RMs and cities to pair 
Catalog services with city needs 
 
 

• Facilitates and monitors implementation of 
solutions 

Monitoring & Evaluation 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 82



The Platform Catalog is composed of 22 Platform Partners, with 29 services for a total 
current value of $81 million 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 83



 

Examples of Platform Engagements 
 

We have deployed certain platform offerings where appropriate to facilitate cities’ 
strategy processes 

Status of City Engagements 

Situational Awareness Model 

Norfolk, VA 

Palantir is integrating datasets across many departments, 
enabling the city to quickly understand situational 
awareness during an event and provide planning 
information.  

Flood Mitigation Cost Analysis 

Sandia is looking to conduct an economic analysis to assess 
the costs of sea level rise/flooding in Norfolk allowing it to 
better understand costs/benefits associated with different 
mitigation approaches.   

Resilience Network Initiative 
Crowd Sourcing Porto Alegre 

Ushahidi is providing technical advice on technology for 
citizen engagement to engage marginalized groups and civic 
data more readily available for use by local software 
developers  

Energy and Transportation 
analysis 
Infrastructure 

San Francisco, CA 

Sandia developed a project scope for creating a list of 
actions and investments San Francisco should undertake in 
energy and transportation systems to make the city and 
region more earthquake resilient. 

Catastrophic models San Francisco, CA 

RMS is implementing technology to help the city use 
software models more dynamically to better understand 
risks and potential ways to mitigate them. 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 84



100RC Outputs and  
Deliverables – Phases 1-2 

 

Phase I 
 

1. Phase I Work Plan 
2. Stakeholder Engagement Plan 
3. Resilience Steering Committee 
4. List of major shocks and stresses 
5. Resilience Assessment Tools outputs 
6. Preliminary Resilience Assessment & Focus Areas 
7. Phase II Work Plan 

Phase II 
1. Focus Area diagnostic and analysis outputs 
2. Cross-Focus Area analysis 
3. Documentation of Field of Opportunity 
4. Documentation of Resilience Priorities, enablers 

and initiatives 
5. Resilience Strategy 
 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 85



Phase 1 Tool Example: Stakeholder Map Template 

City Departments 

City Dept A 

City Dept B 

Civic org C 

Civic org D 

Private sector org 
E 

Private sector org 
F 

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

2 Diverse 
livelihoods and 

employment 

3 Adequate 
safeguards to 

human life and 
health 

4 Collective 
identity and mutual 

support 

5 Social stability 
and security 

6 Availability of 
financial resources and 

contingency funds 

7 Reduced physical 
exposure and 
vulnerability 

1 Minimal human 
vulnerability 

12 Integrated 
development 

planning 

8 Continuity of 
critical services 

9 Reliable 
communications and 

mobility 

10 Effective 
leadership and 
management 

11 Empowered 
Stakeholders 

Livelihood 
opportunities 

Public health 
management 

Community and 
civic participation 

Deterrents to 
crime 

Economic 
structure Food City monitoring 

and data 

Skills and training 
Access to 

affordable health 
services 

Social 
relationships and 

networks 

Corruption 
reduction 

Inward 
investment 

Environmental Policy 

Water and 
sanitation 

Strategies and 
plans 

Development and 
innovation 

Emergency 
facilities and 
practitioners 

Local identity and 
culture 

Policing and 
justice 

Integration with 
regional and global 

economy 

Safeguards for 
critical infrastructure 

Energy Land use and 
development 

Access to financial 
assistance 

Integrated 
communities 

Approach to law 
enforcement 

Sound fiscal 
management 

Building codes 
and standards 

Housing 

Ecosystem 
management 

Flood risk 
management 

Maintenance 
practice 

Demand on critical 
infrastructure 

Integrated 
transport 
networks 

Information and 
communications 

technology 

Emergency 
communications 

services 

Multi-stakeholder 
alignment 

Intra-governmental 
alignment 

Government 
decision-making and 

leadership 

Emergency 
capacity and 
coordination 

Research, knowledge 
transfer & best 
practice sharing 

Risk monitoring 
and alerts 

Public awareness 
of risk 

Communication 
between government 

and citizens 

Education 

Continuity 
planning 

Business 
continuity 
planning 

Leadership and strategy Health and well-being Economy and society Urban systems and services 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 86



Phase 1 Tool Example: Risk Screening 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 87



Initial Areas of Opportunity/Priority 

• Boulder Valley Comp Plan integration 
• Energy systems blueprint 
• Local Foods policy 
• Civic Area design and community discussion 
• Neighborhood level / non-traditional engagement 
• A few others: 

– Flood recovery, disaster preparedness, performance and 
asset gap assessment 

– Climate science planning knowledge infrastructure 
– Data management and cyber infrastructure 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 88



Potential Platform Partner Linkages 

• Ushahidi – Resilience Network Initiative* 
• Palantir – big data design and assimilation  
• Sandia National Labs – energy system design, 

CBA of resilience interventions  
• Digital Globe – remote sensing, situational 

awareness 
• SwissRE – climate risk screening, risk transfer 

strategies, disaster modeling 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 89



Network Examples 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 90



BERKELEY 

 
Berkeley hopes to use 
the strategy process to 

find ways to jointly 
tackle climate 

adaptation and seismic 
retrofits, and link 

planning to the budget 
cycle.  

 

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 91



NORFOLK 

 
Norfolk is working with 
Palantir and Sandia to 

integrate their 
departments’ data sets 

to better plan for the 
future and model the 

devastating social and 
economic 

consequences of not 
better managing their 

chronic flooding.  

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 92



VEJLE 
Vejle is collaborating 

with private 
businesses and 
100RC Network 

partners to advance 
new thinking on 

energy resilience and 
micro-grid 

technology, being at 
the forefront of 

transitioning from a 
“smart city” to a 
“resilient city”.  

Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials

Information Item 
BVCP Update

2B     Page 93



 



City of Boulder 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY FORM 

 
NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Human Relations Commission 
DATE OF MEETING:  Dec. 4, 2014 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Robin Pennington 303-441-

1912 
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Commissioners –  Amy Zuckerman, Shirly White, Emilia Pollauf, Nikhil Mankekar, José Beteta  
Staff – Carmen Atilano, Kim Pearson, Robin Pennington, Karen Rahn 
Commissioners absent -  None        
WHAT TYPE OF MEETING (CIRCLE ONE)     [REGULAR]     [SPECIAL]     [QUASI-

JUDICIAL] 
AGENDA ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER – The Dec. 4, 2014 HRC public hearing was called to 

order at 5:36 p.m. by A. Zuckerman.   
AGENDA ITEM 2 – PUBLIC HEARING ON LIVING WAGE 
A. Opening comments from Chair and Deputy Chair – A. Zuckerman and S. White welcomed 

the participants and provided an overview of the Living Wage Issue.  
B. Public Hearing – 12 community members provided input to the commission on the Living 

Wage Issue. Majority of public comment favored legislative action to repeal Senate Bill 99-01. 
C. Closing comments from HRC members – A. Zuckerman, S. White, J. Beteta and N. 

Mankekar provided closing comments on the next step of recommending to City Council that 
the issue be placed on its 2015 Workplan. 

AGENDA ITEM 3 – Adjournment – J. Beteta moved to adjourn the Dec. 4, 2014 meeting. E. 
Pollauf seconded the motion. Motion carries 5-0.   The meeting was adjourned at 6:17 p.m. 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL 
HEARINGS: The next regular meeting of the HRC will be Dec. 15, 2014 at 6 p.m. in City Council 
Chambers, Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway St. 

Boards and Commissions 
HRC

3A     Page 1





Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3B     Page 1



Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3B     Page 2



Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3B     Page 3



Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3B     Page 4



Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3B     Page 5



Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3B     Page 6



 

 

CITY OF BOULDER  
LANDMARKS BOARD  

December 3, 2014 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers Room 

6 p.m. 
 
The following are the “unapproved and unsigned” action minutes of the December 3, 2014 City 
of Boulder Landmarks Board meeting. A digital recording and a permanent set of these minutes 
(maintained for a period of seven years) are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-
3043).  You may also listen to the recording on-line at: www.boulderplandevelop.net. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS:   
Mark Gerwing, Chair 
Kate Remley 
Mike Schreiner 
Fran Sheets 
Deborah Yin 
*Crystal Gray  *Planning Board representative without a vote 
  
STAFF MEMBERS: 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Angela Smelker, Historical Preservation Intern 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 The roll having been called, Chair M. Gerwing declared a quorum at 6:00 p.m. and the 
 following business was conducted.  
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

On a motion by M. Gerwing, seconded by K. Remley, the Landmarks Board approved (5-0) 
the minutes of the  November 5, 2014 board meeting.  
 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 

4. DISCUSSION OF LANDMARK ALTERATION AND DEMOLITION 
APPLICATIONS ISSUED AND PENDING 
• Statistical Report 

 
5. BRIEF UPDATE ON HOUSING BOULDER – JAY SUGNET 
 
6.   ACTION ITEMS 
A. Continuation of a public hearing and consideration of an application for a Landmark 

Alteration Certificate to construct a 753 sq. ft. addition to a contributing house and to 

Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3C     Page 1

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/


 

 

construct a 336 sq. ft. one-car garage at 735 Mapleton Ave. in the Mapleton Hill 
Historic District, per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2014-
00192). Applicant: David Waugh. Owner: Marybeth Emerson. 

 
Motion  
On a motion by M. Gerwing, seconded by M. Schreiner, the Landmarks Board approved (4-0, 
F. Sheets recused herself) the proposed construction shown on plans dated 09/23/2014, finding 
that it generally meets the standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Chapter 
9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to the following conditions: 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for constructing the addition and new one-car garage 
in compliance with the approved plans dated 09/23/2014, except as modified by these 
conditions of approval.  
 

2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit a revised design that: 
 

a. Retains a greater portion of the north (rear) wall of the historic house and create a 
more defined connection between the historic house and new addition; 
 

b. Preserves the east wall Addresses preservation of the east wall of the existing 
garage; 

 
c. Applicant shall submit a revised design that studies turning the gable to match the 

roof form of the existing garage. 
 

3. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall provide details on the rehabilitation of the 
existing house. 
 

4. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit the following, which shall be subject to 
the final review and approval of the Landmarks design review committee: window and 
door details, wall material details, siding material details, paint colors, roofing material 
details and details regarding any exterior lighting and hardscaping on the property to 
ensure that the approval is consistent with the General Design Guidelines and the 
Mapleton Hill Historic District Guidelines and the intent of this approval.  

 
 
B. Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration Certificate to alter window 

to create an entrance at the north (primary) elevation of 1029 Broadway St. (pending 
landmark), per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2014-00354). 
Applicant: Rick Burkett.  Owner: Evans Scholars. 

 

Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3C     Page 2



 

 

Motion 
On a motion by M. Schreiner, seconded by M. Gerwing, the Landmarks Board approved (5-0) 
a Landmark Alteration Certificate for the proposed alteration shown on plans dated 09/16/2014 
and 9/24/2014, finding that it generally meets the standards for issuance of a Landmark 
Alteration Certificate in Chapter 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to the following conditions: 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1.   The applicant shall be responsible for making modifications to the north face of the 
building in compliance with the approved plans dated 09/16/2014 and 09/24/2014, except 
as modified by these conditions of approval.  

 
2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark 

Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit a revised design that:  
 
(A) Locates the entrance to the west side of the north addition; 

(B) Revises the replacement of non-historic windows on the north addition to more 
closely replicate the appearance of the screened in porch visible in the 1930s 
photograph;  

(C) Eliminates the proposed new windows and door at the north wall of the main 
building;  

3. The Landmarks design review committee shall review details of the remodel, including 
doors and window details, moldings and proposed insets, paint colors, and any associated 
hardscaping to ensure that the approval is consistent with the General Design Guidelines 
and the historic preservation ordinance. 

 
 
C. Public hearing and consideration of an application to designate the property at 445 

College Ave. as a local historic landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder Revised 
Code, 1981 (HIS2014-00085). Owner: George Stark. Applicant: Landmarks Board. 

 
Motion 
On a motion by M. Gerwing, seconded by K. Remley, the Landmarks Board disapproved (5-0) 
the designation of the property at 445 College Ave. as an individual local historic landmark, 
finding that although, pursuant to Sec. 9-11-1(a), B.R.C. 1981, the proposal would protect, 
enhance, and perpetuate a building of the city reminiscent of past eras, events, and persons, it 
does not meet the legislative intent of Section 9-11-1(b) in that approving the application would 
not draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest.  I further 
move that the Landmarks Board adopt this staff memorandum as findings of the Board, order 
staff to issue the demolition permit and recommend that prior to issuance of the demolition 
permit, staff require the applicant to submit to CP&S staff for recording with Carnegie Library: 
 

1. A site plan showing the location of all existing improvements on the subject property; 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3C     Page 3



 

 

2. Measured elevation drawings of all faces of the buildings depicting existing conditions, 
fully annotated with architectural details and materials indicated on the plans; and 

 
3. Black and white medium format archival quality photographs of all exterior elevations. 

 
 
D. Public hearing and consideration of issuance of a demolition permit for the building 

located at 1103 6th St., a non-landmarked building over 50 years old, pursuant to 
Section 9-11-23 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2014-00301).  Applicant: Olga 
DeLange Owner: Patricia Faulkner.  

 
Motion  
On a motion by M.Schreiner, seconded by M.Gerwing, the Landmarks Board approve (5-0) the 
demolition permit application for the buildings located at 1103 6th St. finding that, due to a loss 
of architectural integrity, the property is not eligible for landmark designation and adopt the staff 
memorandum dated Dec. 3, 2014, as the findings of the board. The Landmarks Board 
recommends that prior to issuance of the demolition permit, staff require the applicant to submit 
to CP&S staff for recording with Carnegie Library: 
 

1. A site plan showing the location of all existing improvements on the subject property; 
 

2. Measured elevation drawings of all faces of the buildings depicting existing conditions, 
fully annotated with architectural details and materials indicated on the plans; and 
 

3. Color medium format archival quality photographs of all exterior elevations. 
 
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE LANDMARKS BOARD, PLANNING DEPARTMENT AND 

CITY ATTORNEY 
A. Update Memo  
B.  Subcommittee Update 

1) Demolition Ordinance 
2) Outreach 
3) Potential Historic Districts and Landmarks 
4) Design Guidelines 

 
7. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK 
   
8. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 10:53 p.m. 
 
 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks

3C     Page 4



   

 

 CITY OF BOULDER 
BOULDER, COLORADO 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING 
MINUTES 

Name of Board/ Commission:  Library Commission 
Date of Meeting: October 7, 2014 at the Main Library, 1001 Arapahoe Ave., North Meeting Room 
Contact Information Preparing Summary: Carrie Mills, 303-441-3106 
Commission Members Present: Anne Sawyer, Paul Sutter, Joni Teter 
Commission Members Absent: Donna O’Brien 
Library Staff Present:    
                          David Farnan, Director of Library & Arts                         
                          Jennifer Miles, Deputy Library Director 
                          Matt Chasansky, Arts and Cultural Programs 
                          Kathy Lane, Library Programs Specialist 
                          Carrie Mills, Administrative Specialist II 
City Staff Present: 
                          Sandra Llanes, Assistant City Attorney 
                          Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manager 
Public Present: 
                          None present. 
 
Type of Meeting:  Regular  
Agenda Item 1:  Call to Order and Approval of Agenda                                                  [6:01 p.m., Audio 0:16 min]                                                                                  
The meeting was called to order at 6:01 p.m. Commissioners approved the revised agenda handed out at the start of the 
meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 2:  Public Participation                                                                                  [6:01 p.m., Audio 0:41 min]   
No members of the public were present. 
 
Agenda Item 3:  Consent Agenda                                                                                         [6:02 p.m., Audio 0:47 min]   
 
Item 3A, Approval of Sept. 3, 2014 minutes (p. 2-6) 
Prior to the meeting, Teter suggested changes to the minutes via email (found here: 
http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2014/handouts/14OctLCHandouts.pdf) Sawyer requested a change to 
Agenda Item 5, bullet 5 to read “A member of the public, Richards, asked…” to promote clarity. Sutter moved to 
approve the minutes with changes by Teter and Sawyer. Teter seconded. Approved unanimously, vote 3-0. 
 
Agenda Item 4: Invitation to Participate in Community Cultural Plan development   [6:03 p.m., Audio 2:02 min] 
Chasansky invited the commissioners to a series of events running from October 16-18 intended to promote 
participation in the Community Cultural Plan (CCP). Events include neighborhood conversations, focus groups, a pop-
up store front, and online participation.  This public inquiry initiative is called The Culture Kitchen. Community 
engagement for the CCP will continue through December. To learn more, please visit http://www.boulderarts.org.  
 
Agenda Item 5: Introduction of Kathy Lane, library programs specialist                     [6:10 p.m., Audio 8:52 min] 
Lane spoke of her professional experience and plans for upcoming programming. Sawyer expressed excitement over 
recent programming for children and teens in the library. Further, Sawyer thought bumping up this existing 
programming to an adult level would bring about increased interest from the community. Lane shared that desire for 
better adult programs.  
 
Agenda Item 6: Main Library renovation project update (p. 7-8)                                 [6:13 p.m., Audio 11:58 min] 
Magee reported the renovation progress, noting that window replacement continues while the process of removing and 
installing the Automated Materials Handling system is ongoing. He explained that the contract for the café with the 
Farmers’ Market has been signed and construction will continue into Phase 4. In regards to the naming contest for the 
café, Farnan announced that they received over 100 submissions in the first day. Magee invited the commissioners to 
tour the new children’s area, which is nearly finished. Sawyer called a break from 6:15 to 6:37 to attend the tour. 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission

3D     Page 1

http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2014/handouts/14OctLCHandouts.pdf
http://www.boulderarts.org/


   

 

Agenda Item 7: Review public comments received on Library Rules of Conduct       [6:37 p.m., Audio 14:28 min] 
Llanes appeared for this agenda item to answer questions as they arose. Prior to the meeting, Farnan and staff read the 
public comments and subsequently made changes to the proposed rules as necessary. The revised copy can be found 
here: http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2014/handouts/14OctLCHandouts.pdf#page=7  
Sutter, noting that the rules did not undergo substantial changes, moves to approve with changes as discussed. Teter 
seconded. Approved unanimously, vote 3-0.  
Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

• Teter asked if the policy against dozing will apply to students in the library. Farnan noted that many students 
do use the library, but as Sutter pointed out, the library staff will handle each situation as it arises. Miles 
explained that the point of the rule was to prevent people from using the library as a place to sleep. 

• Sawyer was pleased to see the use of the term “facility,” but wondered why staff eliminated a clause which 
prohibited patrons from leaving bags unattended if the bags limit the use and enjoyment of the library for 
others. Farnan felt that this was covered under the definition of disruptive behavior. Miles noted that its 
exclusion broadens the scope of enforcement. Llanes agreed that this change was legally sound. Sawyer 
inquired about the extent to which this policy will be enforced. Farnan stated that this would not apply to 
patrons who briefly leave their items unattended to use the restroom, but further consideration was needed to 
determine at what point something is considered unattended. 

• Farnan explained that staff cannot confiscate property, but that unattended items would be held for 60 days. 
• Sawyer noted that the definition of “disruptive behavior” included examples of inappropriate behavior that 

may be better suited as a rule, to which Teter agreed. Miles noted that staff recommended making these 
examples the first rule, but recognized that it did not fit well. Sutter suggested changing the line leading up to 
the rules to “…use of the library. Moreover, no person shall…” to allow this new rule to flow. The 
commissioners agreed to include the clauses from the definition as the first and second rules.  

• Sawyer suggested putting the Carnegie-related rule at the bottom due to its limited applicability. 
• In response to a public comment, Llanes confirmed that in accordance with the code, “guardian” and “owner” 

are both acceptable when referencing someone with a dog. 
• In regards to the next steps, Llanes clarified that the commissioners can approve the rules at the meeting and 

then send the revisions and public comments to the city manager. 
• Teter suggested that the commission pass the public comments regarding the homeless along so that they can 

be appropriately recorded. Farnan noted that the city is interested in working on the homeless problem.  
 

Agenda Item 8: Review commission’s recommended changes to the City Charter                [6:55 p.m.,  32:09 min] 
The commissioners reviewed the work of a subgroup tasked with recommending changes to the City Charter to better 
reflect the mission and work of the Library Commission. 
Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

• Teter explained that the commission should not spend time focusing on where the changes are placed in the 
charter as the City Attorney’s Office will make the final decision.  

• The first change was adding the Department of Library and Arts to Article V, Sec. 65. Farnan notes that it 
adds a clear indicator of governance previously not listed at all in the charter. Llanes confirmed that neither the 
code nor the charter explicitly designates a library director.  

• Commissioners discussed dropping “…and arts” from revisions made to Sec. 65. Teter advised that the library 
and arts should stay separate as the roles may not reside together in one position long-term. Teter pointed out 
that arts should be addressed after the Cultural Plan and lands under the purview of the Arts Commission. 
Sawyer believes the department should seek direction from the city on how to proceed.  

• Sawyer noted that recommendations regarding Sec. 130 do not fall under the commission’s purview. Sec. 130 
intends to describe the general powers and duties of the library department. 

• Article IX, Sec. 132 includes a recommendation to add the director as a nonvoting member of the commission 
which serves to establish and define the relationship between director and commission. Llanes clarified that 
the director usually serves as the secretary. Sawyer stated that the commission has a library staff member 
fulfilling secretarial duties in addition to a commissioner appointed as secretary. Llanes responded that 
directors often subdelegate that responsibility to another person. Farnan pointed out that, as written, the 
revisions make the director responsible for recording minutes. Farnan asked if a conflict arises with the 
director as a nonvoting member. After discussion about possible conflicts, Sawyer suggested that the 
commission find a way to reframe the relationship. Farnan considered discussing this matter with the 
Subcommittee on Commissions and Councils, a suggestion that the commissioners welcomed.  

• Regarding Article IX, Sec. 133b, Sutter inquired why the passage is not written as “with the director, 
prepare…” as is written for other commissions. Sawyer saw this as an unwritten assumption. Farnan 
recommended, for the sake of clarity, its inclusion.  

• Sutter expressed concern over Sec. 133i, which he found to be vague and yet overspecific. Sutter wondered 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission

3D     Page 2

http://boulderlibrary.org/pdfs/commission/2014/handouts/14OctLCHandouts.pdf#page=7


   

 

why the commission requests the ability to advise in hiring a director, but follows with denial of any real 
power. Teter advocated for its exclusion, finding that the clause goes too far into the personnel world. Sutter 
pointed out that its absence from the charter does not mean participation in the process will not happen. 
Commissioners unanimously agreed to remove.  

• Llanes noticed the removal of “With the discretion of the City Manager…” The clause currently exists in the 
charter but the recommendations include its removal so that it better aligns with how other commissions are 
written in. Farnan noted that adding the department to the list of commissions under the direction of the city 
manager in Article V, Sec. 65 allowed for this removal here.  

• Sawyer opened discussion on Article IX, Sec. 134 which establishes a permanent library fund. Teter supported 
the addition as there are no specifics on where certain money, such as selling the house next to Carnegie, goes. 
Sawyer noted that there is currently no governance or approval, which this aims to provide. Teter believed this 
section aims to ensure money is maintained in this fund for the library, preventing its passage to the general 
fund at the end of the year. Farnan confirmed with commissioners that the goal is to have clarity and not to 
extend control over monies. Commissioners discussed the meaning and implications of the section while 
Farnan explained how a permanent library fund would fit into the financial outlook of the library. Miles 
suggested leaving the language broader to allow for flexibility in future years.  

• In regards to the commission bylaws additions, Sawyer thought that the commissioners should hold off on the 
discussion as the bylaws may need to change as the charter is changed. Sutter worried that many of the desired 
qualifications listed for new commissioners are subjective and potentially overdefine the role. In turn, Sutter 
suggested narrowing down to provide a utilitarian job description. Sawyer explained that this list is pulled 
from many places and still in draft form. Teter recommended that the commissioners first determine if the 
council would use this list of desired qualifications in their decision-making, as it may otherwise be a waste of 
effort. 

• Commissioners agreed to meet with the City Council Subcommittee of Boards and Commissions to discuss 
how to proceed with the recommendations. The Library Commission’s subcommittee who has been working 
on the changes will meet with the council’s subcommittee. 
 

Agenda Item 9: Commission discussion and recommendation to City Council regarding support of the 2014 
ballot issues                                                                                                                         [7:49 p.m., Audio 1:26:23 hr] 
Sawyer noted that City Council has already recommended ballot issues and wondered if there was still a need to submit 
recommendations. Teter confirmed that, in conversation with the mayor, he believed recommendations would be 
useful. 
 
Item 9A: 2A: Temporary tax increase for community, culture and safety (p. 21-27) 
Sutter worried that it may be outside of the purview of Library Commission to recommend ballot issue 2A as much of 
the initiative has nothing to do with the library. Instead, Sutter supported targeting the recommendation to address only 
relevant aspects if it was important to the health and future of the library. Sawyer reflected that concern. Teter 
responded that picking and choosing passages suggests disapproval of the excluded. Teter observed that while many 
boards and commissions have a stake in this ballot issue, no one seems to own it. Teter motioned that the commission 
make the following statement: The Library Commission has reviewed the language of ballot issue 2A and recommends 
that the City Council support and endorse this ballot issue because it has important implications for the library. There 
was no second. Sawyer thanked Teter for making the motion, but reaffirmed that the library is just a small part of this 
nebulous proposal. 
 
Item 9B: 2C: Affirming the City’s Right to Provide Telecommunication Services 
Farnan noted that statements on the website for the ballot initiative about public wireless access within a library being 
forbidden were false. Sawyer moved that the commission recommend that City Council support 2C on behalf of the 
opportunities that it provides to the community and especially the library. Teter seconded. Approved unanimously, vote 
3-0.  
 
Agenda Item 10: Commission discussion of virtual branch concept                             [8:01 p.m., Audio 1:38:27 hr] 
Sawyer perceived the point of this agenda item as to identify the scope and plan of a virtual branch. Sawyer asked the 
commissioners to defer this discussion until November to allow for all five commissioners to be in attendance. Teter 
wondered if staff who work on the library website should be included. Sawyer considered this discussion to be about 
building a strategic plan which would not require staff participation initially. Farnan believed that this is a valuable 
discussion but is unclear as to what commission imagines. Teter thought this discussion may be too large for a regular 
meeting and suggested a separate or extended meeting to discuss this item in-depth. Sutter suggested that the 
commissioners wait and see how the launch of the discovery layer looks as it meets many of the ideas for a virtual 
branch.  Further, Sutter preferred that staff who handles the digital services attend the discussion in case some facets 
are already in process. Farnan noted that staff is waiting for direction from the commission. Sawyer charged staff to 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission

3D     Page 3



   

 
 

show other libraries with the discovery layer. Farnan pointed to examples of virtual programming, such as online 
programming and a story time application.  
 
Agenda Item 11: Library Commission update (from memo)                                        [8:06 p.m., Audio 1:43:27 hr] 
 
Item 11A: Commission discussion of the Jaipur Literature Festival 
Farnan has been invited to India to attend the original festival in January. Jaipur is hoping to expand the program. In his 
trip, Farnan will be considering what this festival provides for Boulder. Teter does not see a reason to keep the festival 
centralized on the CU campus when it could be spread easily throughout downtown. In regards to raising funds, Farnan 
explained that the foundation will likely support in conjunction with the Arts Commission, which has disposable funds. 
He noted that the city cannot give money due to budget. Prompted by Sutter, Farnan agreed that if the festival is 
ongoing, the city may donate in future years.  
 
Item 11B: Update from the Sept. 24, 2014 Boulder Library Foundation meeting 
Sawyer commended Farnan for his presentation to the foundation. Approved funding included money for paid 
programming scholarships and support of partnerships. Through these new initiatives, the foundation will have new 
opportunities to fund the community. The foundation was excited about Jaipur and other nontraditional events. A joint 
meeting is planned for Saturday, January 10, 2015, at the Reynolds Branch Library. 
 
Agenda Item 12: Library and Arts Director’s report (p. 31-34)                                   [8:14 p.m., Audio 1:51:40 hr] 
 
Item 12A: Boulder Library Foundation 2014 fall funding request report 
Farnan noted that they funded all requests, including scholarships to outside programming. Farnan expressed 
excitement over the foundation’s enthusiasm and commitment. 
 
Item 12B: Results of Main Library Arapahoe parking lot survey 
The survey consisted of four questions and observed behaviors. According to the results, about one-third of patrons do 
not bring a car; 28% walk and bike. Further, 93% stay for less than two hours. Of those that park in the lot, 14% do not 
use the library, which is consistent with the GO Boulder survey, which found 16%. Farnan stated that the city is 
funding a parking study which will include parking solutions for the Civic Area.  
 
Item 12C: Agenda and date of 2014 staff in-service day 
Farnan presented the agenda for the in-service day. Teter was open to scheduling an item at the Daily Camera to 
address any media concerns that result. Farnan was looking for a second commissioner to attend the meeting and 
preferred that the commissioners set it up. Farnan will write-up a one-page summary to be sent along to the reporter. 
Teter agreed to schedule the meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 13: Discuss carpooling to the Colorado Association of Libraries conference in Loveland                                               
                                                                                                                                              [8:27 p.m., Audio 2:04:05 hr] 
Those in attendance agreed to organize carpooling outside of the meeting.    
      
Agenda Item 14: Future Items/Scheduling                                                                      [8:28 p.m., Audio 2:05:13 hr] 

• Welcome new commissioner 
• Main Library Renovation update 
• Update on the approved 2015 Library and Arts Department Budget 
• Begin annual letter to City Council and report for City Manager’s Office per charter 
• Review commission candidate application questions [Note: This item has since been removed.] 
• Next steps for the changes to the charter 
• Update on SBDC partnership and others 
• Update on meeting room naming rights 
• Discussion of virtual branch 

Agenda Item 15:  Adjournment                                                                                       [ 8:32 p.m., Audio 2:08:49 hr] 
There being no further business to come before the board at this time, the meeting was adjourned at 8:32 p.m. 
 
Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 
The next Library Commission meeting will be at 6:00 p.m. on Wed., November 5, 2014, at the Main Library in the 
Arapahoe Meeting Room, 1001 Arapahoe Ave., Boulder, CO 80302. 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission

3D     Page 4



   

 

 
Commissioner Sawyer approved these minutes on December 8, 2014; and Carrie Mills attested to this approval on 
December 8, 2014. 
 
An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary, is available on the Library Commission web page 

at http://boulderlibrary.org/about/commission.html 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission

3D     Page 5

http://boulderlibrary.org/about/commission.html






Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council
Briefing - with other related 

efforts, workplan

SS - objectives, recommended 

early action items
Briefing

Direction on policy 

options

Adopt strategy and 

action plan

Staff Activities

Housing choice analysis; needs 

assessment; best practices; 

trends data; workplan

Opportunity site inventory; 

potential tools with "bang for 

buck" analysis

Develop policy options and 

recommendations; 

stakeholder engagement

Council
IP - update and preliminary 

policy choices
Briefing - options and feedback Update and direction

Staff Activities Public meeting with options
Preferred options and refined 

action plan
Action plan

Council
Briefing - issues, scope, and 

feedback

SS - preferred scenarios, draft 

plan, and action plan

Plan "Lite" - council 

action

Next Corridor - 30th 

St or Colorado

Staff Activities
Joint East Arapahoe workshop 

to "test" planning workshop

East Arapahoe scope of work, 

public workshop, scenario 

modeling, character definition

Scenario refinement ad 

recommendations

Develop East Arapahoe 

action plan

Council Briefing - scope agenda SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Agenda setting workshop 4/28
Hire Asst. City Manager, begin 

strategy development
Scope strategy components Scoping Resilience work

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Council SS - scoping session SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities
Scoping analysis and 

partner outreach
Issues identification

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis and 

development

Strategy analysis 

and development

Annexation Strategy - 

Direction (options and 

feedback)

Usable open space - Code 

Change 

Economic Sustainability 

Strategy implementation - 

Code Change 

Density/ROW Dedication 

Calculations - Code Change

Parking generation and 

reduction - Code Change

County Assessor valuations for 

landscape and lighting 

upgrades - Code Change

Renewable energy sources - 

Code Change

Annexation Strategy - analyze 

costs and options

Planning Board for above code 

changes

Planning Board for above 

code changes

Planning Board for above code 

changes

2014 2015

North Boulder

East Arapahoe/Sustainable 

Streets and Centers

Boulder Valley Comprehensive 

Plan

Other

Council

Staff Activities

H
O

U
SI

N
G

/L
A

N
D

 U
SE

/P
LA

N
N

IN
G

Resilience

Comprehensive Housing 

Strategy



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council IP (includes scope for AMPs) SS (includes AMPS)
Acceptance - establish work 

program and coordination

Continue 

implementing pilots

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Coordination with 

BVCP

Staff Activities
Scenario and sensitivity 

analysis
Joint board workshop, TAB

Develop final update for 

board recommendation and 

council acceptance

Implement and 

coordination with 

BVCP and Resilience

Council
Feasibility Study - joint release 

with County
Rolls into TMP update

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing Briefing

Staff Activities

Council Council agenda SS IP IP IP IP

Staff Activities

Council Scope

SS - Guiding principles, work 

program and process (includes 

TMP update)

Round 1 Code Changes - Auto 

and parking planning, zoning 

regs, EV charging stations

Update - Work plan 

and policy issues

Long Term Round 2 - 

Parking code 

changes and other 

policy issues

Council endorsement 

of ongoing work plan

Finalize work program
Short term parking code 

regulation changes

Long term parking code 

changes

Long term parking 

code changes

Additional 

workplan items and 

public process tbd

Finalize document

TDM tool kit development for 

TMP integration

Long term parking code 

regulation changes
Additional workplan items tbd

Additional workplan 

items and public 

process tbd
Short term parking code 

ordinance changes

Public outreach and joint board 

meeting

Research/best practices Additional workplan items tbd

Develop communications 

strategy

Council Direction SS SS - finalize ballot? Ballot?

Staff

Cap. Bond 1 Implement. Staff Construction 85% complete 100% Complete

Flood Recovery Staff
Repairs and FEMA 

Reimbursement
FHWA/FEMA work FHWA/FEMA work

Building Better 

Boulder

Building Better 

Boulder

Boulder Junction Phase 1 

Implementation
Staff South side of Pearl opens

Ongoing 

redevelopment 

coordination

Goose Creek Bridge 

opens

Depot Square 

opens

Boulder Junction Phase 2 - City 

owned site
Staff Coordination Coordination Coordination

Yards mobilized to move for 

Pollard option
Staff Grading, prairie dogs, moving Final prep Yards moves continue

Safe Routes to School Staff
Public process to prioritize 

projects
Application

Implement Transpo.Tax Staff Expand maintenance, hire

Comp. Financial 

Strategy/Capital Bond

A
D

D
'L

 H
O

U
S/

P
LA

N
/T

R
A

N
SP

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

2014 2015

Transportation Master Plan

Access Management and 

Parking Strategies

Community EcoPass

Staff Activities

Regional Transportation

Electric Vehicle Parking 

Ordinance/Energy Services



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Shelter/ Funding: Update on  

position and relationship 

with Boulder Shelter; Shelter 

funding and issues update 

and other funders.

SS - Human Services Strategy 

Update and Homeless Action 

Plan (including funding 

priorities and partnerships )

IP - Homelessness Issues

SS - Human Services 

Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action 

Plan (including 

funding and service 

priorities )

Regional Planning 

update/services and housing

2014 Point in Time Report

SS - Services and Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination 

SS - Services and 

Regional coordination 

update

SS - Services and 

Regional 

coordination update

IP - Services and 

Regional 

coordination Facilitate monthly Boulder 

Homeless Planning Group re: 

Service Coordination

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan Update

HS Strategy Update and 

Homeless Action Plan - 

research and analysis, key 
Convene regional meeting 

with Denver/Boulder/MDHI

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness

County Ten Year Plan meeting 

with focus on meeting housing 

goals for homelessness
GOCO grant application GOCO grant acceptance

SS - Special Events with 

Street Closures and 

Block Party Permitting

Review current PR permits and 

developm pilot program

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event (link with Hill and GOCO 

school yard grant)

Conduct pilot neighborhood 

event

Review neighborhood 

park planning and 

event pilot success and 

plan schedule for 2015

Finalize 

njeighborhood 

event schedule for 

2015

Conduct neighborhood 

events

Conduct 

neighborhood 

events

Review pilot 

program and 

propose permit 

changes required to 

make 

improvements
Link with park planning 

outreach

Summer recreation programs - 

arts, music, health, wellness

Continue summer art series 

and volunteer events

GOCO school yard grant Submit GOCO grant
GOCO grant award - start civic 

area community park 

planning design and outreachReview and analysis of existing 

special event permitting
Develop recommendations

Council Items
SS - Library & Arts, including 

Community Cultural Plan

Adoption of 

Community Cultural 

Plan

Staff Activities Work with new director

Arts

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

Homelessness/Human Services

Council Items

Staff Activities

Council Items

Neighborhood/Park Events and 

Other Events

Staff Activities

2014 2015



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items SS 
SS  (includes Social Issues 

Strategy information)

Staff Activities

IP - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St Public/Private 

Partnership

Update - 14th St 

Public/Private Partnership

Bears/Trash 

SS - Hill Reinvestment Strategy 
Update - Hill Reinvestment 

Strategy

14th St - Hill Alt. Mode survey

 14th St - Finalize analysis and 

develop recommendation to 

proceed with the Global 

Agreement
14th St - Finalize LOI

14th St - Financial Analysis

14th St - Additional access 

analysis
14th St - Board outreach

Pilot Parklet Competition Parklet Implementation

Outreach to CU and 

stakeholders for support of 

Reinvestment Strategy

Fox Theatre mural by CU 

students

start pilot RSD program (to 

run through 2016)

Recommendation for staffing 

Strategy implementation and 

prelim. analysis of future org 

structure options

Hire a fixed term Hill 

Coordinator

Council Items
SS - Park Program 

and Improvements

Civic Activity Team established Coordinate music in park series

Review summer series 

success and revise for 

2015

Prepare first phase 

of park 

improvements for 

2015

Conduct adult fitness 

and health classes

Conduct visitor 

event at civic area 

around art 

installations

Hire Civic Area staff for P&R

Add seasonal park staff for 

outdoor education and 

orientation

Expand Ready to Work 

crew

Revise summer 

programs and plan 

for 2015

Install temporary adult 

fitness playground

Coordinate 

horticulture gardens 

with Farmers' 

Market event

Prepare GOCO grant for nature 

play and park planning

Conduct volunteer event 

around upgrades to Peace 

Garden and edible plant exhibit

Complete park 

planning outreach

Conduct art 

competition for 

summer installation

Install south side 

nature play area

Work with Park Foundation to 

develop plan for art and 

entertainment

Coodinate with CU for 

partnership with GUB and Civic 

Area park plan

Develop 1% for Arts 

demonstration project 

in partnership with 

foundations and non-

profits

Expand seasonal 

staffing and 

horticulture/edible 

garden displays

Council Items

Staff Activities

Staff Activities

LI
V
A
B
IL
IT
Y

2014 2015

Code Enforcement

University Hill

Civic Area



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items
IP - update on 

implementation
SS - catalyst projects

Staff Activities

Council Items IP Acceptance

Staff Activities

Council Items

CU/BVSD partnerhip for 

neighborhood garden
Form cross-dept team 

Develop work plan to 

achieve council vision

Burk Park/Horizon School 

playground

Housing links with YSI programs 

and local gardening pilot

Design guidelines for edible 

landscape in local parks

Council Items IP SS - options and feedback
Acceptance and 

action plan

Implementation - 

commercial focus

Staff Activities

Stakeholder input on options 

and rulemaking on curbside 

compost

Public feedback on 

strategies

Draft plan and 

action plan for 

public review

Implementation - 

program 

enhancements and 

ordinance 

development

SS - workplan

SS - energy services

Staff Activities
Xcel/city task force; refine 

recommendations

Council Items

Briefing - framework, 

preliminary goals/targets, 

strategy development

SS - goals/targets, feedback 

on strategy scenarios, draft 

document

Approval

Staff Activities Working groups meet
Scenario development; GHG 

inventory complete

Strategy formulation; city 

organization initiative 

launched

Launch action plan

Council Items SS

Staff Activities

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Update - energy 

services

Valmont Butte

C
LI

M
A

TE
 A

N
D

 E
N

ER
G

Y

Municipalization

Climate Commitment

Council Items

Zero Waste Master Plan

Briefing - energy services
Briefing - energy 

services

2014 2015
LO

C
A

L 
FO

O
D

Civic Area

Ag Plan

Other or not categorized
Staff Activities



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council Items

Address disposition process 

and use of Realization 

Point for pro bike race

Staff Activities

Council Items

Staff Activities In process

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County review of 

contractor proposals for 

potential mountain bike 

connection

Routes - weather dependent

Council Items

Staff Activities

City/County requirement 

complete and await railroad to 

replace bridge

Council Items

Staff Activities status update

Council Items

Staff Activities additional signage

O
P

EN
 S

P
A

C
E

2014 2015

Charter Issues

Highway 93 Underpass

Eldo to Walker Ranch

IBM Connector

Trailhead as part of 

transportation system

Other or not categorized



Project Council or Staff? 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

IP

Develop preliminary 

management plan
Implement pilot plan Monitoring

Evaluate long term 

forest management 

plan and EAB strategy

Management plan 

and response
Response EAB EAB

Civic Use Pad Council SS - Public/private partnership
Approval of MOU with St. Julien 

Partners

Update on negotiations with 

St. Julien Partners

Human Services Strategy Council SS SS Public hearing

IGA with CDOT/County for US 

36 bikeway maintenance

Pilot dog waste composting 

project - Valmont and OSMP 

possible site

Transportation code changes 

for AMPS

Smoking ban - public 

hearing

IGA for bikeway maintenance/ 

US 36 enhancements

CEAP call up for Baseline 

Underpass east of Broadway

Comprehensive Annual 

Finanical Report 

Old Pearl Street ROW vacation
DRCOG TIP Priorities for city 

applications

Appointment of independent 

auditor

Transportation code changes - 

bike parking, TDM, etc.

Mobile food vehicles - 

ordinance change to expand 

podding in downtown

Update on investment 

policies - action

NPP - zone expansions and 

removal

Modification of construction 

use tax filing - IP then action

Pearl Street Mall regulations - 

code changes

Emerald Ash Borer (EAB) Council

Council

O
TH

ER
2014 2015

Various



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew Appelbaum  Mayor 
George Karakehian  Mayor Pro Tem 

Macon Cowles  Council Member 
Suzanne Jones  Council Member 

Lisa Morzel  Council Member 
Tim Plass  Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 
Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Mary Young  Council Member 

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

 Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell  Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability and 
Acting Director of Housing 

Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 
Director 

Heather Bailey  Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Executive Director 
Michael Calderazzo  Acting Fire Chief 

Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Acting Municipal Court Administrator 
Michael Patton  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Jeff Dillon  Acting Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli  Director of Fiscal Services 
Tracy Winfree  Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 



1/30/13     Approved   01-22-2013 

2013 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Morzel, Young 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Karakehian 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Shoemaker, Weaver, Young 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Employees Salary Review Cowles, Shoemaker 
Council Retreat Committee Jones, Morzel 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Plass 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Cowles, Karakehian 
 



Televised?

Date Status Topic Time Televised
1/13/2015 Approved Briefing: Age Well Boulder County Update 5:30-6 PM NO
1/13/2015 Approved Council Pre-Retreat and Financial Update 7:30-9 PM NO
1/27/2015 Tentative Boulder's Energy Future 6-7:30PM YES
1/27/2015 Approved University Hill Issues and Updates 7:30-9 PM NO
2/10/2015  7-8 PM
2/10/2015 8-9 PM
2/24/2015 Briefing: 
2/24/2015 Approved TMP Implementation Follow Up 6-7 PM NO
2/24/2015 Approved Envision East Arapahoe - Review Draft Vision Plan 7-8:30 PM NO
3/6/2015 Approved Board and Commission Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM NO

3/10/2015 Approved Board and Commission Interviews 6-9 PM NO
3/12/2015 Approved Board and Commission Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM NO
3/24/2015
3/31/2015 Approved Sister City Dinner 5-7 PM NO

3/31/2015 Approved Civic Area Implementation 7-8:30 PM NO

4/14/2015 Approved
Board and Commission Reception (moved from 3/31 due to 
Sister City Dinner) 5-6 PM NO

4/14/2015 Approved
Fire Department Operations, Deployment, Light Rescue 
Vehicle Response and Master Plan update 6-7:30 PM NO

4/14/2015 7:30-9 PM
4/28/2015 Briefing: 
4/28/2015 Approved Human Services Master Strategy SS #2 6-8 PM NO

4/28/2015 Utility Rate Study: Key Questions and Guiding Principles 8-9:30 PM
5/12/2015 Approved Boulder's Energy Future 6-9 PM YES
5/26/2015 Briefing: 
5/26/2015 6-9 PM
6/9/2015 Approved Boulder's Energy Future 6-7:30 PM

Housing Boulder 7:30-9 PM
6/23/2015
6/30/2015
7/14/2015 Community Cultural Plan 6-8 PM
7/28/2015 Briefing: 
7/28/2015 6-9 PM
8/11/2015 6-9 PM
8/25/2015 Briefing: 
8/25/2015 6-9 PM
9/8/2015 6-9 PM

9/22/2015 Briefing: 
9/22/2015 6-9 PM
9/29/2015 6-9 PM

10/13/2015 6-9 PM
10/27/2015 Briefing: 
10/27/2015 6-9 PM
11/10/2015 6-9 PM
11/24/2015

12/8/2015 Utility Rate Study: Preliminary Findings 6-7:30 PM
12/22/2015 Christmas Holiday Week

2015 Study Session Calendar

University of Colorado Spring Break - No Meeting

Council Recess June 17-July 12
Council Recess June 17-July 12

Thanksgiving Holiday Week



12/29/2015 New Years Holiday Week



Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: State of the City presentation 20 Minutes
OPEN COMMENT: 45 Minutes
CONSENT: Consideration of a resolution allowing for continuation of the Rocky Flats Stewardship Counc 15 Minutes

Study Session Summary for 11/12 Climate Commitment Update (moved from 12/16 agenda)
2nd reading of a Correction Ordinance to the 2130 Tamarack Annexation Minutes
Motion to amend the Cunningham Farms Annexation Agreement for 310-390 Linden Ave

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 2nd Reading Flood Related Annexations 90 Minutes

2nd Reading Smoking Ban on Selected City Properties 60 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER: Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY: Minutes
MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS: Minutes
CALL-UPS: Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours) 3.83

January 20, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

January 6, 2015 - NO MEETING FIRST TUESDAY OF THE YEAR
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting (CANCELLED)

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

January 23 & 24
2015 City Council Retreat



Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: Minutes
OPEN COMMENT: 45 Minutes
CONSENT: 15 Minutes

Minutes
Minutes
Minutes
Minutes

PUBLIC HEARINGS: Acquisition of Schnell property in Boulder Canyon 20 Minutes
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER: Update on Implementation to Secure Trash and Curbside Compost from Bears 30 Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY: Minutes
MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS: Minutes
CALL-UPS: Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours) 1.83

Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: Minutes
OPEN COMMENT: 45 Minutes
CONSENT: 15 Minutes

1st reading and public hearing of an ordinance to change certain BMS zoning district 
standards and uses as part of the University Hill Moratorium project Minutes
Study Session Summary for 1/27 University Hill Issues and Updates Minutes

Minutes
PUBLIC HEARINGS: Consideration of Draft Zero Waste Strategic Plan and Options for Commercial Recycling 

Ordinance 90 Minutes
Motion to transfer ownership of 4525 Palo Pkwy to BHP 90 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER:
Consideration of a Motion to Revise the City of Boulder's 2015 State and Federal Legislative 
Agenda 30 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY: Minutes
MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS: Minutes
CALL-UPS: Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours) 4.50

February 3, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

February 17, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway



SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: Minutes
OPEN COMMENT: 45 Minutes
CONSENT: 15 Minutes

Minutes
Minutes
Minutes
Minutes

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 1st Reading of Consideration of New Cable Franchise Agreement with Comcast 60 Minutes
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER: Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY: Minutes
MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS: Minutes
CALL-UPS: Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours) 2.00

Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: Minutes
OPEN COMMENT: 45 Minutes
CONSENT: 15 Minutes

Study Session Summary for 2/24 Envision East Arapahoe Plan Minutes
1st reading of an ordinance for the annexation of Old Tale Road neighborhood Minutes

Minutes
Minutes

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 3rd reading and public hearing of an ordinance to change certain BMS zoning district 
standards and uses as part of the University Hill Moratorium project 120 Minutes

Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER: Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY: Minutes
MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS: Board and Commission Appointments 60 Minutes
CALL-UPS: Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours) 4.00

March 3, 2015 - CAUCUS DAY
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting 

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

March 17, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway


	20141216_AgendaPacket_Final
	00_agenda_final
	3A  Council Minutes from November 6, 2014
	3B  Air Rights for 901 Pearl
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts, Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Matrix of Options
	Attachment A - Right of Way Lease

	3C Code of Conduct
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommenation, Impacts, Background
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - 12-2-14 Agenda Memo

	3D Comcast Franchise Extension
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts and Background 
	Attachment A - Current Franchise Agreement
	Attachment B - Ordinance 7785 (Extension)
	Attachment C - Ordinance 7952 (2nd Extension)
	Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance (3rd Extension)

	3E  Land Use Code Change
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts, Feedback
	Background, Analysis
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8018
	Attachment B - Tax Assessment Figures

	3F Mall Permits
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts and Feedback
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Summary of Amendments
	Attachment C - Mall Event Guidelines

	5A  Wonderland Creeks
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts
	Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance
	Attachment B - Project Location Map
	Attachment C - Ownership Tabulation
	Attachment D - Legal Descriptions

	5B  Marijuana
	Executive Summary
	Potential Motions
	Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance 8020 
	Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance 8027
	Attachment C - Proposed Ordinance 8020-a 
	Attachment D - Proposed Ordinance 8027-a

	6A  2015 HSF Funding Recommendations
	Executive Summary, Preliminary Decision, Impacts
	Background
	Analysis, Next Steps
	Attachment A - HSF Impact Areas and Outcomes
	Attachment B - 2015 HSF Awards by Impact Area
	Attachment C - 2015 HSF Awards by Alphabetical Order
	Attachment D - HFAC Committee Members

	6B_NWCP
	Executive Summary
	Attachment A - Letter from Mayor Hancock
	Attachment B - NWCP Summary 
	Attachment C - RTA Fact Sheet


	20141216_IP_print
	00 Cover Sheet
	1A  Call-Up 5675 Arapahoe Ave
	1B  Call Up 445 College Ave
	Call-up of LAC for 445 College memo
	Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014
	Attachment B - Photographs of 445 College Ave.


	1C  Call Up 735 Mapleton Ave
	Call-up of LAC for 735 Mapleton memo
	Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014
	Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 735 Mapleton Ave.


	1D  Call Up 1029 Broadway St
	Call-up of LAC for 1029 Broadway memo
	Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated Dec. 16, 2014
	Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 1029 Broadway St.


	2A  Mobile Food Vehicle
	2B  BVCP 2015 Update
	BVCP 2015 Update memo
	Attachment A - BVCP Assessment - Report from Consultant
	Attachment B1 - Boulder County Nov. 3, 2014 Joint Meeting
	Attachment B2 - Joint CC and PB Meeting dated Oct. 14, 2014
	Attachment B3 - Board and Commissions Summary
	Attachment B4 - Summary of Interviews and Staff Input
	Attachment C - Draft Timeline for BVCP 2015 Major Update and Resilience Strategy
	Attachment D - Updated Resilience Strategy Materials


	3A HRC 12.4.2014
	3B Landmarks 11.5.2014
	3C Landmarks 12.3.2014
	6 p.m.
	BOARD MEMBERS:
	STAFF MEMBERS:
	Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney
	James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner
	Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner
	UMotion
	UMotion
	3. The Landmarks design review committee shall review details of the remodel, including doors and window details, moldings and proposed insets, paint colors, and any associated hardscaping to ensure that the approval is consistent with the General Des...
	UMotion
	UMotion

	3D Library Commission 10.7.2014
	Agenda Item 1:  Call to Order and Approval of Agenda                                                  [6:01 p.m., Audio 0:16 min]                                                                                 
	Agenda Item 3:  Consent Agenda                                                                                         [6:02 p.m., Audio 0:47 min]  
	Agenda Item 9: Commission discussion and recommendation to City Council regarding support of the 2014 ballot issues                                                                                                                         [7:49 p.m., Audio 1:26:23 hr]
	Item 9A: 2A: Temporary tax increase for community, culture and safety (p. 21-27)
	Agenda Item 10: Commission discussion of virtual branch concept                             [8:01 p.m., Audio 1:38:27 hr]
	Agenda Item 11: Library Commission update (from memo)                                        [8:06 p.m., Audio 1:43:27 hr]
	Agenda Item 12: Library and Arts Director’s report (p. 31-34)                                   [8:14 p.m., Audio 1:51:40 hr]
	Agenda Item 13: Discuss carpooling to the Colorado Association of Libraries conference in Loveland                                              
	                                                                                                                                              [8:27 p.m., Audio 2:04:05 hr]
	Agenda Item 14: Future Items/Scheduling                                                                      [8:28 p.m., Audio 2:05:13 hr]
	Agenda Item 15:  Adjournment                                                                                       [ 8:32 p.m., Audio 2:08:49 hr]

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Reference Material for 12162014
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2014-2015 Work Plan
	INSIDE FRONT COVER Council and Key Staff 11.13.14
	BACK INSIDE COVER Council Committee Assignments 08.14.14
	Council_Master_Calendar12-11
	2015 Study Sessions
	January '15
	February '15
	March '15





